
 BOULDER CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 1777 Broadway 

December 2, 2014 
6 PM 

 
 AGENDA 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

 A. Recognition of Open Space and Mountain Parks Director Mike Patton 
 

 
 

B. Solar Friendly Communities Designation 
 

 C. Items Relating to the Certification of the 2014 Special Municipal Coordinated 
Election held on November 4, 2014 
 

2. 
 
 

OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (limited to 45 min.) Public 
may address any city business for which a public hearing is not scheduled later in the 
meeting (this includes the consent agenda and first readings).  After all public hearings 
have taken place any remaining speakers will be allowed to address council.  All 
speakers are limited to three minutes. 
 

3. 
 
 

CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances) Vote to be taken on the 
motion at this time.  Roll Call vote required. 
 

 A. Consideration of a motion to accept the October 28, 2014 study session summary 
on the Access Management and Parking Study and provision of information 
regarding parking revenues and expenses and downtown garage utilization 
 

 B. Consideration of a motion to authorize the City Manager to enter into 
intergovernmental agreements with Boulder County and Colorado Department of 
Transportation for the provision of construction and maintenance the US 36 
bikeway and the US 36 Davidson Mesa Scenic Overlook. 
 

 
 

C. Council consideration of a Resolution No. 1148 approving and adopting 
amendments to the Beverage Licensing Authority Rules of Procedure. 
 

 D. Third Reading and consideration of a motion to adopt and order published by title 
only Ordinance No. 7957 amending Title 2, “Government Administration,” 
Chapter 7, “Code Of Conduct,” B.R.C. 1981 and setting forth related details. 
 

 E. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8014 
approving supplemental appropriations to the 2014 Budget; and 
 
Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder City Council and convene as 
the Central Area General Improvement District Board of Directors 



 
 F. Consideration of a motion to adopt Resolution No. 270 amending the 2014 

Downtown Commercial District Fund (formerly CAGID Fund) Budget; and  
 
Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the CAGID Board of Directors and 
reconvene as the Boulder City Council. 
 

 G. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 
only Ordinance No. 8018 amending Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, to 
create an additional method of property valuation for the determination of 
whether proposed work on a property triggers upgrades to lighting, landscaping, site 
access and non-conforming drive throughs under the Land Use Code. 
 

 H. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 
only Ordinance No. 8019 amending Emergency Ordinance No. 7985 to correct 
the legal description for the annexation area of the property at 2130 Tamarack 
Avenue. 
 

 I. Introduction, first reading, order to publish by title only and consideration of 
Emergency Ordinance No. 8020 amending Chapter 6-16, B.R.C. 1981, amending 
Sections 6-16-2 “Definitions,” and 6-16-3 “License Required” to extend the time 
for medical marijuana businesses to convert to recreational marijuana 
businesses from December 31, 2014 to March 31, 2015. 
 

 J. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 
only Ordinance No. 8021 amending the cable television franchise agreement 
between the City of Boulder and Comcast of Colorado IV, LLC, to extend the term 
of the agreement by 120 days. 
 

 K. Consideration of the following items related to the annexation and initial zoning of 
the properties identified as 1950 Riverside Drive, 4415 Garnet Lane, 1085 Gapter 
Road, 2200 Emerald Road, 2350 Norwood Avenue, and 2140 Tamarack 
Avenue: 
 

 
 

 1. A resolution finding the annexation petition for each property in compliance 
with state statutes and establishing January 20, 2015 as the date for a public 
hearing; and 
 

 
 
 
 

Resolution 
1149 

Ordinance 
No. 8022 

 
 
 

 2. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by 
title only, six ordinances annexing the properties with an initial zoning as 
follows: 
 
a. 1950 Riverside Dr. 
Proposed Zoning: Residential-Estate 
Applicant/Owner: Seana Grady 
 



 
Resolution 

1150 
Ordinance 
No. 8023 

 
 

Resolution 
1151 

Ordinance 
No. 8024 

 
 

Resolution 
1152 

Ordinance 
No. 8025 

 
 

Resolution 
1153 

Ordinance 
No. 8026 

 
 

Resolution 
1154 

Ordinance 
No. 8027 

 
b. 4415 Garnet Ln. and a portion of the Garnet Lane right-of-way 
Proposed Zoning: Residential-Estate 
Applicant/Owner: Frank Alexander 
 
c. 1085 Gapter Rd. 
Proposed Zoning: Residential-Rural 2 
Applicant/Owner: Silvano and Elvira Deluca 
 
d. 2200 Emerald Rd. 
Proposed Zoning: Residential-Rural 1 
Applicant/Owner: Stephen and Amy Carpenter 
 
e. 2350 Norwood Av. 
Proposed Zoning: Residential-Estate 
Applicant/Owner: Norwood Garden, LLC 
 
f. 2140 Tamarack Av. 
Proposed Zoning: Residential-Estate 
Applicant/Owner: Stephen Tebo 
 

4. 
 

POTENTIAL CALL UP CHECK IN 
Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call-up of an item listed under 
agenda Item 8-A1. 
   

5. 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

 
 
 

A. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8010 to 
rezone the property located at 5400 Spine Road, from Industrial – General to 
Business Community-2, consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
land use designation of Community Business. 
 

 
 
 

B. Consideration of the following items related to Open Space Property: 
1) Consideration of a motion to approve the disposal of 11 noncontiguous, 

paved parcels of Open Space land to the City of Boulder Transportation 
Department for the purpose of electric bicycle use as a means of alternate 
transportation. This is a disposal of Open Space land pursuant to Article 
XII, Section 177, of the Boulder City Charter. 

2) Discussion of the process for identifying Open Space uses and disposal of 
Open Space lands. 

 
6. MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER 

 
 A. Request from Council Direction Regarding EcoPasses 

 
 



 
7. 

 
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY 
 

  A. Consideration of a motion to amend the Council Rules of Procedure to add a new 
Section XVII Executive Sessions. 
 

8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS 
 

 A. Potential Call Ups 
 B. Mayor Pro Tem Election 
  C. Meeting Management 
 D. Kauffman Foundation Report from Council Member Karakehian 

 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS (15 min.)  

Public comment on any motions made under Matters. 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS Action on motions made under Matters. 
 

11. 
 

DEBRIEF (5 Min.) Opportunity for Council to discuss how the meeting was 
conducted. 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
 

 This agenda and the meetings can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov / City 
Council.  Meetings are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s Web site and 
are re-cablecast at 6 p.m. Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following 
a regular council meeting.  DVDs may be checked out from the Main Boulder Public 
Library.  Anyone requiring special packet preparation such as Braille, large print, or 
tape recorded versions may contact the City Clerk’s Office at (303) 441-3002, 8 a.m. – 
5 p.m. Monday through Friday.  48 hours notification prior to the meeting or 
preparation of special materials IS REQUIRED.  If you need Spanish interpretation 
or other language-related assistance for this meeting, please call (303) 441-1905 at 
least three business days prior to the meeting.  Si usted necesita interpretación o 
cualquier otra ayuda con relación al idioma para esta junta, por favor comuníquese 
al (303) 441-1905 por lo menos 3 negocios días antes de la junta. Electronic 
presentations to the city council must be pre-loaded by staff at the time of sign up and 
will NOT be accepted after 3:30 p.m. at regularly scheduled meetings.  Electronic 
media must come on a prepared USB jump (flash/thumb) drive and no technical 
support is provided by staff. 
 

 

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 2, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: 
Items relating to the certification of the 2014 Special Municipal Coordinated Election 
held on November 4, 2014: 
 
   1. Motion to convene as the General Canvassing and Election Board for the 

City of Boulder General Municipal Election. 
 

2. Roll Call of the General Canvassing and Election Board. 
 
3.  Administration of oath and signing of same by Board members. 

 
4. Consideration of a motion nominating a member to chair the Board. 

 
5. Submission to the Board by the Secretary of the following: 

 
i.  Certificate of the official ballot. 

ii.  Certificates of the official Public Notice of the 
November 4, 2014 Election. 

iii.  Certificate of election returns. 
 

6. Public Hearing  
 

7. Consideration of a motion that the abstract and result sheets be approved 
and signing of same, if approved. 

 
8. Motion to adjourn from the General Canvassing and Election Board for the 

General Municipal Election and reconvene as the Boulder City Council. 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager   
Alisa D. Lewis, City Clerk and Director of Support Services/Secretary of the General 
Canvassing and Election Board 
 

Agenda Item 1C     Page  1



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Charter Section 32 provides for the certification of election results. The City Council 
shall serve as the General Canvassing and Election Board.  The City Clerk/Secretary for 
the General Canvassing and Election Board will present the Board with all official 
election documents for review and signature.  After conducting a public hearing, the 
board shall consider a motion approving the abstract of votes and shall sign the official 
documents.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests the General Canvassing and Election Board’s consideration of this matter 
and action in the form of the following motion: 
 
Motion language: 
 
Move to approve the official abstract and result sheets from the 2014 Special Municipal 
Coordinated Election held on November 4, 2014. 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENT: 

A. Certificate of election returns  
(documents will be distributed to council at the meeting on December 2) 

 

Agenda Item 1C     Page  2



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 2, 2014 

 
 AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a Motion to Accept the Study Session Summary on 
the Access Management and Parking Study from October 28, 2014 and provision of
information about Parking Revenues and Expenses and Downtown Garage Utilization.
 
 
PRESENTERS: 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director, Public Works 
Tracy Winfree, Director, Public Works for Transportation 
David Driskell, Director, Community Planning and Sustainability 
Molly Winter, Director, Downtown and University Hill Management Division and 

Parking Services (DUHMD/PS) 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director, Community Planning and Sustainability 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
Michael Gardner-Sweeney, Transportation Planning and Operations Coordinator 
Kathleen Bracke, GO Boulder Manager, Public Works Transportation 
Chris Hagelin, Senior Transportation Planner, GO Boulder  
Jay Sugnet, Senior Planner, Community Planning and Sustainability 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This agenda item provides a summary of the October 28, 2014 study session on the Access and 
Management Parking Strategy.  
 
The purpose of the study sessions was to request council feedback on the following:   

1. Best practices and innovations research conducted as part of the Access Management and 
Parking Strategy (AMPS) project;  

2. Transportation Demand Management (TDM) policies for new development; and  
3. Ongoing work plan items related to AMPS and next steps.  

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  1



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff recommends Council consideration of the summary and action in the form of the 
following motion: 
 
Motion to accept the October 28, 2014 study session summary on the Access 
Management and Parking Strategy. 
 
 

Access Management and Parking Strategy  
Study Session Summary 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

OCTOBER 28, 2014 
 

PRESENT   
City Council:  Matt Applebaum, Macon Cowles, Suzanne Jones, George Karakehian, Lisa 
Morzel, Tim Plass, Andrew Shoemaker, Sam Weaver, Mary Young 
 
Staff members:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager; Molly Winter, Downtown and University 
Hill Management Division and Parking Services (DUHMD/PS) Director; Tracy Winfree, 
Director of Public Works for Transportation; Kathleen Bracke, GO Boulder Manager; Chris 
Hagelin, Senior Transportation Planner/GO Boulder; Kurt Matthews, Manager Parking Services; 
Eric Guenther, Assistant Parking Manager; Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager; Jay 
Sugnet, Senior Planner, Community Planning and Sustainability; Lane Landrith, Business 
Coordinator, DUHMD/PS. 
 
STAFF PRESENTATION 
Molly Winter presented an overview of Access Management and Parking Strategy that included 
the history of the project, how we got here, and a summary of community, board and 
commission engagement. Chris Hagelin presented an update on the work to-date on the 
Transportation Demand Management tool kit for new development. 
 
Winter and Hagelin provided a project overview and update to City Council on the Access 
Management and Parking Strategy (AMPS) project emphasizing these key points: 

 AMPS encompasses existing access and parking districts and programs as well as taking 
a citywide approach tailored to addressing existing and future  needs of different areas 
throughout the community.  

 AMPS includes exploring opportunities to improve managed parking and multimodal 
access for public and private parking areas, including both on and off-street, within 
existing districts and throughout the community.  

 AMPS considers all modes of transportation – automobiles, transit, biking and walking.  
 AMPS is an interdepartmental effort and supports the city’s sustainability framework.    

Agenda Item 3A     Page  2



 City boards and commissions are involved and engaged providing valuable feedback and 
ideas throughout AMPS process. 

 AMPS includes seven focus areas:   
o District Management (Existing & New Districts) 
o On & Off Street Parking 
o Technology 
o Transportation Demand Management 
o Parking Code Changes (Auto & Bike) 
o Parking Pricing 
o Enforcement 

 Cultivating partnerships and on-going collaboration across city departments and with 
community stakeholders is key and will maximize co-benefits of AMPS outcomes with 
other integrated planning initiatives such as Transportation Master Plan, Climate 
Commitment, Economic Vitality plan, corridor plans, and upcoming update to the 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP).  
 

AMPS is a multi-year project that integrates with existing city planning efforts and on-going 
programs and operations. Community engagement is an important aspect to ensure a breadth of 
input from residents, businesses, employers/employees and visitors. A communications and 
engagement strategy is ongoing.  
 
The first phase of the project in 2014 includes best practices research, followed by policy 
analysis for all of the seven AMPS focus areas. Work will continue into 2015 on developing 
recommendations for short-term as well as long-range implementation strategies.   
 
The outcome of AMPS will be a citywide access management and parking strategy that will be 
incorporated into planning, operations, projects and programs moving forward.   
 
 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION 
Specific feedback from individual Council members was provided in response to questions 
requested by staff:  
 
1. Does council have feedback regarding the best practices and innovation research? Is 

anything missing? And does Council have any initial guidance on policy questions for 
staff to bring back in 2015?  

 
Overall, Council was appreciative of all the research and felt this was a robust and thorough 
investigation to provide a basis for discussion. 
 
Similar to the previous study session, Council is cautious about comparing Boulder to other 
cities, particularly cities with much more density and higher levels of transit service. Any 
policies will need to be tailored to Boulder and our current and planned land use patterns. In 
addition, there is a need to keep an eye on the implications of specific policies. Policies could 
reduce single occupant vehicle trips by eliminating all parking, but there are implications and 
tradeoffs. The community needs to push the envelope, and support achieving the master plan and 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  3



sustainability goals, though not go so far as do things that are detrimental to the city, the 
economy and mobility in the long run. It will be a balancing act.    
 
Technology 

 Questions were raised about the type of technology going in place at 30th and Pearl and 
whether or not this new technology was sufficient to track the information we need. Staff 
responded that the technology is appropriate for the purpose of tracking users of garage – 
RTD patrons, hotel users, district users, residents, etc.  

 Currently the city does not have adequate data to provide real time data on parking 
availability downtown. AMPS is looking to update garage entry system data of vehicles 
going in and out to address this, as well as exploring a pilot with on-street parking 
sensors. 

 
On and Off Street Parking 

 Question was raised about the concept of edge (intercept) parking. Staff described edge 
parking as a shared parking located within mixed use development areas where people 
commuting in/out of Boulder can park and continue their trip either on bike, bus, or 
rideshare option. Edge parking can be co-located with mobility hubs and are not a 
traditional park and ride garage or a large parking lot. It is part of a mixed use area that 
will allow commuters to accomplish additional trips (errands, etc.) without a car and 
reduce the number of cars in the downtown or other core areas of the community.   

 The Armory is one example where this concept is being explored. A private public 
partnership with CAGID would allow CAGID employees to park at the Armory and 
either bus or bike downtown. Again, not a park and ride, but integrated into a mixed use 
center to allow users to access the system and share parking – resident parking in the 
evening, commuter parking during the day. It will require exploring how to share, 
manage and unbundle parking that will work for developer, area residents and 
commuters. 

 Mobility hubs are also being explored in North Boulder and along East Arapahoe. If done 
well, could help increase transit ridership and links with bicycling and rideshare/carshare 
options. 

 The city has a history of considering changes to the 72-hour parking limit and additional 
work is needed. There is a need to balance neighborhood livability and promoting 
multimodal transportation. The 72 hour rule is also used as a defacto notice for special 
events or construction in commercial areas. Any change would need to separate 
residential from commercial applications.  

 The consultant looked at lots of examples across the country and Boulder is middle of 
road in terms of the 72 hour time limit. The city could look at different standards for 
different areas (residential vs. commercial) and have one general policy with different 
rules for smaller parts of city. 

 How do you use parking to create a sense of place? There are current examples of this 
technique (art in garages, farmers markets in the street and parking lots, public plazas or a 
park over a parking lot). A public art plan will be developed for the downtown garages.  

 Need to ensure adequate parking and protection for bikes and bikes with trailers to 
encourage bike usage.  

 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  4



District Management 
 The Best Practices report described an approach to neighborhood parking programs in 

Houston and Austin. How are those different from Boulder? The idea is to look at ways 
that residential and/or commercial districts can add managed parking. The purpose is to 
find efficiencies and consider how parking revenues derived from the area can benefit 
and support neighborhood programs or amenities. 

 
2. What is council’s input on the key aspects of Transportation Demand Management 

(TDM) Plan policies for new private developments? 
 
Timeframe  

 Many on Council expressed concern about the existing condition of temporary TDM 
plans for permanent projects and the lack of the ability to enforce TDM plans. 

 Many expressed support for TDM plans that span longer than three years and several 
expressed support for a permanent requirements tied to the site.  

 There was discussion about why it takes a project up to three years to comply with the 
TDM goals. Staff responded that it takes time for people to learn about all the TDM tools 
and change their travel behavior. 
  

Thresholds   
 Exempting small properties in aggregate seems problematic as numerous small 

developments could have a significant impact. 
 
Indicators 

 Vehicle trip generation and vehicle miles travelled seem to be the most important 
indicators that could be used at the primary measurable objectives for TDM plans, but 
interest was expressed in measuring average vehicle rates and single occupant vehicle 
mode share. 

 
Escrow, fines, or a performance bond   

 Many on Council supported fines or a performance bond, instead of an escrow account. 
 Development costs already high, requiring additional upfront money will add to costs and 

be perceived as a penalty even if the developer/property manager is doing everything 
right.  

 Appropriate levels of fines should be sufficient to change behavior and produce effective 
TDM Plans that meet objectives. 

 
Eco-passes   

 Eco-Pass programs are an important part of the TDM Plans and should be a required 
element in appropriate contexts. 

 Strong interest for a community wide pass as a way to meet TDM Plan objectives and 
overall TMP goals. 

 
General  

 Important to get the mix of incentives right – it is always good to provide options. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  5



 Need Transportation Management Organizations in more parts of the city. Currently, 
Boulder Transportation Connections (BTC) serves as the TMO for all Boulder 
businesses. BTC partners with DRCOG’s Way to GO program and 36 Commuting 
Solutions provide services to Boulder employers and employees. 

 Although the TDM toolkit is a good step to address impacts of new development, it does 
not address the big issues such as the large number of non-resident employees. AMPS 
needs to also address TDM programs for existing employment, commercial, and 
residential areas of the community. Staff indicated that the TDM Plans for new 
developments work is an early action item of the first phase of AMPS and TDM for 
existing properties will be the focus of the second phase. 

 
3. Does council have any feedback regarding the on-going work plan items and next steps? 
 
Council looks forward to making progress on AMPS and the next steps in each of the AMPS 
focus areas. In particular, once a TDM toolkit for private development is adopted, then working 
on requiring TDM for existing development should be a high priority. 
 
The question of when surveys are deployed was discussed. Do we only do surveys on the nicest 
day of the year? How do you capture how weather affects mode share? Staff responded that 
surveys are usually done in the fall and staff are looking at developing a smart phone app that 
could track travel behavior throughout the year during designated times. People may even want 
to use it more often and to track travel behavior and their correlated GHG footprint. 
 
A request was made for more information on parking revenue and spending to determine if the 
city is subsidizing parking in one form or another. Staff is preparing the data, but stated that the 
City does not subsidize parking. Parking generates funds for the city to maintain the parking 
system and to fund other programs including TDM and Business Improvement Districts, 
sponsorship events, etc. There is a distinction between the parking taxing districts where 
revenues are restricted, and on-street parking revenues and parking ticket fines which are city, 
general fund revenues and expenses. The city budget, organized by different funds, does not 
clearly communicate the total parking revenue and expenses. The bottom line is that parking and 
enforcement provide millions to general fund to pay for programs with nothing to do with 
parking or downtown. There is Council interest knowing if that is still accurate when the full 
costs of providing the services (plowing, maintenance, etc) is accounted for.  (Please see attached 
memorandum for an explanation of the different categories of parking revenues and expenses as 
well as information about garage occupancy in the downtown.)  
 
NEXT STEPS 
A city staff workshop is scheduled for early January and staff will check in with boards and 
commissions in late January, the broader community in February and will return to Council in 
March/April 2015 to review the policy analysis, policy and program options, and next steps.   
 
For more information, please visit: www.bouldercolorado.gov/amps 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  6



 

Memorandum 

TO:    City Council 
 
FROM:  Molly Winter, Director, Downtown and University Hill Management Division/Parking 

Service (DUHMD/PS) 
    Donna Jobert, Financial Manager, DUHMD/PS 
    Kurt Matthews, Parking Manager, DUHMD/PS 
    James Cho, Municipal Court 
 
DATE:    November 15, 2014 
 
RE:  Information Regarding Parking Revenues and Expenses and Downtown Garage 

Utilization 
 
City Council recently requested information regarding parking revenues and expenses and downtown 
garage utilization.  The information below provides a breakdown of the city of Boulder parking revenues 
and related expenses – on‐street parking meters and kiosks, parking tickets and the Neighborhood 
Parking Permit program (NPP) – as well as the Central Area General Improvement District (CAGID) and 
the University Hill General Improvement District (UHGID).    In addition, statistics and background 
information are provided regarding the occupancy of the five downtown (CAGID) garages.   
 
BACKGROUND 
It is clear that parking revenues more than cover the direct and indirect expenses of parking and provide 
a source of revenue to the general fund of the city.  However, it is important to clarify that the primary 
reason for charging for parking and imposing fines on parking violations is to manage a very valuable 
resource and ensure a vital community.  In the commercial areas, these strategies are essential to 
manage parking in order to promote turnover ensuring access to businesses and services within the 
commercial districts, as well as balancing the needs of short term visitor and employees.  Parking pricing 
is also a factor in encouraging the use of other access modes other than the automobile – transit, biking 
and walking.  In the neighborhood, parking pricing and enforcement play a slightly different role:   
ensuring neighborhood access and quality of life, through managing spillover parking from adjacent 
traffic generators such as commercial areas, high schools and universities.   
 
In the downtown and on the hill, parking districts were formed in the early 1970’s in these historic areas 
as a strategy to provide for parking access with minimal impact on the urban environment which was 
built before the automobile.  These districts are general improvement taxing districts with funds 
dedicated to the specific purposes – in the downtown parking and parking related improvements, and 
on the hill parking and parking related improvements but also public space maintenance.  These districts 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  7



have surface parking lots and garages that are district owned but are managed in coordination with the 
on‐street parking which is owned by the city of Boulder to ensure the access and economic vitality of the 
commercial areas.  
 
Parking in the city of Boulder is a component of an overall multi‐modal access strategy and is managed 
based on the SUMP principles – shared, unbundled, managed and paid.  A portion of general fund 
revenues from both districts is reinvested into the downtown and hill commercial area in a variety of 
ways including public space improvements and activities, multi‐modal access including Eco Passes, bike 
parking and car share support.    
 
PARKING REVENUES AND EXPENSES 
Below are charts which present the revenues and expenses associated with city of Boulder and the 
districts parking accompanied by explanatory notes.  The numbers presented below have been 
consolidated from the three financial funds within DUHMD/PS – the CAGID Fund, UHGID Fund and the 
General Fund.  Each of the funds has miscellaneous revenues and expenses that are not included in the 
calculations.  All figures are 2013 actuals.   
 

General Fund Parking Revenues And Expenses 2013 
 

  On‐street 
Kiosks &Meters 

Enforcement  NPP  Total 

Revenues: 
 

$3,536,459  $2,212,943  $127,416  $5,876,818 

Expenses: 
 

$1,958,925  $1,071,356  $72,598  $3,102,879 

Net:  $2,353,743  $1,141,587  $54,818  $2,773,939 

Asphalt 
Maintenance 

$43,200       

 
The balance of parking revenues less expenses in the areas of on‐street meters and kiosks, enforcement 
and NPP totals $2,773,939 for allocation for other uses in the general fund.   Council had asked for 
additional information regarding the upkeep and maintenance of the public streets in the areas of paid 
parking.  After consultation with the Transportation, asphalt maintenance and replacement was the 
most significant expense that has a direct relationship to the area of the street used for parking which 
totals $43,200 annually.   
 
Explanatory notes: 

 NPP revenues and expenses do not include parking enforcement; expenses include both direct 
costs and a percentage of administrative costs.  Periodically, funds are needed for parking 
studies to assess a neighborhood’s parking in order to qualify for NPP designation.   

 Administrative expenses are not included in the parking meter or enforcement revenues.  The 
breakdown of expenses for enforcement is $834,156 DUHMD/PS and $237,200 Municipal Court.  

 Estimated cost for asphalt maintenance is based on information from the Transportation and 
DUHMD/PS staff:  Asphalt replacement every 10‐12 years; 432,000 square feet of parking lane 
area based on 160 square feet per parking space with 2700 on‐street parking spaces; annual 
cost of 10 cents per square foot.   

Agenda Item 3A     Page  8



 On‐street meter expenses include parking operations and maintenance, program expenses 
within the fund such as Eco Passes, TDM funding, downtown capital and Business Improvement 
District funding and a percentage of administrative costs.   

 

District Revenues and Expenses
(CAGID & UHGID) 2013 

Revenues: 
 

$7,847,095 

Expenses: 
 

$5,330,571 

Balance:  $2,516,524 

 

 Revenues include district property tax, parking revenues and associated district revenues such 
as the rental income from the garages and the tax increment revenue from 1000 Walnut.   

 Expenses include operations and maintenance, CAGID debt ($1,008,000 for 1500 Pearl and 
$901,407 for 1000 Walnut), a percentage of administrative expenses and the TIF excess to the 
general fund.  

 
CAGID Garage Utilization 
CAGID owns and operates five downtown parking garages:  1500 Pearl, 11th & Spruce, Randolph Center, 
the garage at the RTD station and 1000 Walnut underneath the St. Julien hotel.  The garage occupancy is 
tracked through the gate access system which is currently 15 years old, difficult to support and can be 
unreliable.  Staff is working with a consultant on an RFP to replace the gate access system in 2015 as 
well as provide better coordination with the other parking technologies including permits.   
 
Attached is a chart which tracks the average monthly occupancy year to date in three time segments.  It 
is important to note since parking is free on Saturday and Sunday, there are not statistics for those two 
days.  However, we receive feedback from customers, businesses and Downtown Boulder Inc. that 
certain garages can be full at certain times of the day and night.   
 
As indicated in the occupancy charts, downtown parking demand and occupancy varies by time of day 
by season of the year and by garage.  During 2014, average occupancy has varied from 98% to 21%.  In 
2013, Fox Tuttle Transportation Engineers averaged occupancy of all public parking – on‐street, off‐
street, lots etc. to have an occupancy of 74%.   All of the five garages accommodate short term (visitor, 
client, and customer) parking and long term permit (employee) parking.  It is essential to maintain a 
balance of providing spaces for all users, each with their different cycle of demand.  
 
Permit parking is oversold; that is to say more permits are sold than those allocated.  Permits are sold to 
98% of all the spaces. The utilization reflects the actual use of permit parkers – including days that 
employees are sick, on vacation or are taking other modes to work, part time workers and those 
working flexible schedules.   
 
Staff closely monitors the parking occupancy in order to accommodate the short term demand at peak 
times.  Peak times in the downtown cycle are May for CU graduation, August at the beginning of the 
school year and the Christmas holiday.  Parking is managed in order to ensure adequate supply for these 
peak demand times that reflect events and activities in the downtown such as the Boulder International 
Film Festival, Fall Festival, etc.  

Agenda Item 3A     Page  9



Parking demand is closely tied to the economic health and vitality of downtown.  During the downturn, 
there was a greater level of office vacancy (8.5%) and the wait list for permits was at an all time low of 
113.  In 2014, office vacancy is at 2.65% which increases both short and long term demand; the parking 
permit waitlist is currently 1,207.  And, a recent trend in the increase of employees per square foot in 
technology and start up firms is also increasing demand.  To accommodate increasing demand, parking 
punch cards which allow daily parking have increased.  
 
Parking is one component of the multi modal access system which includes transit, bikes and walking.  
The 2014 Downtown Intercept Survey conducted this fall indicates that 56% arrived by car, 19% walked, 
9% arrived by bus, 9% rode a bike and 9% other.   The Downtown Employee Survey provides data 
regarding employee travel modes and is currently being conducted.    Past surveys have indicated an 
alternative mode use by downtown employees as high as 64%.  
 
For more information, please contact Molly Winter, winterm@bouldercolorado.gov.  
 
 
ATTACHMENT 
Attachment A:  2014 Downtown Garage Counts 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  10



Agenda Item 3A     Page  11



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  12



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 2, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:  Consideration of a motion to authorize the City Manager to enter 
into intergovernmental agreements for the provision of constructing and maintaining the 
US 36 bikeway and the US 36 Davidson Mesa Scenic Overlook 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS  
 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works  
Tracy Winfree, Director of Public Works for Transportation  
Janet Michels, Assistant City Attorney  
Molly Winter, Downtown and University Hill Management Districts/Parking Services  
Mark Gershman, Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Marni Ratzel, GO Boulder Senior Transportation Planner  

  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this item is to request council support for entering into intergovernmental 
agreements (IGA) regarding the planned US 36 bikeway and Davidson Mesa Overlook 
improvements to be constructed as part of the US 36 Managed Lane project.  Two IGAs 
are proposed regarding maintenance of the US 36 bikeway.  The first of these IGAs, 
between the city and the Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT), addresses 
construction and maintenance of the bikeway.  The second IGA, between the city and 
Boulder County, concerns an agreement between the parties to share maintenance 
responsibility for the stretch of proposed bikeway within the City of Boulder and 
unincorporated Boulder County.  The third IGA, between the city and the CDOT, covers 
maintenance of the Davidson Mesa scenic overlook.  The Convention and Visitor Bureau 
(CVB), a contracted service of the City of Boulder would assume the local agency 
maintenance responsibilities detailed in this agreement.   
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page  1



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
Following motion: 
 
Motion to authorize the City Manager to enter into intergovernmental agreements 
between the city and the Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) for the 
construction and maintenance and between the city and Boulder County to share 
maintenance responsibility for the US 36 bikeway; and between the city and the CDOT 
for the maintenance of the Davidson Mesa scenic overlook. 
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
  

• Economic – The US 36 Managed Lane Project is a project of regional 
significance and estimated to generate 3,373 direct, construction related jobs and 
complete more than $427 million in improvements along the corridor.  The 
estimated cost of bikeway component is $10.37 million. 

• Environmental – From 2003 to 2009, CDOT and the Regional Transportation 
District (RTD), in partnership with the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) 
and the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), studied multi-modal transportation 
improvements for the U.S. 36 corridor between Denver and Boulder in the U.S. 
36 Environmental Impact Statement (EIS).  The city has an interest in protecting 
this open space for the range of purposes described in the city charter. Issues with 
the potential for significant effects upon open space lands and values associated 
with design and maintenance of the bikeway will be addressed through the 
processes identified in the agreements. The city also has a significant interest in 
ensuring that the bikeway serves commuters who are both residents and 
employees of the City of Boulder to help reduce greenhouse gases and vehicle 
emissions associated with motor vehicle use.  The bikeway maintenance 
agreements have been crafted to both protect open space values and promote use 
of the bikeway by commuters. 

• Social – Maintaining the US 36 bikeway assures the reliability of the facility for 
use by residents and employees of Boulder as a viable and efficient transportation 
option.   

 
OTHER IMPACTS  

• Fiscal – As the bikeway is not yet designed or constructed, it is difficult to 
estimate the exact costs for routine maintenance.  Snow removal and mowing are 
anticipated to be the most significant costs.  Staff estimates the city’s share of 
these costs to be in the range of $3,500 to $6,000 annually, and will be covered by 
existing Public Works Transportation Division funding.   

• Staff time – The maintenance of the Bikeway will be integrated into the work plan 
of existing staff.  No additional staffing is anticipated or requested at this time.  

 

Agenda Item 3B     Page  2



BACKGROUND 
The U.S. 36 Managed Lane project was developed by the Colorado High Performance 
Transportation Enterprise, a Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act 
(TIFIA)  sponsor, in partnership with CDOT and the RTD. The project is part of RTD’s 
FasTracks Program, a multi-billion dollar comprehensive transit expansion plan, in 
cooperation with Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG), Colorado Bridge 
Enterprise (CBE), Broomfield, Westminster, Boulder, Boulder County, Louisville, 
Superior, Adams County, Jefferson County, and Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railway 
(BNSF). 

In December 2009, the CDOT completed the US 36 Final EIS that described preferred 
alternative improvements to the corridor with estimated costs of more than $1 billion.  
According to the EIS, these improvements would be implemented in the future as funding 
became available. The Phase I U.S. 36 Record of Decision (ROD) documents the main 
elements in the Preferred Alternative: 

• One buffer-separated managed lane in each direction;  
• Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) ramp stations,; 
• Auxiliary lanes between most interchanges; and  
• A commuter bikeway.   

In response to a request from the Boulder CVB, CDOT also has included design and 
construction of visitor amenities and improvements of the Davidson Mesa scenic 
overlook.   

CDOT has requested that all local agencies along the corridor take responsibility for 
routine maintenance of the bikeway within their jurisdictions, while CDOT will construct 
as well as perform all major reconstruction of the commuter bikeway.  CDOT also is 
seeking a local agency to assume maintenance responsibilities of the planned 
improvements for the Davidson Mesa scenic overlook. The Boulder CVB worked closely 
with CDOT on the proposed improvements and has committed to take responsibility for 
overlook maintenance.  CDOT policy requires that an Intergovernmental Agreement 
(IGA) be executed prior to construction of the bikeway and overlook components of the 
project. 

Attachment A is the IGA between CDOT and the City of Boulder for maintenance of 
US 36 Bikeway. Exhibits A and C of the IGA depict the bikeway corridor and portion 
proposed to be the city’s responsibility.  In addition to outlining maintenance practices of 
each party, the IGA will authorize construction of the bikeway.  CDOT will require the 
Design Build contractor to warranty the bikeway for a period of no less than two years.  
CDOT will conduct a final walk through of the bike path with the local agency prior to 
CDOT's final acceptance of the bike path and prior to the start of the warranty period. CDOT 
will require the Design Build Contractor to address all issues identified by the local agency as 
a result of the final walk through prior to CDOT's acceptance of the bike Ppath and the start 
of the warranty period, provided that such issues are consistent with the requirements of the 
final Design Build Plan. 

Agenda Item 3B     Page  3

http://www.coloradodot.info/projects/us36eis�
http://www.coloradodot.info/projects/us36eis/documents/us-36-record-of-decision-rod�
http://www.rtd-fastracks.com/us36_1�


As the planned alignment of the bikeway crosses both incorporated and unincorporated 
lands, the city and Boulder County propose to enter into an IGA to divide CDOT-
assigned local agency maintenance responsibility equally.  This IGA is detailed as 
Attachment B.   

Attachment C is the IGA between CDOT and the city of Boulder for maintenance of the 
Davidson Mesa Overlook.  It details CDOT’s commitment to be responsible for the 
routine and capital maintenance of the roadway/ramp including the parking lane. As the 
local agency, the City of Boulder will be responsible for routine and capital maintenance 
for all pedestrian and visitor amenity improvements including the information kiosk, 
benches and sidewalk.   
 
ANALYSIS 

Bikeway construction and maintenance   
The EIS included the construction of an 18-mile long, 12-foot wide multi-purpose 
bikeway adjacent to U.S. Highway 36 (U.S. 36).  This new bikeway will allow 
commuters to travel easily from Boulder to Westminster by bicycle or walking.  The U.S. 
36 Bikeway will also connect to existing bicycle facilities previously constructed along 
the highway corridor.  

While only one mile of the 18 mile bikeway is adjacent to lands within the city limits, 
almost three miles of bikeway are adjacent to city of open space land, which extend 
beyond the city limit into unincorporated Boulder County. The city and county 
Transportation Divisions are interested in working collaboratively to cost-share the 
maintenance responsibilities 50 / 50 along the three miles within our respective 
jurisdictions.  The city and county together with other local agencies along the corridor 
are defining uniform maintenance practices and minimum levels of service to ensure a 
consistent user experience along the regional bikeway.  Specific routine maintenance 
such as snow removal, mowing and sweeping may be contracted jointly by the local 
agencies to ensure continuity and reduce costs.   

Davidson Mesa Overlook 
The Davidson Mesa Overlook provides iconic and panoramic westward views of the city 
and the Indian Peaks . The overlook offers the opportunity for the thousands of tourists 
who stop on their way to Rocky Mountain National Park to enjoy a sweeping vista of 
Boulder and to learn about the many attractions within the city.  The CVB will provide 
maps and brochures at the kiosk to encourage visitors to stop and enjoy Boulder on their 
way to the park.  During the high season (May – October) the CVB distributes 
approximately 2,000 to 2,500 Boulder brochures and maps monthly.  At other time of the 
year, it distributes  closer to 300-500 brochures per month. The kiosk is stocked multiple 
times each week to ensure that materials are available.  
 
The CVB maintenance responsibilities will be included in the annual City of Boulder 
contract with the CVB including but not limited to kiosk structure, benches, signs, bike 

Agenda Item 3B     Page  4



racks, trash receptacles, and retaining walls.  The 2015 contract will be finalized by the 
end of this year.  
 
NEXT STEPS 
Should City Council support the staff recommendation, the IGAs will be executed by the 
City Manager.  The city will continue to work with local agencies along the corridor to 
maximize the potential for a consistent user experience and minimize maintenance costs 
through a coordinated effort, as appropriate.   
 
US 36 Express Lanes project is being constructed in two phases. Construction on 
segment 1 began in summer 2012.  The reconstruction of US 36 from Federal Boulevard 
to 88th Street in Louisville/Superior is anticipated to be complete in late 2015. Segment 2 
will continue the managed lanes, Bus Rapid Transit and U.S. 36 Bikeway from 88th Street 
to Table Mesa Road. CDOT began a design/build contract to reconstruct this segment in 
2013. It is estimated that construction of the entire project will be complete by early, 
2016.  More information about the project can be found in Attachment D.   
 
ATTACHMENTS  
Attachment A – Intergovernmental agreement between the City of Boulder and the 
Colorado Department of Transportation concerning the construction and maintenance of 
that portion of the US 36 Bikeway in Boulder  
Attachment B – Intergovernmental agreement between the City of Boulder and Boulder 
County for the maintenance of bikeway improvements along US 36 between Table Mesa 
Drive and the Top of Davidson Mesa 
Attachment C - Intergovernmental agreement between the City of Boulder and the 
Colorado Department of Transportation concerning the maintenance of the Davidson 
Mesa scenic overlook  
Attachment D – US 36 Managed Lane Project Fact Sheet  
 

 

Agenda Item 3B     Page  5



Page 1 of 9 
 

(Maintenance)                                                                  
Regional Transportation District  
REGION 1 - wma  
 
 INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
 
THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made this ___ day of 

________________ 20___, by and between the State of Colorado for the use and benefit of the 

COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (“State” or “CDOT”), and the City of 

Boulder (“Local Agency”), PO Box 791, Boulder, CO, 80306, CDOT Vendor #: 2000011. 

 

This Agreement shall not be effective or enforceable until it is approved and signed by the Governor or 

his designee (“Effective Date”).  

RECITALS 

1. Required approval, clearance and coordination have been accomplished from and with 
appropriate agencies.  

2. The parties desire to enter into this Agreement to delineate each ones responsibilities for 
maintenance of the US 36 bikeway and bikeway facility as part of the US 36 Managed Lane Project 
detailed in Exhibits A and C;  

3. For the purposes of this contract,   “Bikeway” shall be defined as the facility constructed as 
part of the US 36 Managed Lane Project through various jurisdictions which include all supporting 
infrastructure designed and constructed to support the function of the bike path including but not 
limited to signage, irrigation, culverts, landscaping and other infrastructure intended to enhance the 
operation and safety of the intended use of the bike path.  “Bike Path” shall be defined as that portion 
of the Bikeway facility constructed as part of the US 36 Managed Lane Project that is within the 
Jurisdiction of the Local Agency. 

4. The State and the Local Agency have the authority, as provided in Sections 29-1-203, 43-1-
106, 43-2-103, 43-2-104, and 43-2-144 CRS, as amended, and in applicable ordinance or resolution 
duly passed and adopted by the Local Agency, to enter into this Agreement with the Local Agency for 
the purpose of maintaining a bikeway along a US highway system as hereinafter set forth;  

5. The Local Agency has the resources to perform the desired maintenance on the bikeway 
within its jurisdiction;  

6. The US 36 Managed Lane Project has been cleared environmentally via the US 36 EIS Phase 
1 Record of Decision (ROD) signed December 2009, and will be funded with local, state, TIFIA 
loan, and federal-aid dollars; and  

SAP # 331000514 
 
FOR CDOT TRACKING PURPOSES 
(subject to change). 

Attachment A: IGA concerning the construction and maintenance of 
that portion of the US 36 Bikeway in Boulder

Agenda Item 3B     Page  6



Page 2 of 9 
 

7. Per the ROD signed December 2009 the Project will provide a bikeway facility adjacent to US 36 
connecting Boulder and Denver. Maintenance of the US 36 bikeway will be the responsibility of the local 
jurisdictions through an Intergovernmental Agreement with CDOT. 
 
THE PARTIES NOW AGREE THAT: 
 
Section 1.  Scope of Work 
             
The Local Agency will maintain the bike path partially within its jurisdiction along the US 36 
corridor as such bike path is generally depicted on Exhibit C and as such bike path is within the 
geographical boundaries of the Local Agency, which bike path is hereinafter referred to as the "Bike 
Path." The Bike Path is a portion of the bikeway that is part of the US 36 Express Lanes, NH 0361-
103 (18907) described in Exhibits A and C, and is hereinafter referred to as the "Bikeway."  

 
Section 2. CDOT Commitments  

1. CDOT will construct, at its own expense, the Bikeway, including the Bike Path, along the 
reconstructed section of the US 36 corridor to provide a continuous commuter bikeway by connecting 
to or using existing facilities along the corridor. CDOT shall consider the Local Agency's comments 
concerning the draft design build plan for the Bike Path.   CDOT's construction of the Bike Path will 
be in accordance with a final design build plan for the Bike Path that is approved by CDOT 
(hereinafter referred to as the "Bike Path Plan"), and such construction shall include all requirements 
of the Bike Path Plan, including all fences, railings, wildlife barriers, landscaping, signage, electrical 
fixtures, and striping as set forth in the Bike Path Plan. CDOT will provide a dedicated power source 
for all electrical fixtures required by the Bike Path Plan. 

2. CDOT, at its own expense, will acquire all property necessary to build the Bike Path, by 
acquiring fee simple title or a permanent public access easement allowing for the Bike Path, including 
legal authorization for the Local Agency or its employees, representatives, contractors or sub-
contractors to access the Bike Path to fulfill the Local Agency's obligations under this Agreement.   

3. In the event that safety concerns are identified along the commuter Bikeway, including the 
Bike Path, CDOT will partner with the local jurisdictions to identify the appropriate response to 
maintain a safe and functional commuter Bikeway. CDOT will perform at its own expense, all 
improvements determined to be Capital improvements and the local jurisdiction will perform at its 
own expense all activities determined to be routine maintenance.  

4. CDOT will perform at its own expense, all major reconstructions to the commuter bikeway 
facility. CDOT will perform major reconstruction of the commuter bikeway facility only after funding 
for the improvement has been identified and obtained.  

5. CDOT will perform, at its own expense, routine inspection and all maintenance of any 
structure constructed for grade separation along the Bike Path.  
 

Attachment A: IGA concerning the construction and maintenance of 
that portion of the US 36 Bikeway in Boulder

Agenda Item 3B     Page  7



Page 3 of 9 
 

6. CDOT will conduct a final walk through of the Bike Path with the Local Agency prior to 
CDOT's final acceptance of the Bike Path and prior to the start of the warranty period.  CDOT will 
require the Design Build Contractor to address all issues identified by the Local Agency as a result of 
such final walk through prior to CDOT's acceptance of the Bike Path and the start of the warranty 
period, provided that such issues are consistent with the requirements of the final Design Build Plan.  
CDOT will require the Design Build contractor to warrant the Bike Path and commuter bikeway 
facility for a period of no less than two years. CDOT shall be responsible for enforcing all warranty 
obligations of the Design Build Contractor for the Bike Path, including repairs of the Bike Path as 
required by the agreement between CDOT and the Design Build Contractor and the final Design 
Build Plan. CDOT shall respond in writing to the Local Agency's written notice of warranty issues 
during the 2-year warranty period within 5 business days and will work cooperatively diligently with 
the Local Agency to resolve any issues.  The warranty period will begin from the time of the Bike 
Path’s final acceptance by CDOT. 

7. CDOT shall perform all of its duties and obligations hereunder in accordance with all 
applicable law. 

Section 3. Local Agency Commitments  

A. The Local Agency will:  

1. Permit CDOT to connect newly constructed segments of the US 36 commuter Bikeway to the 
South Boulder Creek trail and Table Mesa Drive to provide a continuous commuter bikeway 
along the reconstructed section of the corridor in those sections where it is not feasible to 
construct a new bikeway with the project as agreed upon by the Parties. This includes, but is 
not limited to, modifying the signage and striping of the facility to accommodate the 
commuter bikeway.  

B. The Local Agency shall perform at its own expense, all routine maintenance activities necessary to 
maintain a safe and functional commuter bikeway within their jurisdiction. Routine maintenance 
activities to be performed by the Local Agency under this Agreement shall not include any 
warranty obligations or major reconstruction obligations or capital improvements that are the 
obligations of CDOT pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. Routine maintenance activities to 
be performed by the Local Agency under this Agreement shall be performed in accordance with 
the Local Agency’s standard bike path maintenance procedures and shall include, but not be 
limited to the following:   

1. Keeping the Bike Path free from obstructions and impediments that may interfere with bicycle 
and pedestrian traffic, including sand and debris;, signing, striping and electrical lighting 
fixtures installed along the Bike Path, including for that portion of the commuter Bike Path 
facility that crosses or is adjacent to a public street or highway and repair of damaged 
pavement slabs and subgrades to the extent that such repair is not an obligation of the Design 
Build Contractor or CDOT as a warranty obligations or a major reconstruction obligation or 
capital improvement obligation of CDOT.  

Attachment A: IGA concerning the construction and maintenance of 
that portion of the US 36 Bikeway in Boulder

Agenda Item 3B     Page  8



Page 4 of 9 
 

2. Snow removal (snow plowing) along the Bike Path.  

3. Mowing, tree and shrub upkeep; repair of damaged Bike Path delineation; removal of graffiti 
from Bike Path pavement, structures and signage; and maintaining and repairing safety fences 
and railings associated with the commuter Bike Path. 

4. Stormwater management and water quality responsibilities related to the Bike Path as follows:  

Maintain stormwater management facilities and structures including inlets, storm sewer pipes, 
ditches, drainage facilities intended to reduce, detain, convey, and manage stormwater runoff 
on the Bike Path, “drainage facilities,” and facilities intended to provide water quality 
benefits, “water quality facilities,” only as such facilities are associated with the Bike Path, 
hereinafter referred to as the "Bike Path Stormwater Facilities."  Maintenance of the Bike Path 
Stormwater Facilities shall include routine inspection, sediment removal and repair of the 
Bike Path Stormwater Facilities as necessary, consistent with the Local Agencies standard 
procedures. This maintenance obligation for Bike Path Stormwater Facilities does not include 
any roadway storm water quality ponds constructed as part of this project, regardless of 
whether such roadway facility is combined with or impacts the Bike Path Stormwater 
Facilities. 

5. Maintain irrigation 

The infrastructure intended to control, measure, deliver and direct irrigation water, to the 
degree such facilities are affected by the Bike Path.  These facilities include but are not 
limited to irrigation canals, ditches, laterals, pipes and culverts, irrigations headgates, flumes, 
gages or other water measurement structures and/or devices. Maintenance of the Bike Path 
irrigation facilities shall include routine inspection, sediment removal and repair as necessary 
consistent with the Local Agency’s standard procedures.   

Section 4. Term and Termination Provisions  

1.  This Agreement shall be in effect only after it is executed by both Parties. The Maintenance 
obligations of the Local Agency under this Agreement shall commence on the date of the final written 
acceptance of the Bike Path by CDOT and will remain in effect until this Agreement is terminated in 
accordance with the requirements of this Section 4 and both Parties agree to terminate  

2. Termination for Cause. If, through any cause, either Party shall fail to fulfill its obligations 
under this Agreement, or if either Party shall violate any of the covenants, agreements, or stipulations 
of this Agreement, either Party shall thereupon have the right to terminate this Agreement for cause 
by giving written notice to the other Party of its intent to terminate and giving at least thirty (30) days 
opportunity to cure the default or show cause why termination is otherwise not appropriate.  

Section 5.  Legal Authority 
 
The Local Agency warrants that it possesses the legal authority to enter into this Agreement and that 
it has taken all actions required by its procedures, by-laws, and/or applicable law to exercise that 

Attachment A: IGA concerning the construction and maintenance of 
that portion of the US 36 Bikeway in Boulder

Agenda Item 3B     Page  9



Page 5 of 9 
 

authority, and to lawfully authorize its undersigned signatory to execute this Agreement and to bind 
the Local Agency to its terms.  The person(s) executing this Agreement on behalf of the Local 
Agency warrants that such person(s) has full authorization to execute this Agreement. 
 
Section 6.  Representatives and Notice 

 
The State will provide liaison with the Local Agency through the State's Region Director, Region 6, 
2000 South Holly Street, Denver, Colorado 80222.  Said Region Director will also be responsible for 
coordinating the State's activities under this Agreement and will also issue a "Notice to Proceed" to 
the Local Agency for commencement of the Work. All communications relating to the day-to-day 
activities for the work shall be exchanged between representatives of the State’s Transportation 
Region 6 and the Local Agency.  All communication, notices, and correspondence shall be addressed 
to the individuals identified below.  Either party may from time to time designate in writing new or 
substitute representatives. 

 
If to State:      If to the Local Agency: 
 
Mark Gosselin 
CDOT Project Manager                                         
500 Eldorado, Suite 2301  
Broomfield, Colorado 80021 
(303) 404-7020 

Tracy Winfree 
City of Boulder 
P.O. Box 791 
Boulder, Colorado 80306 
(303) 441-3200 

 
Section 7.  Successors 
 
Except as herein otherwise provided, this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon 
the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. 
 
Section 8.  Governmental Immunity 
 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, no term or condition of this 
Agreement shall be construed or interpreted as a waiver, express or implied, of any of the 
immunities, rights, benefits, protection, or other provisions of the Colorado Governmental Immunity 
Act, §24-10-101, et seq., CRS, as now or hereafter amended. The parties understand and agree that 
liability for claims for injuries to persons or property arising out of negligence of the State of 
Colorado, its departments, institutions, agencies, boards, officials and employees is controlled and 
limited by the provisions of §24-10-101, et seq., CRS, as now or hereafter amended and the risk 
management statutes, §§24-30-1501, et seq., CRS, as now or hereafter amended. 
 
Section 9.  Severability 
 
To the extent that this Agreement may be executed and performance of the obligations of the parties 
may be accomplished within the intent of the Agreement, the terms of this Agreement are severable, 
and should any term or provision hereof be declared invalid or become inoperative for any reason, 
such invalidity or failure shall not affect the validity of any other term or provision hereof. 

Attachment A: IGA concerning the construction and maintenance of 
that portion of the US 36 Bikeway in Boulder

Agenda Item 3B     Page  10



Page 6 of 9 
 

 
Section 10.  Waiver 
 
The waiver of any breach of a term, provision, or requirement of this Agreement shall not be 
construed or deemed as a waiver of any subsequent breach of such term, provision, or requirement, or 
of any other term, provision or requirement. 
  
Section 11.  Modification and Amendment 
 
A.  This Agreement is subject to such modifications as may be required by changes in federal or State 
law, or their implementing regulations. Any such required modification shall automatically be 
incorporated into and be part of this Agreement on the effective date of such change as if fully set 
forth herein. Except as provided above, no modification of this Agreement shall be effective unless 
agreed to in writing by both parties in an amendment to this Agreement that is properly executed and 
approved in accordance with applicable law. 
 
B.  Either party may suggest renegotiation of the terms of this Agreement, provided that the 

Agreement  
shall not be subject to renegotiation more often than annually, and that neither party shall be required  
to renegotiate. If the parties agree to change the provisions of this Agreement, the renegotiated terms  
shall not be effective until this Agreement is amended/modified accordingly in writing.   
  
Section 12.  Disputes 
 

 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any dispute concerning a question of fact arising 
under this Agreement which is not disposed of by agreement will be decided by the Chief Engineer 
of the Department of Transportation. The decision of the Chief Engineer will be final and conclusive 
unless, within 30 calendar days after the date of receipt of a copy of such written decision, the Local 
Agency mails or otherwise furnishes to the State a written appeal addressed to the Executive Director 
of the Department of Transportation. In connection with any appeal proceeding under this clause, the 
Local Agency shall be afforded an opportunity to be heard and to offer evidence in support of its 
appeal. Pending final decision of a dispute hereunder, the Local Agency shall proceed diligently with 
the performance of the Agreement in accordance with the Chief Engineer’s decision. The decision of 
the Executive Director or his duly authorized representative for the determination of such appeals 
will be final and conclusive and serve as final agency action. This dispute clause does not preclude 
consideration of questions of law in connection with decisions provided for herein. Nothing in this 
Agreement, however, shall be construed as making final the decision of any administrative official, 
representative, or board on a question of law. 

Section 13.  Does not supersede other agreements 
 

This Agreement is not intended to supersede or affect in any way any other agreement (if any) that is 
currently in effect between the State and the Local Agency for other “maintenance and operations 
services” on State Highway rights-of-way within the jurisdiction of the Local Agency. Also, the 

Attachment A: IGA concerning the construction and maintenance of 
that portion of the US 36 Bikeway in Boulder

Agenda Item 3B     Page  11



Page 7 of 9 
 

Local Agency shall also continue to perform, at its own expense, all such activities/duties (if any) on 
such State Highway rights-of-ways that the Local Agency is required by applicable law to perform. 

 
Section 14.  Sub-Local Agencies 
 
The Local Agency may subcontract for any part of the performance required under this Agreement, 
subject to the Local Agency first obtaining approval from the State for any particular Sub-local 
Agency. The State understands that the Local Agency may intend to perform some or all of the 
services required under this Agreement through a Sub-local Agency. The Local Agency agrees not to 
assign rights or delegate duties under this Agreement [or subcontract any part of the performance 
required under the Agreement] without the express, written consent of the State [which shall not be 
unreasonably withheld]. Except as herein otherwise provided, this agreement shall inure to the 
benefit of and be binding only upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. 
 
 
 

The Remainder of this Page left Intentionally Blank

Attachment A: IGA concerning the construction and maintenance of 
that portion of the US 36 Bikeway in Boulder

Agenda Item 3B     Page  12



Page 8 of 9 
 

 
 
Section 15. The Special Provisions apply to all Agreements except where noted in italics 
 

                    1. CONTROLLER'S APPROVAL. CRS §24-30-202(1). This Agreement shall not be valid until it has been approved by the Colorado State 

Controller or designee. 

                    2. FUND AVAILABILITY. CRS §24-30-202(5.5). Financial obligations of the State payable after the current fiscal year are contingent upon funds 
for that purpose being appropriated, budgeted, and otherwise made available.  

                   3. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY. No term or condition of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted as a waiver, express or implied, of any 
of the immunities, rights, benefits, protections, or other provisions, of the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, CRS §24-10-101 et seq., or the Federal 
Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. §§1346(b) and 2671 et seq., as applicable now or hereafter amended. 

                   4. INDEPENDENT LOCAL AGENCY. Local Agency shall perform its duties hereunder as an independent Local Agency and not as an employee. 
Neither Local Agency nor any agent or employee of Local Agency shall be deemed to be an agent or employee of the State. Local Agency and its 
employees and agents are not entitled to unemployment insurance or workers compensation benefits through the State and the State shall not pay for or 
otherwise provide such coverage for Local Agency or any of its agents or employees. Unemployment insurance benefits will be available to Local Agency 
and its employees and agents only if such coverage is made available by Local Agency or a third party. Local Agency shall pay when due all applicable 
employment taxes and income taxes and local head taxes incurred pursuant to this Agreement. Local Agency shall not have authorization, express or 
implied, to bind the State to any agreement, liability or understanding, except as expressly set forth herein. Local Agency shall (a) provide and keep in 
force workers' compensation and unemployment compensation insurance in the amounts required by law, (b) provide proof thereof when requested by the 
State, and (c) be solely responsible for its acts and those of its employees and agents. 

                   5. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW. Local Agency shall strictly comply with all applicable federal and State laws, rules, and regulations in effect or 
hereafter established, including, without limitation, laws applicable to discrimination and unfair employment practices. 

                   6. CHOICE OF LAW. Colorado law, and rules and regulations issued pursuant thereto, shall be applied in the interpretation, execution, and 
enforcement of this Agreement. Any provision included or incorporated herein by reference which conflicts with said laws, rules, and regulations shall be 
null and void. Any provision incorporated herein by reference which purports to negate this or any other Special Provision in whole or in part shall not be 
valid or enforceable or available in any action at law, whether by way of complaint, defense, or otherwise. Any provision rendered null and void by the 
operation of this provision shall not invalidate the remainder of this Agreement, to the extent capable of execution. 

                   7. BINDING ARBITRATION PROHIBITED. The State of Colorado does not agree to binding arbitration by any extra-judicial body or person. Any 
provision to the contrary in this contact or incorporated herein by reference shall be null and void. 

                   8. SOFTWARE PIRACY PROHIBITION. Governor's Executive Order D 002 00. State or other public funds payable under this Agreement shall 
not be used for the acquisition, operation, or maintenance of computer software in violation of federal copyright laws or applicable licensing restrictions. 
Local Agency hereby certifies and warrants that, during the term of this Agreement and any extensions, Local Agency has and shall maintain in place 
appropriate systems and controls to prevent such improper use of public funds. If the State determines that Local Agency is in violation of this provision, 
the State may exercise any remedy available at law or in equity or under this Agreement, including, without limitation, immediate termination of this 
Agreement and any remedy consistent with federal copyright laws or applicable licensing restrictions.  

                   9. EMPLOYEE FINANCIAL INTEREST/CONFLICT OF INTEREST. CRS §§24-18-201 and 24-50-507. The signatories aver that to their 
knowledge, no employee of the State has any personal or beneficial interest whatsoever in the service or property described in this Agreement. Local 
Agency has no interest and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, that would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of Local 
Agency’s services and Local Agency shall not employ any person having such known interests.   

                   10. VENDOR OFFSET. CRS §§24-30-202 (1) and 24-30-202.4. [Not Applicable to intergovernmental agreements] Subject to CRS §24-30-202.4 
(3.5), the State Controller may withhold payment under the State’s vendor offset intercept system for debts owed to State agencies for: (a) unpaid child 
support debts or child support arrearages; (b) unpaid balances of tax, accrued interest, or other charges specified in CRS §39-21-101, et seq.; (c) unpaid 
loans due to the Student Loan Division of the Department of Higher Education; (d) amounts required to be paid to the Unemployment Compensation 
Fund; and (e) other unpaid debts owing to the State as a result of final agency determination or judicial action. 

11. PUBLIC AGREEMENTS FOR SERVICES. CRS §8-17.5-101. [Not Applicable to agreements relating to the offer, issuance, or sale of securities, investment 
advisory services or fund management services, sponsored projects, intergovernmental agreements, or information technology services or products and services] Local 
Agency certifies, warrants, and agrees that it does not knowingly employ or Agreement with an illegal alien who will perform work under this Agreement and will confirm the 
employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for employment in the United States to perform work under this Agreement, through participation in the E-Verify 
Program or the Department program established pursuant to CRS §8-17.5-102(5)(c), Local Agency shall not knowingly employ or Agreement with an illegal alien to perform 
work under this Agreement or enter into an Agreement with a sub-Local Agency that fails to certify to Local Agency that the sub-Local Agency shall not knowingly employ or 
Agreement with an illegal alien to perform work under this Agreement. Local Agency (a) shall not use E-Verify Program or Department program procedures to undertake 
pre-employment screening of job applicants while this Agreement is being performed, (b) shall notify the sub-Local Agency and the contracting State agency within three days 
if Local Agency has actual knowledge that a sub-Local Agency is employing or contracting with an illegal alien for work under this Agreement, (c) shall terminate the 
subcontract if a sub-Local Agency does not stop employing or contracting with the illegal alien within three days of receiving the notice, and (d) shall comply with reasonable 
requests made in the course of an investigation, undertaken pursuant to CRS §8-17.5-102(5), by the Colorado Department of Labor and Employment. If Local Agency 
participates in the Department program, Local Agency shall deliver to the contracting State agency, Institution of Higher Education or political subdivision a written, 
notarized affirmation, affirming that Local Agency has examined the legal work status of such employee, and shall comply with all of the other requirements of the 
Department program. If Local Agency fails to comply with any requirement of this provision or CRS §8-17.5-101 et seq., the contracting State agency, institution of higher 
education or political subdivision may terminate this Agreement for breach and, if so terminated, Local Agency shall be liable for damages.  
 
12. PUBLIC AGREEMENTS WITH NATURAL PERSONS. CRS §24-76.5-101. Local Agency, if a natural person eighteen (18) years of age or older, 
hereby swears and affirms under penalty of perjury that he or she (a) is a citizen or otherwise lawfully present in the United States pursuant to federal law, (b) 
shall comply with the provisions of CRS §24-76.5-101 et seq., and (c) has produced one form of identification required by CRS §24-76.5-103 prior to the 
effective date of this Agreement. 

 

SPECIAL PROVISIONS

Attachment A: IGA concerning the construction and maintenance of 
that portion of the US 36 Bikeway in Boulder

Agenda Item 3B     Page  13



Page 9 of 9 
 

 
THE PARTIES HERETO HAVE EXECUTED THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL 

AGREEMENT 
 

* Persons signing for The Local Agency hereby swear and affirm that they are authorized to act on The Local 
Agency’s behalf and acknowledge that the State is relying on their representations to that effect.  

 
 
LOCAL AGENCY:                                             STATE OF COLORADO: 
                                                                              JOHN W. HICKENLOOPER, GOVERNOR 
 
City of Boulder    
Legal Name of Contracting Entity  By: Timothy J. Harris, PE, Chief Engineer  
 For Donald E. Hunt, Executive Director, 
         Colorado Department of Transportation 
  
 Date: _________________________ 
2000011  
CDOT Vendor Number 
 
 
   
Signature of Authorized Officer 
                
 
   
Print Name & Title of Authorized Officer 
        
 
 
 
LOCAL AGENCY: 
(A Local Agency attestation is required.) 
 
Attest (Seal) By  
(Town/City/County Clerk)                                    (Place Local Agency seal here, if available) 
 
 
 
  
 
 

Attachment A: IGA concerning the construction and maintenance of 
that portion of the US 36 Bikeway in Boulder

Agenda Item 3B     Page  14



EXHIBIT A 
 
 

Exhibit A – Page 1 of 3 
 
 
 

SCOPE OF WORK 
 

 
The US 36 Managed Lane Project (“Project”) was developed by the Colorado High Performance 
Transportation Enterprise (TIFIA sponsor) in partnership with the Colorado Department of 
Transportation (CDOT) and the Regional Transportation District (RTD). The Project is part of 
RTD’s FasTracks Program, a multi-billion dollar comprehensive transit expansion plan, in 
cooperation with Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG), Colorado Bridge Enterprise 
(CBE), City and County of Broomfield, City of Westminster, City of Boulder, Boulder County, City 
of Louisville, Town of Superior, Adams County, Jefferson County, and Burlington Northern Santa Fe 
Railway (BNSF).  

In addition to those duties and responsibilities of CDOT set forth in the Agreement, including those 
duties and responsibilities required by Section 2 of the Agreement, the primary responsibilities of 
CDOT are as follows:  

• Partner with the US 36 Mayors and Commissioners Coalition and seek input from all affected 
jurisdictions along the US 36 corridor regarding implementation of the Project.  

• Perform Preliminary Engineering work which includes: survey, preparation of ROW plans, 
developing preliminary design plans, ROW purchase and construction.  

• Perform general administration and supervision of Performance of the Project, including 
entering into a Design-Build Agreement for both design and Construction of the Project, and 
the administration of federal funds, state funds, and Local Agency funds. CDOT shall 
perform, as required, project inspection and testing.  

• Provide Project funding  
• Approving sources of materials.  
• Perform required plant and shop inspections  
• Documentation of Agreement payments  
• Preparing and approving pay estimates  
• Preparing, approving, and securing the funding for Agreement modification orders and minor 

Agreement revisions.  
• Processing Agreement or claims.  
• Construction supervision.  
• Overseeing Quality Control activities and meeting requirements of the FHWA/CDOT 

Stewardship Agreement.  
• Monitor completed bikeway improvements for deficiencies and maintenance during the 

project 2-year warranty period.  
 
The multi-modal, toll integrated US 36 Managed Lane Project will include the following major 
construction activities and project elements:  

 
The primary responsibilities of CDOT are as follows: 
 

Attachment A: IGA concerning the construction and maintenance of 
that portion of the US 36 Bikeway in Boulder

Agenda Item 3B     Page  15



EXHIBIT A 
 
 

Exhibit A – Page 2 of 3 
 
 
 

 Partner with the US 36 Mayors and Commissioners Coalition and seek input from all 
affected jurisdictions along the US 36 corridor regarding implementation of the Project. 

 Perform Preliminary Engineering work which includes: survey, preparation of ROW 
plans, developing preliminary design plans, ROW purchase and construction.  

 Perform general administration and supervision of Performance of the Project, including 
entering into a Design-Build contract for both design and Construction of the Project, 
and the administration of federal funds, state funds, and Local Agency funds. CDOT 
shall perform, as required, project inspection and testing. 

 Provide Project funding 
 Approving sources of materials. 
 Perform required plant and shop inspections 
 Documentation of contract payments 
 Preparing and approving  pay estimates 
 Preparing, approving, and securing the funding for contract modification orders and 

minor contract revisions. 
 Processing contractor claims. 
 Construction supervision. 
 Overseeing Quality Control activities and meeting requirements of the FHWA/CDOT 

Stewardship Agreement. 
 Monitor completed bikeway improvements for deficiencies and maintenance during the 

project 2-year warranty period. 

The multi-modal, toll integrated US 36 Managed Lane Project will include the following major 
construction activities and project elements: 

 Reconstruct and widen US 36 to accommodate a new buffer-separated managed 
lane in each direction of US 36 

 Reconstruct gore points (areas where ramps exit or join the main highway) at 
interchange ramps to tie to widened U.S. 36 and to accommodate queue bypass 
lanes at on-ramps.  Existing Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) facilities on the ramps will 
be maintained. 

 Construct retaining walls and sound walls. 
 Replacement of the Wadsworth Parkway, Wadsworth Boulevard, and Lowell 

Boulevard bridges 
 Reconstruct portions of the Wadsworth Parkway interchange. 
 Install Intelligent Transportation Systems for tolling, transit information, and 

incident management. Toll systems installation and integration will be provided by 
others. 

 Construction of portions of a commuter bikeway along the reconstructed section of 
the corridor and to provide a continuous commuter bikeway along the 
reconstructed section of the corridor by connecting to or using existing facilities 
along the corridor. 

 Implement an appropriate transportation demand management (TDM) program  
 

The Colorado Department decided to pursue a design build contractor to deliver the project. The 

Attachment A: IGA concerning the construction and maintenance of 
that portion of the US 36 Bikeway in Boulder

Agenda Item 3B     Page  16



EXHIBIT A 
 
 

Exhibit A – Page 3 of 3 
 
 
 

design build contract between CDOT and the Design-Build contractor will define the project 
elements as follows: 

 Basic Configuration which includes minimum acceptable elements to be 
constructed in the project 

 CDOT will identify Additional Requested Elements (A.R.E.s) to maximize 
construction of elements with the funding available.  Within the maximum project 
funding amount, the Design-Build contractor may propose to construct all or 
portions of the A.R.E.s. 

 
 

The Remainder of this Page left Intentionally Blank

Attachment A: IGA concerning the construction and maintenance of 
that portion of the US 36 Bikeway in Boulder

Agenda Item 3B     Page  17



EXHIBIT B (NOT APPLICABLE) 

Exhibit B 

 
 

                                                  LOCAL AGENCY 
ORDINANCE 

or  
RESOLUTION 

Attachment A: IGA concerning the construction and maintenance of 
that portion of the US 36 Bikeway in Boulder

Agenda Item 3B     Page  18



EXHIBIT C – MAP  

Exhibit C – Page 1 of 1 

 

Attachment A: IGA concerning the construction and maintenance of 
that portion of the US 36 Bikeway in Boulder

Agenda Item 3B     Page  19



 

Page 1 of 4 
 
 

Boulder County 
DRAFT 

11/18/2014 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
FOR MAINTENANCE OF BIKEWAY IMPROVEMENTS ALONG U.S. HIGHWAY 36 

BETWEEN TABLE MESA ROAD AND THE TOP OF DAVIDSON MESA 
 
 THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR MAINTENANCE OF 
BIKEWAY IMPROVEMENTS ALONG U.S. HIGHWAY 36 BETWEEN TABLE MESA 
ROAD AND THE TOP OF DAVIDSON MESA (this “Agreement”) is entered into this    
day of    , 2013, by and between the CITY OF BOULDER (the “City”), a Colorado 
home rule municipality, and BOULDER COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of 
Colorado, (the “County"), collectively referred to herein as the "Parties."  
 

RECITALS 
 
 WHEREAS, the parties are authorized to enter into this Agreement pursuant to C.R.S. 
§29-1-201 et seq.; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Colorado Department of Transportation is planning to design/build 
Bikeway improvements along U.S. Highway 36 (the “Bikeway”) and has requested all local 
agencies along the corridor to take responsibility for day-to-day maintenance of the Bikeway; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the planned alignment of the Bikeway is difficult to assign responsibility as 

it crosses a mixture of both incorporated and unincorporated lands; connects to multiple city 
facilities; and serves residents and visitors of both the City of Boulder and unincorporated 
Boulder County; and 

 
WHEREAS, the design/build process makes it difficult to ascertain the exact nature of 

and extent of the maintenance needs and costs for the Bikeway;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants below, and other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is acknowledged, the Parties agree to the 
following terms:  
 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 

1. The Recitals set forth above are incorporated herein and made a part of this Agreement.   

2. Exhibit A, which consists of one (1) 8-1/2” x 11” drawing, depicts the most current 
proposed alignment for the Bikeway.  

3. The City and the County agree that maintenance responsibility for the stretch of 
proposed bikeway displayed in Exhibit A, shall be divided in such a manner that both cost and 
responsibility are evenly split between the two entities for this specific stretch of Bikeway. 

a. Specifics of how these are to be split will be worked out in a subsequent agreement 
to be completed at such a time as where the overall maintenance needs of the Bikeway are 
specifically identified and before the Bikeway is open to the public; 

Attachment B: IGA for the maint. of bikeway improvements along US 36 between Table Mesa 
Dr and the Top of Davidson Mesa

Agenda Item 3B     Page  20



 

Page 2 of 4 
 
 

Boulder County 
DRAFT 

11/18/2014 

b. This agreement shall be sufficient support for both the City and the County to sign 
the required Maintenance Cost Agreement with the Department of Transportation stating 
that the bikeway as shown in Exhibit “A” is the joint responsibility of both the City and the 
County;  
4. Any notices or other communications required or permitted by this Agreement or by law 

to be served on, given to, or delivered to either Party by the other Party, shall be in writing and shall 
be deemed duly served, given, or delivered when personally delivered to the representative to whom 
it is addressed or in lieu of such personal services, upon receipt in the United States mail, first-class 
postage prepaid, addressed to the following:  

City of Boulder:   City of Boulder 
  Transportation 
  PO Box 791  
  Boulder, Colorado 80303 

Attn: Tracy Winfree 
 
Boulder County:   Boulder County Transportation 
   PO Box 471 

Boulder, CO, 80306 
Attn: George Gerstle 
 

Either Party may change its address for the purpose of this paragraph by giving written 
notice of such change to the other Party in the manner provided in this paragraph.  

 
5. It is expressly understood and agreed that enforcement of the terms and conditions of 

this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to 
the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall give or allow any such claim or right of 
action by any other third party on such Agreement. It is the express intention of the Parties that 
any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits under this Agreement shall be 
deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

6. Neither the City nor the County may assign this Agreement or parts hereof or its duties 
hereunder without the express written consent of the other Party. 

7. This Agreement may be amended or modified only in writing signed by both Parties. 

8. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties relating to the 
Work Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations or representations not expressly set forth in 
this Agreement are of no force and effect. 

9. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of 
the State of Colorado, with venue in Boulder County for any litigation related to this Agreement. 

10. Each party agrees to be responsible for its own negligent actions or omissions and 
those of its officers, agents and employees in the performance or failure to perform work under 
this Agreement. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed to 
constitute a waiver of any other provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such waiver constitute a 

Attachment B: IGA for the maint. of bikeway improvements along US 36 between Table Mesa 
Dr and the Top of Davidson Mesa

Agenda Item 3B     Page  21



 

Page 3 of 4 
 
 

Boulder County 
DRAFT 

11/18/2014 

continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided herein, nor shall the waiver of any default 
hereunder be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default hereunder. 

11. Nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of the rights and privileges of the City 
or the County under the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, § 24-10-101, et seq., C.R.S. 

12. No officer, member, or employee of Boulder County, and no members of its 
governing body, and no other public official or employee of the governing body of the locality or 
localities included within the Colorado Department of Transportation, during his or her tenure or 
for one year thereafter, shall have any interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement, or the 
proceeds thereof. 

13. The City and the County agree that in connection with the performance of this 
Agreement, they will each maintain an environment free from discrimination. To that end, each 
shall comply with any applicable federal, state and/or local law or regulation regarding non-
discrimination, affirmative action, and/or disadvantaged business enterprises. 

Attachment B: IGA for the maint. of bikeway improvements along US 36 between Table Mesa 
Dr and the Top of Davidson Mesa

Agenda Item 3B     Page  22



 

Page 4 of 4 
 
 

Boulder County 
DRAFT 

11/18/2014 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed 
and delivered by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first above 
written.  
 

CITY OF BOULDER:  
 
 
 
By:       
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 

ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
City Clerk on  behalf of the 
Department of Finance and Record 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_________________________________ 
City Attorney 
 

COUNTY OF BOULDER, STATE OF 
COLORADO COUNTY: 
 
  
 
 
 
       
Cindy Domenico, Chair, Board of County 
Commissioners  

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
       
Mike Ryder, Clerk to the Board of Commissioners 
 

Attachment B: IGA for the maint. of bikeway improvements along US 36 between Table Mesa 
Dr and the Top of Davidson Mesa

Agenda Item 3B     Page  23



§̈¦ 36

170

93

C
ity of B

oulder

C
ity of Louisville

Tow
n of Superior

157

SO
U

TH
 B

O
U

LD
ER

 R
D

CHERRYVALE RD

0
2

4
1

M
iles

EXHIBIT A - MAP

N
O

TE:  M
ap is for planning use only.  

Alignm
ents for future and planned trail

alignm
ents are conceptual.  Actual 

alignm
ents m

ay differ from
 those show

n
or m

ay be not constructed at all.  

Bikew
ay (Planned)

C
ity of Boulder O

pen Space

C
ity of Boulder O

pen Space (Incorporated)

JO
IN

T M
A

IN
T. 

R
ESPO

N
SIB

ILITY,
B

O
U

LD
ER

 C
O

U
N

TY &
 

C
ITY O

F B
O

U
LD

ER
 

(3.3 M
iles)

Attachment B: IGA for the maint. of bikeway improvements along US 36 between Table Mesa 
Dr and the Top of Davidson Mesa

Agenda Item 3B     Page  24



Page 1 of 8 
 

 
(Maintenance)  
REGION 1 -wma  
  

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT  

THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made this ___ day of 

________________ 2014, by and between the State of Colorado for the use and benefit of the 

COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (“State” or “CDOT”), and the City 

of Boulder (“Local Agency”), 1739 Broadway, Boulder, CO, 80306, CDOT Vendor #: 

2000011.   .  

This Agreement shall not be effective or enforceable until it is approved and signed by the 

Governor or his designee (“Effective Date”).  

 
  

RECITALS  
1. Required approval, clearance and coordination have been accomplished from and with 
appropriate agencies.  

2. The parties desire to enter into this Agreement to delineate each one’s responsibilities for 
maintenance of the US 36 Scenic Overlook (approximate US 36 mile marker 41.9);  
 
3. The State and the Local Agency have the authority, as provided in Sections 29-1-203, 
43-1106, 43-2-103, 43-2-104, and 43-2-144 CRS, as amended, and in applicable ordinance or 
resolution duly passed and adopted by the Local Agency, to enter into this Agreement with 
the Local Agency for the purpose of maintaining the Scenic Overlook along a US highway 
system as hereinafter set forth;  
 
4. The Local Agency has the resources to perform the desired maintenance on the Scenic 
Overlook;  

5. The US 36 Managed Lane Project has been cleared environmentally via the US 36 EIS 
Phase 1 Record of Decision (ROD) signed December 2009, and will be funded with local, 
state, TIFIA loan, and federal-aid dollars; and  

  

Attachment C: IGA concerning the maintenance of the Davidson 
Mesa scenic overlook

Agenda Item 3B     Page  25



Page 2 of 8 
 

THE PARTIES NOW AGREE THAT:  

 
Section 1. Scope of Work  

The Local Agency will maintain the improved Scenic Overlook. The improvements are a 
part of the US 36 Express Lanes, HPTE-SW01-49 (20062) described in Exhibits A and C, 
and is hereinafter referred to as the "Project."  

 

Section 2. CDOT Commitments  

1. Pavement Maintenance 
a. Routine and capital maintenance of the off/on ramp pavement surface 

and striping, including the parking lane. 
b. Snow and Ice removal of off/on ramp pavement surface, including the 

parking lane. 
2. CDOT shall perform all of its duties and obligations hereunder in accordance 

with all applicable law.  

 

Section 3. Local Agency Commitments  

1. The Local Agency will: 
a. Be responsible for any maintenance costs associated with the concrete 

sidewalk  
b. Be responsible for any routine or capital maintenance costs associated 

with the aesthetic treatment enhancements (including, but not limited to, 
kiosk, kiosk structure, benches, signs, bike racks, trash receptacles 
retaining walls)  

 

2. The Local Agency shall perform, at its own expense, maintenance activities 
necessary to maintain a safe and functional Scenic Overlook. Routine 
maintenance activities to be performed by the Local Agency under this contract 
shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

a. Maintenance of Landscaping  
b. Routine  or capital maintenance of all sidewalks, including snow and ice 

removal. 
c. Routine or capital maintenance of the aesthetic treatment enhancements 

(including, but not limited to, kiosk, benches, signs, retaining walls)  

d. Routine maintenance of stone terraced walls, including graffiti removal  
e. Keeping the Scenic Overlook free from obstructions that may interfere 

with bicycle, pedestrian, and automotive traffic, including sand and 
debris, and repair of damaged concrete slabs and subgrades. 

f. Mowing, tree and shrub upkeep; repair of walls and structures; removal 
of graffiti (shall be performed in accordance with the Local Agencies 

Attachment C: IGA concerning the maintenance of the Davidson 
Mesa scenic overlook

Agenda Item 3B     Page  26



Page 3 of 8 
 

policies and procedures).  
g. Removing trash and debris  

 
Section 4. Term and Termination Provisions  

1. This Agreement shall be in effect only after it is executed by both Parties. The 
Maintenance obligations of the Local Agency under this Agreement shall commence on the 
date of the final written acceptance of the Scenic Overlook by CDOT and will remain in 
effect until this Agreement is terminated in accordance with the requirements of this Section 
4 and both Parties agree to terminate  

Termination for Cause. If, through any cause, either Party shall fail to fulfill its obligations 
under this Agreement, or if either Party shall violate any of the covenants, agreements, or 
stipulations of this Agreement, either Party shall thereupon have the right to terminate this 
Agreement for cause by giving written notice to the other Party of its intent to terminate and 
giving at least thirty (30) days opportunity to cure the default or show cause why termination 
is otherwise not appropriate.  

Attachment C: IGA concerning the maintenance of the Davidson 
Mesa scenic overlook

Agenda Item 3B     Page  27



Page 4 of 8 
 

Section 5. Legal Authority  

The Local Agency warrants that it possesses the legal authority to enter into this Agreement 
and that it has taken all actions required by its procedures, by-laws, and/or applicable law to 
exercise that authority, and to lawfully authorize its undersigned signatory to execute this 
Agreement and to bind the Local Agency to its terms. The person(s) executing this 
Agreement on behalf of the Local Agency warrants that such person(s) has full authorization 
to execute this Agreement.  

Section 6. Representatives and Notice  

The State will provide liaison with the Local Agency through the State's Region Director, 
Region 1, 2000 South Holly Street, Denver, Colorado 80222. Said Region Director will also 
be responsible for coordinating the State's activities under this Agreement and will also issue 
a "Notice to Proceed" to the Local Agency for commencement of the Work. All 
communications relating to the day-to-day activities for the work shall be exchanged between 
representatives of the State’s Transportation Region 6 and the Local Agency. All 
communication, notices, and correspondence shall be addressed to the individuals identified 
below. Either party may from time to time designate in writing new or substitute 
representatives.  

If to State:     If to the Local Agency:  

Mark Gosselin    Jane Brautigam 
CDOT Project Manager   City of Boulder  
2000 South Holly Street   1777 Broadway 
Denver, Colorado 80222  Boulder, Colorado 80302  
(303) 404-7020    303-441-3090  

Section 7. Successors  

Except as herein otherwise provided, this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be 
binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.  

Section 8. Governmental Immunity  

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, no term or condition 
of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted as a waiver, express or implied, of any of 
the immunities, rights, benefits, protection, or other provisions of the Colorado 
Governmental Immunity Act, §24-10101, et seq., CRS, as now or hereafter amended. The 
parties understand and agree that liability for claims for injuries to persons or property arising 
out of negligence of the State of Colorado, its departments, institutions, agencies, boards, 
officials and employees is controlled and limited by the provisions of §24-10-101, et seq., 
CRS, as now or hereafter amended and the risk management statutes, §§24-30-1501, et seq., 
CRS, as now or hereafter amended.  

Attachment C: IGA concerning the maintenance of the Davidson 
Mesa scenic overlook

Agenda Item 3B     Page  28



Page 5 of 8 
 

Section 9. Severability  

To the extent that this Agreement may be executed and performance of the obligations of the 
parties may be accomplished within the intent of the Agreement, the terms of this Agreement 
are severable, and should any term or provision hereof be declared invalid or become 
inoperative for any reason, such invalidity or failure shall not affect the validity of any other 
term or provision hereof.  

Section 10. Waiver  

The waiver of any breach of a term, provision, or requirement of this Agreement shall not be 
construed or deemed as a waiver of any subsequent breach of such term, provision, or 
requirement, or of any other term, provision or requirement.  

Section 11. Modification and Amendment  

A. This Agreement is subject to such modifications as may be required by changes in federal 
or State law, or their implementing regulations. Any such required modification shall 
automatically be incorporated into and be part of this Agreement on the effective date of such 
change as if fully set forth herein. Except as provided above, no modification of this 
Agreement shall be effective unless agreed to in writing by both parties in an amendment to 
this Agreement that is properly executed and approved in accordance with applicable law.  

B. Either party may suggest renegotiation of the terms of this Agreement, provided that the  
Agreement shall not be subject to renegotiation more often than annually, and that neither 
party shall be required to renegotiate. If the parties agree to change the provisions of this 
Agreement, the renegotiated terms shall not be effective until this Agreement is 
amended/modified accordingly in writing.  

Section 12. Disputes  

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any dispute concerning a question of fact 
arising under this Agreement which is not disposed of by agreement will be decided by the 
Chief Engineer of the Department of Transportation. The decision of the Chief Engineer will 
be final and conclusive unless, within 30 calendar days after the date of receipt of a copy of 
such written decision, the Local Agency mails or otherwise furnishes to the State a written 
appeal addressed to the Executive Director of the Department of Transportation. In 
connection with any appeal proceeding under this clause, the Local Agency shall be afforded 
an opportunity to be heard and to offer evidence in support of its appeal. Pending final 
decision of a dispute hereunder, the Local Agency shall proceed diligently with the 
performance of the Agreement in accordance with the Chief Engineer’s decision. The 
decision of the Executive Director or his duly authorized representative for the determination 
of such appeals will be final and conclusive and serve as final agency action. This dispute 
clause does not preclude consideration of questions of law in connection with decisions 
provided for herein. Nothing in this Agreement, however, shall be construed as making final 
the decision of any administrative official, representative, or board on a question of law.  

Attachment C: IGA concerning the maintenance of the Davidson 
Mesa scenic overlook

Agenda Item 3B     Page  29



Page 6 of 8 
 

Section 13. Does not supersede other agreements  

This Agreement is not intended to supersede or affect in any way any other agreement (if any) 
that is currently in effect between the State and the Local Agency for other “maintenance and 
operations services” on State Highway rights-of-way within the jurisdiction of the Local 
Agency. Also, the Local Agency shall also continue to perform, at its own expense, all such 
activities/duties (if any) on such State Highway rights-of-ways that the Local Agency is 
required by applicable law to perform.  

Section 14. Sub-Local Agencies  

The Local Agency may subcontract for any part of the performance required under this 
Agreement, subject to the Local Agency first obtaining approval from the State for any 
particular Sub-local Agency. The State understands that the Local Agency may intend to 
perform some or all of the services required under this Agreement through a Sub-local 
Agency. The Local Agency agrees not to assign rights or delegate duties under this 
Agreement [or subcontract any part of the performance required under the Agreement] 
without the express, written consent of the State [which shall not be unreasonably withheld]. 
Except as herein otherwise provided, this agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be 
binding only upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.  

The Remainder of this Page left Intentionally Blank  
 

Attachment C: IGA concerning the maintenance of the Davidson 
Mesa scenic overlook

Agenda Item 3B     Page  30



Page 7 of 8 
 

SPECIAL PROVISIONS  

Section 15. The Special Provisions apply to all Agreements except where noted in italics  

1. CONTROLLER'S APPROVAL. CRS §24-30-202(1). This Agreement shall not be valid until it has been approved by the Colorado State 

Controller or designee.  

2. FUND AVAILABILITY. CRS §24-30-202(5.5). Financial obligations of the State payable after the current fiscal year are contingent upon 

funds for that purpose being appropriated, budgeted, and otherwise made available.  

3. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY. No term or condition of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted as a waiver, express or implied, 

of any of the immunities, rights, benefits, protections, or other provisions, of the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, CRS §24-10-101 et 

seq., or the Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. §§1346(b) and 2671 et seq., as applicable now or hereafter amended.  

4. INDEPENDENT LOCAL AGENCY. Local Agency shall perform its duties hereunder as an independent Local Agency and not as an 
employee. Neither Local Agency nor any agent or employee of Local Agency shall be deemed to be an agent or employee of the State. Local 

Agency and its employees and agents are not entitled to unemployment insurance or workers compensation benefits through the State and the 

State shall not pay for or otherwise provide such coverage for Local Agency or any of its agents or employees. Unemployment insurance 

benefits will be available to Local Agency and its employees and agents only if such coverage is made available by Local Agency or a third 

party. Local Agency shall pay when due all applicable employment taxes and income taxes and local head taxes incurred pursuant to this 

Agreement. Local Agency shall not have authorization, express or implied, to bind the State to any agreement, liability or understanding, except 

as expressly set forth herein. Local Agency shall (a) provide and keep in force workers' compensation and unemployment compensation 
insurance in the amounts required by law, (b) provide proof thereof when requested by the State, and (c) be solely responsible for its acts and 

those of its employees and agents.  

5. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW. Local Agency shall strictly comply with all applicable federal and State laws, rules, and regulations in effect or 

hereafter established, including, without limitation, laws applicable to discrimination and unfair employment practices.  

6. CHOICE OF LAW. Colorado law, and rules and regulations issued pursuant thereto, shall be applied in the interpretation, execution, and 

enforcement of this Agreement. Any provision included or incorporated herein by reference which conflicts with said laws, rules, and 

regulations shall be null and void. Any provision incorporated herein by reference which purports to negate this or any other Special Provision 

in whole or in part shall not be valid or enforceable or available in any action at law, whether by way of complaint, defense, or otherwise. Any 

provision rendered null and void by the operation of this provision shall not invalidate the remainder of this Agreement, to the extent capable of 

execution.  

7. BINDING ARBITRATION PROHIBITED. The State of Colorado does not agree to binding arbitration by any extra-judicial body or person. 

Any provision to the contrary in this contact or incorporated herein by reference shall be null and void.  

8. SOFTWARE PIRACY PROHIBITION. Governor's Executive Order D 002 00. State or other public funds payable under this Agreement 
shall not be used for the acquisition, operation, or maintenance of computer software in violation of federal copyright laws or applicable 

licensing restrictions. Local Agency hereby certifies and warrants that, during the term of this Agreement and any extensions, Local Agency has 

and shall maintain in place appropriate systems and controls to prevent such improper use of public funds. If the State determines that Local 

Agency is in violation of this provision, the State may exercise any remedy available at law or in equity or under this Agreement, including, 

without limitation, immediate termination of this Agreement and any remedy consistent with federal copyright laws or applicable licensing 

restrictions.  

9. EMPLOYEE FINANCIAL INTEREST/CONFLICT OF INTEREST. CRS §§24-18-201 and 24-50-507. The signatories aver that to their 

knowledge, no employee of the State has any personal or beneficial interest whatsoever in the service or property described in this Agreement. 

Local Agency has no interest and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, that would conflict in any manner or degree with the 

performance of Local Agency’s services and Local Agency shall not employ any person having such known interests.  

10. VENDOR OFFSET. CRS §§24-30-202 (1) and 24-30-202.4.[Not Applicable to intergovernmental agreements] Subject to CRS 

§24-30-202.4 (3.5), the State Controller may withhold payment under the State’s vendor offset intercept system for debts owed to State agencies 

for: (a) unpaid child support debts or child support arrearages; (b) unpaid balances of tax, accrued interest, or other charges specified in CRS 

§39-21-101, et seq.; (c) unpaid loans due to the Student Loan Division of the Department of Higher Education; (d) amounts required to be paid 

to the Unemployment Compensation Fund; and (e) other unpaid debts owing to the State as a result of final agency determination or judicial 

action.  

 
11. PUBLIC AGREEMENTS FOR SERVICES. CRS §8-17.5-101.[Not Applicable to agreements relating to the offer, issuance, or sale of securities, 

investment advisory services or fund management services, sponsored projects, intergovernmental agreements, or information technology services or 

products and services] Local Agency certifies, warrants, and agrees that it does not knowingly employ or Agreement with an illegal alien who will perform 

work under this Agreement and will confirm the employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for employment in the United States to perform 

work under this Agreement, through participation in the E-Verify Program or the Department program established pursuant to CRS §8-17.5-102(5)(c), Local 

Agency shall not knowingly employ or Agreement with an illegal alien to perform work under this Agreement or enter into an Agreement with a sub-Local 

Agency that fails to certify to Local Agency that the sub-Local Agency shall not knowingly employ or Agreement with an illegal alien to perform work under this 

Agreement. Local Agency (a) shall not use E-Verify Program or Department program procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of job applicants 

while this Agreement is being performed, (b) shall notify the sub-Local Agency and the contracting State agency within three days if Local Agency has actual 

knowledge that a sub-Local Agency is employing or contracting with an illegal alien for work under this Agreement, (c) shall terminate the subcontract if a 

sub-Local Agency does not stop employing or contracting with the illegal alien within three days of receiving the notice, and (d) shall comply with reasonable 

requests made in the course of an investigation, undertaken pursuant to CRS §8-17.5-102(5), by the Colorado Department of Labor and Employment. If Local 

Agency participates in the Department program, Local Agency shall deliver to the contracting State agency, Institution of Higher Education or political 

subdivision a written, notarized affirmation, affirming that Local Agency has examined the legal work status of such employee, and shall comply with all of the 

other requirements of the Department program. If Local Agency fails to comply with any requirement of this provision or CRS §8-17.5-101 et seq., the 

contracting State agency, institution of higher education or political subdivision may terminate this Agreement for breach and, if so terminated, Local Agency 
shall be liable for damages.  

12. PUBLIC AGREEMENTS WITH NATURAL PERSONS. CRS §24-76.5-101. Local Agency, if a natural person eighteen (18) years of age or older, 

hereby swears and affirms under penalty of perjury that he or she (a) is a citizen or otherwise lawfully present in the United States pursuant to federal law, (b) 

shall comply with the provisions of CRS §24-76.5-101 et seq., and (c) has produced one form of identification required by CRS §24-76.5-103 prior to the 

effective date of this Agreement.  

Attachment C: IGA concerning the maintenance of the Davidson 
Mesa scenic overlook

Agenda Item 3B     Page  31



Page 8 of 8 
 

THE PARTIES HERETO HAVE EXECUTED THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL 

AGREEMENT  

* Persons signing for The Local Agency hereby swear and affirm that they are authorized to act on The 
Local Agency’s behalf and acknowledge that the State is relying on their representations to that effect.  

LOCAL AGENCY:  STATE OF COLORADO: JOHN W. 

HICKENLOOPER, GOVERNOR  

City of Boulder 

______________________________  ___________________________________  

Legal Name of Contracting Entity  By: Joshua Laipply, PE, Chief Engineer For 

Donald E. Hunt, Executive Director, 

Colorado Department of Transportation  

Date: _________________________  

 

CDOT Vendor Number  

______________________________  

Signature of Authorized Officer  

______________________________  

Print Name & Title of Authorized Officer  

LOCAL AGENCY:  

(A Local Agency attestation is required.)  

 

 

Attest (Seal) By ______________________________  

 

(Town/City/County Clerk)   (Place Local Agency seal here, if available)  

Attachment C: IGA concerning the maintenance of the Davidson 
Mesa scenic overlook

Agenda Item 3B     Page  32



Exhibit A - Page 1 of 2 
 

EXHIBIT A  

SCOPE OF WORK  

The Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) and the High Performance 
Transportation Enterprise (HPTE) selected Plenary Roads Denver as the Concessionaire for 
Phase 2 of the US 36 Express Lanes Project between 88th Street and Table Mesa, which will 
complete improvements to the entire US 36 corridor between Denver and Boulder. The 
project is CDOT’s first public-private partnership (P3), an innovative partnership where the 
public and private sectors team together to provide transportation improvements and services 
to the traveling public. CDOT and HPTE have entered into a 50-year agreement with Plenary 
Roads Denver who will: 

 Construct Phase 2 of the US 36 corridor, including:  
o Constructing an Express Lane in each direction of US 36 between 88th Street 

and Table Mesa for Bus Rapid Transit (BRT), High Occupancy Vehicles 
(HOV) and tolled Single Occupancy Vehicles (SOV); 

o Reconstruction two general purpose lanes in each direction between 88th 
Street and Table Mesa 

o Widening the highway to accommodate 12-foot-wide inside and outside 
shoulders; 

o Replacing the Coal Creek Bridge and rehabilitating and widening the South 
Boulder Creek bridge and widening the McCaslin Boulevard bridge to 
accommodate a diverging diamond interchange; 

o Adding Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) improvements, including new electronic 
display signage at stations and bus priority improvements at ramps. The 
improvements also will allow buses to operate on the shoulders of US 36 
between interchanges to decrease bus travel time; 

o Installing Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) for tolling, transit and 
traveler information, and incident management; 

o Installing a separate commuter bikeway along the rest of the corridor; and 
o Improving the RTD station at McCaslin Boulevard. 
o Operate and maintain the entire US 36 corridor along with the I-25 Express 

Lanes between downtown Denver and US 36 
 Partner with the US 36 Mayors and Commissioners Coalition and seek input from all 

affected jurisdictions along the US 36 corridor regarding implementation of the 
Project.  

 Perform Preliminary Engineering work which includes: survey, preparation of ROW 
plans, developing preliminary design plans, ROW purchase and construction.  

 

Attachment C: IGA concerning the maintenance of the Davidson 
Mesa scenic overlook

Agenda Item 3B     Page  33



Exhibit A - Page 2 of 2 
 

EXHIBIT A  

 Perform general administration and supervision of Performance of the Project, 
including entering into a Design-Build contract for both design and Construction of 
the Project, and the administration of federal funds, state funds, and Local Agency 
funds. CDOT shall perform, as required, project inspection and testing.  

 Provide Project funding  
 Approving sources of materials.  
 Perform required plant and shop inspections  
 Documentation of contract payments  
 Preparing and approving pay estimates  
 Preparing, approving, and securing the funding for contract modification orders and 

minor contract revisions.  
 Processing contractor claims.  
 Construction supervision.  
 Overseeing Quality Control activities and meeting requirements of the FHWA/CDOT 

Stewardship Agreement.  
 Monitor completed bikeway improvements for deficiencies and maintenance during 

the project 2-year warranty period.  
 
  

Attachment C: IGA concerning the maintenance of the Davidson 
Mesa scenic overlook

Agenda Item 3B     Page  34



Exhibit B - Page 1 of 1 
 

EXHIBIT B (NOT APPLICABLE)  

LOCAL AGENCY  
 

ORDINANCE or RESOLUTION  

Attachment C: IGA concerning the maintenance of the Davidson 
Mesa scenic overlook

Agenda Item 3B     Page  35



Exhibit C - Page 1 of 1 
 

EXHIBIT C – MAP  

 

Attachment C: IGA concerning the maintenance of the Davidson 
Mesa scenic overlook

Agenda Item 3B     Page  36



US 36 Express Lanes Project BIKEWAY FACT SHEET

HOTLINE: 303-404-7042  |  www.us36expresslanes.com

Tape Dr.

Pe
co

s

Lo
w

el
l

Br
oa

dw
ay

Fe
de

ra
l

80th

92nd

Sh
er

id
an

104th 

Ranch

112th 

120th 

dvlB retsni
mtse

W

Church 

W
ad

sw
or

th
 P

kw
y

SH 128

Midway

W
ad

sw
or

th
 B

lv
d

88
th

 S
t

96
th

 S
t 

M
cC

as
lin Northwest Pkwy 

E Flatiron Cir

WESTMINSTER

BROOMFIELD

LOUISVILLE

LAFAYETTE

SUPERIOR

S. Boulder Rd

128th

136th

144th

120th In
te

rlo
ck

en

riC norit al F 
W

Table Mesa Dr

Fo
ot

hi
lls

 H
w

y

Dillon Rd.

Dyer Rd.

Ph
as

e 
1 

en
ds

Ph
as

e 
2 

be
gi

ns

Not to Scale

LEGEND:

Managed Lanes

General Purpose Lane

Auxiliary Lanes

Bikeway

BNSF Railroad

Interchange/Cross Road Improvement

BRT Slip Ramp/Platforms

Grade-separated bikeway crossings

72nd

Sh
er

id
an

BOULDER

Attachment D: US 36 Managed Lane Project Fact Sheet

Agenda Item 3B     Page  37



US 36 Express Lanes Project BIKEWAY FACT SHEET

HOTLINE: 303-404-7042  |  www.us36expresslanes.com

Bikeway Overview
The US 36 corridor is intended to provide travelers with choices on how to get to where they need to go. One of 
the major components of the US 36 Express Lanes Project is the bikeway. 

The bikeway will:
• Be 12 feet wide with 2-foot-wide shoulders and 6-inch thick concrete for a comfortable ride and to    
   ensure minimal maintenance costs in the future.

• Run adjacent to US 36 between 80th Avenue in Westminster and Table Mesa Drive in Boulder, where it will tie    
   into the existing trail system.  

• Be constructed in phases throughout the corridor, opening to the public in 2016.  

• Provide a safe way to travel through the US 36 corridor by bicycle. 
 
•	Include	wayfinding	signage	to	direct	bicyclists.	

• Link to the existing bike paths and trails within the corridor to provide easy access to the bikeway.  

• Will be maintained by the local jurisdictions and adhere to their standards including sweeping, striping, and snow  
   and ice removal.  

Safety Improvements 
The bikeway was designed based on the principle of improving safety for both recreational and commuter bicy-
clists. With that in mind, the following safety improvements are being made:  

• In areas where the bikeway is directly adjacent to the highway, barrier will be installed to protect bicyclists and  
   motorists alike. 

• At-grade crossings at major intersections were eliminated, where possible, during design. The only at-grade  
   crossings are at Sheridan Boulevard, 88th Avenue and Church Ranch Boulevard.  

• Grade-separated bikeway crossings will be at: 
   •  92nd Avenue     •  West Flatiron Circle     
   •  Westminster Boulevard    •  Interlocken Loop  
   •  BNSF Railroad     •  88th Street     
   •  Uptown Avenue     •  Coal Creek
   •  120th Avenue     •  McCaslin Boulevard 
   •  Wadsworth Parkway    •  Cherryvale Road
   •  East Flatiron Circle    •  Avista Hospital 
   •  East of Davidison Mesa   •  South Boulder Creek
       
Project Boundaries
80th Avenue in Westminster to Table Mesa Drive in Boulder 

Attachment D: US 36 Managed Lane Project Fact Sheet

Agenda Item 3B     Page  38



US 36 Express Lanes Project Phase 2  FACT SHEET

HOTLINE: 303-404-7042  |  www.us36expresslanes.com

Tape Dr.

Pe
co

s

Lo
w

el
l

B
ro

ad
w

ay

Fe
d

er
al

80th

92nd

Sh
er

id
an

104th 

Ranch

112th 

120th 

dvl
B rets

ni
mtse

W

Church 

W
ad

sw
o

rt
h

 P
kw

y
SH 128

Midway

W
ad

sw
o

rt
h

 B
lv

d

88
th

 S
t

96
th

 S
t 

M
cC

as
lin Northwest Pkwy 

E Flatiron Cir

WESTMINSTER

BROOMFIELD

LOUISVILLE

LAFAYETTE

SUPERIOR

S. Boulder Rd

128th

136th

144th

120th In
te

rl
oc

ke
n

ri
C 

n
orit al F 

W

Table Mesa Dr

Fo
o

th
ill

s 
H

w
y

Dillon Rd.

Dyer Rd.

P
h

as
e 

1 
en

d
s

P
h

as
e 

2 
b

eg
in

s

Not to Scale

LEGEND:

Managed Lanes

General Purpose Lane

Auxiliary Lanes

Bikeway

BNSF Railroad

Interchange/Cross Road Improvement

BRT Slip Ramp/Platforms

72nd

Sh
er

id
an

BOULDER

Attachment D: US 36 Managed Lane Project Fact Sheet

Agenda Item 3B     Page  39



US 36 Express Lanes Project Phase 2  FACT SHEET

HOTLINE: 303-404-7042  |  www.us36expresslanes.com

Phase 2 Boundaries
88th Street in Louisville/Superior to Table Mesa/Foothills Parkway in Boulder

Phase 2 Schedule
•	Commercial	close	of	contract	–	summer	2013
•	Construction	began	–	late	2013
•	Financial	close	of	contract	–	early	2014
•	Project	opens	–	early	2016

Phase 2 Elements
The	Colorado	Department	of	Transportation	(CDOT)	and	the	High	Performance	
Transportation	Enterprise	(HPTE)	selected	Plenary	Roads	Denver	as	the	concessionaire	
for	Phase	2	of	the	US	36	Express	Lanes	Project,	which	will	complete	improvements	to	
the	entire	US	36	corridor	between	Denver	and	Boulder.

Project	elements	include:
•	Constructing	an	express	lane	in	each	direction	of	US	36	between	88th	Street	and	Table	Mesa	for	Bus	Rapid	Transit	(BRT),								
	 High	Occupancy	Vehicles	(HOV)	and	tolled	Single	Occupancy	Vehicles	(SOV);

•	Reconstructing	two	general	purpose	lanes	in	each	direction	between	88th	Street	and	Table	Mesa;

•	Widening	the	highway	to	accommodate	12-foot-wide	inside	and	outside	shoulders;

•	Replacing	the	Coal	Creek	bridge,	rehabilitating	and	widening	the	South	Boulder	Creek	bridge,	and	widening	the	McCaslin		
	 Boulevard	bridge	to	accommodate	a	diverging	diamond	interchange;

•	Adding	BRT	improvements	including	new	electronic	display	signage	at	stations	and	bus	priority	improvements	at	ramps.		
	 The	improvements	also	will	allow	buses	to	operate	on	the	shoulders	of	US	36	between	interchanges	to	decrease	bus	travel		
	 time;

•	 Installing	Intelligent	Transportation	Systems	(ITS)	for	tolling,	transit	and	traveler	information	and	incident	management;

•	 Installing	a	separate	commuter	bikeway	along	the	rest	of	the	corridor;	and

•	 Improving	the	RTD	station	at	McCaslin	Boulevard.	

In	addition	to	the	project	elements,	Plenary	Roads	Denver	will	be	responsible	for	operating	and	maintaining	the	following		
highways:
	 	 o	 US	36	between	I-25	and	Table	Mesa
	 	 o	 I-25	Express	Lanes	between	downtown	Denver	and	US	36

Their	responsibilities	include	minor	repairs,	striping,	and	snow	and	ice	removal	on	the	highways.	

Attachment D: US 36 Managed Lane Project Fact Sheet

Agenda Item 3B     Page  40



US 36 Express Lanes Project BIKEWAY FACT SHEET

HOTLINE: 303-404-7042  |  www.us36expresslanes.com

Tape Dr.

Pe
co

s

Lo
w

el
l

Br
oa

dw
ay

Fe
de

ra
l

80th

92nd

Sh
er

id
an

104th 

Ranch

112th 

120th 

dvlB retsni
mtse

W

Church 

W
ad

sw
or

th
 P

kw
y

SH 128

Midway

W
ad

sw
or

th
 B

lv
d

88
th

 S
t

96
th

 S
t 

M
cC

as
lin Northwest Pkwy 

E Flatiron Cir

WESTMINSTER

BROOMFIELD

LOUISVILLE

LAFAYETTE

SUPERIOR

S. Boulder Rd

128th

136th

144th

120th In
te

rlo
ck

en

riC norit al F 
W

Table Mesa Dr

Fo
ot

hi
lls

 H
w

y

Dillon Rd.

Dyer Rd.

Ph
as

e 
1 

en
ds

Ph
as

e 
2 

be
gi

ns

Not to Scale

LEGEND:

Managed Lanes

General Purpose Lane

Auxiliary Lanes

Bikeway

BNSF Railroad

Interchange/Cross Road Improvement

BRT Slip Ramp/Platforms

Grade-separated bikeway crossings

72nd

Sh
er

id
an

BOULDER

Attachment D: US 36 Managed Lane Project Fact Sheet

Agenda Item 3B     Page  41



US 36 Express Lanes Project BIKEWAY FACT SHEET

HOTLINE: 303-404-7042  |  www.us36expresslanes.com

Bikeway Overview
The US 36 corridor is intended to provide travelers with choices on how to get to where they need to go. One of 
the major components of the US 36 Express Lanes Project is the bikeway. 

The bikeway will:
• Be 12 feet wide with 2-foot-wide shoulders and 6-inch thick concrete for a comfortable ride and to    
   ensure minimal maintenance costs in the future.

• Run adjacent to US 36 between 80th Avenue in Westminster and Table Mesa Drive in Boulder, where it will tie    
   into the existing trail system.  

• Be constructed in phases throughout the corridor, opening to the public in 2016.  

• Provide a safe way to travel through the US 36 corridor by bicycle. 
 
•	Include	wayfinding	signage	to	direct	bicyclists.	

• Link to the existing bike paths and trails within the corridor to provide easy access to the bikeway.  

• Will be maintained by the local jurisdictions and adhere to their standards including sweeping, striping, and snow  
   and ice removal.  

Safety Improvements 
The bikeway was designed based on the principle of improving safety for both recreational and commuter bicy-
clists. With that in mind, the following safety improvements are being made:  

• In areas where the bikeway is directly adjacent to the highway, barrier will be installed to protect bicyclists and  
   motorists alike. 

• At-grade crossings at major intersections were eliminated, where possible, during design. The only at-grade  
   crossings are at Sheridan Boulevard, 88th Avenue and Church Ranch Boulevard.  

• Grade-separated bikeway crossings will be at: 
   •  92nd Avenue     •  West Flatiron Circle     
   •  Westminster Boulevard    •  Interlocken Loop  
   •  BNSF Railroad     •  88th Street     
   •  Uptown Avenue     •  Coal Creek
   •  120th Avenue     •  McCaslin Boulevard 
   •  Wadsworth Parkway    •  Cherryvale Road
   •  East Flatiron Circle    •  Avista Hospital 
   •  East of Davidison Mesa   •  South Boulder Creek
       
Project Boundaries
80th Avenue in Westminster to Table Mesa Drive in Boulder 

Attachment D: US 36 Managed Lane Project Fact Sheet

Agenda Item 3B     Page  42



 

 
 
 

C I T Y O F B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 2, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to adopt a resolution approving and 
adopting amendments to the Beverage Licensing Authority Rules of Procedure. 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Thomas A. Carr, City Attorney 
Sandra Llanes, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Mishawn Cook, Tax and License Manager 
Michele Lamb, Tax and License Administrator  
Carlene Hofmann, Boulder Police Department Special Enforcement Unit-Alcohol 
Enforcement 
 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This memorandum asks Council to amend the Beverage Licensing Authority (“BLA”) 
Rules of Procedure by resolution. 
 
The BLA Rules of Procedure empower the BLA to exercise all of the rights and 
responsibilities it has under state law.  The Rules were last revised on December 5, 2006 
when Council passed Resolution No. 1013.   
 
These amendments are intended to bring the Rules of Procedure into compliance with 
new elements of state law, and refining procedures.  The amendments will also increase 
clarity and ease of use.   
 
At their publicly noticed annual retreat on April 29, 2014, the Beverage Licensing 
Authority (BLA) discussed potential changes to their Rules of Procedure. The BLA’s 
Rules of Procedure (“Rules”) govern how they (1) provide public notice of hearings; (2) 
conduct monthly hearings; and (3) deliberate on liquor license matters. 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page  1



 

In addition, the BLA held a properly noticed public hearing on rulemaking on June 24, 
2014 to again discuss the proposed changes and to obtain input from the public.  The 
June 24, 2014 public hearing and BLA Retreat minutes are attached to this memo for 
reference as Attachment B.   
 
The BLA approved and city staff recommends the proposed amendments to the BLA 
Rules as referenced in Attachment D. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Suggested Motion Language: 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Approval of the Resolution adopting the revised Boulder Beverage Licensing Authority 
Rules of Procedure.   
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS: 
  

• Economic:  There will be little to no economic impact to the public.  For example, 
licensees will be required to train their staff members in responsible alcohol 
service in 3 rather than 6 months; applicants will be required to use city petition 
forms which better inform community members; and licensees will be required to 
post closed locations to better inform the adjacent businesses and residents. 

• Environmental:  It is not expected that the proposed Rule changes will have any 
environmental impacts. 

• Social:   City of Boulder Hospitality businesses in total (including eating places 
category, food service tax, accommodations tax, and admissions tax) are in the 
top three of the city’s largest sales tax remittance   categories.   In addition, the 
Boulder brand is very important for our city. It is also acknowledged that there is 
great concern with underage consumption of alcohol within the proximity of the 
University of Colorado in Boulder. A liquor license is an immense privilege and 
important business asset that requires responsible service of alcohol.  The BLA 
underscores that responsibility when granting new liquor licenses and when 
imposing suspensions related to liquor violations. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS:  
 

• Fiscal: City staff has reviewed the proposed changes, and while there will be 
some minimal retraining of certain hearing processes and some changes to city 
forms, the only anticipated cost will be for printing of posters for closed locations. 
That cost is approximately $100 per year. It is expected that the new Rules, if 
approved, can be implemented with existing city staff.  

Agenda Item 3C     Page  2



 

• Staff time: As described above, the new Rules will require learning some new 
tasks and re-tooling of the liquor licensing website and application forms. These 
required changes can be completed with current city licensing staff.  

 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK AND REQUESTS:  
Public feedback was solicited at the BLA hearing on June 24, 2014 and is summarized in 
the minutes referenced as Attachment B. In addition, the hearing date of this meeting in 
which the amended rules will be considered by council and related public materials have 
been circulated to the Responsible Hospitality Group for review. 
 
BACKGROUND:    
The BLA Rules of Procedure first became effective on April 22, 1982. Council 
Resolution No. 995 amended the Rules on March 7, 2006 and most recently on December 
5, 2006, City Council approved Resolution No. 1013 enacting the current version of the 
BLA Rules. The current version of the Rules makes clear to city staff, BLA members, 
and the public of deadlines, procedures, and expectations related to liquor licensing. 
 
The BLA has discussed some of the proposed changes for several years, but with the 
recent addition of Art Gallery Permits to the list of state licenses and permits, it is a 
timely opportunity to organize and review all suggested changes to update the Rules. 
 
ANALYSIS:  
City staff has provided a detailed list citing relevant page and section numbers impacted 
by the Rule changes along with a brief explanation.  Attachment C. The most notable 
changes are as follows: 

1) Changing the server training requirement from 3 to 6 months from hire or opening 
of business. 

2) Stating in writing that only petition results on city supplied petition forms will be 
considered by the BLA. 

3) Changing the term of “Summary Renewals” to “Administrative Renewals” to 
avoid any potential confusion with “Summary Suspensions.” 

4) Clarifying the definition of “timely” for purposes of renewal application 
submissions. 

5) Requirement to post closed establishments with a city supplied poster that notifies 
surrounding businesses and residents. 

6) Provided procedures for recent addition of Art Gallery Permits by the state. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Proposed Resolution for Approval of Amended BLA Rules of Procedure. 
B. BLA April 29, 2014 Retreat Summary, BLA May 21, 2014 Final Minutes, and BLA 

June 24, 2014 Final Minutes. 
C. Detailed summary of amendments to BLA Rules of Procedure. 
D. Redlined amendments version of Council Resolution as BLA Rules of Procedure. 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page  3



RESOLUTION NO. 1148 
 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BOULDER AMENDING THE RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR 
THE BEVERAGE LICENSING AUTHORITY.   

 
  

WHEREAS, the City is charged with implementation of the Colorado Liquor Code, 
Section 12-47-101, et seq., C.R.S. (2005); and  
 
 WHEREAS, the City has created the City of Boulder Beverage Licensing Authority to 
carry out the state liquor code’s requirements insofar as they apply to local licensing authorities; 
and  
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council is required by Section 2-3-3, “Beverage Licensing 
Authority,” B.R.C. 1981, to establish and adopt rules of procedure for the Beverage Licensing 
Authority. 
 
 WHEREAS, on December 5, 2006, City Council adopted revised Rules of Procedure for 
the Beverage Licensing Authority in Resolution No. 1013. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 
 
 Section 1. The “Rules of Procedure for the City of Boulder Beverage Licensing 
Authority” attached as Attachment C are hereby amended and shall supersede the Rules adopted 
in Resolution No. 1013.  These Rules of Procedure shall become effective upon adoption. 
 
 APPROVED this 2nd day of December, 2014. 
 
 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
City Clerk  

Attachment A - Proposed Resolution

Agenda Item 3C     Page  4



BLA ANNUAL RETREAT  
NOTES 

4/29/2014 1-5 pm 

Fishbowl Conference Room 

 

DIRECTIVES: 

1. Steve would like guidelines as to statements/declarations that would strengthen board’s 
position i.e. “I find that the applicant has or has not . . .” or “I find that the needs and desires 
met or not met”, etc.    Sandra is going to meet w/Steve & Dave to conduct Chair & Vice Chair 
training on 5/9/2014 2 PM (regarding admissibility of evidence, handling objections).  Maybe 
they could also discuss Steve’s request for guidelines? 

2. Needs & Desires – Steve made statement that liquor store in defined neighborhood opposition 
given less weight because a competitor.  Colorado Liquor Code 12-47-301(2)(a). 

3. Majority of board want Carlene to submit what she sees as mitigating/aggravating factors along 
with her paperwork for show cause.  Sent email to Carlene 5/2/2014, she has agreed to do that. 

4. RHG – back on the agenda, provide BLA update on education, no lobbying, 5 minutes.  Michele 
has contacted RHG and Michael Absalom will be at May 21 hearing. 

5. Overservice – Carlene agreed to conduct overservice class within next 8 months.   Scheduled for 
June 3, 10:30 am - 2:30 pm in Council Chambers.  Carlene will provide licensing with flyers to 
mail out to licensees.  BLA members want to be invited to class.  When we receive the flyers, 
Michele will send email w/flyer to board members. 

6. Rotating speakers – keep on agenda in addition to RHG.  Michele asked board members for 
more suggestions for speakers and followed up with email.  Dave Timken replied with 
suggestion.  Michele contacted that individual on 5/1 but has not heard back yet. 

7. Mitigating/Aggravating factors – lots of discussion.  Board wants to continue discussion during a 
hearing.  Mishawn is putting on May 21 agenda.  Continued to June 24, 2014 hearing. 

8. Transfer to Landlords – Poster on dark liquor establishments notifying public of liquor license.  
Mishawn drafted language for poster, Sandra approved.  Michele will take to Kinko’s to have 
copies made.  Mishawn will put on June 24 agenda – good to include reference in the Rules.  
Also, if approve transfer to landlord put on nonadministrative renewal – also include on June 24 
agenda and include reference in the Rules. 

9. Training requirements – changed from 6 to 3 months.  Will require council approval and 
updating of Rules of Procedure.  Discuss at June 24 BLA hearing. 

10. Tim will draft something, send it to Harriet to review.  Believe it will be one page information 
sheet for licensees; Tim will clarify.  Michele sent reminder email to Tim & Harriet. 

Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  5



11. Known habitual drunkard – board agreed good idea to educate licensees that they have the 
right to refuse service without providing a reason.  No other follow up decided  upon. 

12. Beginning date for suspension dates?  Discussed and decided to revisit.  Mishawn will put on 
May 21 agenda.  Continued to June 24, 2014 hearing. 

 

The Beverage Licensing Authority reviewed this document, made minor edits, at their May 21, 2014 
hearing. 

Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  6



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  7



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  8



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  9



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  10



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  11



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  12



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  13



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  14



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  15



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  16



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  17



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  18



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  19



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  20



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  21



Attachment B - Retreat Summary and Minutes

Agenda Item 3C     Page  22



ATTACHMENT C 

Details of each proposed amendment to BLA Rules of Procedure. 

Please see below listed changes, by page number and title or section mentioned, with a brief 
explanation of each change: 

Page i, Table of Contents, updates of page numbers due to added text in Rules. 

Page ii, Table of Contents, updates to page numbers due to added text and addition of Art 
Gallery Permits section 9-3. 

Page 1, Section 2-2, addition of change of class application type to BLA’s jurisdiction 
inadvertently missing from the list. 

Page 2, Section 2-3, change to current hearing time of 3 p.m. reflects current meeting time for 
this Board. 

Page 2, Section 2-4, clarification that special hearings (not standard monthly hearings) require 
ten (10) days of publication/posting notice to the public. 

Page 4, Subsection 3-3-1, clarification that location of books and records shall be indicated on 
premise diagrams, since they are required in future inspections.  

Page 4, Section 3-4, clarification that finger print cards are no longer available from the licensing 
office but that fingerprints may be completed by other jurisdictions so long as the standard print 
card is delivered to the licensing office. 

Page 5, Section 3-5, clarification that the licensee must maintain proper premise possession at all 
times. 

Page 5, Section 3-6, deletion of the BPD server class because it is no longer offered, requirement 
that alcohol servers must be trained in a state approved class within three (3) months (instead of 
six (6) months) of licensee opening or hiring, and confirmation that on-line training is not state 
approved. 

Page 5, Section 4-1, addition of commas for punctuation. 

Page 6, Subsection 4-2-1, inclusion of number “10” for consistent numbering. 

Page 6, Subsection 4-2-2, Applicants who are submitting Petition materials to the BLA must use 
city supplied petition forms and materials. 

Page 6, Subsection 4-2-3, Only door-to-door petition results will be considered by the BLA. 

Page 7, Section 4-3, removal of “the” as a typo. 

Page 7, Subsection 4-3-1, clarification that ten (10) days’ notice rather than thirty (30) days’ 
notice requirements do not apply to certain applications. 

Attachment C - Details of Proposed Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  23



Page 7, Subsection 5-1-1, clarifying that Change of Class applications are processed the same as 
New License Application, pursuant to state law. 

Page 11, Section 6-4, amendment to replace the term “Summary” with “Administrative” for 
renewal approvals to avoid confusion with “Summary Suspensions”. 

Page 11, Section 6-5, change to clarify that licensing office will accept both paper and electronic 
exhibits. 

Page 11, Section 6-7, amends record retention period of three (3) years to align with city 
standard record retention period. 

Page 12, Section 6-8, grammar correction of text for proper tense in sentence. 

Page 12, Section 6-9, clarification that a representative may appear for corporations or LLCs 
because such applications do not include an individual person as applicant. 

Page 13, Subsection 8-1-1 (a), clarification of deadlines and definition “timely” for renewal 
applications. 

Page 13, Subsection 8-1-2, amendment to replace the term “Summary” with “Administrative” for 
renewal approvals to avoid confusion with “Summary Suspensions.” 

Page 14, Subsection 8-1-4, addition of term “ninety” for uniform numbering. 

Page 14, Subsection 8-1-5, amendment to replace the term “Summary” with “Administrative” for 
renewal approvals to avoid confusion with “Summary Suspensions.” 

Page 15, Subsection 8-1-6, clarifying that license renewal hearings require ten (10) days’ notice, 
pursuant to state law. 

Page 15, Subsection 8-1-7, clarifying that renewal hearings require ten (10) days’ notice, 
pursuant to state law. 

Page 20, Subsection 8-4-5, correction of citation to state law statute. 

Page 20, Subsection 8-4-6, moved text from 8-6-2 and re-numbered to 8-4-6 in order to keep all 
rules associated with transfers together in Section 8-4. 

Page 20, Subsection 8-4-7, addition of requirement for licensee to post as closed any location 
that is closed for six (6) consecutive weeks or more. 

Page 21, Section 8-6, replacing the term “Change of Ownership” with “Transfer” for consistency 
with other sections of the Rules and state law. 

Page 21, Subsection 8-6-2, deleted and moved to page 20 and re-numbered to Subsection 8-4-6. 

Page 22, Section 9-3, addition of a section to describe application and hearing process for the 
new Art Gallery Permit, pursuant to state law. 

Attachment C - Details of Proposed Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  24



Page 22, Section 10-1, correction of typo. 

Page 23, Section 10-1, inclusion of permissive standard for violations of registered manager 
changes. 

Page 24, Subsection 10-2-3 (D), re-organization of text into two paragraphs to clarify. 

Page 25, Subsection 10-2-3 (E), amending to provide licensee with the opportunity to make 
recommendations regarding which dates they shall be suspended from service but that BLA 
makes final determination. 

Page 25, Subsection 10-2-3 (F), clarification that failure to post during suspension days shall 
result in issuance of a new violation. 

Page 25, Subsection 10-2-5, correction to make uniform reference to numbers both in text and 
number format. 

Page 26, Subsection 10-3-3, replace the term “temporary” to “summary” for consistency and 
clarification regarding time frame for hearing subsequent to summary suspension that mirrors 
state law. 

Attachment C - Details of Proposed Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  25



 
  
 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
 

BEVERAGE LICENSING AUTHORITY 
 

RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 

Approved by City Council Resolution No. 1013 
 

 February 18________________, 201014 

 
 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  26



 
 

CHAPTER 1 APPLICABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE ......................................... - 1 - 
Section 1-1 Applicability .......................................................................................... - 1 - 
Section 1-2 Effective Date ...................................................................................... - 1 - 
Section 1-3 Organization and Titles of Rules of Procedure .................................... - 1 - 

 
CHAPTER 2 JURISDICTION, ORGANIZATION, AND MEETING PROCEDURES . - 1 - 

Section 2-1 City Manager Shall Serve as Licensing Clerk ...................................... - 1 - 
Section 2-2 Jurisdiction ........................................................................................... - 1 - 
Section 2-3 Regular Meetings................................................................................. - 1 - 
Section 2-4 Special Meetings ................................................................................. - 2 - 
Section 2-5 Meetings to be Open and Public .......................................................... - 2 - 
Section 2-6 Minutes ................................................................................................ - 2 - 
Section 2-7 Quorum ................................................................................................ - 2 - 
Section 2-8 Election of Chair and Vice-Chair .......................................................... - 2 - 
Section 2-9 Parliamentary Procedure ..................................................................... - 3 - 
Section 2-10 Supplemental Rules ............................................................................. - 3 - 

 
CHAPTER 3 GENERAL APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS .................................... - 3 - 

Section 3-1 Forms .................................................................................................. - 3 - 
Section 3-2 Fees ..................................................................................................... - 3 - 
Section 3-3 Plans & Specifications ......................................................................... - 3 - 
Section 3-4 Fingerprints .......................................................................................... - 4 - 
Section 3-5 Proof of Right to Possession of Premises ............................................ - 4 - 
Section 3-6 Training Requirements ........................................................................ - 5 - 

 
CHAPTER 4 PREHEARING ACTIONS AND DETERMINATIONS .......................... - 5 - 

Section 4-1 Neighborhood Boundaries ................................................................... - 5 - 
Section 4-2 Petitions ............................................................................................... - 5 - 
Section 4-3 Notice of Hearing ................................................................................. - 6 - 
Section 4-4 Definition of “Party in Interest” ............................................................. - 7 - 

 
CHAPTER 5 PRELIMINARY INVESTIGATIONS ..................................................... - 7 - 

Section 5-1 Matters Covered .................................................................................. - 7 - 
Section 5-2 Undue Concentration of Taverns and Retail Liquor Stores .................. - 9 - 

 
CHAPTER 6 HEARINGS, DECISIONS AND APPEALS ....................................... - 10 - 

Section 6-1 Rules of Evidence .............................................................................. - 10 - 
Section 6-2 Witnesses under Oath ....................................................................... - 10 - 
Section 6-3 Ability to Present Evidence and Cross-Examine ................................ - 11 - 
Section 6-4 Agreed Upon Conditions of Approval ................................................. - 11 - 
Section 6-5 Exhibits .............................................................................................. - 11 - 
Section 6-6 Time Limits ........................................................................................ - 11 - 
Section 6-7 Preparation of Record ........................................................................ - 11 - 
Section 6-8 Burden of Proof.................................................................................. - 11 - 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  27



Section 6-9 Presence of Applicant and Representation by Counsel ..................... - 12 - 
Section 6-10 Continuances ..................................................................................... - 12 - 
Section 6-11 Decisions ........................................................................................... - 12 - 
Section 6-12 Appeals .............................................................................................. - 12 - 

 
CHAPTER 7 LICENSE ISSUANCE ........................................................................ - 12 - 

Section 7-1 Confirmation of Conditions ................................................................ - 12 - 
 
CHAPTER 8 POST-ISSUANCE ACTIONS ............................................................ - 13 - 
 

Section 8-1 License Renewal ............................................................................... - 13 - 
Section 8-2 Change of Location ............................................................................ - 16 - 
Section 8-3 Change, Alteration or Modification of Premises or Usage ................. - 16 - 
Section 8-4 Transfer of Ownership ....................................................................... - 18 - 
Section 8-5 Change of Corporate Structure .......................................................... - 20 - 
Section 8-6 Change of Ownership by Operation of Law ....................................... - 21 - 

 
CHAPTER 9 SPECIAL PERMITS .......................................................................... - 22 - 

Section 9-1 Bed & Breakfast Permits .................................................................... - 22 - 
Section 9-2 Special Events Permit ........................................................................ - 22 - 
Section 9-3 Art Gallery Permits ............................................................................... 22 - 

 
CHAPTER 10 ENFORCEMENT ............................................................................... - 22 - 

Section 10-1 Management Registration .................................................................. - 22 - 
Section 10-2 Suspension and Revocation of Licenses ........................................... - 23 - 
Section 10-3 Summary Suspension ........................................................................ - 25 - 
Section 10-4 Inspection of Records ........................................................................ - 26 - 
Section 10-5 Inspection of Premises ...................................................................... - 26 - 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  28



 
CHAPTER 1 APPLICABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

Section 1-1 Applicability 

In addition to any other laws, ordinances or regulations which may be applicable, these 
rules of procedure shall govern all applications and proceedings before the City of 
Boulder Beverage Licensing Authority ("Authority”). 

Section 1-2 Effective Date 

These rules of procedure shall be effective as of the date of adoption or amendment 
noted on the cover page. 

Section 1-3 Organization and Titles of Rules of Procedure 

These rules shall be organized and referred to by chapter, section and subsection.  
Chapter, section, and subsection titles shall be used for convenience only and shall not 
be used as catchwords to construe the meaning of any provision of these rules of 
procedure.  

CHAPTER 2 JURISDICTION, ORGANIZATION, AND MEETING 
PROCEDURES 

 
Section 2-1 City Manager Shall Serve as Licensing Clerk 

 
Pursuant to 2-3-3, B.R.C. 1981, the City Manager acting by and through the City Clerk 
shall serve as the Licensing Clerk for the Authority.  The Licensing Clerk’s duties may 
be delegated to staff other than the City Clerk should the City Manager so desire.  The 
Licensing Clerk shall be the Authority’s agent for all purposes specified by state or local 
law, including preliminary investigations and findings, and other actions necessary or 
desirable under these rules of procedure. 
 

Section 2-2 Jurisdiction 
 
The Authority shall have jurisdiction to hear and take final action upon all alcohol 
beverage license applications; renewals; changes of location; change of class; change, 
alteration or modification of premises or usage; transfer of ownership; change of 
ownership structure; change of business names or trade names; change of registered 
managers; transfer of ownership by operation of law; and, any other applications or 
actions responsibility for which is delegated to the Authority by state or local law. 
 

Section 2-3 Regular Meetings 

There shall be one (1) regular meeting of the Authority in each calendar month, 
provided that the Licensing Clerk may post notice canceling the meeting if at least one 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  29



licensing application or show cause order requiring a public hearing or other Authority 
action has not been timely filed.  Regular meetings shall be held on the third 
Wednesday of each month and shall commence at 13:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers 
of the Municipal Building, 1777 Broadway, Boulder, Colorado.  The Authority may by 
motion prescribe a different date, time or place for any such regular meeting, and may 
by motion or call of the Chair, schedule special meetings as deemed appropriate. 

Section 2-4  Special Meetings 
 
Special meetings may be called by motion of the Authority and may be conducted at 
any time and place within the City of Boulder.  No special meeting may be conducted or 
continued on a licensing matter without complying with the ten (10) days publication and 
posting notice requirements.notice procedures required by law. 
 

Section 2-5 Meetings to be Open and Public 

Pursuant to Section 2-3-1(b)(5) B.R.C. 1981, all meetings of the Authority shall be open 
to the public, after full and timely notice of date, time, place, and subject matter of the 
meeting, and all meetings shall include an opportunity for public comment on any matter 
relevant to the Authority's responsibilities, subject to the discretion of the Chair on the 
time and length of such comment.  This opportunity shall not be construed to permit 
public comment by persons other than Parties in Interest (as defined in Section 4-4) 
during public hearings required by law.  

Section 2-6 Minutes 
 

Pursuant to Section 2-3-1(b)(2), B.R.C. 1981, the Licensing Clerk shall keep minutes of 
all meetings and records of all transactions on behalf of the Authority. 
  

Section 2-7 Quorum 

Pursuant to Section 2-3-1(c), B.R.C. 1981, three members of the Authority shall 
constitute a quorum, and the Authority shall act only on an affirmative vote of at least 
three members.  

Section 2-8 Election of Chair and Vice-Chair 
 
Pursuant to Section 2-3-1(b)(3), B.R.C. 1981, the Authority shall appoint from amongst 
its membership a Chair and a Vice-Chair. 
 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  30



Section 2-9 Parliamentary Procedure 
 
All questions of procedure or order shall be decided by the Chair, subject to appeal by a 
majority of the members present.  The Chair may direct the City Attorney to provide 
advice and guidance on any question or procedure or order.  Robert’s Rules of Order, 
Newly Revised (1981) shall not be applicable to proceedings of the Authority.   
  

Section 2-10 Supplemental Rules 
 
The Authority may from time to time adopt supplemental rules not in conflict with these 
Rules of Procedure.  Any supplemental rules shall be reviewed by the Licensing Clerk 
and approved as to form by the City Attorney. 

 
CHAPTER 3 GENERAL APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS 
 

Section 3-1 Forms 
 
All applications and requests to the Authority shall be on forms promulgated by the state 
or City of Boulder, as applicable, and shall be filed in duplicate with the Licensing Clerk.  
All information supplied on applications and requests, except for drawings, plans and 
specifications, if any, shall be typewritten or clearly printed. 

 
Subsection 3-1-1 Incomplete Applications 

 
Application forms shall not be deemed filed or accepted unless and until they are 
determined to be complete by the Licensing Clerk.  
 

Section 3-2 Fees 
 

No application shall be deemed complete unless it is accompanied by the fees 
prescribed by Section 4-20-2, B.R.C. 1981 and any fees payable to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue pursuant to state law. 
 

Section 3-3 Plans & Specifications 
 
The applicant shall file at the time of application plans and specifications for the interior 
of the building if the building to be occupied is in existence at the time. If the building is 
not in existence, the applicant shall file a plot plan and a detailed sketch for the interior 
and submit an architect's drawing of the building to be constructed. 
 

Subsection 3-3-1 Plans & Specifications 

All plans, specifications and detailed sketches or drawings shall be to scale on 8-1/2” x 
11" paper and shall show the floor plan and layout of the interior of the building where 
the license is sought to be exercised.  

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  31



If a liquor or fermented malt beverage on-premise license is applied for, the plans and 
specifications shall show, as a minimum, the following:   

(A)   A separate page for each level or floor to be licensed; 
(B)   Walls, partitions, entrances and exits; 
(C)   Dimensions of the premises;  
(D)   Clearly identify the nearest streets;  
(E)   Indicate the North direction;  
(F)   Clearly identify the bar(s);  
(G)   Clearly identify where alcohol shall be stored;  
(H)   Clearly identify any patio(s), if applicable;  
(I)   Identify the type of barrier surrounding the patio, if applicable;  
(J)   All tables and chairs; and,  
(K)   List the total seating capacity and,.  
(K)(L) Where books and records will be stored. 

If a hotel-restaurant license is applied for, plans and specifications shall, in addition to 
the above, show the following:  

(L)(M)    The total floor area where meals shall be served;  
(M)(N)    Location of all bar counters;  
(N)(O)    Size and dimension of the kitchen and other food 

preparation    areas;  
(O)(P)    Location, number and kinds of ranges, stoves or ovens, 

refrigerators, food lockers, dishwashers, sinks and restrooms; and  
(P)(Q)    Location and dimension of food storage areas, and any other 

fixtures and equipment to be installed and used in connection with the 
preparation and serving of meals.  

Section 3-4 Fingerprints 
 
At the time of submitting an application for a new license or transfer of ownership of an 
existing license, the applicant, registered manager (if applicable), all corporate officers, 
directors and stockholders with more than 10 percent interest, and all partners and 
members shall make arrangements to have fingerprints taken at the Boulder Police 
Department or other law enforcement agency on Boulder Police Department fingerprint 
cards (available from Licensing Clerk) and have them delivered directly to the City 
Licensing Clerk's office. 
 

Section 3-5 Proof of Right to Possession of Premises 

Each application for a new license, transfer of ownership of an existing license, change 
of location for a liquor or fermented malt beverage license and request for modification 
of licensed premises shall be accompanied by a deed, lease or other documentation 
supporting the applicant's right to occupy the premises where the license shall be 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  32



exercised. The documentation must show a right of possession extending at least one 
year from the date of state license issuance. 

Section 3-6 Training Requirements 

All employees involved in the service of alcohol, including, without limitation, managers, 
clerks, bartenders and waitpersons, will shall attend the a seller server training class 
approved by the Director of the Liquor Enforcement Division of the Department of 
Revenue within six three (3) months from the approval of the license. Certification for 
satisfactory completion of a class City of Boulder Police Department Licensed 
Establishments Seller and Server Class or State approved Responsible Vendor alcohol 
server training is deemed valid for three (3) years from date of training certification.  Re-
certification must take place on or before expiration of certification. after each 
subsequent three (3) year period.  New employees shall take a course within six three 
(3) months of their hire date. or within 6 six months of opening an establishment. The 
training shall be a continuous condition of the license, and all subsequent renewals, if 
the Authority approves the application.  Online training is not accepted to fulfill training 
requirements.  

As to Tastings held at retail liquor stores or liquor licensed drugstores, all servers must 
complete a server and seller training program endorsed by the Director of the Liquor 
Enforcement Division of the Department of Revenue and recognized under the 
Responsible Alcohol Beverage Vendor Act. 

CHAPTER 4 PREHEARING ACTIONS AND DETERMINATIONS 
 

Section 4-1 Neighborhood Boundaries 

Upon receipt of a completed application, the Authority shall establish the neighborhood 
boundaries for the application at the next available regular meeting.  The boundaries will 
typically include an area of not less than a one-half (1/2) mile radius around the 
proposed establishment.  In addition, factors including, but not limited to, zoning 
boundaries, land use designations, traffic flow, access roads, demographics, size of 
establishment, natural and human-made barriers, and consideration of other similar 
licenses in the area proposed may also be considered by the Authority in determining 
the neighborhood boundary.  Any reference in these Rules to “Neighborhood” shall refer 
to the Neighborhood designated by the Authority pursuant to this Section 4.1 

Subsection 4-1-1 Objections to Neighborhood Boundaries 
 

An applicant or other Party in Interest may object to the boundaries as established by 
the Authority.  Objections to Neighborhood boundaries must be made at the same 
Authority meeting during which the boundaries are established. 
 

Section 4-2 Petitions 
 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  33



Subsection 4-2-1 Petitions Permitted 
 

Petitions may be circulated by the applicant, firm or corporation retained by the 
applicant, or any Party in Interest opposing or supporting the issuance of the license.  
Petitions shall be submitted to the Licensing Clerk no later than ten (10) days before the 
public hearing.  Petitions are not the only means of establishing the reasonable 
requirements of the neighborhood and the desires of the adult inhabitants.   
 

Subsection 4-2-2 Petition Format 
 

The applicant must use the City petition format provided by The petition format must be 
approved by the Authority prior to entry into evidence at a hearing.  A pre-approved 
format may be developed and made available from the Licensing Clerk.  The Authority 
may approve and consider as evidence other petition formats upon good cause shown, 
and a sample of such other petition format shall be provided to the Licensing Clerk for 
review by the Authority at the hearing where the Neighborhood is designated.  The 
Authority may, on its own motion, continue the hearing to hear testimony from the 
person(s) who circulated the petition prior to approving or disapproving any submitted 
petition. 
 

Subsection 4-2-3 Restricted to Approved Neighborhood Boundaries 
 
Petitions must be circulated within the Neighborhood boundaries established by the 
Authority.  Petitions circulated outside such neighborhood shall not be considered by 
the Authority.  Each person signing a petition shall sign only his own first and last name, 
address, and date petition was signed.  No person shall sign more than one petition.  A 
person is qualified to sign such petition upon attaining the age of twenty-one (21).  No 
petitions will be considered unless the party or parties submitting them have first 
designated alongside each signature on the petition whether the party signing resides, 
or owns or manages a business, within the Neighborhood. Only door-to-door petitions 
will be considered by the Authority.  Counter petitions, and petitions provided to 
customers of the establishment, will not be considered by the Authority. 
 

Subsection 4-2-4 Legibility 
 
Each signature and accompanying address must be clearly legible in order to be 
entered into the record and considered by the Authority.  Any member of the Authority 
may move at any time prior to the conclusion of the applicable public hearing to strike 
and disregard illegible signatures or signatures accompanied by illegible addresses. 
 

Section 4-3 Notice of Hearing 

Upon receipt of complete state and local applications, the Licensing Clerk shall 
schedule a public hearing upon the application.  The hearing shall be set for the next 
regular meeting of the Authority, occurring not less than thirty (30) days from the date of 
the application.  The Licensing Clerk shall:  (i) timely provide applicant with a poster 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  34



properly conforming with state and city posting requirements; (ii) have applicant confirm 
under oath completion of such mandatory postings; and, (iii) publish public notice of the 
hearing not less than ten (10) days before such a hearing.  Public notice shall be given 
by the posting a sign in a conspicuous place on the premises that are the subject of the 
application, and by publication in the Boulder paper of record.  Notice given by posting 
and publication shall conform to requirements set forth in Section 12-47-311, C.R.S.  

Subsection 4-3-1 Special Notice and Hearing Requirements 
 
The notice requirements of Section 4-3 do not apply upon receipt of applications for 
License Renewal, Licensing Clerk Interior Premises Approvals, Special Events, or Bed 
& Breakfast Permits, or at the request of the Authority for Special Hearings or 
continuation of hearings.  The Sections governing these permits specify special notice 
and hearing requirements.  
 

Section 4-4 Definition of “Party in Interest” 
 

"Party in Interest" as used in these Rules of Procedure means any of the following:  (1) 
the applicant; (2) an adult resident of the Neighborhood under consideration; (3) the 
owner or manager of a business located in the Neighborhood under consideration; or, 
(4) the principal or representative of any school located within five hundred (500) feet of 
the premises for which the license is sought.  (Section 12-47-311(5)(b), C.R.S.).  
 
CHAPTER 5 PRELIMINARY INVESTIGATIONS 
 

Section 5-1 Matters Covered 
 

Subsection 5-1-1 New Licenses and Change of Class of License 
 

Upon receipt of a complete application for a new license/change of class of license, the 
Licensing Clerk shall conduct a preliminary investigation with regard to the following 
matters:  

(A) For applications for a malt, vinous, or spirituous liquor license, 
whether within two (2) years, preceding the date of the application, 
either the state or Authority has denied an application for the same 
class of license at the same location or within 500 feet of the same 
location, for the reason that the reasonable requirements of the 
neighborhood and the desires of the inhabitants were satisfied by 
the existing outlets.  For applications for fermented malt beverages 
at retail, whether within one year preceding the date of the 
application, either the state or Authority has denied an application 
at the same location for the reason that the reasonable 
requirements of the neighborhood or the desires of the inhabitants 
were satisfied by the exiting outlets. This requirement is not 
applicable to applications for Bed and Breakfast Permits; 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  35



(B) Whether it satisfactorily appears that the applicant is or shall be 
entitled to possession of the premises for which application is made 
under a lease or by virtue of ownership; 

(C) Whether the sale of liquor, or fermented malt beverages as 
contemplated by the applicant is in compliance with the zoning laws 
of the City of Boulder, and within any applicable State laws, rules or 
regulations, or regulations for restaurants of Boulder County and of 
the State Board of Health; 

(D) For liquor applications, whether the building in which the liquor is to 
be sold is located within five hundred (500) feet of any public or 
parochial school or the principal campus of any college, university 
or seminary.  This requirement is not applicable to applications for 
Bed and Breakfast Permits;  

(E) The number and type of outlets located within the Neighborhood 
designated by the Authority as the neighborhood affected by the 
license applied for; 

(F) Any criminal history information on the applicant which has been 
discovered by or brought to the attention of the Licensing Clerk or 
Authority; 

(G) A report of all pertinent matters affecting the qualifications of the 
applicant for the conduct of the type of business proposed.  This 
report and attached Exhibits provided to the Authority shall specify 
any direct or indirect financial interests (including notes, mortgages, 
leases, etc.) in other licenses as reported on or attached to State 
forms.  This report shall include reports from appropriate law 
enforcement agencies of the applicant's previous criminal record, if 
any, and shall include registered managers, if applicable, and all 
partners, principals or stockholders of a private corporation and all 
partners, principals or stockholders holding ten percent (10%) or 
more of the outstanding and issued stock of a public corporation 
subject to the Security and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; 
and, 

(H) Such other matters as the Authority may direct. 

Subsection 5-1-2 Transfer of Ownership 
 
Upon receipt of a complete application for a transfer of ownership of an existing license, 
the Licensing Clerk shall conduct a preliminary investigation with regard to only those 
matters set forth in Subsection 5-1-1(B), (C), (F) and (G) above; and Subsection 5-1-4,  
“Change, Alteration, or Modification of Premises or Usage.” 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  36



 
Subsection 5-1-3 Change of Location 

Upon receipt of a complete application for a change of location of an existing license, 
the Licensing Clerk shall conduct a preliminary investigation with regard to all matters 
set forth in Subsection 5-1-1 above, except that the character of the applicant shall not 
be considered.  

Subsection 5-1-4 Change, Alteration, or Modification of Premises or 
Usage 

Upon receipt of a complete application for a change, alteration or modification of 
premises or usage, the Licensing Clerk shall conduct a preliminary investigation with 
regard to those matters set forth in Subsection 5-1-1(B), (C), (D), and (E) above. 

Section 5-2 Undue Concentration of Taverns and Retail Liquor Stores 
 

Subsection 5-2-1 State Law Permits Denial Based Upon Undue 
Concentration of Licenses 

 
The Authority may deny the issuance of any new tavern or retail liquor store license 
whenever it determines that the issuance of such license would result in or add to an 
undue concentration of the same class of license and, as a result, require the use of 
additional law enforcement resources.  (Section 12-47-301(2)(b), C.R.S.) 
 

Subsection 5-2-2 Factors to Consider When Determining Undue 
Concentration Pursuant to State Liquor Code 
Regulation 47-301 

 
For purposes of determining if the issuance of a new tavern or retail liquor store license 
would result in or add to an undue concentration of the same class of license and, as a 
result, require the use of additional law enforcement resources, the Authority may 
consider factors, including, but not limited to: 
 

(A) Whether the ratio of the number of tavern or retail liquor store 
licenses within Boulder County to the Boulder County’s population 
exceeds the ratio of the statewide number of licenses of the same 
class to the state population; 

 
(B) Whether the ratio of the number of tavern or retail liquor store 

licenses within the census tract or census division in the 
Neighborhood in which the applicant premises are located to the 
population of the census tract or division exceeds the ratio of 
number of licenses of the same class in the City of Boulder to the 
population of the City of Boulder; 

 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  37



(C) The distance between the applicant premises and the premises of 
other holders of the same class of license; 

 
(D) Published data concerning the concentration of tavern or retail 

liquor store licenses and its effect on the need for law enforcement 
resources; and, 

 
(E) Testimony concerning the use of law enforcement resources by law 

enforcement officials with the responsibility for enforcing state or 
local law in the area in which the applicant premises are located. 

 
Subsection 5-2-3 Requirements for Usable Data 

 
For purposes of this Section: 
 

(A) The number of tavern and retail liquor store licenses within a given 
area shall be as published by the state licensing authority; 

 
(B) The population shall be the estimate published by the most recent 

United States decennial or special census (for state, census tract, 
and census division data) or the most recent estimates published 
by the Department of Local Affairs (for county and municipal data); 
and,  

 
(C) "Neighborhood" shall refer to the Neighborhood designated by the 

Authority pursuant to Section 4-1 of these Rules of Procedure. 
 

CHAPTER 6 HEARINGS, DECISIONS AND APPEALS 
 

Section 6-1 Rules of Evidence 
 

The rules of evidence and requirements of proof and procedure shall conform to the 
extent practicable to those in civil non-jury cases, but when necessary to ascertain facts 
affecting the substantial rights of the public or of the licensee, the Authority may receive 
and consider evidence not admissible under such rules if such evidence possesses 
probative value commonly accepted by reasonable and prudent persons in the conduct 
of their affairs.  The rules of privilege required by law shall be respected, and the Chair 
may exclude incompetent and unduly repetitious evidence.  Questions concerning the 
competency of witnesses to testify on behalf of, or in opposition to, the issuance of the 
license, the materiality, relevancy, or competency of their testimony, and other 
evidentiary matters shall be determined by the Chair.  The Chair shall rule upon all 
questions of evidence and procedure, subject to being overruled on motion sustained by 
a majority vote of those members of the Authority present. 
  

Section 6-2 Witnesses under Oath 
 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  38



All testimony shall be given under oath. 
 
Section 6-3 Ability to Present Evidence and Cross-Examine 

All Parties in Interest shall be allowed to present evidence and to cross-examine 
witnesses. 

Section 6-4 Agreed Upon Conditions of Approval 
 
The Authority may impose conditions of approval on any license, permit or action when 
agreed to by the applicant and other Parties in Interest, provided the Authority 
independently concurs with the proposed condition.  The Authority may, separate from 
the agreed upon conditions in this Section 6-4, direct at any time (pursuant to notice 
requirements set forth in Section 4-3) that any license renewal be changed to non-
SummaryAdministrative Approval, thus removing the renewal from possible 
SummaryAdministrative Approval (as described in Subsection 8-1-5), and directing the 
Licensing Clerk to set the next annual renewal of such license for review in a hearing 
before the Authority, unless and until the Authority directs otherwise.   
 

Section 6-5 Exhibits 

All exhibits shall be marked and introduced as in civil cases.  All exhibits shall be on 8-
1/2" x 11" paper and in electronic format. For hearing purposes, exhibits may be 
enlarged and mounted on cardboard or similar material, but the mounted exhibits shall 
not be accepted or retained by the Authority and shall not become a part of the record. 

Section 6-6 Time Limits 
 
The Chair may limit the presentation of evidence and cross-examination, so as to 
prevent repetitive and cumulative evidence or examination.  
 

Section 6-7 Preparation of Record 
 

A stenographic reporter shall be provided by the Authority only upon request of the 
applicant with all requests for stenographic reporters to be made to the Licensing Clerk 
at least seven (7) days prior to the hearing at which a record is to be transcribed, and on 
the condition that all costs of preparing a transcript (including a copy for the Authority) 
and the reporter's appearance fee (including any fee for late cancellations) be paid by 
the applicant. In all other instances, an audio recording shall be made of the 
proceedings and shall be retained for a period of the current year plus an additional 63 
years. Summary minutes shall be created by the Licensing Clerk, approved by the 
Authority, and shall permanently be retained.  
 

Section 6-8 Burden of Proof 
 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  39



During an application hearing, the applicant shall have the burden of proving that they 
are qualified to hold a license, haves sufficient financial sources, that the reasonable 
requirements of the neighborhood are not being met by existing liquor or fermented malt 
beverage outlets and that the neighborhood needs and desires the applicant's particular 
outlet.  In all other hearings before the Authority, except show cause hearings, the 
applicant shall have the burden of proving that they have met all the requirements of the 
state law and local ordinance governing the particular application.  

 
Section 6-9 Presence of Applicant and Representation by Counsel 

 
Applicants or other Parties in Interest may appear in person or be represented by 
counsel, except that the applicant or licensee, as the case may be, shall personally 
appear before the Authority unless a corporation or LLC in which case a representative 
of the Applicant may appear. on all matters relating to their application or license unless 
sSuch presence is may be waived by a majority vote of the members present. 
 

Section 6-10 Continuances 

The Licensing Clerk may grant an applicant's request to continue a matter set for 
hearing to the next following regular meeting, if such request is made prior to the time 
that publication and posting of notice of hearing on the matter has been made.  After a 
matter has been scheduled for public hearing and public notice thereof has been given, 
the matter may be continued only by the Authority for good cause upon a majority vote 
at the time originally noticed.  The Authority may by motion and majority vote continue a 
hearing on its own initiative for good cause, provided that the applicant and other 
Parties in Interest are first given an opportunity to state their position on the proposed 
continuance. 

Section 6-11 Decisions 
 
The decision of the Authority approving or denying an application or request after a 
public hearing or public meeting shall be in writing, shall state the grounds for the 
decision, and shall be made no later than thirty (30) days after the date of the public 
hearing.  The City Attorney shall prepare a written decision on each application which 
shall be timely provided to the Licensing Clerk for certified mailing.  A copy of the 
decision shall be sent, by certified mail or personal service, to the applicant at the 
address shown in the application.  
 

Section 6-12 Appeals 
 
Appeals of decisions of the Authority shall be to the District Court in the manner 
specified by the Colorado Rules of Civil Procedure. 

 
CHAPTER 7 LICENSE ISSUANCE 
 

Section 7-1 Confirmation of Conditions 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  40



 
Although the license may be approved by both the Authority and State Licensing 
Authorities, no license shall be issued by the Licensing Clerk until all Authority-approved 
conditions and all Authority directed contingencies are met and the building in which the 
business is to be conducted is ready for occupancy, with any necessary furniture, 
fixtures, and equipment in place, and then only after the Licensing Clerk's inspection of 
the premises has been made to determine that the applicant has complied with the 
drawings, plans and specifications submitted with the application. 
 
CHAPTER 8 POST-ISSUANCE ACTIONS 
 

Section 8-1 License Renewal 
 

Subsection 8-1-1 Timely Application Required 
 
All applications for renewal of alcohol beverage licenses, including both State and City 
forms with applicable fees for both parties, shall be submitted to the Licensing Clerk in 
the form prescribed by law no later than forty-five (45) days before the license expiration 
date together with the required license and renewal application fees.  Any application 
received fewer than forty-five (45) days before the license expiration date shall be 
considered a late application.   
 

Subsection 8-1-1-a Definition of “Timely” 
 
Complete renewal applications which are mailed and postmarked on or before the forty-
five (45) day deadline will be considered timely filed.  If the deadline date lands on a 
weekend or city government recognized holiday then the application will be considered 
timely filed if postmarked on the next business day following that holiday or weekend 
deadline date.  
 
Complete renewal applications that are hand delivered to the Licensing Clerk on or 
before the forty-five (45) day deadline will be considered timely filed.  If the deadline 
date lands on a weekend or a city government recognized holiday then the application 
will be considered timely filed if hand delivered on the next business day following that 
holiday or weekend deadline date.  
 

Subsection 8-1-2 Late Applications Without Objections Received Before 
Expiration of License 

 
The Licensing Clerk may process late applications received before expiration of the 
license, for which no objections have been received, provided that the licensee agrees 
to suspend the sale of alcohol beverages during the period between expiration of the 
license and the date the license is actually renewed.  If the licensee does not agree to 
the temporary post-expiration suspension, the Licensing Clerk shall not allow 
SummaryAdministrative Approval (as described in Subsection 8-1-5) and shall set the 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  41



matter for a renewal hearing before the Authority for the next available Authority 
hearing.  
   

Subsection 8-1-3 Late Applications With Objections Received Before 
Expiration of License 

 
When objections have been received, the Licensing Clerk shall set any late applications 
received before expiration of the license for a renewal hearing before the Authority for 
the next available Authority hearing. 
 
 

Subsection 8-1-4 Expired Licenses 
 
A licensee whose license has been expired for not more than ninety (90) days may file a 
late renewal application upon the payment of a nonrefundable late application fee to the 
City.  A licensee who files a late renewal application for a license that expires before its 
Authority hearing, or a licensee who files a renewal not more than ninety (90) days after 
a license is expired and pays the requisite fee, may continue to operate subject to the 
limitations set forth in Section 8-1-8, until the Authority has taken final action to approve 
or deny such licensee's late renewal application.  (Section 12-47-302(2)(a), C.R.S.)  No 
late renewal application shall be accepted more than ninety (90) days after the 
expiration of a licensee's permanent annual license.  Any licensee whose permanent 
annual license has been expired for more than ninety (90) days must apply for a new 
license pursuant to Sections 12-47-302 and 12-47-311, C.R.S., and shall not sell or 
possess for sale any alcohol beverage until all required licenses have been obtained. 
 

Subsection 8-1-5 Summary Administrative Approval of License 
Renewal by Licensing Clerk 

 
After receiving a complete license renewal application including both State and City 
renewal forms with applicable fees for both parties, the Licensing Clerk shall review the 
application, together with the following information covering the period since the initial 
application or last renewal (whichever is more recent): (i) submissions to the applicant’s 
file; (ii) City department comments; and, (iii) pertinent City records.  Unless there is 
evidence to the contrary, whether contained in the applicant's file or otherwise, it will be 
presumed that the occupied premises comply with the provisions of the statutes and 
applicable regulations, that the character of the applicant continues to be satisfactory, 
and that such renewed license, if granted, continues to meet the reasonable 
requirements of the neighborhood and the desires of the inhabitants.  If no such 
evidence counters these presumptions, the license renewal application shall be 
approved by the Licensing Clerk and forwarded to the State Department of Revenue, 
Liquor Enforcement Division.  If the Licensing Clerk finds such evidence countering 
these presumptions, the Licensing Clerk shall set, for the next available Authority 
hearing, the license renewal application for a renewal hearing before the Authority.  The 
Authority may, separate from the agreed upon conditions in this Section 6-4, direct at 
any time (pursuant to notice requirements set forth in Section 4-3) that any license 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  42



renewal be changed to non-SummaryAdministrative Approval, thus removing the 
renewal from possible SummaryAdministrative Approval (as described in Subsection 8-
1-5), and directing the Licensing Clerk to set the next annual renewal of such license for 
review in a hearing before the Authority, unless and until the Authority directs otherwise.   
 

Subsection 8-1-6 License Renewal Hearings by the Authority 
 

Whenever objections to the renewal of a license have been raised (by a Party in 
Interest, the State, or the City) before renewal of the license, the Licensing Clerk shall 
have the discretion to set the matter for a renewal hearing.  An Objection to Renewal 
Hearing Notice shall be sent to licensee via certified mailing at least tenhirty (130) days 
before the Authority renewal hearing date.  All supporting evidence available at the time 
concerning the objection shall be provided to the licensee with the hearing notice.  
Renewal hearings shall be conducted in compliance with Chapter 6 of these Rules of 
Procedure. 
 

Subsection 8-1-7 Notice and Hearing Requirements for License 
Renewal Hearings 

 
A public hearing on the renewal application shall be held at the next available Authority 
hearing not less than thirty ten (310) days from the date of mailing of the notification of 
renewal objection to the licensee.  A notice of hearing shall be conspicuously posted on 
the licensed premises for a period of no less than ten (10) days prior to the renewal 
hearing.  If such objection is made less than thirty (30) days from the expiration of the 
license, the Licensing Clerk shall set the renewal hearing for the next available date 
which provides the licensee with thirty ten (3010) days notice and ten (10) days proper 
posting of the premises. 

 
Subsection 8-1-8 Sales Permitted Pending Hearing 

 
If the licensee requests a continuance of the hearing date, or if a late application set for 
a renewal hearing cannot be processed before the expiration of the license, the 
Authority may order the licensee not to sell alcohol beverages beyond the expiration 
date of the license until a determination has been reached ruling on the license renewal. 

 
Subsection 8-1-9 Grounds for Non-Renewal of License 

 
Objections to renewal of a license must be for good cause.  Evidence of good cause to 
deny a renewal may include, but shall not be limited to, the following: 

 
(A) Evidence that the licensee or applicant has violated, does not meet, 

or has failed to comply with any of the terms, conditions, or 
provisions of the Colorado Liquor Code or any related rules and 
regulations; 

 
(B) Evidence that the licensee or applicant has failed to comply with 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  43



any special terms or conditions that were placed on its license in 
prior disciplinary proceedings or arose in the context of potential 
disciplinary proceeding; or, 

  
(C) Evidence that the licensed premises have been operated in a 

manner that adversely affects the public health, welfare or safety of 
the immediate Neighborhood in which the establishment is located, 
including a continuing pattern of fights, violent activity or disorderly 
conduct. 

 
 

Section 8-2 Change of Location 

An application for a Change of Location shall conform to all notice, hearing and 
substantive requirements for an application for a new license except as specifically 
provided otherwise in these Rules of Procedure.  In addition, the reason for the 
requested change shall be specified. 

Section 8-3 Change, Alteration or Modification of Premises or Usage 
 

Subsection 8-3-1 Permission Required 
 

A licensee shall not physically change, alter or modify the premises in a manner which 
materially or substantially alters the premises or the usage of the premises from the 
plans and specifications submitted at the time of obtaining the license without approval 
of the Licensing Clerk or Authority as provided below. 
 

Subsection 8-3-2 Applicability Pursuant to State Liquor Code 
Regulation 47-302, As Applied 

 
The physical changes, alterations or modifications of the premises, or in the usage of 
the premises requiring prior written consent, shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following: 
 

(A) Any increase or decrease in the total size or capacity of the 
premises; 

 
(B) The sealing off, creation or relocation of a common entryway, 

doorway, passage or other means of public ingress and/or egress, 
when such common entryway, doorway or passage permits access 
to the premises from or between public streets or thoroughfares, 
adjacent or abutting buildings, rooms or premises; 

 
(C) Any substantial or material enlargement of a bar, or relocation of a 

bar or addition of a separate bar; and, 
 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  44



(D) Any material change in the interior of the premises that would affect 
the basic character of the premises or the physical structure that 
existed in the plan on file with the latest prior application.  The 
foregoing shall not apply to painting and redecorating of premises; 
the installation or replacement of fixtures or equipment, plumbing, 
refrigeration, air conditioning or heating fixtures and equipment; the 
lowering of ceilings; the installation and replacement of floor 
coverings; the replacement of furniture and equipment; or other 
similar changes.  “Character” shall include “usage” as the term is 
used in Regulation 47-302. 

 
 

Subsection 8-3-3 Licensing Clerk Interior Premises Approvals 
 
The Licensing Clerk may make an administrative decision to approve any proposed 
change, alteration or modification of the interior premises (“interior proposal”) which 
does not significantly or materially alter the premises or the usage of the premises.  The 
Licensing Clerk shall consider the factors set forth in Subsection 8-3-2.  The Licensing 
Clerk may seek informal direction from the Authority in these determinations. The 
Licensing Clerk’s approval decision shall be final, subject to call up by the Authority for 
review in any Authority hearing.  Such hearing will comply with Notice of Hearing 
requirements set forth in Section 4-3.  The Licensing Clerk may also refer any proposal 
directly for a hearing before the Authority, in which case the Licensing Clerk’s action 
shall be deemed a denial of approval and a determination that the interior proposal 
would significantly or materially alter the interior premises or the usage of the interior 
premises. 
 

Subsection 8-3-4 Authority Change, Alter and Modify Determinations 
 

Following notice and hearing as specified in Section 4-3, the Authority will make a 
decision with respect to any denial or referral of an interior proposal by the Licensing 
Clerk, and with respect to any proposed change, alteration or modification of the 
exterior premises, expansion of the premises, or any internal change, alteration or 
modification which significantly or materially alters the usage of the premises.  The 
Authority shall consider the factors set forth in Subsection 8-3-5. 
 

Subsection 8-3-5 Decision making Factors Pursuant to State Liquor 
Code Regulation Code 47-302, As Applied 

 
The Authority must consider whether the premises, as changed, altered, expanded or 
modified, will meet the requirements of the Colorado Liquor Code and the regulations.  
The factors to be taken into account include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 

(A) The reasonable requirements of the neighborhood and the desires 
of the inhabitants.  More specifically, the desires of the inhabitants 
(residents, tenants, store owners and managers) of the 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  45



neighborhood for any proposed change, alteration, expansion or 
modification; and the need of the neighborhood for the proposed 
change, alteration, expansion or modification in view of the desires 
of the inhabitants and the ability of existing establishments of a 
similar type in or near the establishment to meet the needs of the 
inhabitants; 

 
(B) The possession, by the licensee, of the changed premises by 

ownership, lease, rental or other arrangement; 
 
(C) Compliance with the applicable zoning laws of the municipality, city 

and county, or county.  The Authority may for good cause shown 
permit concurrent processing of zoning permits, but only when the 
Authority has made a finding that the reasonable requirements of 
the neighborhood and the desires of the inhabitants as described in 
(A) above require approval of the application; 

 
(D) Compliance with the distance prohibition with regard to any public 

or parochial school or the principal campus of any college, 
university or seminary; and, 

 
(E) The legislative declaration that the Colorado Liquor Code is an 

exercise of the police powers of this state for the protection of the 
economic and social welfare and the health, peace, and morals of 
the people of this state. 

 
Subsection 8-3-6 Notice of and Grounds for Denial 

 
If the Authority denies permission to change, alter or modify the premises, written notice 
in accordance with Section 6-11 shall be given to the licensee stating the grounds for 
the denial. 
 

Section 8-4 Transfer of Ownership 
 
An application for transfer of ownership shall conform to the procedures, hearings, and 
requirements applicable to an application for a new license (see Chapter 3), except as 
provided in this Section. 
  

Subsection 8-4-1 Character Investigation 
 
The Licensing Clerk shall conduct an investigation into the character of the applicant, 
including when applicable, registered managers and the officers, members, partners or 
major shareholders. 
 

Subsection 8-4-2 Review for Changes, Alterations or Modifications 
 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  46



The Licensing Clerk shall consider proposed physical alterations to a licensed premises 
as part of a license-transfer proceeding in determining the proper processing and 
necessary applications for a Transfer of Ownership.  The Licensing Clerk shall compare 
original plans and specifications (from the existing licensee) to new plans, if any, to 
determine whether any proposed change, alteration or modification of the premises 
would significantly or materially alter the premises or usage of the premises. 
   

(A) If the Licensing Clerk determines that the changes would 
significantly or materially alter the usage of the premises then the 
Licensing Clerk shall schedule a hearing before the Authority with 
public notice of such hearing to be given in accordance with the 
Notice of Hearing requirements in Section 4-3 herein. 

 
(B) The Licensing Clerk shall permit concurrent processing of  

applications for permission for Change, Alteration or Modification of 
Premises or Usage and Transfers of Ownership, but in no case 
shall the Transfer of Ownership application be approved before the 
Licensing Clerk or the Authority (as applicable) have substantively 
addressed applications for permission for Change, Alteration or 
Modification of Premises or Usage. 

 
Subsection 8-4-3 Agreement of Current Licensee 

 
The applicant shall show proof documenting that the current licensee agrees to the 
transfer of ownership.  A notarized statement by the current licensee requesting that the 
Authority transfer the license to applicant shall be sufficient.  In addition, the current 
licensee and the prospective applicant shall complete the proper City forms as provided 
by the Licensing Clerk and required state-approved transfer affidavit and forms. 
 

Subsection 8-4-4 Limited Review 
 

When determining whether a transfer of ownership should be granted, the Authority 
shall consider only the applicant’s possession of the premises, the applicant’s ability to 
conduct the business according to law, the requirements of Section 12-47-307, C.R.S., 
which includes but is not limited to the character of the applicant, and 1 CCR 203-2, 
Rule 47-302 as to whether any proposed change, alteration or modification of the 
premises would significantly or materially alter the premises or usage of the premises.  
 

Subsection 8-4-5 Temporary Permits 
 
A temporary permit to authorize the applicant to continue selling alcoholic or fermented 
malt beverages, during the period in which an application to transfer the ownership of 
the license is pending, may be issued by the Licensing Clerk upon application by the 
transferee licensee on forms provided by the Licensing Clerk with required attachments 
and accompanied by the appropriate fee. The Licensing Clerk shall issue a temporary 
permit within five (5) working days from the date of a completed application provided 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  47



that all requirements of the Section 12-47-3103, C.R.S., have been met by the 
applicant. The application shall be filed no later than thirty (30) days after the filing of a 
complete application for transfer of ownership. The temporary permit shall be good for 
no more than one hundred twenty (120) days or until such time as the application to 
transfer ownership of the license is granted whichever shall occur first; except that, if the 
transfer application has not been granted or denied within the one hundred twenty (120) 
day period and the transferee demonstrates good cause, the Authority may, in its 
discretion, extend the temporary permit for an additional period not to exceed sixty (60) 
days. In the event the application to transfer the ownership is denied by the Authority, 
the temporary permit is immediately void and the license remains in the name of the 
transferor licensee. 
 

Subsection 8-4-6 Notice and Hearings Requirements for License 
Transfer Hearings 

 
A public hearing will be held on the application and shall be noticed pursuant to Section 
4-3 and conducted pursuant to Chapter 6.  The Authority shall consider and act upon 
the evidence of the applicant’s possession of the licensed premises, the requirements of 
Section 12-47-307, C.R.S, and the requirements of 1 CCR 203-2, Rule 47-302.  The 
burden of proof is on the applicant to establish all requirements.  The current licensee 
may appear at the hearing and contest the transfer of the license.  The Authority shall 
consider the current licensee’s evidence opposing the transfer.  Such evidence shall be 
limited to the issue of legal possession of the premises or the character of the applicant.  
Should the current licensee fail to appear to contest the license transfer, the Authority 
shall act on the transfer considering the evidence presented by the applicant and any 
Parties in Interest. 
 

Subsection 8-4-7 Required Posting of Closed Premise Locations 
 
When a liquor licensed premise location is closed to the general public for more than six 
(6) consecutive weeks, the licensee shall obtain from the Licensing Clerk’s office a 
poster prepared by that office that indicates the premises is closed.  The licensee shall 
post this poster at their location in a manner that is conspicuously visible to members of 
the general public from the outside of the premise location for the duration of that 
licensee’s closure. 
 
 

Section 8-5 Change of Corporate Structure 
 

Subsection 8-5-1 Privately-Held Corporations 
 
Any transfer of the capital stock, and any change in officers or directors of any 
corporation holding a license under the provisions of the Colorado Liquor Code and 
which is not subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended, shall be reported to the Licensing Clerk within thirty (30) days after 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  48



such transfer or change.  A licensee shall use state approved forms with required 
attachments and proper fees paid to both city and state. 
 

Subsection 8-5-2 Publicly-Held Corporations 
 
Corporate licensees subject to the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, 
shall submit the names and addresses of all persons owning ten percent (10%) or more 
of the outstanding or issued capital stock not more than thirty (30) days after such 
ownership occurs; and shall submit to the Licensing Clerk the names and addresses of 
all corporate officers within thirty (30) days after their appointments. A licensee shall use 
state approved forms, with required attachments and proper fees paid to both city and 
state.  
 

Section 8-6 Change of Ownership Transfer by Operation of Law 
 
An application for transfer of ownership by Operation of Law shall conform to the 
procedures, hearings and requirements applicable to an application for a new 
licensetransfer (see Chapter 38-4) and those set forth in Subsection 8-4-2, except as 
provided in this Section.  When presented with an application for the issuance of a 
license by reason of a transfer of possession of the licensed premises by operation of 
law (bankruptcy, receivership, foreclosure, eviction, etc.), the Authority shall consider 
only the requirements of Section 12-47-307, C.R.S., which includes but is not limited to 
the character of the applicant and the requirements of 1 CCR 203-2, Rule 47-302 
entitled “Changing, Altering, or Modifying Licensed Premises.”   
 

Subsection 8-6-1 Additional Requirements 
 
In addition to the requirements of Section 12-47-307, C.R.S. and 1 CCR 203-2, Rule 47-
302, the application for change of ownership by operation of law shall include evidence 
that possession of the licensed premises has been legally restored to the owner of the 
licensed premises and that thereafter possession of the licensed premises was legally 
transferred to the applicant if the applicant is a party other than the owner of the 
licensed premises.  Such evidence shall consist of a certified court order, a certified 
transcript of judgment, a certified copy of the public trustee’s deed or other similar 
certified official document establishing title to or a possessory interest in the licensed 
premises, or an affidavit of abandonment of the licensed premises from the applicant or 
agent thereof indicating the time and circumstances of the abandonment. 
 

Subsection 8-6-2 Hearings Requirements 
 
A public hearing will be held on the application and shall be noticed pursuant to Section 
4-3 and conducted pursuant to Chapter 6.  The Authority shall consider and act upon 
the evidence of the applicant’s possession of the licensed premises, the requirements of 
Section 12-47-307, C.R.S, and the requirements of 1 CCR 203-2, Rule 47-302.  The 
burden of proof is on the applicant to establish all requirements.  The current licensee 
may appear at the hearing and contest the transfer of the license.  The Authority shall 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  49



consider the current licensee’s evidence opposing the transfer.  Such evidence shall be 
limited to the issue of legal possession of the premises or the character of the applicant.  
Should the current licensee fail to appear to contest the license transfer, the Authority 
shall act on the transfer considering the evidence presented by the applicant and any 
Parties in Interest.  
 
CHAPTER 9 SPECIAL PERMITS 
 

Section 9-1 Bed & Breakfast Permits 

The application and procedure for obtaining approval for a Bed and Breakfast permit 
shall conform to the state and city approved application with required attachments and 
proper state and city fees and the procedure set forth in these Rules for the granting of 
a new license.  A public hearing shall be held in all cases where a Bed and Breakfast 
permit is desired. Posting and public notice of such hearing shall be given. 

Section 9-2 Special Events Permit 

Applications for a special events permit shall be made not less than thirty (30) days prior 
to the proposed event under oath or affirmation to the Licensing Clerk, on such forms as 
are provided the City and the State Licensing Authority.  Public notice of the proposed 
permit and of the procedure for protesting issuance of the permit shall be conspicuously 
posted at the proposed location for at least ten (10) days before approval of the permit 
by the Licensing Clerk.  Any protest shall be filed by affected persons within ten (10) 
days after the date of initial posting of the proposed event. Protests shall be filed in 
duplicate with the Licensing Clerk.  The Licensing Clerk may forward disputed 
applications to the Authority for a final decision. 

Section 9-3 Art Gallery Permit 

The application and procedure for obtaining approval for an Art Gallery permit shall 
conform to the state and city approved application with required attachments and proper 
state and city fees and the procedure set forth in these Rules for the granting of a new 
license.  However, individual histories and background investigations are not required 
for this type of permit application.  A public hearing shall be held in all cases where an 
Art Gallery permit is desired. Posting and public notice of such hearing shall be given.  

CHAPTER 10 ENFORCEMENT 
 

Section 10-1 Management Registration 
 
Every licensee holding an alcohol beverage license shall personally manage such 
licensed premises or employ a separate and distinct manager on the premises and shall 
report the name of such manager to the Licensing Clerk.  Such licensee shall report any 
change in managers to the Licensing Clerk within thirty (30) days after such change on 
state approved forms with required attachments and proper state and city fees, ift any.  

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  50



Failure to report the name of, or any change in, managers shall may be grounds for 
suspension or revocation of the license. 
 

Section 10-2 Suspension and Revocation of Licenses 

The Authority has the power, on its own motion or on complaint, after investigation and 
public hearing at which the licensee shall be afforded an opportunity to be heard, to 
suspend or revoke any license issued by the Authority for any violation by the licensee, 
or by any of the agents, servants or employees of such licensee of the provisions of the 
Colorado Liquor Code, or any of the rules, ordinances and regulations authorized 
pursuant to such Codes or of any of the terms, conditions or provisions of the license 
issued by the Authority. 

Subsection 10-2-1 Investigation of Cause for Suspension and 
Revocation of Licenses 

 
The Licensing Clerk shall cause an investigation to be commenced upon motion of the 
Authority, upon the Licensing Clerk’s own initiative, upon request of the Police 
Department or City Attorney or whenever a sworn written complaint has been filed with 
the Authority.  The investigation shall be conducted by the Licensing Clerk with the 
assistance of the Police Department. 
 

(A) If the investigation shows reasonable suspicion to believe that 
grounds for suspension or revocation exist, the Licensing Clerk 
may initiate proceedings as provided below. 

 
(B) If the investigation shows probable cause to believe that grounds 

for suspension or revocation exist, the Licensing Clerk shall initiate 
proceedings as provided below.   

 
Subsection 10-2-2 Initiation of Suspension or Revocation Proceedings by 

Show Cause Order 
 

Proceedings to suspend or revoke a license shall be initiated by providing at least thirty 
(30) days notice of hearing and an order to show cause why the license shall not be 
suspended or revoked. Such notice and order shall be sent by certified mail to the 
licensee at the address contained in the license, or personally served, and shall contain 
such information as shall reasonably notify or inform the licensee of the charges or 
alleged grounds for suspension or revocation. 
 

Subsection 10-2-3 Show Cause Hearings 

Except as provided in this Subsection, show cause hearings shall be conducted in a 
manner consistent with Chapter 6 of these Rules of Procedure. 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  51



(A) The hearing shall be held at the place and time designated in the 
notice, or upon such other day as may be set for good cause 
shown. At the hearing, evidence in support of the charges shall be 
given first, followed by cross-examination of those testifying thereto. 
The licensee, in person or by counsel, shall then be permitted to 
give evidence in defense and in explanation, and shall be allowed 
to give evidence and statements in mitigation of the charges. In the 
event the licensee is found to have committed the violation 
charged, or any other violation, evidence and statements in 
aggravation of the offense shall also be permitted.  

(B) The Authority has the power to issue subpoenas to require the 
presence of persons and the production of all papers, books and 
records necessary to its determination.  

(C) If the evidence presented at the hearing does not support the 
charges stated in the notice and order served upon the licensee, 
but standing alone establishes the guilt of the licensee of a violation 
of some other law, rule or regulation, the licensee shall be 
permitted to give evidence and statements in defense, explanation 
and mitigation if then prepared to do so. If such evidence is not 
then available but can be obtained by the licensee, the licensee 
shall state the substance thereof and upon his or her request, the 
hearing may be recessed until the next available date and shall 
continue under the same procedure as though no recess had 
occurred.  

(D) In the event the licensee is found not to have violated any law, rule 
or regulation, the charges against him shall be dismissed. If the 
licensee is found to have violated some law, rule or regulation, the 
license may be suspended or revoked.  Suspension dates to be 
served shall be determined and approved by the Authority during 
the violation hearing and those suspension dates shall not be 
subject to change. 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  52



(E) If the licensee is found to have violated some law, rule or 
regulation, the license may be suspended or revoked.  Suspension 
dates to be served shall be determined recommended by the 
licensee and approved ultimately determined by the Authority 
during the violation hearing.   and those Ssuspension dates 
generally are notshall not be subject to change.  Suspension dates 
shall be served by licensee within the thirty (30) days following the 
show cause hearing, on consecutive days, and on days when the 
licensee would otherwise be open for business. 

(FE) If a license has been suspended, the Authority shall order the 
posting of notices of suspension on the premises for the duration of 
suspension days served.  Failure to post shall be grounds for a new 
violation. 

Subsection 10-2-4 No Tax Refunds 
 

In the event of revocation or suspension, no portion of the license fee, application fee, 
or occupation tax for an issued license shall be refunded.  In the event of a transfer of 
ownership, no portion of the license fee, application fee or occupation tax for an issued 
license shall be refunded, and all occupation tax must be made current by the existing 
licensee prior to final transfer of the license to the new applicant.  In the event of 
surrender, expiration or non-renewal, no portion of the license fee or the application fee 
for an issued license shall be refunded, but the occupation tax shall be pro-rated to the 
official date of the surrender or expiration of that license. 
 

Subsection 10-2-5 No Suspension Longer than Six (6) Months 

No suspension of a license shall be for a period longer than six (6) months. 

Section 10-3 Summary Suspension 
 
The Authority may summarily suspend for a period of up to fifteen (15) days any license 
or permit issued by the Authority or Licensing Clerk, without prior notice to the licensee, 
as provided in this Section. 
 

Subsection 10-3-1 Violation of Law 
 

The Authority may summarily suspend any license or permit issued if it has reasonable 
grounds to believe and finds that a licensee has been guilty of a deliberate and willful 
violation of any applicable law or regulation. 
 

Subsection 10-3-2 Threat to Public Health 
 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  53



The Authority may summarily suspend any license or permit issued if it has reasonable 
grounds to believe and finds that the public health, safety or welfare imperatively 
requires emergency action. 
  

Subsection 10-3-3 Prompt Hearing Required 
 
The temporary summary suspension of a license without notice pending any 
prosecution, investigation, or public hearing shall be for a period not to exceed fifteen 
(15) days pending any prosecution, investigation, or public hearing.during which time 
the Authority shall commence and conduct suspension or revocation proceedings. 
 

Section 10-4 Inspection of Records 
 
The owner, licensee or operator of any establishment licensed by the Authority shall, 
upon request of the Licensing Clerk, furnish to the City within thirty (30) days 
satisfactory evidence to demonstrate whether the establishment is operating in 
compliance with the license category for which it was approved.  Such evidence shall 
consist of accounting records for a period of time to be specified by the Licensing Clerk, 
showing separately the gross receipts from the sales of (i) food items (“meals”); (ii) non-
alcoholic beverages; and, (iii) intoxicating liquors.  Failure or refusal to comply with a 
records inspection request of the Licensing Clerk shall be grounds for revocation of the 
license. 
 

Section 10-5 Inspection of Premises 

If an application is approved before the building in which the business is to be 
conducted is ready for occupancy in compliance with law, the Licensing Clerk shall 
make further inspections to determine if the approved plans have been complied with 
before issuing the license. The Licensing Clerk may delegate that task of inspection to 
any other government employee and may act upon the report of such person.  Nothing 
in this Chapter 10 shall be construed to limit the City’s powers under state law or 
regulations, including but not limited to State Liquor Code Regulation 47-700. 

 

° ° º ° ° 
 

Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

Agenda Item 3C     Page  54



 
 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 2, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Third reading and consideration of a motion to adopt and order 
published by title only Ordinance No. 7957 amending Title 2, “Government 
Administration,” Chapter 7, “Code Of Conduct,” B.R.C. 1981 and setting forth related 
details. 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Tom Carr, City Attorney  
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney  
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
On January 21, 2014, council considered and passed on first reading extensive proposed 
changes to the city’s code of conduct.  These changes were developed based on council 
direction given at study sessions on October 9 and October 23, 2012.  Council made no 
changes on first reading.  After first reading, Council Members Matthew Appelbaum and 
Macon Cowles posted questions on the council hotline.  The second reading 
memorandum addressed those questions (Attachment B).  On February 18, 2014, Council 
considered the proposed ordinance on second reading.  Staff requested Council direction 
on thirteen questions.  Council provided direction on each issue and directed staff to 
modify the ordinance and bring a proposed revised ordinance back for a continued 
second reading.   The questions and council direction were recorded in the council 
minutes.  On November 18, 2014, council considered and adopted the proposed 
ordinance on continued second reading.  The November 18, 2014 agenda packet is 
attached as Attachment B.  While preparing the final ordinance, staff recognized a gap in 
the conflict of interest provision.  There is no exclusion for actions that affect an entire 
body.  Under the current proposal, council would be prohibited from accepting any 
benefit conferred on the general public.  Staff has included a proposed amendment that 
addresses this issue.  It is Attachment C.  Accordingly, the proposed motion includes 
alternatives to pass the ordinance as amended on second reading, or to pass the ordinance 
with the amendment in Attachment C.  If council chooses the latter, a fourth reading will 
be required. 
 
 

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  1

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/124466/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/124761/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/125136/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/125136/Electronic.aspx


 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests Council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to adopt on third reading Ordinance No. 7957 amending Title 2, “Government 
Administration,” Chapter 7, “Code Of Conduct,” B.R.C. 1981. 
 
Or in the alternative: 
 
Motion to adopt on third reading Ordinance No. 7957, as amended as set forth in 
attachment C, amending Title 2, “Government Administration,” Chapter 7, “Code Of 
Conduct,” B.R.C. 1981. 
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Economic:  

None identified. 

 Environmental: 
None identified 

 Social: 
Boulder’s community values support an honest, ethical and transparent local 
government.  The intent of the proposed ordinance is to revise the city’s ethics code 
to be more accessible through clarity.  The proposed ordinance would strengthen the 
sanctions for dishonest behavior, while at the same time clarifying what is acceptable 
and appropriate behavior for city elected officials, employees and appointed 
volunteers. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS  
 Fiscal: 

None identified. 

 Staff Time: 
None identified. 

 
BACKGROUND 
In 2012, council directed staff to revise extensively both the financial disclosure 
provisions in Chapter 13-2, B.R.C. 1981 and the Code of Conduct in Chapter 2-7, B.R.C. 
1981.   Council’s intent was to make these rules more transparent, effective and easy to 
use.  The proposed ordinance is the last piece of this extensive project.  On June 3, 2014, 
council passed Ordinance Number 7968 finalizing the changes to the financial disclosure 
provisions.  The proposed ordinance would complete the final phase of this project. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance 
Attachment B - Second Reading Agenda Memo for November 18, 2014 Meeting 
Attachment C – Potential Amendment to Section 2-7-14 

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  2



 

K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 7957 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 2, “GOVERNMENT 
ADMINISTRATION,” CHAPTER 7, “CODE OF CONDUCT,” 
B.R.C. 1981, INCLUDING EXPANDING THE LEGISLATIVE 
PURPOSE, CLARIFYING THE PROHIBITIONS ON ACCEPTING 
GIFTS, AMENDING THE RESTRICTIONS ON APPEARING 
BEFORE CITY BODIES, SETTING FORTH PROHIBITED ACTS, 
ESTABLISHING EXPECTATIONS FOR PUBLIC OFFICIALS 
AND PUBLIC OFFICERS, SETTING FORTH EXAMPLES OF 
VIOLATIONS AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 
COLORADO: 
 
 Section 1.  Title 2, Chapter 7 of the Boulder Revised Code, 1981 is amended as follows: 

2-7-1 Purpose, Legislative Intent and Findings. 

(a)  Purpose: The purpose of this chapter is to protect the integrity of city government by: 

(1)  Defining and forbidding certain activities including bribery and profiteering from 
public officeconflicts of interest that if left unchecked tend to compromise the 
ability of elected and appointed public officials and public employees to perform 
their duties without improper financial influence. 

 
(2)  Establishing high standards of conduct for elected officials, appointed board and 

commission members and city employees by setting forth certain expectations of 
behavior that all such individuals shall maintain while elected, appointed or 
employed by the City of Boulder.  Defining and discouraging certain actions that 
may create an appearance of impropriety that undermines public trust in the 
accountability and loyalty of elected and appointed public officials and 
employees. 

 
(3)  Protecting the integrity of city government by providing standards of conduct and 

guidelines for elected and appointed public officials and public employees to 
follow when their private interests as residents conflict with their public duties. 

 
(34)  Fostering public trust by defining standards of honest government and 

prohibiting the use of public office for private gain. 
 
(b)  Legislative Intent: It is the intent of the city council to: 
 

(1) Establish rules of conduct that meet or exceed the rules established by the 
Colorado State Constitution and the Colorado Revised Code.  Prohibit public 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  3



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

officials and public employees from acting on any matter in which he or she may 
have a conflict of interest. 

 
(2)  Establish expectationsaspirational guidelines to encourage public officials and 

public employees to maintain the highest standard of conduct to justify the public 
trust that they enjoy.avoid any appearance of impropriety. 
 

(3)  Require adherence to any provision of state or federal law that imposes a higher 
standard of conduct than this chapter.  Exercise the City of Boulder’s right to 
develop laws related to ethics in local government and appropriate standards of 
local conduct as matters of local concern as established by the Colorado State 
Constitution  in Article XX recognized by Article XXIX, § 3(6).   

 
(c) Findings: The city council finds and determines that this chapter is necessary to protect 

the public health, safety, and welfare of the residents of Boulder and is a matter of local 
concern. 

 
2-7-2 Conflicts of Interest Prohibited Acts. 
 
(a)  Personal BenefitConflicts Prohibited: No public official or public employee shall solicit, 

receive or accept anything of value in exchange for performing or refraining from 
performing any act associated with the official or employee’s position with the city.   
make or participate in the making of any official action in which he or she knows or 
should have known that he or she would have a conflict of interest.  

(Disclosure Required: Each public official or public employee shall disclose any conflict of 
interest and disqualify him or herself from participating in the relevant action as provided 
in section 2-7-10, "Disclosure and Recusal Procedure," B.R.C. 1981. 

 
2-7-3 Use of Public Office or Confidential Information for Financial Gain. 
 
(ba)  Use of Position for Gain Prohibited: No public official or public employee city council 

member, employee, or appointee to a city board, commission, task force or similar body 
shall use his or her public office or position for financial gain. 

 
(cb)  Use of Confidential Information for Financial Gain Prohibited: No public official or 

public employee city council member, employee, or appointee to a city board, 
commission, task force or similar body shall use or disclose confidential information 
obtained as a result of holding his or her public office or position, to obtain financial gain, 
whether for personal gain; gain for his or her relative; gain of any property or entity in 
which the official or employee has a substantial interest; or gain for any person or for any 
entity with whom the official or employee is negotiating for or has any arrangement 
concerning prospective employment. 

 
2-7-34 Duty to Maintain the Confidentiality of Privileged Information. 
 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  4



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(a)  Duty of a Public OfficialMember Of City Council, Board, Commission, Task Force Or 
Similar Body: No public official city council member or appointee to a city board, 
commission, task force or similar body shall disclose privileged or confidential 
information without a public majority vote granting the permission of the council or 
similar body that holds the privilege. The sanction for a member of the city council, 
board, commission, task force or similar body shall be censure of the body, reached by a 
majority vote of the body, not including the member charged with disclosing such 
confidential information. 

 
(b)  Duty of a PublicCity Employee: No citypublic employee shall disclose privileged or 

confidential information, obtained as a result of holding his or her public office or 
position, unless the employee has first received approval by the city manager acting upon 
the advice of the city attorney. 

 
2-7-45 Gifts to Public Officials and Public Employees. 
 
(a)  Gifts Prohibited: No city council member or appointee to a city board, commission, task 

force or similar body, or city employee,public official or public employee or relative of 
such employee or official shall accept anything of value including, without limitation, a 
gift, a favor, a discount or a promise of future employment if: 

 
(1)  The official or employee is in a position to take official action with regard to the 

donor; or 
 

(2)  The city has or is known to be likely to have a transactional, business, or 
regulatory relationship with the donor. 

 
(b)  Exceptions and Items not Considered Gifts: The following shall not be considered gifts 

for purposes of this section, and it shall not be a violation of this chapter for a person to 
accept the same: 

 
(1)  Campaign contributions as permitted by law; 

 
(2)  An unsolicited, occasional non-pecuniary gift of a maximum amount of $530.00 

or less in value. The maximum amount will be equal to the amount established by 
the state of Colorado pursuant to Colorado Constitution Article XXIX, Section 
6adjusted on January 1, 2006, and annually thereafter to reflect changes in the 
United States Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price Index for the Denver-
Boulder Consolidated Metropolitan Statistical Area for all Urban Consumers, All 
Goods, or its successor index; 

 
(3)  A gift from a relative; 

 
(4)  An award, publicly presented, in recognition of public service; 

 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  5



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(5)  Reasonable expenses paid by other governments or governmentally related 
organizations for attendance at a convention, fact-finding mission or trip, or other 
meeting if the person is scheduled to deliver a speech, make a presentation, 
participate in a panel, or represent the city provided that if travel expenses are 
paid: 

 
(A)  The travel is for a legitimate city purpose;  

 
(B)  The travel arrangements are appropriate to that purpose;  

 
(C)  The expenses paid are for a time period that is no longer than reasonably 

necessary to accomplish the business that is its purpose; 
 

(D)  The public official or public employee who will be traveling is not 
currently, was not in the recent past, and will not in the reasonably 
foreseeable future, be in a position to take direct official action with 
respect to the donor;  

 
(E) Prior to travelling, the public official informs the city council or the 

employee informs the city manager of the name of the party paying for the 
travel expenses and the reason for the travel;  and  

 
(F)  After completing the travel, the public official reports compliance of the 

first four conditions to the city council and the public employee reports 
compliance with the first four conditions to the city manager. 

 
(6)  Items which are similarly available to all employees of the city or to the general 

public on the same terms and conditions; and 
 

(7)  A single unsolicited ticket given to a city council member and valued at not in 
excess of $150.00 to attend events open to the public on behalf of the city, such as 
awards dinners, nonprofit organization banquets and seminars, provided that: 

 
(A)  The ticket is offered only to the council member and has no resale value; 

and 
 

(B)  The ticket is not offered by a commercial vendor who sells or wishes to 
sell services or products to the city; and 

 
(C)  The ticket is not for a sporting event 
 

(8) A single unsolicited ticket given to a council member and valued at not in excess 
of $150.00 in each calendar year to attend a sporting event, concert or other event 
provided by a governmental entity or nonprofit organization, if the event is 
sponsored by the governmental entity or nonprofit organization, and the purpose 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  6



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

of attending the event is to promote the relationship between the city and the other 
governmental entity or nonprofit organization. 

 
 
2-7-65 Prior Employment, Outside Employment, and Subsequent Employment. 
 
(a) Prior Employment: No person shall be disqualified from service with the city as an public 

official or public employee solely because of his or her prior employment. Public 
Oofficials and public employees shall not take officialany action with respect to their 
former employers for a period of six months from the date of termination of the prior 
employment if such action involves an exercise of discretion by the public official or 
public employee and provides direct benefit to the prior employer, including but not 
limited to a contract, lease, employment or regulatory approval . 

 
(b)  Disclosure of Employment and Other Business Activities: All officials and public 

employees, other than elected officials, shall report existing or proposed outside 
employment or other outside business interests that may affect their responsibilities to the 
city in writing to their appointing authorities prior to being appointed or hired. After 
being appointed or hired, all such people shall report any changes of employment or 
changes to outside business interests that may affect the person's responsibilities to the 
city, within thirty days after accepting the same. An employee that has received 
permission from the city manager may engage in outside employment or outside business 
interests. 

 
(c)  Disclosure by Public Officials City Council Members: Public Officials Members of the 

city council shall report any change in their employment status that could give rise to a 
conflict of interest under this chapter. 

 
(d)  Activities That Occur After Termination of Employment or Office: No former public 

official or public employee shall seek or obtain employment concerning matters upon 
which he or she took anyofficial action during his or her service with the city for six 
months following termination of office or employment if such action, occurred less than 
four years prior to seeking or obtaining employment, involved an exercise of discretion 
by the public official or public employee and provided direct  benefit to the employer, 
including but not limited to a contract, lease, employment or regulatory approval. This 
provision may be waived by the city council or the city manager. 

 
(e)  Participation of Former Officials or Employees: No former public official or public 

employee shall appear before, or participate in, a city board, commission, task force or 
similar body on which he or she was a member or served directly as an employee 
concerning any matter or on which he or she took official action during his or her service 
with the city for twelve months following termination of office or employment. This 
prohibition may be waived by the city council by appointment or vote. This prohibition 
shall not apply to persons who appear before the city in their capacity as an elected 
official following termination of their office or employment with the city. 

 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  7



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(f)  Participation in Litigation After Termination: No former public official shall engage in 
any action or litigation in which the city is involved on behalf of any other person or 
entity, if the action or litigation involves a matter upon which the person took official 
action during his or her service with the city for twelve months following termination of 
service with the city. 

 
 
2-7-76 Employment of Relatives. 
 
(a)  No public official or public employee shall appoint, hire, or advocate the appointment or 

hiring by the city any person who is his or her relative. In the event that an employee is 
concerned that the employee's decision to appoint, hire or advocate the appointment or 
hiring by the city a person who is the employee's relative may cause an appearance of 
violating this section, the employee may request that the city manager make such 
decision on the employee's behalf. Council-appointed officers may request the city 
council to make such an appointment or hiring decision on their behalf. 

 
(b)  The city may enter into transactions with companies, corporations or other business 

organizations that employ a relative of a city public official or public employee, provided 
that: 

 
(1) The public official or public employee does not participate in the decision making 

that leads to hiring the company, corporation, or other business organization that 
employs his or her relative; or 

 
(2) The business organization is a publicly-traded corporation that provides its 

services or products to the city on nondiscriminatory terms justified by the market 
facts and circumstances of each transaction; or 

 
(3)  The company, corporation, or business organization has been doing business with 

the city for at least one year prior to the date the city official's or employee's 
relative became employed by the company, corporation or other business 
organization, and the city official's or employee's relative is not directly employed 
upon matters involving the city and does not have his or her compensation tied in 
any manner to the success of the company, corporation, or other business 
organization, or its ability to obtain business or earn compensation from the city. 

 
2-7-87 Representing Others Before the City Prohibited. 
 
(a)  City Council Members Barred From Representing Others: No city council member shall 

appear on behalf of himself or herself, or another person, before the city council or any 
city board, commission, task force or similar body. A city council member may be 
affiliated with a firm appearing on behalf of or employed by another person concerning 
any transaction with the city before such a body if the council member discloses the 
situation and recuses himself or herself pursuant to section 2-7-10, "Disclosure and 
Recusal Procedure," B.R.C. 1981.  This prohibition shall not apply when a city council 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  8



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

member is appointed by a majority vote of the council to represent the council before a 
board or commission. 

 
(b)  Board, Commission or Task Force Members Barred From Representing Others: An 

appointee to a city board, commission, task force or similar body may appear or be 
affiliated with a firm appearing concerning any transaction with the city under the 
following circumstances: 

 
(1)  An appointee may appear on his or her own behalf before the body of which he or 

she is a member to represent his or her personal interests, if the appointee 
discloses the situation and recuses himself or herself pursuant to section 2-7-10, 
"Disclosure and Recusal Procedure," B.R.C. 1981, or before the city council; 

 
(2)  An appointee may appear on behalf of another person before any city body except 

the city council or the body of which the appointee is a member, except with 
respect to a matter that has or may come before the board or commission on 
which he or she serves; 

 
(3)  A firm with which an appointee is affiliated may not appear on behalf of or be 

employed by another person concerning any transaction before the body of which 
the appointee is a member unless the appointee discloses the situation and recuses 
himself or herself pursuant to Section 2-7-10, "Disclosure and Recusal 
Procedure," B.R.C. 1981. 

 
(c)  City Public Employees Barred From Representing Others: No publiccity employee shall 

appear on behalf of or be employed by another person concerning any transaction with 
the city or before the city council or any city board, commission, task force or similar 
body. An public employee may appear before such a body on his or her own behalf or on 
behalf of such employee's spouse, parent, or child. Nothing in this chapter shall be 
deemed to prohibit the city manager from establishing additional policies and regulations 
to prevent conflicts of interest between city public employees and the city. 

 
(d)  City Council Members and Municipal Court: No city council member who is an attorney 

shall appear on behalf of or be employed by another person or be affiliated with a firm 
appearing on behalf of or employed by another person concerning any matter before the 
municipal court. 

 
(e) CityPublic Employees and Municipal Court: No citypublic employee who is an attorney 

shall appear on behalf of or be employed by another person or be affiliated with a firm 
that appears on behalf of or is employed by another person concerning any matter before 
the municipal court. A non-attorney employee may appear before the municipal court on 
his or her own behalf, and an employee other than a municipal court judge may appear on 
behalf of such employee's spouse, parent, or child to the extent otherwise allowed by law. 
This authority is intended to allow employees to assist family members in matters before 
the municipal court to the extent permitted by law but not to promote the unauthorized 
practice of law. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  9



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
(f)  Board, Commission, or Task Force Member and Municipal Court: An appointee to a city 

board, commission, task force or similar body may appear before the municipal court and 
may be affiliated with a firm appearing before the municipal court. 

 
(g)  Consent to Sue: No public officialcity council member or appointee to any city board, 

commission, task force or similar body shall be a party or by himself or herself or as an 
affiliate of a firm appear on behalf of a party in a civil law suit in which the city is an 
adverse party, unless the public officialmember or appointee first obtains the consent of 
the city council. 

 
2-7-98 Appearances of Impropriety DiscouragedExpectations. 
 
(a)  These expectationsguidelines are intended to establish ethical standardsgoals and 

principles to guidehelp public officials and public employeescity council members, 
employees, and appointees to a city board, commission, task force or similar body in the 
execution of their offices in a manner that will reflect well on the city and promote to 
determine if their actions may cause an appearance of impropriety that will undermine 
the public's trust in local government. 

 
(b)  Violations of this section shall not constitute a violation of this chapter. Compliance with 

this section will not constitute a defense for violation of another subsection or section of 
this chapter.  Violation of this section may be considered as the basis for censure of a 
public official, or in the most serious cases, removal of a board or commission member.  
Violation of this section may be the basis of disciplinary action, or in the most serious 
cases, termination of a public employee.   

 
(c) A public officialcity council member, employee, or appointee to a city board, 

commission, task force or similar body who determines that his or her actions may be 
considered to be in violation of this sectioncause an appearance of impropriety should 
consider disclosure and discussion of the potential violation in a public meeting before 
the council, board, commission, task force or similar body on which the person serves. 

 
(d)   A public official whose participation in a matter would violate this section shall , but is 

not required to, disclose and recuse herself or himself as prescribed by section 2-7-910, 
"Disclosure and Recusal Procedure," B.R.C. 1981., in the following circumstances: 

 
(1)  If the person is an employee of a state or federal government entity with a substantial 

interest in any transaction with the city; 
 
(2)  If the person has a close friend with a substantial interest in any transaction with the city, 

and the council member, appointee, or employee believes that the friendship would 
prevent such person from acting impartially with regard to the particular transaction; 

 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  10



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(3)  If the person has an interest in any transaction with the city that is personal or private in 
nature that would cause a reasonable person in the community to question the objectivity 
of the city council member, employee, or appointee to a city board, or commission; 

 
(4)  If the person is called upon to act in a quasi-judicial capacity in a decision regarding any 

of the situations described in paragraphs (c)(1), (c)(2), and (c)(3) of this section; or 
 
(5) If the person owns or leases real property within six hundred feet from a parcel of property 

that is the subject of a transaction with the City upon which he or she must make a 
decision, and is not required to receive official notice of a quasi-judicial action of the 
City. 

 
(e)   A public official or public employee shall: 
 

(1)  Strive at all times to serve the best interests of the city regardless of his or her 
personal interest. 

 
(2)   Perform duties with honesty, care, diligence, professionalism, impartiality and 

integrity. 
 

(3)  Strive for the highest ethical standards to sustain the trust and confidence of the 
public they serve, not just the minimum required to meet legal or procedural 
requirements. 

 
(4)  Use sound judgment to make the best possible decisions for the city, taking into 

consideration all available information, circumstances and resources. 
 

(5)  Act within the boundaries of his or her authority as defined by the city charter and 
code. 

 
(6) Treat colleagues and members of the public professionally and with courtesy. 

 
(7) Disclose personal or professional relationships with any company or individual 

who has or is seeking to have a business relationship with the city, if the official 
or employee has any authority to exercise discretion over the business 
relationship. 

 
(8) Disclose any benefit he or she will receive from any matter requiring the exercise 

of discretion by the officer or employee. 
 

(9)   Use city resources, facilities and equipment only for city purposes, except for 
reasonable incidental personal use that does not interfere with city business. 

 
(10)  Disclose waste, fraud, abuse and corruption to appropriate authorities. 

 
(f)  A public official or public employee shall not: 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  11



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
(1)  Advocate or support any action or activity that violates a law or regulatory 

requirement. 
 

(2)  Use his or her position or decision-making authority for his or her benefit. 
 

(3)  Expend city funds for his or her personal use or benefit. 
 

(4) Misrepresent known facts in any issue involving city business. 
 

(5)  Exercise authority or discretion in any matter in which he or she will benefit as a 
result of that exercise of authority or discretion. 

 
(6)  Use city resources, facilities or equipment for personal profit, for outside business 

interests or to access any inappropriate material, except if viewing such material 
is a necessary and proper part of their duties.   

 
(7) Participate in any decision to appoint, hire, promote, discipline or discharge a 

relative for any position with the city. 
 

(8)  Supervise a relative in the performance of the relative’s official powers or duties. 
 

(9)  Compel or induce a subordinate municipal officer or employee to make, or 
promise to make, any political contribution, whether by gift of money, service or 
other thing of value. 

 
(10)   Act or decline to act in relation to appointing, hiring or promoting, discharging, 

disciplining, or in any manner changing the official rank, status or compensation 
of any employee, or an applicant for a position, including appointment to a board 
or commission, on the basis of the giving or withholding or neglecting to make 
any contribution of money or service or any other valuable thing for any political 
purpose. 

 
(11)  Solicit or accept anything of value from anyone doing business with the city. 

 
(12)  Solicit or accept employment from anyone doing business with the city, unless the 

official or employee completely withdraws from city activity regarding the party 
offering employment and the withdrawal is approved by the city council for 
members of the council, boards or commissions and by the city manager for 
employees.  

 
(13)  Use his or her public position to obtain a benefit for the official or employee, a 

family member, or anyone with whom the official or employee has a business or 
employment relationship. 

 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  12



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(14)  Vote, authorize, recommend, or in any other way use his or her position to secure 
approval of a contract (including employment or personal services) in which the 
official or employee, a family member, or anyone with whom the official or 
employee has a business or employment relationship, has an interest. 

 
(15)  Use, or authorize the use of, his or her title, the name “City of Boulder,” or the 

city’s logo in a manner that suggests impropriety, favoritism, or bias by the city or 
the official or employee. 

 
(16)  Use, or authorize the use of, his or her title, the name “City of Boulder,” or the 

city’s logo in a manner that suggests or implies that the city supports or opposes a 
candidate or ballot measure, except that public officials may identify themselves 
and their position as public officials supporting or opposing candidates or ballot 
measures.    

 
(17)  Use, or authorize the use of, his or her title, the name “City of Boulder,” or the 

city’s logo in for personal profit or advantage. 
 

(18)  Use city resources, facilities or equipment to support or oppose any political 
candidate or ballot measure.   

 
2-7-910 Disclosure and Recusal Procedure. 
 
(a) Disclosure and Recusal: No person with an conflict of interest prohibited pursuant to 

subsection 2-7-2(a), B.R.C. 1981, and no person described in subsection 2-7-78(a) or (b), 
B.R.C. 1981, shall fail to give written notice of the interest described in such section or 
subsection to the city council or the city board, commission, task force or similar body of 
which the person is a member and the city manager as soon as reasonably possible after 
the interest has arisen. However, no written notice is required if such person discloses the 
conflict of interest on the record of a public meeting of the city council or the city board, 
commission, task force or similar body of which the person is a member. The interested 
council member, employee, or appointee shall thereafter: 

… 
 
2-7-101 Enforcement. 
 
… 
 
2-7-112 Sanctions and Remedies for Violation. 
 
… 
 
(c)  Sanction Recommendations: If the party conducting an investigation pursuant to section 

2-7-101, "Enforcement," B.R.C. 1981, finds that a city council member or an appointee 
to a city board, commission, task force or similar body, or employee has violated any 
provision of this chapter, the investigator shall provide its findings and recommendations 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  13



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

to the city manager or city council, as appropriate, who or which in turn may take any of 
the following actions: 

 
(1)  In the case of a city council member, a motion of censure; 

 
(2)  In the case of a city public employee, a motion for censure or a recommendation 

that the employee's appointing authority consider disciplining or discharging the 
employee; 

 
(3)  In the case of a member of a board or commission rRemoval as provided in 

subsection (b) of this section; or 
 
(4)  As an alternative or in addition to the sanctions imposed herein, the city council 

may resolve that any person or entity causing, inducing, or soliciting a public 
official or public employee to violate this chapter may not be involved in any 
transaction with the City, including but not limited to the award of any city 
contract, grant, loan or any other thing of value for a period of twelve months or 
that any such contract, grant, loan or thing of value be terminated, repaid or 
forfeited.  

 
(d)  Civil Remedies: Any person incurring actual monetary damage as a direct and proximate 

result of a violation of section 2-7-2, “Prohibited Acts,” B.R.C. 1981 or section 2-7-3, 
“Duty to Maintain the Confidentiality of Privileged Information,” B.R.C. 1981 affected 
by a city transaction may commence a civil action in the District Court in and for the 
County of Boulder for equitable relief to enforce the provisions of this chapter upon a 
showing of willful violation of any provision of this chapter. Before filing such an action, 
the person shall present the claim to the city attorney to investigate in accordance with 
subsection 2-7-11(c), B.R.C. 1981. The city attorney or appointed special council shall 
have sixty days to act thereon. No civil action in district court pursuant to this subsection 
may be commenced later than twelve months after a violation of this chapter is alleged to 
have occurred. 

 
(e)  Criminal Sanctions: The city attorney, or special counsel authorized to act on behalf of 

the city attorney, acting on behalf of the people of the City, may prosecute any violation 
of section 2-7-2, “Prohibited Acts,” B.R.C. 1981 or section 2-7-3, “Duty to Maintain the 
Confidentiality of Privileged Information,” B.R.C. 1981 this chapter in municipal court in 
the same manner that other municipal offenses are prosecuted. 

 
(f)  Defense: It shall be a defense to any charge of a violation of this chapter if the city 

council member, employee, or appointee to a city board, commission, task force or 
similar body obtained an advisory opinion pursuant to section 2-7-13, "Advisory 
Opinions and Outside Counsel Appointment," B.R.C. 1981, and was acting in accordance 
with the advice provided thereby. 

 
2-7-132 Advisory Opinions and Outside Counsel AppointmentRole of the City Attorney. 
 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  14



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(a)  City Attorney to Provide Advisory Opinions: Any city council member, employee, or 
appointee to a city board, commission, task force or similar body may request an advisory 
opinion of the city attorney whenever a question arises as to the applicability of this 
chapter to a particular situation. The city attorney's advisory opinion may provide a 
specific defense from prosecution as set forth in section 2-7-12, "Sanctions And 
Remedies For Violation," B.R.C. 1981. 

 
(b)  Appointment of Outside Counsel: If the city attorney has a conflict of interest or a matter 

arise in which the city attorney believes that a reasonable person would question his or 
her objectivitya significant controversy arises under this chapter, the city attorney 
shallmay appoint a neutral outside counsel to assist in resolvinginvestigate the issue and 
make a recommendation. 

 
2-7-143 Exemptions From Chapter. 
 
… 
 
2-7-14 Definitions 
 
“Benefit” shall mean anything of value accruing to an official or employee.  A benefit shall not 
include any situation in which the official, employee or family member has only a remote 
interest. An official or employee is deemed to have received a benefit if any of the following 
receive a benefit: 
 

(1) A Family Member;  
 
(2) Any person or business entity with whom a contractual relationship exists with the 

official or employee;  
 
(3) Any business entity in which the official or employee is an officer or director; or 
 
(4) Any business entity in which the official or employee has a stock, legal ownership, or 

beneficial ownership of at least five (5) percent of the total stock or total legal and beneficial 
ownership, or which is controlled or owned directly or indirectly by the official or employee. 
 
“Family Member” shall mean a spouse, domesti c partner, partner in a civil union, child, and 
whether related through adoption or marriage, a parent, brother or sister. 
 
“Public Official” shall mean any elected or appointed city official, including city council 
members and members of boards and commissions. 
 
“Remote Interest” shall mean any interest which is incidental to the contract or 
transaction and shall include:  
 

(1) A position as a non-salaried director, officer or employee of a non-profit 
corporation or organization; 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  15



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
(2) Less than five (5) percent of the total stock or total legal and beneficial ownership in a 

business entity; 
 
(3) A position of employment held by a family member which is not a director, officer, 

manager or supervisor in a business entity; 
 
(4) A position of employment held by a family member which does not directly exercise 

decision making authority affecting the contract or transaction; or 
 

(5) A position in a representative capacity such as a receiver, trustee or administrator. 
 
2-7-15 Definitions. Examples of Violations 
 
The examples in this paragraph are intended to provide guidance for the implementation of these 
rules.  These are examples only; behavior not listed here also can violate these rules.   
 
The following acts would constitute a violation of this chapter: 
 
(a)   A person lies to a constituent in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(4), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(b)   A person favors a personal friend when awarding a city contract in violation of paragraph 

2-7-8(f)(13), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(c) A person is rude to a constituent in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(e)(2), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(c)   A person fails to disclose a professional relationship with a firm seeking to do business 

with the city in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(e)(7), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(d)   A person fails to disclose owning stock in a company involved in a matter that requires 

the exercise of discretion by the person in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(e)(8), B.R.C. 
1981. 

 
(e)   A person uses a city computer to operate a personal business in violation of paragraph 2-

7-8(e)(11), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(f)   A person uses a city phone for a political campaign in violation of paragraph 2-7-

8(f)(18), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(g)   A person fails to disclose fraud by a public employee in violation of paragraph 2-7-

8(e)(10), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(h)  A person arranges a repaving project that benefits his or her neighborhood in violation of 

paragraph 2-7-8(f)(2), B.R.C. 1981. 
 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  16



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(i)   A council member participates in a decision that affects the value of his or her real 
property in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(2), B.R.C. 1981. 

 
(j)   A person uses city photocopies machines to make 100 flyers to advertise a personal 

business paragraph 2-7-8(f)(3), B.R.C. 1981. 
(k) A person travelling on business uses city funds to purchase an expensive dinner in 

violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(3), B.R.C. 1981. 
(k)   A person makes verbal attacks against someone who contacted the city for information in 

violation of paragraph 2-7-8(e)(2), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(l)    A person recommends that his or her department hire his or her niece in violation of 

paragraph 2-7-8(f)(7), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(m)    A person supervises his or her spouse in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(8), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(n)    A council member seeks a campaign contribution from a public employee in violation of 

paragraph 2-7-8(f)(9), B.R.C. 1981 . 
 
(o)   A supervisor encourages employees to attend a campaign fundraiser for a council 

member in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(9), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(p)   A supervisor implicitly requires an employee to make a campaign contribution as a 

condition of receiving a positive evaluation in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(9), B.R.C. 
1981. 

 
(q)   A person accepts a lunch from a person seeking to do business with the city in violation 

of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(11), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(r)   A person seeks employment with a contractor whom the person previously hired to work 

for the city in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(12), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(s)   A person obtains an internship for his or her son with a company doing business with the 

city in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(13), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(t)   A board member who is an architect participates in a decision in which his or her firm 

represents the applicant in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(5), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(u)   A board member who is an attorney participates in a decision in which his or her firm 

represents a party to the transaction being considered in violation of paragraph 2-7-
8(f)(5), B.R.C. 1981. 

 
(v)   A person endorses a business using his or her city title in violation of paragraph 2-7-

8(f)(15), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(w)   A board member allows his or her name and title to be used in campaign literature 

supporting a candidate in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(16), B.R.C. 1981. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  17



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
(w)   A person solicits work for his or her off-duty business, by advertising his or her work as a 

city of Boulder employee in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(20), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(x)   A council member solicits business by relying upon his or her position as a city council 

member in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(20), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
 
2-7-15 Definitions. 
… 
 
"Conflict of interest" shall mean any situation in which a city council member, an appointee to a 
city board, commission, task force or similar body, or a city employee: 
 
(a) Has a substantial interest in any transaction with the City; 
 
(b) Has a relative with a substantial interest in any transaction with the City; 
 
(c) Has a substantial interest as an affiliate of a firm with a substantial interest in any transaction 
with the City; 
 
(d) Has a substantial interest as an affiliate of a firm appearing on behalf of or employed by a 
person with a substantial interest in any transaction with the City; 
 
(e) Is an officer of an organization that has taken an official position on any transaction with the 
City, unless service on the board of the organization is required by city code, rule or contract; 
 
(f) Is on the board of directors of an organization that is substantially affected by a transaction 
with the City, unless service on the board of the organization is required by city code, rule or 
contract; 
 
(g) Is affiliated with a law, accounting, planning, or other professional firm that has substantial 
interest in any transaction with the City; or 
 
(h) Is required to receive official notice of a quasi-judicial action from the City. 
 
… 
 
"Substantial interest" means a situation, including, without limitation, a financial stake in the 
outcome of a decision in which, considering all of the circumstances, would tend to influence the 
decision of a reasonable person faced with making the same decision. 
 
"Transaction" means a contract of any kind; any sale or lease of any interest in land, material, 
supplies, or services; or any granting of a development right, any planning, zoning or land use or 
review process that may precede granting of a development right, license, permit, or application. 
A transaction does not include any decision which is legislative in nature that affects the entire 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  18



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

membership of a class or a significant segment of the community in the same manner as the 
affected official or employee. 
 
 Section 2.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

 Section 3.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

 INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 21st day of January, 2014. 

 
 
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk  
 

READ ON SECOND READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY 

this 18th day of November, 2014. 

 
      
       Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  19



  

 
 
K:\ccco\o-7957-3rd-yco.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 READ ON THIRD READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of December, 2014. 

 
      
       Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  20



 
 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: November 18, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Continued Second Reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only Ordinance No. 7957 amending Title 2, “Government 
Administration,” Chapter 7, “Code Of Conduct,” B.R.C. 1981 and setting forth related 
details. 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Tom Carr, City Attorney  
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney  
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
On January 21, 2014, council considered and passed on first reading extensive proposed 
changes to the city’s code of conduct.  These changes were developed based on council 
direction given at study sessions on October 9 and October 23, 2012.  Council made no 
changes on first reading.  After first reading, Council Members Matthew Appelbaum and 
Macon Cowles posted questions on the council hotline.  The second reading 
memorandum addressed those questions (Attachment B).  On February 18, 2014, Council 
considered the proposed ordinance on second reading.  Staff requested Council direction 
on thirteen questions.  Council provided direction on each issue and directed staff to 
modify the ordinance and bring a proposed revised ordinance back for a continued 
second reading.   The questions and council direction were recorded in the council 
minutes. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests Council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to approve on second reading Ordinance No. 7957 amending Title 2, 
“Government Administration,” Chapter 7, “Code Of Conduct,” B.R.C. 1981. 

Attachment B - 2nd Reading Agenda Memo for November 18 Meeting

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  21

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/124466/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/125136/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/125136/Electronic.aspx


 
 

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Economic:  

None identified. 

 Environmental: 
None identified 

 Social: 
Boulder’s community values support an honest, ethical and transparent local 
government.  The intent of the proposed ordinance is to revise the city’s ethics code 
to be more accessible through clarity.  The proposed ordinance would strengthen the 
sanctions for dishonest behavior, while at the same time clarifying what is acceptable 
and appropriate behavior for city elected officials, employees and appointed 
volunteers. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS  
 Fiscal: 

None identified. 

 Staff Time: 
None identified. 

 
BACKGROUND 
At the February 18, 2014 council meeting staff posed thirteen questions to council.  
Council provided feedback on each of the questions as well as other issues identified by 
council members. The proposed ordinance includes changes to address feedback from 
council.  The following section includes each question, a summary of Council’s direction 
and the proposed ordinance language.1 

 
ANALYSIS 
 

1. Should discounts be included expressly as gifts?   
 
 The code does not currently expressly include a discount as a gift.  Council 
members agreed that discounts should be included.  The proposed change in Section 2-7-
4(a) is as follows: 
 
(a)  Gifts Prohibited: No public official or public employee or relative of such 

employee or official shall accept anything of value including, without limitation, a 
gift, a favor, a discount or a promise of future employment if: 

 
2. Should Council be informed before a member takes paid travel? 

 
 Council members supported a provision requiring council members to inform the 
Council before the member accepts paid travel.   This change allows for additional 

                                                           
1 The quotations included in this memorandum include only the changes made on continued second 
reading.  The proposed ordinance includes all changes from the existing code. 

Attachment B - 2nd Reading Agenda Memo for November 18 Meeting

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  22



 
 

transparency in light of another proposed change to remove the restriction that previously 
allowed travel to be paid only by governments or governmentally related organizations.  
The purpose of the disclosure would be to allow the Council to identify potential issues 
associated with certain paid travel.  The Council recognized, however, that it is not 
always practical for a member to provide notification before travelling, because many 
trips are arranged with relatively short notice.  Council also recognized that this 
information could be provided to other members outside of a scheduled meeting, by 
posting a message on the council “hotline.”  This requirement also applies to members of 
boards and commissions.  The provision requires only that the member “inform” the 
council.  There is no requirement that council approve the travel, which would require a 
council meeting.   
 

3. Should city officials be permitted to accept paid travel from for-profit 
corporations? 

 
Staff’s original recommendation was to expand paid travel only to include travel 

paid for by not-for-profit corporations.  Council recognized, however, that the tax status 
of a corporation was not necessarily related to whether it would be appropriate for the 
organization to pay for travel.  The proposed ordinance instead includes other practical 
restrictions on travel that do not relate to the benefactor’s tax status.  The travel 
provision, revised to reflect Council direction in response to questions two and three is in 
Section 2-7-4(b)(5) as follows: 
 
(5)  Reasonable expenses paid for by other governments or governmentally-related 

organizations for attendance at a convention, fact-finding mission or trip, or 
other meeting if the person is scheduled to deliver a speech, make a presentation, 
participate in a panel, or represent the city provided that if travel expenses are 
paid: 

 
(A)  The travel is for a legitimate city purpose;  
 
(B)  The travel arrangements are appropriate to that purpose;  
 
(C)  The expenses paid are for a time period that is no longer than reasonably 

necessary to accomplish the business that is its purpose; 
 
(D)  The public official or public employee who will be traveling is not 

currently, was not in the recent past, and will not in the reasonably 
foreseeable future, be in a position to take direct official action with 
respect to the donor;  

 
(E) Prior to travelling, if practicable, the public official informs the city 

council or the employee informs the city manager of the name of the party 
paying for the travel expenses and the reason for the travel;  and  

 

Attachment B - 2nd Reading Agenda Memo for November 18 Meeting

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  23



 
 

(F)  After completing the travel, the public official reports compliance of the 
first four conditions to the city council and the public employee reports 
compliance with the first four conditions to the city manager. 

 
4. Should there be a time limitation on the exclusion from future 

employment because a council member or staff member took “official 
action” relating to the potential employer. 

 
 Council members expressed concern that an action taken many years previously 
could preclude a person from accepting employment.  There also was concern that the 
term “official action” is vague and could be read to encompass a broad range of activities 
that should not bar future employment.  Council directed staff to propose time limits both 
associated with how long an action should disqualify a person from seeking employment 
and how long after leaving the city a person should be disqualified.   
 

5. Should the prohibition on employment be longer than six months? 
 
 Council members did not express support for extending the prohibition on future 
employment beyond six months.  Council also directed staff to limit the scope of the 
activities that would result in a prohibition on future employment to areas in which the 
official or employee exercised some level of discretion.   
 
The proposed revised language addressing Council’s responses to questions four and five 
is in Section 2-7-5(d) as follows: 
 
(d)  Activities That Occur After Termination of Employment or Office: No former 

public official or public employee shall seek or obtain employment concerning 
matters upon which he or she took any official action during his or her service 
with the city for six months following termination of office or employment if such 
action, occurred less than four years prior to seeking or obtaining employment, 
involved an exercise of discretion by the public official or public employee and 
provided direct  benefit to the employer, including but not limited to a contract, 
lease, employment or regulatory approval. This provision may be waived by the 
city council or the city manager. 

 
6. Should the prohibition on suing the city exclude certain types of 

litigation? 
 
Council members expressed concern that the provision prohibited a council 

member or member of a board or commission from suing the city as a party to litigation.  
Council directed staff to remove that prohibition, but to retain the prohibition on acting as 
an attorney suing the city.  The revised provision is in section 2-7-7(g) as follows: 

 
(g)  Consent to Sue: No public official shall be a party or by himself or herself or as 

an affiliate of a firm appear on behalf of a party in a civil law suit in which the 
city is an adverse party, unless the public official first obtains the consent of the 
city council. 

Attachment B - 2nd Reading Agenda Memo for November 18 Meeting

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  24



 
 

 
7. Should the code clarify the meaning of direct and indirect benefits? 
 
Council members expressed concern that the term “indirect benefit” was too 

amorphous to allow for clear decision-making.  Council directed staff to redraft Section 
2-7-8(e)(8) to clarify the requirement.  Staff proposes simplifying the proposed section to 
clarify that a person must disclose any benefit that he or she will receive from a matter 
requiring the exercise of his or her discretion.  Staff also proposes that the code include a 
definition of “benefit.”  The proposed redrafted Section 2-7-8(e)(8) and the new Section 
2-7-14, which includes definitions of “benefit” and related terms are as follows: 
 
(8) Disclose any direct or indirect financial or material benefit to himself or herself, 

a relative, or any private organization in which he or she is deemed to have an 
interest in he or she will receive from any matter requiring the exercise of 
discretion by the officer or employee.  

 
* * * 

 
“Benefit” shall mean anything of value accruing to an official or employee.  A benefit 
shall not include any situation in which the official or employee has only a remote 
interest. An official or employee is deemed to have received a benefit if any of the 
following receive a benefit: 
 

(1) A Family Member;  
 
(2) Any person or business entity with whom a contractual relationship exists with 

the official or employee;  
 
(3) Any business entity in which the official or employee is an officer or director; 

or 
 
(4) Any business entity in which the official or employee has a stock, legal 

ownership, or beneficial ownership of at least five (5) percent of the total stock or total 
legal and beneficial ownership, or which is controlled or owned directly or indirectly by 
the official or employee. 
 
“Family Member” shall mean a spouse, domestic partner, partner in a civil union, child, 
and whether related through adoption or marriage, a parent, brother or sister. 
 
“Public Official” shall mean any elected or appointed city official, including city council 
members and members of boards and commissions. 
 
“Remote Interest” shall mean any interest which is incidental to the contract or 
transaction and shall include:  
 

(1) A position as a non-salaried director, officer or employee of a non-profit 
corporation or organization; 

Attachment B - 2nd Reading Agenda Memo for November 18 Meeting

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  25



 
 

 
(2) Less than five (5) percent of the total stock or total legal and beneficial 

ownership in a business entity; 
 
(3) A position of employment held by a family member which is not a director, 

officer, manager or supervisor in a business entity; 
 
(4) A position of employment held by a family member which does not directly 

exercise decision making authority affecting the contract or transaction; or 
 

(5) A position in a representative capacity such as a receiver, trustee or 
administrator. 
 

8. Should the code include a prohibition on solicitation of employment? 
 
 The original proposed provision required disclosure of solicitation or acceptance 
of employment and approval by Council or the City Manager.  Council expressed 
concern that a person might not be comfortable with disclosing the fact that he or she is 
looking for employment.  Staff recommends, based on Council’s discussion that the 
provision requiring approval be deleted.  An individual would be required to withdraw 
from any activity relating to the potential employer.  The proposed language in Section 2-
7-8(f)(12) is as follows: 
 
(12)  Solicit or accept employment from anyone doing business with the city, unless the  

official or employee completely withdraws from city activity regarding the party 
offering employment and the withdrawal is approved by the city council for 
members of the council, boards or commissions and by the city manager for 
employees.  

 
9. Should the code discourage rudeness to constituents? 

  
 Council expressed concern that that example involving rudeness was vague and 
could lead to potential city liability.  Staff agrees and proposes eliminating this example, 
which was found in section 2-7-15(c).  In addition, Council noted the scope of the civil 
remedies in section 2-7-11(d).  Staff recommends that civil remedies be limited to 
individuals who have suffered actual monetary damages as a result of either a prohibited 
act or the release of confidential information.   The proposed revisions to sections 2-7-
11(d) are as follows: 
 
(d)  Civil Remedies: Any person incurring actual monetary damage as a direct and 

proximate result of a violation of section 2-7-2, “Prohibited Acts,” B.R.C. 1981 
or section 2-7-3, “Duty to Maintain the Confidentiality of Privileged 
Information,” B.R.C. 1981 affected by a city transaction may commence a civil 
action in the District Court in and for the County of Boulder for equitable relief to 
enforce the provisions of this chapter upon a showing of willful violation of any 
provision of this chapter. Before filing such an action, the person shall present the 
claim to the city attorney to investigate in accordance with subsection 2-7-11(c), 

Attachment B - 2nd Reading Agenda Memo for November 18 Meeting

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  26



 
 

B.R.C. 1981. The city attorney or appointed special council shall have sixty days 
to act thereon. No civil action in district court pursuant to this subsection may be 
commenced later than twelve months after a violation of this chapter is alleged to 
have occurred.  

 
10. Should the code prohibit the use of a city cell phone for campaign 

activities? 
 

City policy and state law prohibits the use of a city cell phone for campaign 
purposes.  Staff recommends no change to section 2-7-15(g). 
 

11. Is buying an expensive dinner using city funds for personal benefit? 
 
 Council members noted that the term “expensive” is very subjective and that the 
city has per diem limits that regulate effectively spending on travel.  Staff recommends 
deletion of section 2-7-15(k) 
 

12. Should the code exempt certain meals from the gift prohibition? 
 
 Council members expressed concern about the requirement in Section 2-7- 
4(b)(7) that an event be “open to the public” to qualify for the $150 exemption.  Council 
noted that there are meetings, that are important for council members to attend, that are 
not open to the public.  Staff recommends deleting the “open to the public” requirement.  
Council also supported an exemption to allow council members to accept a single ticket 
to a sporting event, concert or other event to promote the relationship between the city 
and the organization hosting the event.  The proposed revisions to Sections 2-7-4(b)(7) 
and (8) are as follows:   
 
(7)  A single unsolicited ticket given to a city council member and valued at not in 

excess of $150.00 to attend events open  to the public on behalf of the city, such as 
awards dinners, nonprofit organization banquets and seminars, provided that: 

 
(A)  The ticket is offered only to the council member and has no resale value; 

and 
 
(B)  The ticket is not offered by a commercial vendor who sells or wishes to 

sell services or products to the city; and 
 
(C) The ticket is not for a sporting event. 

 
(8) A single unsolicited ticket given to a council member and valued at not in excess 

of $150.00 in each calendar year to attend a sporting event, concert or other 
event provided by a governmental entity or nonprofit organization, if the event is 
sponsored by the governmental entity or nonprofit organization, and the purpose 
of attending the event is to promote the relationship between the city and the other 
governmental entity or nonprofit organization. 

 

Attachment B - 2nd Reading Agenda Memo for November 18 Meeting

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  27



 
 

 
13. Should board or commission members be permitted to use their title in 

endorsements? 
 
 Council directed that this prohibition be removed to allow members of boards and 
commissions to identify themselves and their title in supporting or opposing candidates or 
ballot measures.  This also requires the deletion of the example in Section 2-7-15(w).  
The revised section 2-7-8(f)(16) is as follows: 
 
(16)  Use, or authorize the use of, his or her title, the name “City of Boulder,” or the 

city’s logo in a manner that suggests or implies that the city supports or opposes 
a candidate or ballot measure, except that council members public officials may 
identify themselves and their position as individual council members public 
officials supporting or opposing candidates or ballot measures.   

 
 
Attachments 
 
Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance 
Attachment B - Second Reading Packet for February 18, 2014 Meeting 

Attachment B - 2nd Reading Agenda Memo for November 18 Meeting

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  28



 
 

Attachment C 
 

 
Amend Section 2-7-14 as follows: 
 
2-7-14 Definitions 
 
“Benefit” shall mean anything of value accruing to an official or employee.  A benefit 
shall not include any situation in which the official, employee or family member has only 
a remote interest. A benefit does not include a thing of value that accrues to the entire 
membership of a class or a significant segment of the community in a similar manner as 
the affected public official or public employee.  An official or employee is deemed to 
have received a benefit if any of the following receive a benefit: 
 

(1) A Family Member;  
 
(2) Any person or business entity with whom a contractual relationship exists with 

the official or employee;  
 
(3) Any business entity in which the official or employee is an officer or director; 

or 
 
(4) Any business entity in which the official or employee has a stock, legal 

ownership, or beneficial ownership of at least five (5) percent of the total stock or total 
legal and beneficial ownership, or which is controlled or owned directly or indirectly by 
the official or employee. 
 
 
 

 

Attachment C - Potential Amendment To Section 2-7-14

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  29



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3D 
     Page  30



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  December 2, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8014 approving 
supplemental appropriations to the 2014 Budget. 
 
Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder City Council and convene as the 
Central Area General Improvement District Board of Directors 
 
 
PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
Maria Diaz, Budget Analyst 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
As described in the Budget Philosophy and Process section of the annual budget document, each 
year at least two supplemental ordinances are presented to City Council for review and approval. 
Council receives what is usually the first ordinance, the Carryover and First Budget 
Supplemental, in April/May. In years where new initiatives are launched after annual budget 
approval (such as Recreational Marijuana and the new Transportation tax), or where other 
circumstances require (such as flood recovery), additional supplementals may be brought to 
council throughout the year. Council then receives another ordinance, usually the Final Budget 
Supplemental, in November/December. This is the final budget supplemental being presented to 
council for the 2014 budget. 
 
The supplemental ordinances adjust only the current year budget and are considered “one-time” 
adjustments. As a result, they have no direct or immediate impact on the following year’s budget. 
In contrast, the city assigns budget requests with “ongoing” or multi-year impacts only to the 
annual budget process (budget planning for the coming fiscal year) and not to either budget 
supplemental.  
 
  

Agenda Item 3E     Page  1



This packet includes budget supplemental “one-time” line items that represent new budgeted 
amounts for 2014. A proposed ordinance is provided as Attachment A to this packet. Additional 
information on different types of requests is provided under the analysis section of this memo. 
Narrative information on each supplemental request was included at first reading in the Nov. 18, 
2014 agenda, item 3G. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8014 approving supplemental appropriations to the 2014 
Budget. 
 
Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder City Council and convene as the 
Central Area General Improvement District Board of Directors. 
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
This supplemental ordinance appropriates funding for a variety of citywide projects and services 
that positively affect economic, environmental or social sustainability in the community. 
 
OTHER IMPACTS  

 Fiscal:   
In the General Fund this ordinance will appropriate $1,611,943 from additional revenue, 
$392,538 from fund balance reserves, and $2,123,721 from fund balance. It also includes 
increase in revenue only of $21,500. 

 
In restricted funds, this ordinance will appropriate $1,067,375 from additional revenue 
and $3,016,129 from fund balance. It also includes increase in revenue only of $743,343.  
 

 Staff time for this process is allocated in the Budget Division’s regular annual work plan. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 

Types of Requests 

The following requests provide examples of General Fund supplemental appropriations from 
various types of fund balance: 

 Actuarial adjustment for Police and Fire Pension plans (fund balance) 
 Allocation of Education Excise Tax dollars to educational institutions (fund balance 

reserves from restricted revenue source) 
 Costs associated with 2013 flood recovery (fund balance reserves). 

 

Agenda Item 3E     Page  2

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20141118_Agenda_Packet_web-1-201411141059.pdf
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20141118_Agenda_Packet_web-1-201411141059.pdf


The following requests provide examples of Restricted Fund supplemental appropriations from 
fund balance: 

 One-time capital costs, unknown at time of 2014 budget approval (fund balance) 
 Costs associated with 2013 flood recovery (fund balance reserves). 

 
The following requests provide examples of supplemental appropriations from new revenue: 

 Appropriation for program costs from wildland fire reimbursements (General Fund) 
 Appropriation for additional program funding from grant revenue (multiple funds). 

 
A third category of supplemental appropriation is a negative appropriation, an example of which 
is reduced appropriation due to reduced grant funding. 
 
This packet also includes appropriation requests for transfers between funds, an example of 
which is for interfund loan repayments. 
 
Finally, a number of adjustments are made in this final supplemental ordinance to meet 
accounting requirements or for interest transfers. 
 
2013 Flood 

The following supplemental requests, relating to 2013 Flood recovery work and totaling 
$1,608,000 were submitted: 

 Community Planning and Sustainability, fixed-term Flood Recovery Coordinator - 
$77,000 

 Public Works Projects Coordinator - $66,000 
 Water Utility, infrastructure repair - $765,000 
 Wastewater Utility, infrastructure repair - $700,000 

 
New revenues from city insurance proceeds of $199,145 and FEMA reimbursements of 
$1,017,625 are also included in this packet. In many cases, the recovery costs have already been 
incurred and appropriation requested from reserves, therefore as reimbursement revenues comes 
in, these revenues are simply being allocated back to the funds from which the costs were paid to 
replenish reserves, and adjustments are not needed here. In a few cases, increased appropriation 
is needed to increase budgets which had not yet been adjusted. Those adjustments relating to the 
flood reimbursement revenues are noted as Appropriation from Additional Revenue.  
 

Supplement Request Related to Sunshine Transmission Line Replacement 

During the summer of 2013 several water transmission mains experienced failures that were 
repaired and revealed the need to replace certain pipe segments sooner than anticipated. Of 
immediate concern is the 26” main between Sunshine Hydroelectric Facility and 4th & 
Mapleton. This main was installed in 1946 and carries about half of the City’s treated water on 
an annual basis. After analysis and prioritization, a parallel replacement with a new 30” line 
between 4th and Mapleton and the existing 30” line east of Sunshine Hydroelectric Facility is 
scheduled to start in December 2014. Money already budgeted in the Capital Improvement 
Program (CIP) for rehabilitation/inspection of the upper 30” section of main between the Betasso 
Water Treatment Facility and the Sunshine Hydroelectric Facility has been re-prioritized to this 
lower 26” section. Based on the engineer’s cost estimate this amount was originally thought to be 
enough to complete the work, however, the low bid came in 60 percent over the engineer’s cost 
estimate. The spread on the bids was from 60 percent over the $1,000,000 cost estimate to 150 

Agenda Item 3E     Page  3



percent over the estimate, and is indicative of the current volatility in construction pricing.  This 
adjustment to base is needed to complete this priority work, in order to then move on to work on 
the other transmission mains in need of attention in 2015 and beyond.  
 

 

Overview of Total Requests 

In common usage in city meetings and materials, the April/May and November/December 
budget supplementals are also referred to as the First Adjustment to Base and Second 
Adjustment to Base, respectively. The current year’s council-approved budget is the “base” in 
the term Adjustment to Base (ATB).  
 
In total, the city recommends $8,211,705 in appropriations, of which $2,679,318 come from new 
revenues and $5,532,388 from fund balance. The Nov. 18, 2014 agenda, item 3G includes a 
detailed narrative of each budget supplemental request in Attachment B, a summary table of the 
supplemental requests in Attachment C, and a schedule reflecting the impact of the supplemental 
appropriations for 2014 on the projected fund balance for each fund in Attachment D.  
 
PUBLIC AND COUNCIL FEEDBACK 
There were no questions from the public at this meeting. 
 
ATTACHMENT  
A. Ordinance No. 8014  relating to the supplemental appropriations to the 2014 Budget 

 

Agenda Item 3E     Page  4

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20141118_Agenda_Packet_web-1-201411141059.pdf


Attachment A 

 

ORDINANCE NO.  8014 
 

AN ORDINANCE RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL 
AFFAIRS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, 
MAKING SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATIONS FOR 
THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2014 
SETTING FORTH DETAILS IN RELATION TO THE 
FOREGOING. 

 
 
WHEREAS, Section 102 of the Charter of the City of Boulder provides that: "At 

any time after the passage of the annual appropriation ordinance and after at least one week's 

public notice, the council may transfer unused balances appropriated for one purpose to another 

purpose, and may by ordinance appropriate available revenues not included in the annual 

budget;" and 

WHEREAS, the City Council now desires to make certain supplemental 

appropriations for purposes not provided for in the 2014 annual budget; and, 

WHEREAS, required public notice has been given; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, that the following amounts are appropriated from 

additional projected revenues and from unused fund balances to the listed funds: 

 
Section 1.  General Fund 

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $2,123,721  
Appropriation from Fund Balance - Reserves 392,538 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue 1,611,943 
Increase in Revenue Only 21,500 
 
Section 2.  Capital Development Fund 

 
Increase in Revenue Only 516,550 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3E     Page  5



Attachment A 

 

 
Section 3.  Planning & Development Services 
 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue 1,500 
 

 Section 4.  .25 Cent Sales Tax Fund (1995 Ballot Issue) 
 

Appropriation from Additional Revenue 163,378 
Negative Appropriation - Additional Revenue (7,988) 
 
Section 5.  Library Fund 

 
 Appropriation from Fund Balance 1,947 
 Appropriation from Additional Revenue  94,152  
 

Section 6.  Recreation Activity Fund 
 
 Appropriation from Additional Revenue  40,480 
 
 Section 7.  Open Space Fund 
 

Appropriation from Additional Revenue 30,474 
 
Section 8.  Airport Fund 

 
 Appropriation from Fund Balance 25,000 

 
Section 9.  Transportation Fund 

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue 320,276 
Increase in Revenue Only 63,057 
 
Section 10.  Community Development Block Grant Fund 
 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue 36,531 
 
Section 11.  HOME Fund 

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue 148,752 
 
Section 12.  Boulder Junction Improvement Fund  

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue 7,805 
 
Section 13.  Water Utility Fund  

 

Agenda Item 3E     Page  6



Attachment A 

 

Appropriation from Fund Balance 1,776,000 
 
Section 14.  Wastewater Utility Fund  

 
Appropriation from Fund Balance 700,000 
 
Section 15.  Stormwater Utility Fund  

 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue 45,000 
 
Section 16.  Telecommunications Fund 
 
Appropriation from Fund Balance 18,182  
Appropriation from Additional Revenue 187,014 
Increase in Revenue Only 152,986 
 
Section 17.  Worker Compensation Insurance Fund 
 
Appropriation from Fund Balance 200,000 
 
Section 18.  Compensated Absences Fund 
 
Appropriation from Fund Balance 295,000 
 
Section 19.  Fleet Replacement Fund  

 
Increase in Revenue Only 10,750 
 
Section 20.  The City Council finds that this ordinance is necessary to protect the 

public health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the City and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 21.  If any part or parts hereof are for any reason held to be invalid, such 

shall not affect the remaining portion of this ordinance. 

Section 22.  The Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and order that copies of this ordinance be made available in the Office of the City Clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

  
  

Agenda Item 3E     Page  7



Attachment A 

 

  
INTRODUCED, READ, ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 18th day of November, 2014.  

 
 __________________________________ 
 Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk  
 
 
 
 
READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE this 2nd day of December, 2014. 

 

 __________________________________ 
 Mayor 
 
Attest: 
_______________________________ 
City Clerk  

Agenda Item 3E     Page  8



 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 

 CENTRAL AREA GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT (CAGID) 
 BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA ITEM 
 
 MEETING DATE: December 2, 2014 
  

 
AGENDA TITLE  
Consideration of a motion to adopt a resolution amending the 2014 Downtown Commercial 
District Fund (formerly CAGID Fund) Budget. 
 
Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the CAGID Board of Directors and reconvene as 
the Boulder City Council. 
 

 
 

 
PRESENTERS   
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
Maria Diaz, Budget Analyst 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY   
This budget supplemental resolution is the second to be presented to City Council in 2014 for the 
Downtown Commercial District (DCD) Fund (formerly CAGID Fund) Budget.  All 
supplementals adjust only the 2014 budget and are considered “one-time” adjustments.  As a 
result, they have no direct or immediate impact on the following year’s budget. In contrast, the 
city assigns budget requests with “ongoing” or multi-year impacts only to the annual budget 
process (budget planning for the coming fiscal year) and not to the budget supplemental 
resolution. 
 

A proposed resolution is provided as Attachment A to this packet. The resolution contains a 
request for supplemental appropriations from fund balance. A detailed description of the request 
is included in Attachment B. Attachment C shows the impact the supplemental will have on 
the Downtown Commercial District fund balance. 
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  1



 

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION    
 
Suggested Motion Language: 
 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to adopt a resolution approving a supplemental appropriation to the 2014 
Downtown Commercial District Fund (formerly CAGID Fund) Budget.  
 
Motion to adjourn from the CAGID Board of Directors and reconvene as the Boulder 
City Council. 
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
This supplemental resolution appropriates funding for capital projects and ongoing operations 
that positively affect economic, environmental or social sustainability in the community. 
 
OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal: This resolution will appropriate $25,000 from fund balance. 
 

 Staff time for this process is allocated in the Budget Division’s regular annual work plan. 
 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
The Downtown Management Commission supports these supplemental requests. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
A. Proposed Resolution amending the 2014 DCD Fund Budget  
B. Narrative description of supplemental appropriations 
C. 2014  DCD Fund Activity Summary 
 
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  2



Attachment A 

 

 
 RESOLUTION NO. 270 
 
 

A RESOLUTION RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL AFFAIRS OF 
THE CITY OF BOULDER DOWNTOWN COMMERCIAL 
DISTRICT FUND (FORMERLY KNOWN AS THE CENTRAL 
AREA GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT FUND), MAKING 
A SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATION FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 
ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2014, AND SETTING FORTH DETAILS 
IN RELATION THERETO. 
 

WHEREAS, the District desires to make fund balance transfers to continue and 

complete projects previously authorized and approved; and 

WHEREAS, the District also desires to make certain supplemental appropriations for 

purposes not provided for in the 2014 Annual Appropriation Resolution: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL, ACTING AS 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE CENTRAL AREA GENERAL IMPROVEMENT 

DISTRICT, THAT THE FOLLOWING BE ACCOMPLISHED: 

Section 1.   

Appropriation from Fund Balance $25,000 
  
 
INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED AND ADOPTED this 2nd day of December, 

2014. 

 

 

 ________________________________________ 
 Chair 
Attest: 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
           Secretary  
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  3



Attachment B 

 

DEFINITIONS AND REQUEST NARRATIVE 

2nd BUDGET SUPPLEMENTAL OF 2014 

 

 

DEFINITIONS 

 

Budget Supplementals 

  

Budget Supplemental from Fund Balance 

Adjustments for new appropriation from a specific fund’s available fund balance.  

 

Budget Supplemental from Fund Balance Reserve 

Adjustments for new appropriation from a specific fund’s available fund balance where 

use is limited for specific purposes, typically due to legal restrictions or management 

assignment. 

  

Budget Supplemental from Additional Revenue 

Grants - Budget supplementals from grant revenues are required throughout the 

year since either the grant was not anticipated and was therefore not 

incorporated into the original budget, or because the grant amount actually 

received was more than the amount specified in the original budget.  

 

Miscellaneous - This category includes annual unanticipated funds received for 

city programs and services, including items such as donations, fundraisers, 

wildland fire costs or cooperative agreements between municipalities. In 

addition, beginning in 2007, reimbursements for some services (e.g. insurance 

proceeds, off-duty police officer services, city-sponsored training programs) are 

now officially recognized as miscellaneous revenues instead of reducing 

expenditures. Best practices accounting and reporting standards require these 

revenues to be reflected through the formal appropriation process. 

 

Transfers to/from Other Funds 

Transfers between funds requiring City Council approval. 

 

Budget Adjustments Necessitated by Accounting Requirements  

Adjustments required based on generally accepted accounting and reporting 

requirements that occur during the final adjustments to base. 

 

Negative Appropriations 

Adjustments reducing approved appropriations based on identified reductions in 

revenue sources (e.g. grant funding reductions). 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  4



Attachment B 

 

BUDGET SUPPLEMENTAL DETAILS BY FUND  

DOWNTOWN COMMERCIAL DISTRICT (FORMERLY CAGID) FUND 

 

Budget Supplemental(s) From Fund Balance 

 

Downtown University Hill Management – AMPS - $25,000 

This request appropriates funds for the CAGID portion of 2014 consulting costs for the 

Access Management and Parking Strategy (AMPS) project.  The 2014 consulting will 

include work on: a best practices report and peer city research; ongoing communication 

strategy support; project evaluation criteria; implementation of a Park Plus program that 

does parking and TDM scenario development; and a request for proposal for the 

replacement of the city’s garage access system and associated technologies.   

 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  5



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  6



Attachment C

Projected

 Dec 31, 2014

FUND

Unreserved Fund 

Balance

Original Estimated 

Revenues (Including 

Xfers In)

Original 

Appropriations 

(Including 

Xfers Out)

Increase in 

Estimated 

Revenues

Appropriations 

(Including Xfers 

Out)

Increase in 

Estimated 

Revenues

Appropriations 

(Including Xfers 

Out) Fund Balance

Downtown Commercial District Fund (540) 5,497,477 8,079,963 7,027,956 0 1,364,849 0 25,000 5,184,635

2014 FUND ACTIVITY SUMMARY

CARRYOVER AND 2ND BUDGET SUPPLEMENTAL OF 2014

At January 1, 2014

Carryover & 1st Budget 

Supplemental 2nd Budget Supplemental

Agenda Item 3F     Page  7



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  8



 
 

C I T Y  O F  B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 2, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: 
Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only 
an ordinance amending Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, to create an additional 
method of property valuation for the determination of whether proposed work on a 
property triggers upgrades to lighting, landscaping, site access and non-conforming drive-
throughs under the Land Use Code.   

 
 
PRESENTERS:  
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
Karl Guiler, Senior Planner/Code Amendment Specialist 
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 
Hella Pannewig, Assistant City Attorney 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
In efforts to implement recommended actions of the Economic Sustainability Strategy, adopted 
by City Council on Oct. 29, 2013, and to continually update the Land Use Code to implement the 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) and achieve high quality design results, staff is 
proposing the following change: 
 

Create an additional method of property valuation for the determination of whether proposed 
work on a property triggers upgrades to lighting, landscaping, site access and non-
conforming drive-throughs under the Land Use Code.   

 
The change is proposed as a way to remove regulatory barriers to reinvestment in existing 
buildings. As part of the outreach for the Economic Sustainability Strategy it was learned that 
some property owners have hesitated to make ordinary improvements to their buildings based on 
the concern that certain zoning requirements (e.g., upgrades to parking lot landscaping, outdoor 
lighting etc.) can be triggered based on a modestly sized renovation or tenant improvement 
projects. Owners have indicated that the reason for this is the Boulder County Assessor’s 
relatively low value of buildings as compared to property value. The current code includes 
zoning thresholds or triggers for upgrades relative to the Boulder County assessed value of 
buildings. The proposed change would enable owners to submit a fair market value as 

Agenda Item 3G     Page  1

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/Final_ESS_Adopted_by_Council_-_reduced_file_size-1-201312121401.pdf


determined by a real estate appraiser licensed in Colorado as an alternative. This  approach is 
consistent with how properties are evaluated for the purposes of improving properties located in 
the floodplain.  

The proposed Land Use Code change is found within the attached draft ordinance (Attachment 
A). This code change was passed on first reading on May 20, 2014 when it was included with the 
proposed change to the density calculations, which is not proceeding at this time. Given the 
amount of time that has transpired, the proposal is being resent as a first reading item. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Motion to introduce on first reading and order published by title only an ordinance 
amending Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, in particular, to create an additional 
method of property valuation for the determination of whether proposed work on a 
property triggers upgrades to lighting, landscaping, site access and non-conforming 
drive-throughs under the Land Use Code.   

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Economic:  Adding the option to determine actual building value from a licensed 

professional to the land use code would remove potential impediments to reinvestment in 
properties based on low county assessor values created for tax purposes and encourage 
reinvestment and rehabilitation of buildings. 

 Environmental:  No anticipated impacts. 
 Social: No anticipated impacts.  

 
OTHER IMPACTS 
 Fiscal: None identified. 
 Staff time: The proposed code changes are within normal staff work plans. 
 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
Planning Board 
The board reviewed the proposed ordinance on May 1, 2014 and recommended approval of the 
ordinance on a 4-2 vote (see motion below). Audio and complete meeting minutes from the 
May 1, 2014 meeting can be found on the Planning Board’s website at 
www.bouldercolorado.gov/boards-commissions/planning-board. 
 
The motions were as follows: 
J. Putnam, seconded by B. Bowen, moved that the Planning Board recommend approval to the 
City Council of an ordinance implementing recommended actions of the Economic Sustainability 
Strategy by amending Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, in particular: 
 

1. Updating the land use regulations that require site improvements and upgrades if a 
project exceeds a certain percentage of the value of any existing structures on the 
property by allowing the value of existing structures to be established through a 
professional appraisal of the fair market value of such structures (Action 3.6, ESS). 

Agenda Item 3G     Page  2



 
On a subsidiary motion to amend the main motion J. Gerstle, seconded by L. May, the Planning 
Board voted 4-2 (B. Bowen and J. Putnam opposed, A. Brockett absent) to recommend that if a 
private appraisal is used in this process, that information shall be provided to the County 
Assessor.  
 
The main motion, as amended, passed 4-2 (B. Bowen and J. Putnam opposed, A. Brockett 
absent). 
 
Planning Board members Bowen and Putnam, despite proposing the original motion, voted 
against it because of the amendment to the motion requiring a referral of any appraisal to the 
county.  
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK  
Staff has received little written public feedback on the proposed change.   
 
BACKGROUND 
City Council adopted the Economic Sustainability Strategy on Oct. 29, 2013. The Economic 
Sustainability Strategy is a cross-cutting and “place-based” approach to economic vitality. It 
seeks to create vibrant, amenity-rich business districts that vary in their focus and intensity, and 
offer environments that support key industry clusters, retain talented workers and enhance a 
unique and sustainable “Boulder” quality of life.  
 
In 2012, city staff, along with the University of Colorado Leeds Business Research Division and 
the Boulder Economic Council, conducted a primary employer study identifying the issues, 
trends and needs of Boulder’s primary employers relative to the city’s existing industrial and 
commercial space.  In Boulder, “primary employers” are defined as companies that receive at 
least fifty percent of their revenue from outside Boulder County, thus bringing in a significant 
amount of “new money” into the Boulder economy. The results of this study are found at 
www.bouldercolorado.gov/pages/primary-employer-study. The strategies that have come out of 
this process help to prioritize the action items, which would be updated each year based on 
resources available (city work plan and budget).  The recommended actions of the Economic 
Sustainability Strategy are informed by the input relieved as part of this process. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Valuation Code Change: 
The following code change is intended to implement recommended Action 3.6 of the Economic 
Sustainability Strategy: 
 

Action 3.6, page 17, Economic Sustainability Strategy - Update the land use regulations 
for required site improvements and upgrades by changing how the assessed value is 
calculated by allowing the option of using the professionally appraised fair market value 
of the structure. 

 
The Land Use Code ties certain site improvement requirements, such as landscaping and outdoor 
lighting upgrades, for properties that are being redeveloped to the size of an expansion or value 
of the planned improvements relative to the value of existing structures on the site.  For instance, 
certain site improvements like landscaping and outdoor lighting upgrades would be required if 

Agenda Item 3G     Page  3



the value of a project exceeds a specified percentage of the value of the existing structure on the 
site. Oftentimes, the extent of required upgrades is dependent on this percentage. The web links 
below show the applicable sections where valuations are used and the thresholds that determine 
the level of upgrade: 
 
 Site Access Control (see section 9-9-5, B.R.C. 1981) 
 Landscaping (see section 9-9-12(b), B.R.C. 1981) 
 Outdoor lighting (see section 9-9-16(c), B.R. C. 1981) 
 Nonconformance standards (see section 9-10-2, B.R.C. 1981) 

 
With the exception of ‘Site Access Control’ which is based on a specific project to determine if 
site access would need to be modified, the other code sections, including the city’s floodplain 
regulations, require cumulative valuations. For the code sections listed above, assessed value is 
limited to actual Boulder County assessed value as the comparative figure to the development 
project cost whereas the floodplain section of the Land Use Code allows the option to also use 
fair market appraisals. The fair market value determined by an appraiser is used to determine 
whether the thresholds for improvements are required under the city’s floodplain regulations. 
These can be accessed at the following web link: floodplain regulations concerning valuation  
 
The proposed code change would apply the same allowance for the floodplain regulations to the 
four code sections above. The reasons this issue was identified is because some customers have 
pointed out that the value assessed by the County Assessor does not accurately represent the fair 
market value of a structure as the Assessor assesses the value of a structure for tax purposes 
while, in reality, the fair market value of a structure is typically higher. This has led to 
inconsistent property improvements over time.  
 
Staff finds that it is appropriate to allow this alternative method of valuation, because city codes 
are already considered aggressive in what is required from a qualitative perspective. Even minor 
changes to a building may trigger expensive site upgrades that can become cost prohibitive and 
may discourage building retrofits. The site improvements and adjustments may not be 
proportionate to the level of work proposed for the building when assessing against the Boulder 
County Assessor figures. Of greatest concern is that such standards may discourage ordinary 
upkeep and maintenance of buildings and thus, can make leasing difficult. 
 
Staff has been working with property owners to better understand the issue. A local 
developer/property manager has provided some examples of where building values (see 
Attachment B), created for tax purposes, is accessed at a low value relative to the overall 
property value – in some cases only around 2 percent of the total land value. With these low 
accessed values for buildings, the trigger for more expensive improvements on a site is often 
easily triggered. If expensive site improvements become required for relatively modest upgrades 
to buildings, improvements may be deferred or canceled. 
 
Therefore, staff has proposed the following new language that would add this assessment figure 
as an option to the applicable sections discussed above: 
 

For purposes of this paragraph (1), the applicant may demonstrate the value of the 
existing structure by submitting, in the discretion of the applicant, either the actual value 

Agenda Item 3G     Page  4

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_5
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_12
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_16
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-10.htm
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-3.htm#section9_3_8


assessed by the Boulder County Assessor or the fair market value determined by a real 
estate appraiser licensed in Colorado. 

Attachment A includes the specific sections with the proposed language within their context. 
 
Planning Board made a motion to adopt the proposed change above, but added a requirement 
that appraisals be forwarded to the county for consideration.  Staff contacted the Boulder 
County Assessor directly and the Assessor indicated that they would support the proposed 
requirement to send professional appraisals to their  office in efforts to improve their property 
data. Staff is not averse to transmitting the appraisals to the county as information is already 
routinely transmitted  to the county, including but not limited to building permit and geographic 
information system data. This type of information is shared as a part of our regular 
administrative business processes. .  However, staff does not recommend that the transmittal of 
property appraisal information be codified as it is unnecessary from a zoning implementation 
perspective. Therefore, no change to the ordinance language has been proposed to reflect such a 
requirement. If the proposed change is adopted, staff will begin sending fair market appraisals 
to the county as recommended by Planning Board and as supported by the assessors’ office as  
a part of our regular business processes. 
 
STAFF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt the proposed ordinance at time of second reading 
based on the following conclusions: 
 

 The proposed change would be appropriate to help deal with the challenge of high land 
costs and barriers to redevelopment/reinvestment;  

 The proposed change would be consistent with how valuations are calculated per the 
flood regulations, and 

 The proposed change would be consistent with Economic Sustainability Strategy 
recommendations. 
 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
A. Draft ordinance  
B. Tax assessment figures  
 

Agenda Item 3G     Page  5



K:\plcu\o-8018-1st rdg-ehf.docx

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

ORDINANCE NO. 8018

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 9, “LAND USE CODE,” 
B.R.C. 1981, TO ADD A VALUATION METHOD FOR 
EXISTING STRUCTURES FOR DETERMINATION OF 
UPGRADE REQUIREMENTS UNDER TITLE 9, B.R.C. 1981, 
AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 9-9-5, “Site Access Control,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

9-9-5  Site Access Control. 

(a) Access Control: Vehicular access to property from the public right-of-way shall be controlled 
in such a manner as to protect the traffic-carrying capacity and safety of the street upon which 
the property abuts and access is taken, ensuring that the public use and purpose of public rights-
of-way is unimpaired as well as to protect the value of the public infrastructure and adjacent 
property. The requirements of this section apply to all land uses, including single-family 
residential land uses, as follows: 

(1) For all uses, except single-family residential, the standards shall be met prior to a final 
inspection for any building permit for new development; redevelopment exceeding 
twenty-five percent of the Boulder County Assessor's actual value of the existing 
structure; or the addition of a dwelling unit.  For purposes of this paragraph (1), the 
applicant shall demonstrate the value of the existing structure by submitting, at the 
discretion of the applicant, either the actual value assessed by the Boulder County 
Assessor’s Office or the fair market value determined by a real estate appraiser licensed 
in Colorado. 

(2) For single-family residential uses, the standards of this section shall be met prior to a 
final inspection for any building permit for new development; the demolition of a 
principal structure; or the conversion of an attached garage or carport to a use other than 
use as a parking space. 

(b) Access for Properties Subject to Annexation: Each parcel of land under a single ownership at 
the time of its annexation will be reviewed in terms of access as one parcel (regardless of 
subsequent sales of a portion) unless the property is subdivided at the time of its annexation. 

(c) Standards and Criteria for Site Accesses and Curb Cuts: Any access or curb cut to public 
rights-of-way shall be designed in accordance with the City of Boulder Design and Construction 
Standards and the following standards and criteria: 

Attachment A - Draft Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page  6



 

K:\plcu\o-8018-1st rdg-ehf.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(1) Number of Access Points Permitted: One access point or curb cut per property will be 
permitted, unless a site plan or traffic study, approved by the city manager, demonstrates 
that additional access points and curb cuts are required to adequately address 
accessibility, circulation, and driveway volumes, and only where additional accesses and 
curb cuts would not impair any public use of any public right-of-way, or create safety or 
operational problems, or be detrimental to traffic flow on adjacent public streets. 

(2) Access Restrictions: On arterial and collector streets, or if necessary for the safe and 
efficient movement of traffic, all accesses shall be designed and constructed with 
physical improvements and appropriate traffic control measures to assist or restrict 
turning movements, including, without limitation, acceleration or deceleration lanes, 
access islands, street medians, and signage, as may be required of the development if the 
city manager finds that they are necessary to preserve the safety or the traffic-carrying 
capacity of the existing street. The city manager shall determine the length and degree of 
the required access restriction measures for the property. 

(3) Residential Access to Arterial and Collector Streets Restricted: No residential 
structures shall have direct access onto an arterial. However, if no alternative street 
access is possible, an access may be permitted subject to the incorporation of any design 
standards determined to be necessary by the city manager to preserve the safety and the 
traffic-carrying capacity of the arterial or collector. 

(4) Access From Lowest Category Street Required: A property that has frontage on more 
than one street, alley or public access shall locate its access or curb cut on the lowest 
category street, alley or public access frontage. If more than one access point or curb cut 
is necessary, an additional access or curb cut will be permitted only where the proposed 
access or curb cut satisfies the requirements in this section. 

(5) Property Right to Access: If a property cannot be served by any access point or curb 
cut that satisfies this section, the city manager will designate the access point or curb cut 
for the subject property based on optimal traffic safety. 

(6) Multiple Access Points for Single-Family Residential: The city manager will permit 
multiple access points on the same street for single-family residential lots upon finding 
that there is at least one hundred linear feet of lot frontage adjacent to the front yard on 
such street, the area has a limited amount of pedestrian activity because of the low 
density character, and there is enough on-street parking within three hundred feet of the 
property to meet the off-street parking needs of such area. The total cumulative width of 
multiple curb cuts shall not exceed the maximum permitted width of a single curb cut. 
The minimum spacing between multiple curb cuts on the same property shall not be less 
than sixty-five feet. 

(7) Shared Driveways for Residential Structures: A detached single-family residential lot 
that does not have frontage on the street from which access is taken may be served by a 
shared driveway that meets all of the standards and criteria for shared driveways set forth 
in the City of Boulder Design and Construction Standards. 

Attachment A - Draft Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page  7



 

K:\plcu\o-8018-1st rdg-ehf.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(8) Minimum Driveway Width: The minimum width of a driveway leading to an off-
street parking space shall not be less than nine feet. A driveway, or portion of a driveway, 
may be located on an adjacent property if an easement is obtained from the impacted 
property owner. (See figure 9-1 of this section.) 

 

Figure 9-1: Minimum Driveway Width 

(9) Exceptions: The requirements of this section may be modified under the provisions of 
section 9-2-14Section 9-2-14, "Site Review," B.R.C. 1981, to provide for safe and 
reasonable access. Exceptions to this section may be made if the city manager determines 
that: 

(A) The topography, configuration of a lot, or other physical constraints makes 
taking access from the lowest category street, alley or public access frontage 
impractical, or the character of the existing area is such that a proposed or existing 
access to the street, alley or public access frontage is compatible with the access 
of properties in such area; 

(B) The site access and curb cuts would not impair public use of the public right-
of-way; create safety or operational problems or be detrimental to traffic flow on 
adjacent public streets; and 

(C) The site access and curb cuts will minimize impacts to the existing on-street 
parking patterns. 

. . . 
Section 2.  Section 9-9-12, “Landscaping and Screening Standards,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended to read: 

9-9-12  Landscaping and Screening Standards.  

. . . 

Attachment A - Draft Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page  8

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-2.htm#section9_2_14


 

K:\plcu\o-8018-1st rdg-ehf.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(b) Scope: This section and Section 9-9-14, "Parking Lot Landscaping Standards," B.R.C. 1981, 
apply to all nonresidential and multi-family residential developments unless expressly stated 
otherwise. 

(1) The standards in this section and Sections 9-9-13, "Streetscape Design Standards," 
and 9-9-14, "Parking Lot Landscaping Standards," B.R.C. 1981, shall be met prior to a 
final inspection for any building permit for: 

(A) New development; 

(B) Redevelopment involving expansion of the total building floor area which 
exceeds twenty-five percent of the Boulder County Assessor's actual value of the 
existing structure for any use except a property with three or fewer attached 
dwelling units; 

(C) Redevelopment involving the expansion of the total floor area for a property 
that has three or fewer attached dwelling units, shall meet the landscaping 
standards as follows: 

(i) Redevelopment valued at more than twenty-five percent, but less than 
fifty percent of the Boulder County Assessor's actual value of the existing 
structure shall require compliance with the street and alley tree 
requirements and the trash and parking screening requirements; 

(ii) Redevelopment valued at fifty percent or more, but less than seventy-
five percent of the Boulder County Assessor's actual value of the existing 
structure shall require compliance with the street and alley tree 
requirements and the trash and parking screening requirements and the 
front yard landscape requirements; and 

(iii) Redevelopment valued at seventy-five percent or more of the Boulder 
County Assessor's actual value of the existing structure shall require 
compliance with the landscape regulations. 

(D) Redevelopment exceeding one hundred percent of the Boulder County 
Assessor's actual value of the existing structure and not involving expansion of 
the total building floor area; or 

(E) The addition of a dwelling unit. 

(F)  For purposes of this paragraph (1), the applicant shall demonstrate the value 
of the existing structure by submitting, at the discretion of the applicant, either the 
actual value assessed by the Boulder County Assessor’s Office or the fair market 
value determined by a real estate appraiser licensed in Colorado.   

(2) When additional parking spaces are provided, or for a change of use where new off-
street parking spaces are provided, the provisions of Section 9-9-14, "Parking Lot 
Landscaping Standards," B.R.C. 1981, shall be applied as follows: 

Attachment A - Draft Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page  9



 

K:\plcu\o-8018-1st rdg-ehf.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(A) When the number of additional parking spaces that will be provided exceeds 
twenty-five percent of the number of existing parking spaces on the site, all 
standards in Section 9-9-14, "Parking Lot Landscaping Standards," B.R.C. 1981, 
shall be met for the entire parking lot (existing and new portions) prior to the final 
inspection for a change of use or concurrent with the addition of the parking 
spaces. 

(B) When the number of additional parking spaces that will be provided is less 
than twenty five percent of the number of existing parking spaces on the site, the 
standards in Section 9-9-14, "Parking Lot Landscaping Standards," B.R.C. 1981, 
shall be met for the new portions of the parking lot prior to the final inspection for 
a change of use or concurrent with the addition of the parking spaces. 

. . . 

Section 3.  Section 9-9-16, “Lighting, Outdoor,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

9-9-16  Lighting, Outdoor.  

. . . 

(c) Scope: This section shall apply to all exterior lighting, including illumination from outdoor 
signs that impact the outdoor environment. No person shall install any light fixture unless such 
fixture meets the requirements of this section. 

(1) Conformance at the Time of Building Permit Application: Compliance with the 
requirements of this chapter shall be required for all new development. The following 
outdoor lighting improvements shall be installed prior to a final inspection for any 
building permit for any redevelopment which exceeds the following thresholds: 

(A) When development or redevelopment exceeds twenty-five percent of the 
Boulder County Assessor's actual value of the existing structure, then all existing 
unshielded exterior light fixtures shall be retrofitted with shielding to prevent light 
trespass. 

(B) When development or redevelopment exceeds fifty percent of the Boulder 
County Assessor's actual value of the existing structure, then: 

(i) All exterior lighting, except existing parking lot lighting, shall be 
brought into conformance with the requirements of this section; and 

(ii) All existing parking lot light fixtures shall be retrofitted with shielding 
to prevent light trespass. 

(C) When development or redevelopment exceeds seventy-five percent of the 
Boulder County Assessor's actual value of the existing structure, then all exterior 
lighting fixtures shall be brought into full conformance with the requirements of 
this section. 

Attachment A - Draft Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page  10



 

K:\plcu\o-8018-1st rdg-ehf.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(D) For purposes of this paragraph (1), the applicant shall demonstrate the value 
of the existing structure by submitting, at the discretion of the applicant, either the 
actual value assessed by the Boulder County Assessor’s Office or the fair market 
value determined by a real estate appraiser licensed in Colorado. 

(2) Replacement of Fixtures: If an existing light fixture is removed, it shall only be 
replaced with a conforming light fixture. 

. . . 

Section 4.  Section 9-10-2, “Continuation or Restoration of Nonconforming Uses and 

Nonstandard Buildings, Structures and Lots,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

9-10-2  Continuation or Restoration of Nonconforming Uses and Nonstandard Buildings, 
Structures and Lots.  

. . . 

(d) Drive-Thru Facilities: A drive-thru facility that was established prior to July 31, 1986, on a 
property not abutting Canyon Boulevard in the DT zoning districts, and has not expired pursuant 
to subsection (a) of this section, shall be considered a nonconforming use, and may: 

(1) Be renovated or remodeled, by improvements the cumulative total of which increases 
the structure's fair market value by no more than twenty-five percent of the Boulder 
County Assessor's actual value of the structure, without meeting the criteria for drive-thru 
uses in subsection Subsection 9-6-9(c), B.R.C. 1981; 

(2) Be renovated or remodeled by improvements the cumulative total of which increases 
the facility's structure's fair market value by more than twenty-five percent of the Boulder 
County Assessor's actual value of the structure; or be relocated on site if the development 
meets the criteria for drive-thru uses in subsection Subsection 9-6-9(c), B.R.C. 1981; or 

(3) Be relocated off site or expanded on site, subject to the conditional use requirements 
for drive-thru uses. For the purposes of this paragraph, "expanded" means creation of an 
additional drive-thru bay, lane, or teller window. 

(4) For purposes of this subsection (d), the applicant shall demonstrate the value of the 
existing structure by submitting, at the discretion of the applicant, either the actual value 
assessed by the Boulder County Assessor’s Office or the fair market value determined by 
a real estate appraiser licensed in Colorado. 

Section 5.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Attachment A - Draft Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page  11



 

K:\plcu\o-8018-1st rdg-ehf.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 6.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of December, 2014. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this _____ day of _________________, 2014. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

 

 

Attachment A - Draft Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page  12



Summary of info from Assessment Information Reports

7‐Apr‐14

structure actual value % of actual  structure

sf from assessment value value psf

Account#: 0004324 1580 Canyon land $1,316,000.00 97.79%

structure 6528 $29,800.00 2.21% $4.56

total $1,345,800.00 100.00%

Account#: 0033583 236 Pearl land $686,181.00 98.37%

structure 1248 $11,400.00 1.63% $9.13

total $697,581.00 100.00%

Account#: 0069297 2633 30th land $314,600.00 38.57%

structure 10408 $501,100.00 61.43% $48.15

total $815,700.00 100.00%

Attachment B - Tax Assessment Figures

Agenda Item 3G     Page  13



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3G     Page  14



  
  

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 2, 2014 

 
AGENDA TITLE 
Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only an 
ordinance amending Emergency Ordinance No. 7985 to correct the legal description for the 
annexation area of the property at 2130 Tamarack Avenue.  

 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Chris Meschuk, Flood Recovery Coordinator – Community Services 
Bev Johnson, Annexation Project Manager 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this item is for City Council to consider the first reading of an ordinance 
(Attachment A) relating to a correction of the legal description for the annexation and initial 
zoning of the property at 2130 Tamarack Avenue, which was annexed by emergency 
ordinance on Aug. 5, 2014.   
 
Due to an error in parcel mapping, a portion of the property at 2130 Tamarack Ave was not 
annexed and assigned initial zoning as a part of Ord. 7985 that was approved by the City 
Council on Aug. 5, 2014.   
 
The proposed ordinance will correct that error, adding this small portion of land to the 
previous annexation.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
Suggested Motion Language:  

1. Motion to introduce on first reading and order published by title only, an ordinance 
amending Emergency Ordinance No. 7985 to correct the legal description for the 
annexation area of the property located at 2130 Tamarack Avenue.   

Agenda Item 3H     Page  1



  
  

BACKGROUND 
After the September 2013 floods, several homeowners in Boulder County contacted city 
staff about the possibility of annexing to the city in order to connect to city water and 
wastewater services.  Many homeowners outside the city, especially in enclave areas, 
experienced damage to their wells or septic systems.  In response to these requests, the 
city put together a special annexation package and offered it to approximately 160 
property owners in enclave areas and in the Old Tale Road and Cherryvale Road 
neighborhoods.   
 
Two properties (2130 Tamarack Av. and 4270 19th St.) were annexed by emergency 
ordinance in August 2014 because of the poor condition of their well and septic systems.   
 
Following these two emergency annexations, six additional properties chose to proceed 
with annexation, including the neighboring property to 2130 Tamarack Ave.  
 
During the annexation document preparation process for the neighboring property, located 
at 2140 Tamarack Ave, it was discovered that both the city and county parcel mapping 
incorrectly reflected the ownership of a small 1,950 square foot portion of land in the 
southeast corner of the property at 2130 Tamarack Ave.  On Nov. 25, 2014 the applicant 
for 2140 Tamarack Ave withdrew the application for annexation. 
   
ANALYSIS 
Title work and deed research of both the 2130 Tamarack and 2140 Tamarack properties has 
clarified that the small portion of land had been incorrectly shown to be owned by the 
property at 2140 Tamarack, when in fact it is within ownership of the property at 2130 
Tamarack.   
 
Figure 1 below shows the 2130 Tamarack property as mapped at the time of annexation as 
shown in red.  Figure 2 shows the corrected parcel mapping shown in red.   
 
Figure 1:             Figure 2:  

   
 

Agenda Item 3H     Page  2



  
  

 
This ordinance will correct the previous annexation to add the small portion of land that was 
inadvertenly left out of the original annexation.   
 
In addition, a portion of this area being annexed is within 60 feet of the centerline of Fourmile 
Canyon Creek.  Consistent with the previous annexation and neighborhing annexation, the 
property owner is dedicating a flood easement for that portion of the property within 60 feet 
of the creek.   
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

A. Proposed Ordinance 
B. Flood Easement 

Agenda Item 3H     Page  3



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING EMERGENCY ORDINANCE 
7985 TO CORRECT THE LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR THE 
ANNEXATION AREA OF THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 
2130 TAMARACK AVENUE, AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

A. On August 5, 2014, the City Council adopted Emergency Ordinance 7985 

annexing to the City of Boulder approximately 0.97 acres of land generally located at 2130 

Tamarack Avenue and more particularly described on Exhibit A (“Annexed Property”). 

B. Lynne Paul Baker and Cindy Lou Baker (the “Owners”) are the owners of the 

Annexed Property. 

C. A 1,950 square foot portion of the Owner’s property more particularly described 

on Exhibit B (“Property”) was inadvertently not included with Emergency Ordinance 7985. 

D. The City wishes to amend Emergency Ordinance 7985 so that the Property is 

incorporated into the area considered to be the Annexed Property. 

Section 1.  Recitals A and B and Section 1 of Ordinance 7985 are amended to read as 

follows and Exhibits A and B attached hereto are incorporated into this amendment: 

Recital A.  The City Council passed a resolution initiating annexation of the enclave 
located at 2130 Tamarack Avenue described in Exhibit A (the “Property”) attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, on August 5, 2014. 

Recital B.  Evidence has been presented to the City Council that the property located at 
2130 Tamarack Avenue and more particularly described in Exhibit A and Exhibit B (the 
“Property”) attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference has been entirely 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3H     Page  4



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

contained within the boundaries of the City of Boulder and has been so surrounded for at 
least three years. 

Section 1.  The territoryies more particularly described in Exhibits A and B be, and the 
same hereby isare, annexed to and included within the corporate boundaries of the City of 
Boulder. 

Section 2.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 3.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of December, 2014. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3H     Page  5



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 20th day of January, 2015. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3H     Page  6



Exhibit A - Page 1 of 2

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3H     Page  7



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 



Exhibit A - Page 2 of 2

    Annexation Map

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3H     Page  8



 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 



Exhibit B - Page 1 of 2

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3H     Page  9



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 



Exhibit B - Page 2 of 2 

    Annexation Map

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3H     Page  10



 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 



Attachment B - Flood Easement

Agenda Item 3H     Page  11



Attachment B - Flood Easement

Agenda Item 3H     Page  12



Attachment B - Flood Easement

Agenda Item 3H     Page  13



Attachment B - Flood Easement

Agenda Item 3H     Page  14



Attachment B - Flood Easement

Agenda Item 3H     Page  15



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 



 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 2, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:  
 
Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only an 
emergency ordinance  amending Chapter 6-16, B.R.C. 1981, amending Sections 6-16-2 
“Definitions,” and 6-16-3 “License Required” to extend the time for medical marijuana 
businesses to convert to recreational marijuana businesses from December 31, 2014 to March 31, 
2015. 
  
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Mishawn J. Cook, Licensing and Collection Manager 
 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

At the council meeting on November 6, 2014, council directed staff to prepare an ordinance 
extending the time for existing medical marijuana businesses to convert to recreational marijuana 
businesses.  The proposed ordinance would extend the deadline until March 31, 2014.  This 
agenda item introduces the ordinance at first reading.  Second reading is scheduled for December 
16, 2014.  Staff recommends that council consider adopting the proposed ordinance by emergency 
on December 16, 2014.  This will allow the ordinance to be effective before the current provision 
expires.   
   
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only an 
emergency ordinance amending Chapter 6-16, B.R.C. 1981, amending Sections 6-16-2 
“Definitions,” and 6-16-3 “License Required” to extend the time for medical marijuana 

Agenda Item 3I     Page  1



 

businesses to convert to recreational marijuana businesses from December 31, 2014 to March 31, 
2015. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
On November 6, 2012, voters passed Amendment 64 to the Colorado Constitution, legalizing 
recreational marijuana.   On November 12, 2013, council passed ordinance number 7930 adding 
Chapter 6-16 to the Boulder Revised Code regulating recreational marijuana in Boulder.  
Ordinance 7930 allowed only medical marijuana businesses licensed or who had filed to be 
licensed by October 20, 2013 to convert to recreational businesses.   Ordinance 7930 also 
exempted existing medical marijuana businesses from some of the separation requirements 
imposed on new recreational marijuana businesses.  Until June 1, 2014, only existing medical 
marijuana businesses were permitted to file for recreational marijuana licenses.   
 
On June 3, 2014, council passed ordinance number 7970 amending Chapters 6-14 and 6-16.  The 
main purpose for ordinance number 7970 was to address issues identified with the medical 
marijuana and recreational marijuana code.  In the original proposed ordinance, staff 
recommended that the ability for existing medical marijuana businesses to convert terminate as 
of May 31, 2014.  The reason for the recommendation was that as of June 1, 2014, individuals 
not holding medical marijuana licenses could apply for recreational marijuana licenses.  The 
application requirements are different for new as compared to converted or co-located 
recreational marijuana businesses.  To avoid confusion, staff recommended that as of June 1, 
2014 all businesses be subject to the same requirements.  Council amended the proposed 
ordinance to impose a cut off of December 31, 2014.  The proposed ordinance would extend that 
date until March 31, 2015. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
The conversion does not affect marijuana infused product businesses (MIPs) because Ordinance 
7930 licensed all MIPs in Chapter 6-16 only, rather than under both Chapters 6-14 and 6-16.  
There are six MIPs in the city.  Of the remaining medical marijuana businesses, 35 filed to 
convert or co-locate.  There are 21 medical marijuana businesses that have not yet filed an 
application to convert or co-located.  Staff has contacted each of these businesses to remind them 
of the December 31st deadline and to learn if any of the businesses planned to convert or co-
locate.  Four applications for conversion are pending.  Eight businesses are ineligible, either 
because of their location or because they already own a recreational marijuana business.  One has 
informed staff that they are primarily interested in medical marijuana so will not convert.  Three 
have informed staff that they will file for conversion by the end of December.  Thus, if those 
three businesses file, there will be only five businesses affected by this legislation. 
 
  
ATTACHMENT 
 
Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance  

Agenda Item 3I     Page  2



 

K:\cmad\o-8020-1st rdg-1828.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8020 

 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AMENDING 
CHAPTER 6-16, B.R.C. 1981, AMENDING SECTIONS 
6-16-2 “DEFINTIONS,” AND 6-16-3 “LICENSE 
REQUIRED” TO EXTEND THE TIME FOR MEDICAL 
MARIJUANA BUSINESSES TO CONVERT TO 
RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA BUSINESSES FROM 
DECEMBER 31, 2014 TO MARCH 31, 2015.  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Additions are indicated by underline and deletions by strikeout.  Only the 

relevant portion of the code is quoted.  Omitted language is indicated with asterisks.  All 

language not quoted is unchanged. 

Section 2.  Section 6-16-2 “Definitions,”  B.R.C. 1981, is amended as follows: 

6-16-2.  Definitions. 

The following terms used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the context clearly 
indicates otherwise: 

* * * 

"Co-located marijuana business" means a medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation 

facility that held a license from the city on October 22, 2013, and applied for co-location by 

December 31, 2014March 31, 2015, that is permitted by the owner of the building and all 

applicable laws, to divide the licensed medical marijuana business to allow for both a medical 

and a recreational marijuana wellness center or cultivation facility as separate business premises 

with separate licenses from the city within the same footprint and owned by the same person as 

the medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation facility. The licensees with an ownership or 

financial interest of either part of a co-located marijuana business may not be changed to be 

different from the other. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page  3



 

K:\cmad\o-8020-1st rdg-1828.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

* * * 

 Section 3.  Section 6-16-3 “License Required,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended as follows: 

6-16-3. License Required.  

* * * 

(f)  Conversion of Licenses to Different Marijuana Business. A license for a marijuana 

establishment may not be converted to a license for a medical marijuana business. A license for a 

medical marijuana business that was licensed, open, and operating on October 22, 2013, or that 

had submitted a complete application for a medical marijuana business on October 22, 2013, 

may be converted to the same type of marijuana establishment by complying with the 

requirements of this chapter for a renewal of a marijuana license and paying the application fee 

specified in Section 4-20-67, "Recreational Marijuana Businesses, " B.R.C. 1981, if it makes 

application for the conversion by December 31, 2014March 31, 2015. The license for the 

medical marijuana business must be surrendered to the city before the recreational marijuana 

business license will be issued. The term of the license shall be the same as the existing medical 

marijuana business license. 

(g)  Conversion to a Co-located Marijuana Business Within the Footprint of the Medical 

Marijuana Business. A licensee of a medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation facility 

may apply for a co-located marijuana business license by December 31, 2014March 31, 2015, by 

submitting an application for a co-located marijuana business on forms approved by the city. At 

a minimum, the application form shall include a modification of the existing medical marijuana 

business to conform to the new footprint of the medical marijuana portion of the co-located 

marijuana business and all components of the application described in Section 6-16-5, 

"Application, " B.R.C. 1981, determined applicable by the city manager for the recreational 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page  4



 

K:\cmad\o-8020-1st rdg-1828.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

marijuana portion of the co-located marijuana business, and paying the modification of premises 

fee and operating fee specified in Section 4-20-67, "Recreational Marijuana Businesses, " B.R.C. 

1981. The license for the medical marijuana business must be surrendered to the city before the 

co-located marijuana business license will be issued. The term of the co-located marijuana 

business license shall be the same as the existing medical marijuana business license. For 

purposes of separation from other marijuana businesses in Paragraph 6-16-7(e)(2) of this chapter, 

the co-located medical and recreational marijuana business shall be considered one marijuana 

business. No co-located medical and recreational marijuana business may be sold separately 

from the other and must maintain identical ownership at all times. 

* * * 

Section 3.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 4.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition.  

Section 5. The city council finds this is necessary for the immediate preservation of 

public peace, health, safety, and property justifying the adoption of this ordinance as an 

emergency measure. Emergency adoption of this ordinance is necessary to prevent an 

interruption in the application process. This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon 

passage at second reading.    

 

 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page  5



 

K:\cmad\o-8020-1st rdg-1828.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of December, 2014. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AS AN EMERGENCY 

MEASURE BY TWO-THIRDS OF COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of December, 2014. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page  6



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: Dec. 2, 2014 
 

 
AGENDA TITLE 
 
Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only 
an ordinance amending the cable television franchise agreement between the City of 
Boulder and Comcast of Colorado IV, LLC, to extend the term of the agreement by 120 
days. 
 
 
 

 
PRESENTERS  
 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Don Ingle, Director, Information Technologies  
Patrick von Keyserling, Communication Director 
Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Carl Castillo, Policy Advisor 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The city is party to a non-exclusive franchise agreement with Comcast of Colorado IV, LLC 
(“Comcast”) which allows Comcast to use the city’s public rights of way to provide cable 
television services (the “Existing Franchise,” Attachment A). This agreement, originally set to 
expire on Dec. 31, 2011, has twice been extended: first until Dec. 31, 2013 (Ordinance 7785, the 
“First Franchise Extension,” Attachment B), and; then until Dec. 31, 2014 (Ordinance 7952, the 
“Second Franchise Extension,” Attachment C). The purpose of this agenda item is to approve a 
third extension for 120 days (Attachment D). City staff and Comcast have been working closely 
to finalize an agreement and are confident that, with this additional time, they will be able to 
resolve the remaining differences, which relate to the following topics: 
 

· Re-Opener 
· Annual Summary of Complaints 
· C-SPAN 

Agenda Item 3J     Page  1



· Audio Information Network of Colorado 
· Cost of City’s HD Equipment 
· FM Channels 
· Biennial Ascertainment Survey 
· PEG Channel Utilization 
· Web-Based Video on Demand Grant 
· Promotion of PEG Channels 
· PEG Fees 
· Customer Liability for Extension of Lines 
· 2HD Channels w/free HD Box: City accepts 

 
FISCAL IMPACTS 
 
The city currently collects an annual franchise fee equal to five percent of Comcast’s “gross 
revenue,” as that term is defined in Section 11-6-2 of the Boulder Revised Code. In 2013, this 
amounted to $1,237,435.91. This revenue is directed to the city’s general fund. 
 
The city also collects $.50 per subscriber in public, educational and government (“PEG”) access 
channel fees. Since the discontinuation of Public Channel 54 in 2008, the city has allocated the 
PEG fees for Educational Channel 22 and for Government Channel 8. In 2013, the PEG revenue 
generated from these fees amounted to a combined $149,288.56 for both stations. This revenue is 
limited by federal law to capital costs associated with these access channels. 
  
BACKGROUND 
 
The city last renewed its franchise agreement with Comcast in February 2004. This agreement 
was set to expire on Dec. 31, 2011. In the winter of 2009, the city requested that Comcast submit 
a renewal proposal for consideration. Late in the summer of 2010, Comcast instead proposed a 
two-year extension of the existing franchise agreement, consistent with a proposal it had made to 
members of Denver's Greater Metro Telecommunication Consortium (GMTC, since renamed the 
CCUA). The GMTC had asked Comcast to support a regional model agreement and, failing that, 
for extensions to expiring member franchise agreements until 2013. Such extensions would 
allow GMTC members to benefit from the renewal of the City and County of Denver’s and 
Aurora’s franchise agreement which were scheduled for the end of 2012. Comcast refused to 
offer a model regional agreement but agreed to the two-year extension. The City of Boulder 
ultimately agreed that it shared similar interests with GMTC members and approved a two-year 
extension of the Existing Franchise (Attachment B). 
 
On behalf of Comcast, but with input from the city, Talmey-Drake Research & Strategy, Inc., a 
public opinion research firm in Boulder, conducted a resident survey in November 2009 and 
again in May 2013. Key findings from that most recent survey were: 
 

· Almost six of ten cable customers (57%) in the City of Boulder say they are either very 
(21%) or somewhat (36%) satisfied with the cable service they receive, a rating that’s 
down 11 points from 2009. They are most satisfied with the technical quality they receive 
(74%), followed by the quality of their channel line-up (68%). Like overall satisfaction 

Agenda Item 3J     Page  2



with cable, the rating for satisfaction with customer service has also declined, going from 
70% in 2009 to 58% today. Additionally, rates have become an increasingly important 
issue with Boulder customers, as 49% now say the rate they pay for cable is “way too 
high,” compared to 38% back in 2009. 
 

· When asked to rate the importance of each of the three access channels available to cable 
customers in Boulder, only one, Channel 8, had a higher positive (59% for “very” or 
“somewhat”) than negative (40% for “not too” or “not at all”) importance rating. The 
other two access channels, 22 and 63, did not fare nearly so well. 

 
ANALYSIS 
 
Generally speaking, franchise operators are entitled to renewal unless they have not been 
meeting the terms of their existing franchise agreements or, for a variety of reasons, will not be 
able to provide adequate service to meet the cable-related needs of the community in the future.  
Federal law precludes franchising authorities from imposing requirements related to the 
provision or content of cable services except as specifically permitted by federal law.  
 
The issues that may be considered in deciding whether to renew the franchise agreement relate 
primarily to Comcast’s: 
 

· Substantial compliance with the terms of the Existing Franchise; 
· Customer service, including signal quality, response to consumer complaints and 

billing practices; 
· Technical ability to provide cable television service; 
· Financial ability to provide cable television service; and 
· Legal ability to provide cable television service. 

 
The primary foci of franchise negotiations have included: 
 

· The amount and calculation of franchise fees; 
· Customer service standards; and 
· The provision of Public, Education, and Government (PEG) access channels. 

 
Federal law specifically precludes the city from conditioning franchise renewal upon Comcast’s 
willingness to address other issues of interest to the community, such as cable service rates, 
channel programming and programming packages (including the ability to choose particular 
cable channels, also known as "a la carte service"), or telecommunication services (including 
Internet or voice over internet protocol (VOIP) services). 
 
Boulder’s Home Rule Charter, at Article VIII, § 108, requires a vote of the electorate to approve 
any franchises. However, this charter provision has been preempted by federal statutes. See 
Qwest v. Boulder, 151 F. Supp.2d 1236. This means that no election will be required for a 
renewal of the Comcast franchise agreement. 
 
  

Agenda Item 3J     Page  3



NEXT STEPS 
 
With this extension approved, staff expects to bring first reading of a new franchise agreement to 
council for its consideration on March 3, 2015.  
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
Attachment A: City of Boulder’s Current Franchise Agreement with Comcast 
Attachment B: Ordinance 7785, the Franchise Extension  
Attachment C: Ordinance 7952, the Second Franchise Extension 
Attachment D: Proposed Ordinance w/Form of Third Extension 

Agenda Item 3J     Page  4



FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

City of Boulder Colorado

and

Comcast of Colorado IV LLC

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  5



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Definitions

..............................................................................1.1 Applicable Law or Laws............................................................................1

1.2Cable Ordinance ........................................................................................11.3

CableSystem or System ............................................................................2 1.4Channel

.......................................................................................................21.5 ConstructionOperation
orRepair ..........................................................2 1.6 Franchise Agreement .................................................................................2

1.7Franchisee ...................................................................................................2 1.SInstitutional

Networkor I-net ...................................................................2
1.9Standard Drop ............................................................................................2 1.10 SubscriberNetwork...................................................................................2

2.Scope ofFranchiseLimits

andReservations ..................................................................22.1

Scope ............................................................................................................2 2.2 Affiliates Must Comply ..............................................................................4 2.3

Conflictswith theCable
Ordinance.........................................................4 2.4 Relation toOther
Provisionsof Law ........................................................4 2.5 Validity ........................................................................................................52.6

Effectof Franchise Acceptance .................................................................5 2.7 Franchisee BearsIts

OwnCosts ...............................................................52.8
NoWaiver ...................................................................................................5 2.9NoMonetaryRecourse

..............................................................................62.10 Severability .................................................................................................6 2.11 Effect ofChange

inLaw ............................................................................6 2.12Grant

ofOther Franchises ........................................................................6 3.Transfers

........................................................................................7 3.1No
TransferWithout City Approval ........................................................7 3.2 Applicationfar
Transferto beConsidered inAccordanceWith

Cable Ordinance ...............................................................................7

3.3Mandatory Conditions ..............................................................................7 3.4 ChangeinControl

ofFranchisee ..............................................................H 3.5 Intra-Corporate Transactions ..................................................................84.Franchise Fee

....................................................................................................................... 94.1Payment

toCity ..........................................................................................9 4.2Cable

ModemFees .....................................................................................9 4.3 Not inLieuof

AnyOther AssessmentsTaxorFee

..............................10 4.4 Payments ...................................................................................................10

4.5No Accord or Satisfaction ......................................................................10
4.6Payment Records .....................................................................................10 4.7Holdover
Term.........................................................................................10 5. Construction Provisions ................................................................................................... 10

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  6



5.1Provision ofService Franchise Areaand Cl argesfor Plant Extensions

................................................................................................. 10

5.2Construction Standards .......................................................................... 12

5.3Continuity of Service ............................................................................... 13

5.4Rights Upon Franchise Terminationor Revocation ............................. 14

5.5Notice ofUse ............................................................................................. 15

5.6Contractors and Subcontractors ............................................................ 15

6. System Facilities Equipment and Services ...................................................................

156.1 System Capabilities ...............................................................................15
6.2Transmission Technologies ..................................................................176.3

EmergencyAlert System ......................................................................18 6.4Parental
Controls..................................................................................18 6.5SupportEquipment

andFacilities .......................................................18 6.6Technical Standards .............................................................................19
6.7Future Upgrades ...................................................................................196.8

TestingRequirements ...........................................................................19 6.9Inspection

...............................................................................................196.10 Interconnection .....................................................................................19611
FreeCable Serviceto
CertainFacilities .................................................206.12
Provision ofBroad Categories of Services .............................................216.13

Usesof System ..........................................................................................21 Channels and Facilities forPEG

Use.............................................................................. 217.1 PegUse
................................................................................................... 2t7.2 Return Lines for PEG

Use................................................................... 25 7.3 Support

forPEG Access ....................................................................... 26 7.4 Miscellaneous PEG

Requirements...................................................... 26 7.5 Costs Not Franchise

Fees...................................................................... ...278. Institutional Network........

.......................................................................27 8.1 Institutional Network ...............................................................................27 9.

Operation andReporting Provisions

..............................................................................27 9.1OpenBooks
and Records ........................................................................27 9.2Time for

Production................................................................................28 9.3 Reports Required .....................................................................................289.4
RecordsMaintained .................................................................................28 9.5 Relationto
PrivacyRights .......................................................................28 10.Customer
ServiceStandards .......................................................................................... 2810.1
Standards..................................................................................................28 10.2 Ascertainment ofProgrammingand

Customer Satisfaction ...............2811. Rate

Regulation............................................................................................................... 2912.
InsuranceSurety IndemniTication ..............................................................................2912.1 Insurance Required .................................................................................29

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  7



12.2Indemnification ........................................................................................2912.3
NoLimit of Liability ................................................................................30 13.Performance

Guarantees andRemedies .............................. 30 13.1

Letterof Credit .........................................................................................30 13.2Material
Term..........................................................................................31 13.3Remedies ...................................................................................................31
13.4Liquidated Damages ................................................................................31
13.5Procedures PriortoRevoking
theFranchise .......................................32 13.6 Revocation orTerminationofFranchise

..............................................3313.7 Remedies Cumulative ..............................................................................33 13.8 Relationto

Insuranceand Indemnity Requirements...........................34
14.No Evasion ....................................................................................................................... 3415. RightsofIndividuals

Protected ..................................................................................... 34 16.

Miscellaneous Provisions ................................................................................................3416.1 Compliance

With Laws...........................................................................34 16.2

GoverningLaw .........................................................................................34 16.3 ForceMajeure
..........................................................................................3416.4 Notices .......................................................................................................3516.5
Calculationof Time ..................................................................................3516.6
Timeof EssenceMaintenance
ofRecords ofEssence ..........................3516.7
Captions....................................................................................................35 16.8 Entire Franchise Agreement ...................................................................35 16.9 Counterparts ............................................................................................36m

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  8



FRANCffiSE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN THE CITY OF BOULDER COLORADO

AND COMCAST OF COLORADO IV LLC

WHEREAS the Boulder City Council accepted a draft ascertainment report dated June

19 2002 as a valid expression of customer concerns regarding currentcable service in the City of

Boulder "City" and as a valid expression of future cable-relatedcommunity needs and interests and
WHEREAS

theCity has determmed thatany franchise must besubject to the terms and conditions

set forth herem m order to serve the public mterest and WHEREAS

ComcastofColoradoIV LLC is willing to accept the terms and conditions of

this Franchise Agreement and WHEREAS

the City has determmed that subject to the terms and conditions set forth herem

and the provisionsofChapter 11-6 B.R.C1981 TheBoulderCable Code hereinafter referred toas the

"cable ordmance" and other applicable provisions of the Boulder Revised Code and theBoulder City

Charter granting Comcast of Colorado IVLLCa non-exclusive franchise pursuant to ihisFranchise Agreement

is consistent wrth the pubhc mterest andNOW THEREFORE in considerahon of

the Crty’s issuanceofa franchise Comcastof Colorado IV LLC’s promisetoprovide

cable service tores dents of the City under the termsand condrtions set forth herem the promises and

undertakmgs herem and other good and valuable consideration the receipt and the adequacy of

which is hereby acknowledged THE SIGNATORIES HEREBY AGREE AS FOLLOWS.1.

Definitions Exceptasotherwise provided herem

the definitions

and word usagesetforth mSection 11-6-1B.R C 1981 The Boulder CableCode

shall governthis Franchise Agreement. References toany City official or City office also refer to

any official or office that succeeds to any or allofthe responsibihties of the named official or office whether by

delegation successionor otherwise. The followmg defimtions shall apply11Applacable Law or

LawsAllduly enacted

and apphcable federal state aud city constitutions charters laws ordmance codes rules regulations and orders
asthe same maybe adoptedoramended from time totme 1

2Cable Ordanance Chapter ll-6 B R.C1981

as amended from time to hme.

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  9



1.3Cable SystemorSystem. De6ned as m the cable ordinanceas ofthe effective dateof this

Franchise Agreement except where the context mdtcates otherwisert specifically refersto Franchisee’s

cablesystem. 1.4 Channel

Aporiion of the electromagnehc frequency spectrumoradigrtally encoded streamof content

which isusedmacable system and capable of dehvermga television channel as television channel is

defined by the FCC by regulation. While achannel must beatleast capable of delivermga video

programming service achannel is not restricted to the transmission of video piogramming services1

5 Constructton

Operataon or Repaar Encompass among other thmgs mstallahon extension mamtenance replacement

of components relocahon undergroundmg gradmg site preparation ad ustmg

testmg make-readyexcavahon andtreetnmming. 1.6 Franchase Agreement This

FranchiseAgreement and any amendments or appendices hereto 17 Franchisee

Comcast of

Colorado IV LLCalimrted habihty company company andits lawful andpermitted successors

and assigns. 18 Instatutional Network or

I-net A commumcahon network whichisconstructed by Franchiseeandwhich isavailable only
toCrty authorized users19 Standard Drop Anaerial

connechon extend ngno more than 125feetfrom the potentral Subscriber’s demarcation point to the

pomt nearestthe property lme on the public right-of- wayorif closer tothe nearestpoint
on the Cable System from which Cable Service can beprovided to that Subscriber. 1.10 Subscraber Network. Fibers coaxial
cables and the

electronicdevices requiredto activate the same that are primarily usedm the

transmission of programmmg to residential subscribers. 2. Scope of Franchise Limits and Reservations 21

Scope.

2.1 1Acable system franchise is

hereby granted

toFranchisee This franchise grants thenght sub ect to conditions to construct operate

and repairacablesystem mover along and under Crty nghts of way wrthm the City of
Boulder for the purpose of providmg cable sernce and for providing an mstitutional network andother facilities ar

services for PEG useofthe cable 2

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  10



system commencmg on the effective date of this Franchise Agreement January 1 2004 through and

mcluding December 31 2011 unless termmated prior to that date m accordance with this Franchise

Agreement or apphcable law The franchise is subect to and Franchisee must exercise all rights
granted to rt m accordance wrth this Franchise Agreement and apphcable law mcludmg the cable

ordmance. This Franchise Agreement and all rights and pnvileges granted under the franchise are

subect to the City’spohce and other powers However once the franchise grant is effective this Franchise

Agreementisa contract and except as to those changes which are the result ofthe City’s exerciseof
its police and other powers nerther parry may take any umlateral action which materially changes

the explicrt mutual promises m this contract. Sub ect tothe foregoing Franchisee does
notwaive its right to challenge the lawfulness ofanyparticular amendmentto the cable ordinance

oranyother provision ofthe City code on the ground thataparticular actionism excess of

theCity’s power underColorado or federal law or violates the Colorado or the Umted SYates ConsYltuY on

21.2This

franchise doesnot confer rights upon Franchisee other than as expressly provided herein. No

privilegeorpower of eminent domams bestowed bythis grant. Allrights and powers
of the City now existing or hereafrer obtained are reserved except as expressly provided to the

contrary in this Franchise Agreement. Nothmg passes by implication under this Franchise Agreement
5ub ect tothe foregomgFranchisee shall provide thecable services required hereunder throughout

the franchise term and any holdover term and shall make any cable services it

provides over its cable system available to all personsmits franchise area sub ect toSection

5.312.1.3 The franchiseshall be

interpretedtoconvey limited rights and interests only as tothoseCrty rightsofway
m which the City has an actual interest and only to the extent and for the purposes set out mthis

Franchise Agreement The grant of the franchise isnot a warranty oftitle or interest many right
of way and it does not provide Franchisee any interest m any particular location within the right of way

The issuance ofthe franchise does not deprive the Ctty of anypowers rights or privileges

it now has or may later acquire m the fixture to use perform work on or to regulate the

useof and to control the Ciry’s rights ofway covered bythe franchiseincluding without limitation the right to perform

work on its roadways rights of way and dramage facilihes by constructing altering renewing pavmg

widening grading blasting orexcavaring and the righttobuild and install

systems and facilities with or without a franchise. 2.1.4 The grant of the franchise shall not

becomeeffectiveunless and until Franchisee hasa filed an uncondrtional acceptance of the franchise

grant and b made all payments posted all securities and guarantees and supphed all mformation

thatit is required tosupply priar to or uponthe effechve date of Franchise.

If Franchisee fails to satisfy these obligations withm thirty days of the ordmance authorizmg the City

to enter inCO this Franchtse Agreement the franchise grant shall be deemed rescmded five days

after the City notifies 3

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  11



Franchisee m writing the obligations have not been satisfied unless the obligations have been

satisfied before the five day period has expired.

2 2 Affiliates Must Comply. Any affiliate of or jomt venturer with or partner of

Franchisee mvolved in the management or operation of the cable system in the City that would

constitute a cable operator of the cable system is subect to the hmrtations of and shall comply
wrth the terms and conditions of this Franchise Agreement Franchisee shall be fully hable for an

act or omission of an affiliate that controls Franchisee or is responsible in any manner for the

management ofthe cable system that results m a breach ofthis Franchise Agreement or a violahon

of the cable ordmance as if the act or omission was Franchisee’sactor om ssion.2.3

Conflactswith the Cable Ordinance. In the event ofaconflict between the cable ordinance as

it existed on the effective date ofthis Franchise Agreement and this Franchise Agreement as

of its effective date the Franch se Agreementshall control except where expressly provided otherwise
m this Franchise Agreement However although the exercise of rights hereunder is
sub ect tothe cable ordinance the cable ordinance isnot a contract Nothing m this Section 2

3prevents Franchisee from challengingaparucular amendmenttothe cable ordinance asanimpairment

of this Franchise Agreement 2.4 Relation

toOther Provasions of Law.241

The franchise issued and the franchise fee paid hereunder are notin lieu of any other required

authorization fee chargeortax unless expressly stated herein. Franchisee among other things

must obtain all applicable permtts and comply with the condrtions thereof comply with zoning

laws and comply with other City codes ordmances and regulations governing the construction
of the cable system 242

Franchisee is free tochallenge any unilaterally imposed requirementoftheCityas unlawful

and ar mexcessof the City’s police power butnot on the grounds that it imposes police power requirements

over and abovethis Franchise Agreement 2.4.3 This franchiseis

onlyforthe provisionofcable services. It shall not act asa bar or many respect

prevent imposition of addrtional or different condrtions mcludmg additional fees or authorizations related to
the provision oforthe use or occupancy of the rights of waytoprovide non-cable services.
Nothmg in this Sectionisintended to expand or contract the Ciry’s rights if any to regulate

non-cable services.2 4.4 The provisions of this FranchiseAgreement shall

be construedm accordance with Colorado and federallaw regarding cable franchises 4

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  12



2 5 Ualadity Both parries waive as ofthe effective date of this Franchise Agreement

any claim or defense that any provision ofthts Franchise Agreement as rt existed on the effective

date of this Franchise Agreement is unenforceable or otherwise invalid or void Neither parry

waives the right to challenge the validrty of any applicable law.

2.6Effect of Franchase Acceptance. Byacceptmg the franchtse Franchisee 2.6

1Acknowledges and accepts the City’s legal rightto issue and enforce the franchise 2.6 2

Agrees

thatit will not oppose intervention by the Citymany proceeding afPectmg its cable system

subject to Section 12 2.226.3 Accepts andagrees

to complywith each and every provision of this Franchise Agreement 26 4. Agrees

thatit

will not claim that any difference between this Franchise Agreement and the franchtse granted by

the CiCy to Wide Open West effecYive October 17 2000 or between this Franchise Agreement

and the interim permit granted by the Crty toUS West effective January 4 2000 is

discriminatory anti-competitive orin any way violatesanyapplicable law provided however that Franchisee reserves

the right to challenge the USWest permit as discriminatory anti-comperitive or otherwise in

violation of apphcable lawifas ofDecember 312004 US West or its successor

isoperating under the mterim permit and therefore has no requirement to provide cable service

wtthm the entire boundaries of the City nor provide similar levelsofcapttal support as
Franchisee forPEG and any mstitutional network as defined mthe Cable Act providedby

U.S. West or rts successors 2.6.5 Agrees that thefranchisa was granted pursuant to

processesandprocedures consistent with applicable law and thatit will not raiseany
claim tothe contrary 27 Franchisee Bears Its Own Costs. Unless otherwise expressly provided

in this Franchise Agreement all acts that Franchisee isrequired to perform under

this Franchise Agreement or the cable ordinance must be performed at its own

expense provided that nothmg contained mthis Section 27 is intendedto restrict or
limit Franchisee’s rights under apphcable law to offset assess recover or pass throughcosts to subscribers2
8 No Waiver.28.1 The failure of the City or

Franchisee on one ar

more occasionsto exercise aright or to require compliance or performance under this Franchise Agreement the cable

ordinance or any other applicable law shall not be deemedto constitute a

waiver of such rights

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  13



or a waiver of compliance ar performance unless such right has been specifically warved in

wrrtmg provided that nothing in this Section is meant to alter any renewal protections afforded

by 47 U.S.C.Section546dor the operation ofany applicable statute of limitations 2.82

Waiverof a breach of this Franchise Agreement isnotawaiver of any other breach whether similar

or different from that waived. Neither the granting ofthe franchise nor any provision herein

shall constrtute a waiver bar or expansion to the exercise of any governmental right or

powerof theCity mcludmg without limitationthe rightof eminent domam. 29No

Monetary Recourse. Without limitmg such immumties as the City or other persons may have

under apphcable law Franchisee will havenomonetary recourse whatsoever agamst theCrty

orrts officials boards commissions agents oremployees for any loss costs expense or damage

arismg outof Franchisee’s construction operationorrepairofits cable system or the activrties of
the Cityar any enhty authorized by the Crtytouse pubhc nghts-of-way or other public property.210 Severability In

the event

that a court or agency ofcompetent jurisdiction makes a final udgment thatanyspecific provision

ofthis Franchise Agreement isunenforceable according toits terms or otherwise void
said provision shall be considered a separate distinct and independent part of this Franchise Agreement

and such holdmg shall not affect the validity and enforceability ofall other provisions hereof.

2.11 Effect of Change an Law.

Subect to Section 2.10 inthe eventthat state or federallaws rules or regulations preemptaprovision or

hmit the enforceabilityofa provision of this Franchise Agreement then the provision shall beread

tobe preempted tothe extent and for the time but only to the extent and for

the time required by law. Inthe event such state orfederal law rule or regulation is subsequently repealed rescmded

amended or otherwise changed so that the provision hereof that hadbeen preempted

isno longer preempted such provision shall thereupon return to full force and effect and

shall thereafter be binding on the parties hereto without the requirement of further action on the
part ofthe City 2.12 Grant of Other Franchises In the event

thatthe Crty enters intoa franchise agreement permit license or other authonzation with any other

person or entity other than Franchisee to enter into the Crty’s rights ofway

for the purpose of construchng oroperatmg a cable system to provide cable servicetoany part of

the franchise area m which Franchisee is actually providing cable service under the terms and condrtions of

thisFranchise Agreement or towhichitisrequired to extend cable service under the

provisions of this Franchise Agreement the material provisions thereof shallbe reasonably comparable tothose contained

herem for comparable situations in order that one operator not be granted

an unfair competitive advantage over another and toprovide all parues equal protection under
the law. The City shall not granta franchise for less than the entire City unless legally compelled

todo so. 6

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  14



3. Transfers

3.1No Transfer Without City Approval. Franchisee agrees that the rights granted to it by

the City are personal in nature and held m trust No transfer may occur without the prior consent
ofthe City. An application fora transFer containing all mformation andcomplying with the

requirements of applicable law and the applicarion fee of 5000 which amount shall be refunded

if not expendedin the review process must be filed beforea request fora transfer will be

considered by the City. 3.2

Applccationfor Transfertobe Considered tn Accordance With Cable Ordinance An application

fora transfer will beconsidered in accordance with the cable ordinance and the standards set

forth therein asof the effective dateofthis Franchise Agreement shall govern the City’s review

ofthe transfer apphcation sub ectto amendmentsthe City may adopt to comply with or reflect
changes in apphcable state and federallaw and the specific provisions m Sections3.3-3

5below. Requests for approval ofa transfer will not beunreasonably withheld 3.3 Mandatory Conditions

-Transfers Notransfer application shallbegranted unless the proposed transferee

331

Agrees in wrrting that rt will abide by and accept the terms of the cable ordmance this Franchise

Agreement and any addihonal terms and conditions that the City reasonably determmes are
neededtoensure compl ance by thetransferee with such Franchise Agreement 33.2

Agrees

m writmgto assume and be responsible forthe obligations and liabilities of Franchisee known

and unknown under this Franchise Agreement and applicable law333
Provides

reasonable performance guarantees tothe City that the City considers sufficient and adequate
toguarantee the full and faithful performance ofall franchise obligations by the proposed

transferee 3.3 4Agreesm

writingthat except as provided m Section 626 of the Cable Act concerning use of previous non-compliance

evidence in renewal proceedmgs followmga transfer approval bytheCity ofthe

transfer shall not constitute a waiver or release ofany rights of the City under this Franchise Agreement or

applicable law whether arising before or after the effective date of the transfer and

335 Posts all required

bonds securities m a manner to ensure that there isno gap mcoverage 7

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  15



3.4Change an Control of Franchesee.No apphcation fora change m the control ofFranchtsee

or its parents willbe granted unless 3.4.1

Franchiseeunconditionallyreaffirms thatitwill abide by and accept the terms and condihons of

the cable ordmance this Franchise Agreement and anyadditional terms and condrtions that the

Cityreasonably determines azeneededtoensure compliance by Franchisee with such Franchise Agreement

34.2 Franchisee

reaffirms thatit remazns responsible far allofits obhgatrons and liabihties known and unknown

under the Franchise Agreement and applicable lawforall purposes mcludmg but not hmited

to renewal under Section 626 3.43 Franchisee and the

entitythat will own and control Franchisee provide reasonable performance guarantees tothe
CitythattheCity considers sufficient and adequate to guarantee the full and faithful

performance of ali franchise obligations 3.4.4 Franchisee and theentity

thatwillown and control Franchisee agree that the approval ofthechange ofcontrol by

the City shall not consYituteawaiver or release of any rights of theCrty under this Franchise Agreement or

apphcable law wheflier arising beforeorafter thechangeofcontrol 3.4 5Required bonds secunties
and the

hkemust be mamtamed so thatthere is nogap in coverage if there will be any

change m the sameasaresult ofthe change of control 3.5 Intra-Corporate Transact ons 3.5.1 The parties find

itappropriate toexempt certamintra-corporate

transactionsfromthe transfer approval requirement as permitted by thecableordmance.NoCrty

approval shallbe requiredm connection wrth any addrtion deletionor consoltdation ofwholly-owned subsidiaries m
the ownership cham above Franchisee so longasthe conditionsinSection3

5.2 are met. 3.52To quahfy for exemption from transfer approval the followmg conditionsmust be met

35 2.1 Franchisee and the party bemg added to the chainof

control uncondihonally reaffirm

that Franchisee willabide by and accept the terms and conditions of the cable ordmance

and this Franchise Agreement 3 5.2.2 Franchisee and the party being added tothe chain

ofcontrol reaffirm that Franchisee shall

be responsibleforall ofFranchisee’s obligations and liabiliries known and 8

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  16



unlrnown under the Franchise Agreement and apphcable law for all purposes mcludmg but not

limrted to renewal under Sechon 626

3 5.23Required bonds secunties and the like must be mamtamed so that there

isno gap m coverageif there will be any change m the same as aresult ofthe transaction3

5.2.4 TheFranchiseeand party bemg added to the chain of control must agree mwnhng

that there shallbenowarver or release of any nght ofthe City whether such right arises befareor
after the transaction under this Franchtse Agreement or applicable law asaresult of the transaction and

352

5 The party bemg added tothecham of control must beawholly-owned subsidiary of ComcastCable
Holdmgs LLC and Comcast Cable Holdmgs LLC must agree to guarantee unconditionally the performance

ofthe Franchisee and party bemg added tothe cham of control 4.Franchise Fee

4.1

Payment toCaty.

Franchiseeshall pay the Cityafranchtse fee in an amount equal to five percentofgross revenues

as that term isdefinedm the cable ordinance asof the effective date of this Franchise Agreement sub ect

to amendments theCitymay adopttocomply with changes m applicable stateand federal law.

Fees or charges collected by Franchisee for PEG for sales taxes and for user fees assessed

by the FCC shall not be counted as part of gross revenues Gross revenues shall mclude revenue received

by any entity other than Franchisee where necessary toprevent evasionor avoidance of

the obhgation topayfranchise fees on all cable services. 42Cable Modem Fees

4 2.1 InaDeclaratory

Rulmg andNotice of Proposed Rulemakmg released March 152002theFCCstatedthat

cable modem service isnot acable service under the Commumcahons Act of1934as amendedand

imttated a rulemakmg to among other things examme States’ and local governments’ authority to regulate cable

modem service and the scope of the FCC’s urisdiction to regulate cable modem service.If

the FCC’s ruhng that cable modem service isnotacable service ismodified inafinal non-appealable

dec sion by the FCC or acourtof competenturisdiction to the extent Yhat cable modem serviceis

determmed to beacable service then the defimtion of gross revenues set forth mSection 11-6-2

BR.C 1981 shall mclude revenues Franchisee recaives fromprovidmgcable modem servicesm the franchise area m

accordance withthe FCC’s nxhngIfpayments are made pursuant to this Franchise Agreement

as providedform this Sechon thisFranchise Agreement wili bemterpretedto grant rights and authortzat ons

touse andoccupy the pubhc rights of way to provide thecable modem service on

which the feets paid.9

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  17



4 2.2Nothmg m the Franchise Agreement shall be construed asa waiver of any right

the City mayhave to assessa fee on Franchisee’s provisionofcable modem service consistent withapphcable

law43

Not in Lieu of Any Other Assessments Taxor Fee The franchise feeism addrtion toall

other fees assessments taxesor payments that Franchisee maybereqwred to pay under applicable law

sub ect toany limitations set forth in 47U.S.C. 542. 4.4Payments.Franchise fees

shallbe paid inaccordance with the schedule set forth inthe cable ordmance and late

payments shall be subject tothe addttional charges set farth in the cable ordinance. 4.5 No Accord

or Satlsfactton

Noacceptance ofany payment by the Ciry shall be construed as a release or an

accord and satisfacrion of any claim the City may have for further or additional sums payable asa franchise

fee under the cable ordinanceorfor the performance ofanyother obligahon ofFranchisee. 46

Payment Records. Subect

to Section 9of thisFranchise Agreement the City shall have the right from time to

time and upon reasonable advance written notice to mspect audit copyand review all books and

records of Franchisee reasonably necessary to the determinauonofwhether gross revenues and franchise fees

have been accurately computed and paid 4.7 Holdover Term. Durmg any holdmg

overafter the scheduled date for expiration or other terminationofthe franchise without the

consentofthe City Franchisee shall continue topay the franchise feeas set forth

above in addrtion to honoring all other provisions of this Franchise Agreement. 5. Construction Provisions 5 1

Provisionof

Servace Franchise Area

and Charges for Plant Extens ons.511Franchise Area Franchisee’sfranchise

area shall be thecorporate limrtsofthe CityofBoulder as theymay be

altered durmg the franchise term. 5.1.2 Except where Franchisee is unable toobtain

requiredeasementsor permits and sub ecttoSection 5.14 Franchisee shall extend
cable serviceto any residence withmthe City asofthe effective dateof this Franchise Agreement upon the
request ofapotential subscriber atrts then-preva hng mstallation charge for such service. There shall be

no chargeforextendmg plant to a point where service can be provided witha standard

drop or if closer toapoint on the property line ofthe potenrial subscnber from which service can be provided

to the potential io

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  18



subscriber. For areas where Franchisee has not extended its cable system as ofthe effectrve date

of this Franchise Agreement the foregoing will apply after January 1 2004.

5.1.3Fornon-residential locationsintheCity and for areas annexed to the City after the effective
date of thisFranchise Agreement except where Franchisee isunabletoobtam required easements or

permits and subject to Section 5.1.4 Franchisee shall provideserviceupon requestatits then-prevailing mstallation

charge but may chargeforanyrequired plant extension as provided m this paragraph. Franchisee

shall extend its plantatnocharge so thatit can provide service with astandard drop where
there is eithera mmimum density of twenty-five residennal units permile ar wherefifteen commercial

locations per mile agree tosubscribe toFranchisee’s cable service for one year at commercialrates.

Where these standards are not satisfied Franchisee may condrtion service extensions at the then-prevailing
charge upon the person or persons requestmg serviceagreemg to payapro rata

shareofthe cost of extending the plant toapoint where service canbe provided with a standard

drop Far purposes ofthis subsechon m areas where Franchisee has not constructed cable system lines as

ofthe effechve dateofthts Franchise Agreement each dwellmg unit withinamultiple dwellmg umt

"MDU" will countasa residential unitif and only if Franchisee can obtam access

to the MDU on reasonable terms and condrtions. Notwrthstandmg the foregomg Franchisee may charge any potential subscnber

locatedmamallor stnp mallforanylme extension greater than 100’

required tocross a parkmg lotto provide cable service. 51 4Franchisee is not requued to

provide

cable service to any51 4.1 occupant ofa mall orstrip mall

as setforth mSec6on 5.13 where such occupant is unwillmg topayits portion ofany apphcable line

extension costs 51 4.2 commercial occupant of commercial structures above the first floor

where msidewirmg necessaryto provide the cable service isnot already
present or where theowneroroccupant isunwilling to mstall orpay forYhe mside wirmg

necessaryto provide Yhe cable service 5.143 occupant of unlawful dwellmg unitsor 5.1.4 4potenhal subscriber

ma buildmg where Franchiseeisderued access 5.1

5Franchiseemust extend its plant so that service may beprovided tothe

subscriberat the lowest wst tothe subscriber that meets Franchisee’s techmcal standards unless a subscriber

directs otherwise If Franchisee contends that it cannot obtain the easementsnecessary toprovide service to

aparticular location Franchisee shallhave the burdenofprovmg thatitcannot

obtain those easements ii

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  19



5 1.6Nothmg m this Section51 shall be construed toprohibit experimentalor"test

bed" services being extended toa segment of the community durmg the period of the experiment

5.1.7

Exceptaslawful rate orders may otherwise provide the "then-prevaihng installation charge"isthe
lowest lawful charga that would apply at any given time toa particular class of users For
example if free mstallationisthen bemg provided for installations mvolvmg aerial dropsof125
feet or less any person requestmg cable service that couldbe served by an aerial drop of 125

feet or less and anyone to whom Franchisee isrequired toextend services under Sections 5.l.l

and 5 1 2 could take advantage of that mstallation offer Similarly if Franchisee has established a lawful

fee far mstallations that recovers additional costsfor sidewalk and other pavement cutswhich is

charged to persons throughout the City that charge may be applied ona non-discrimmatory basis. If apphcable

lawpermits nothmg in this Franchise Agreement prohibits Franchisee from establishmg separate charges
forseparate classesofdrops such as for example underground and aerial drops so
longas drop costs are treated consistently. Notwithstanding the foregomg Franchisee maynotcharge

foradrop crossmga paved partion of the roadway notto exceed sixty feet toprovide

service except for good cause shown to the City 5.1.8 Where electric and telephone

serviceiscurrently above ground buta subscriber or potential subscriber requests to locate

its cable drop underground Franchisee shall locate the drop underground butmaddihon

tothe then-prevailing installation charge Franchisee may charge the subscriberforthe actual difference

in cost of installing the underground rather than an aerial drop including the costs if
any of any easement necessary for such underground cable drop 5.19Franchisee shall construct and
extend its

cablesystem to low mcome areas atleast as quickly as it is extended to higher

income areas. 5.2 Construction Standards Franchisee agrees that 5.2.1 The construction

operationand repairof the cable system

shallbegoverned by the cable ordinance and in all events shall be performed

m accordance with all applicable laws. In addition without limitittg the foregoing atammimum Franchisee

shall comply with its Manual of Construction Procedures in effect asofthe

date of the Franchise Agreement orsuch other manual as the City may accept m lieu

thereof IEEE standards the National Electric Code the National Electrical Safety Code and any other applicable

safety codes. The most strmgent applicable code or standard will applyinthe event

ofany conflict except insofar as that standard if followed would result m a system that
could not meet requirements of federal stateor local law 12

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  20



5 2.2Subjact to this Section 5.2.2 wheneverfeasble Franchisee shallinstalltscable system underground

in orderto avoid damage from the unique wmd storms to which the City issubject

Franchisee shall at nocost to the City or adjacent subscribers underground its cablesystem when

poles to which Franchisee’s facilities are attachedareno longer muse far electrical or telephone plant

provided however that Franchisee waives no right toreimbursement from any fitnds raised

for undergroundmg pursr ant toC.R.S. 29-8-101et seq. Franchiseedoesnot waivetheright to claim the City

is obligated to raise funds pursuant toC R.S. 29-8-101 et seq forany particular undergrounding project.Franchisee shallexerciseits best

efforts to protect rtscablesystem from flood hazards by undergrounding creek crossmgs and

burying them deeply enough and with sufficient protectiontoavoid damage ma100-year
flood event But allof Franchisee’s cable system as of theeffective date of this Franchise Agreement

isacceptable until portions are replaced when the criteria ofthis Section shall applyto the

replaced portions. 5.23Franchisee shall mstall locate relocate and remove its cable system in

accordancewith the cable ordinance and all other applicable laws mcluding without limitation all

lawful street cut fees Franchisee shall not placeormaintain its cable system
including any poles or other structures m public rights of way or on private property except

m strict accordance with the requirements of the cable ordinance andall otherapplicable laws. 5.24

Franchisee shall restore and replace public and prrvate property thatisdisturbed

ordamaged during the construction operation mamtenance orrepair of the cable system wrthin

the times and in the manner provided in the cable ordinance Franchisee shall

compensate any entrty only to the extent of any in ury or damage caused by

Franchisee whose person or property is damaged by Franchisee orany contractor subcontractor or agentofFranchisee

in the course of the construction operation maintenance or repairofthe cable system

where the property is not fully restoredbyFranchisee This Secrion is not meant to
alter the tort liability ifanyof Franchiseetothird parties or ofany contractor or subcontractor to

third parries or to Franchisee 525 In an emergency or where the cable system

creates or is contribuhng

to an imminent danger to public health safety or property theCity may remove relayor relocate

anyarall partsofthe cable system without prior notrce however the City will make

reasonable efforts to provide prior notice The City isnot responsible for any loss or expense

associated with its removal relaying or relocation of Franchisee’s cable system under this Section norisit

responsible for restoring the property to itsprior condition after the emergency. 5 3 Conttnuary of

Service. 5.31Sub ect to the provisions ofSection 51

concerning lme extensions its

theright of eachsubscriber in the Cityto receive all available cable services from Franchisee as long

as the subscriber’s financial and other obligations to Franchisee are satsfied. Nothingmthis Sechon 13

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  21



shall limrt the right of Franchisee to deny cable service for non-paymentof previously provided cable
services refusal topay any required deposrt theftof cable service damage to Franchisee’s equipmentor

abusive andorthreatenmgbehavior toward Franclusee’s employeesorrepresentatrvesAbusive behavior mcludes
but isnot limited to use offightmg words or behavior taken by the customer that creates

ariskor a reasonable expectation that Franchisee’s employee maybeharmed.Inthe eventa

customer complams totheCrtythat Franchisee has unreasonably demed cable serviceaFranchisee will inform

theCityofthe precise nature ofthe srtuationbthe Citywillprovide the customer anopportumty to
submrtaresponse to the allegations andc Franchisee wili allow foradetermmation by the Crty

asto whether ornot the customer shall contmue tobedemed service. The City’s consent to withhold

servicefrom anabusive customer will not be unreasonably withheld. 5.3.2 Franchisee shall ensure that

allsubscribersreceive continuous umnterrupted cable service At the City’s request Franchisee
shall operate its system fora temporary period the "transiuon period" following the terminationofits
franchise oranytransfer as necessary to mamtam service to subscribers and shall cooperate with

theCity to assure an orderly transition from it to another entity. The transition period

shall be no longer than the reasonable period requ red to select another enuty and to
buld a replacement system and shall not belonger than thirty-six months unless extended by the Crty for

goodcause. Durmg the transirion period Franchisee will continue to be obligated to comply with
theterms and conditions ofthis Franchise Agreement and applicable laws 5.3.3 TheCity shallbe

entitled toat its

optionoperatethe cable system or designate another entrty to operate the system or revoke the franchise

if.5.3.31 Franch see for any twenty-four hour period willfully and

withoutcauserefuses to providecable service in accordancewrth this Franchise Agreement over

asubstantial portion of theCity 5.3.3 2 Franchisee abandons rts system.53

4 Nothingm this Sectton 5

3shallbe read tolimit any rights

the City may have to purchase the cable system. 54R ghts Upon Franchase Termanauon or Revocataon. If
the City revokes the franchise or

the franchise otherwiseCerminates the City shall have the following rights in addition to

the rights specified mthis Franchise Agreement or under applicable law 5.4.1 The Crty

may requ re Franchisee to remove its facilities and equipment atFranchisee’s expense.

IfFranchiseefails to do so withinareasonable period of time the City may have

theremoval done at Franchisee’s expense subject to any right of abandonment that may be provided for

under applicable law. 14

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  22



5.42 In the event ofa lawful non-renewalofthe franch seifthe Crty acquires ownership of

the cable system or effects a transfer of ownership ofthe cable system to another person any

such acquisihon or transfer shall baatfair market value withno value assigned tothe franchise itself

Inthe event ofalawful revocation if the City acquires ownershtp ofthe cable system ar

effects atransfer of ownership oftha system to another person anysuch acquisrtion or transfer shall

baatan equitable pnce. The terms "equrtable price" and"fair market value" shallbemterpreted in

accordance with 47US.C 547. 55 Notice

of Use. At least annually Franchisee will notify the City of any agreements for third parties
to useof its poles and conduits. Copies of agreements for useof Franchisee’s conduits or polesm

pubhc rights of way will be made available for review uponthe City’s request subect toany confidentiality
restrictionsm such agreements.56Contractors and Subcontractors

Franchisee shall beresponsible for the acts and omissions of all of its

contractors and subcontractors as ifthework were performed by Franchisee itself and shall ensure that

all work isperformed m compliance wrth and shall correct such actsor omissions thatviolate this Franchise

Agreement oranyordmance lawand regulation oftheCity and shall be jointly and
severably liable forall damages and correcting all damages by themasif Franchisee performed that work itself

Franchisee shall ensure that each contractor and subcontractor complies with the requirements

ofthis Franchise Agreement and any ordinance and regulation of the City in

the course of constructing operating mamtaimng and repairingthecable sysYem This Section isnot

meant toalter the tort liability if any of Franchisee to third parties orofany contractoror
subcontractor to third parties ortoFranchisee. Franchisee shall ensu re thatanycontractor orsubcontractor used

for workon construction operanon or repair ofthecable system is proparly hcensed under

laws of theStateofColorado and all applicable City ordinances. Each contractororsubcontractor shall

have the same obligations with respect to rtswork as Franchisee would have under this

Franchise Agreement and applicable law if the work were performed by Franchisee. Franchisee shall

mstitute procedures adequate toensure thatthework performed by rts contractors and

subcontractors complies with therequirementsofthis Franchise Agreement and any applicable laws.

6. System Facilities Equipment and

Services 6.1System Capab litces.6

11 Franchisee shallmamtain

an activated two-way capable cable system so thatallactive components onthe subscriber network

have aratmg of no less than 860 MHZ and all passive components have a rating of no

less than1 GHz. is

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  23



6 1.2Franchisee will maintainafiber to the node architecture with an average node

size of no greater than1 500subscribers pernode Franchisee reserves the right to change node

size maccordance with industry standards. 6.1.3

Theentirecable system must be two-way achvated and mustinclude the facilities and equipment except

customer premises equipment requiredtoprovide broadband mteractive cable services. 6.1

4Franchisee shall

mamtama redundant fiber optic link or equivalent technology between the Denver headend

and the Boulder secondary hubsite m order toprevent catastrophic service outages to the

entire Boulder franchise area due tovandalism storm damage construction related breaks or other
mterruptions mone of the fiber trunk pathways. If equivalent technology isused the

lmk must have all the characteristics mcluding without limitation the reliability scalability upgradeability

ease of upgradeability andscalab lity capacityand sacurity thatwouldbe
afforded byadedicated fiber opuc link 6.15There must be

reliablecontinuous auto-start back-up power at theheadend. Back-uppowershallalsobe provided ateach

nodeas activated through the use of backup power supplies that are suitably sized and locatedsoas

to carry therindividual loads for a mmimum of three hours.Inaddirion tothe extent technically possible

cable system active components shall bedesignedto parallel the power companygrid such

thata loss of power ataparticular achve component would hkely be accompanied by a lossof

power to the majorityof homes served by that component of the cable system61.6 The

cable system must mclude the facilities

and equipmentrequired to provide full system status monitoring of power supplies at the

nodes as activated The status monitormg equipment must at a mmimum permit Franchisee to identify

whereandwhen power outages affechng the node have occurred and when and where

thecable system has swrtched to battery back-up power supplies. 6.1.7 Franchisee must mstall and maintain

facilities andequipment lncluding without

limttationmodulatorsantennae amplifiers and other electromcs that permit and are capable

ofpassing through the signals received atthe headend without substanrial alteration

or deterioration thus for example the system shall mclude components such thatasignal

received at the headend in color may bereceived bya subscriber incolor

and a stereo signal mstereo . Facilittes and equipment shall be installed and operated so that subscribers can

receive closed- captioning and secondary audio. Any program-related data encodedmvertical or horizontal

blankmg intervals secondary audio signals andclosed-capnoned signals must be available to all

customers who subscriba to the services associatedwithsuch signals. 16

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  24



6.1.8Franchiseeshall comply with all applicable laws concerning system compatibility with
subscribers’ consumer electronics equipment. Franchisee shall provide the facilities and

equipment necessarytomake its services mcluding its customer services reasonably accessibleto
persons with disabilities. For example Franchisee should employ TTY or similar technologies to

permit commumcation betweenthehearmg-impaired commumtyandcablesystem representatives 6.1.9The
system

facilitiesandequipment must be capable of contmuous twenty- four hour daily operation wrthout
severe material degradationof signal except during extremely inclement weather orimmediately followmg
extraordmary storms which adversely affectutility services or which damage ma
orcable system components 6.1.10The cable system must

utilizefacihtiesand equipment generally used mhigh-quality reliable systems of similar design except

wheremconsistent wtth the specific requirements of this Franchise Agreement. The cable
system must have the level of reliability required tosupport a high-quality broadband information
service 6.1 11 Franchisee shallprovide as-built mapsof

thecable system without notarionof electroniccomponents inapublicly available electronic formaY compatible

with City geographic mformation systems and other City data systems The City
shallassert protection of confidential commercial data from disclosure under the Colorado Public Records

ActSection 24- 72-204CR.S. 62Transmission Technologies. Franchisee mayuse

anytransmission technology asthat

term is definedm federal law provided thatthe cable system
is constructed and mamtamed so thatrtwillhave charactenstics thatmall relevant respecYs meetor

exceed the characteristics ofthecable system describedmSection 6.1. Franchisee affirms thaYithas constructed

acable system that meetsarexceeds all the requirements of Section 6.1 IfCity determmes that

Franchisee has not constructed the cable system asrequiredby Section 6.1orhas failed to maintam

thecable systemas required by Section 6.1andthe City determmes that the cable system does notor

isnot likely tosatisfy Sechon 6.1 the Citymay declare a breach of the franchise and m addition to

exercismg anyotherremedy available to it order Franchisee toupgrade the cable system byatime specified by

the Cityand require such securihesasare necessaty toensure the work is timely performed unless the

Crty determmes that the cable system as actually constructed meets or exceeds the followmg chaiactensticsathe

cable system must be highly rehable compared to the most modern cable systems bemg
constructed b the cable system must have adequate mrtial activated capacity and be designed so

thatitcan deliver additional bandwidth toand from each subscnber wrthout substantial delay or

construction cthe cable system mustbeable to respond tochangmg subscnber needsand

interests withthemmimum delay or disruptiondthe cable system must be designedsothat power

outages affect tothe extent possible only those subscribers whoare notreceivmg power at their home

ande the cable system must be designedsothat the amountofrequired mamtenance and

17

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  25



the mean lime to repair is mmimized.

6 3 Emergency Alert System. Withm six months of City’swritten request at City’s costFranchisee
must installand mamtain an emergency alert system that can override audio and video on

all channels to provide an emergency alert that reaches only the City of Boulder while continumg to

allow participation in regional and national emergency alert systems If such a system is

mstalled at Yhe iequest ofthe City tha CiYy agrees thatit shall assume ali risks associated with operatmg

its EAS and shall be solely responsible forall liabihty arising outof operatmg the Boulder-specific EAS

TheCitywill operate the Boulder specific EAS in accordance with all apphcable state and

federal law The system must be designed and maintained so that local officials designated by

the City can activate the system remotely without the assistance ofFranchisee using a

telephone and secure password or bysuch other techmcal means asthe City may approve. The

system must be designed and mamtained so that the designated officials fromatouch-tone telephone

can activateapre-recorded text message andatsuch officials’ option an accompanymg hveaudio voice message

forupto two mmutes. The Crty and Franchisee shall meet periodically to discuss operational

proceduresforuse oftheemergency alert system As partofthose discussions the parries
may agreeon alternarive capabilities and actrvation procedures forthe emergency alertsystem In

addirion Franchisee shall provide emergency capabilities requ red under other applicable laws6.4
Parental Controls. In addrt

onto satisfying any obligaCions thatit has under apphcable law to provide parental control

devices or otherwise block programming onthe cable system Franchisee shall ensure that any

system for ordering movies or other pay-per-view programmmg is designed through useofsystemssuch
asPIN number systems to prevent children from ordering programmmg without parental consent. Franchisee
shall avoid theuseofchannels3and4for analog preview channels

that advertise adult programming 65Support Equipment and Facalities. 6.51

Franchisee must have sufficient trucks tools

tesYmgequipment monrtormg devices and other equipment and facilities and the trained

and skilled personnel required so that Franchisee complies with each and every requirement of applicable

law including apphcable customer service requirements techrucal standards maintenance standards and requirements
for respondmgto system outages This indudes the facilities equtpment

and staff required to aproperly test the system and conduct an ongoing and

active program of preventive maintenance and quality control and bbeableto quickly

respond to customer complamts and resolve system problems 6.52Franchisee must install and mamtam equipment

necessary

tomeasure its performance with applicable customer services standards that the City may

adopt from timetotime except that Franchisee may obtam relief temporarily from this

requirement if it shows that 1s

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  26



a tt has ahigh level of subscriber satisfaction b there are alternative adequate ways to review

rts performance or c for other good cause shown.

6.5.3Franchiseemust ensure thatits headend has adequate space and isotherwise properly designed

morder to accommodate the equipment and facilities necessary tomeet its obhgations under

this Franchise Agreement. 6.6 Technccal

Standards.The cable system must meetorexceed the technical standards set forth in

47 C.F.R. 76.601 and anyotherapphcable standardsas amended from trmetotime provided that nothmg inthis provision

ismtended to permit the Cityto exercise any authority that it is prohibited from exercismg under

apphcable federal law67Future UpgradesItis

Franchisee’s responsibility tomake such improvementstoitscable system asare necessary so

that the cable system performs as promised as subscribers to services are added.68 Testtng Requarements.

6.8.1 Franchisee shall

perform acceptance testson

eachupgradedand newly constructed area prior to subscriber connection. The tests must
demonstrate that the system components are operatmg as expected and that there is

no signal degradation on PEG channels from origination pomts to subscribers. Franchisee shall have the

obligation without further notice from Citytotake correcttve actionifanysegment

isnot operatmg as expected6.82 Franchisee conducts the semi-annual performance testmg

required by the FCCinJanuary FebruaryandJulyAugustofeach year.If

the Crtygives norice toFranchisee by December 15 prior to the wmter test period or by

June 15 prior to the summer test period the Crty may observe Franchisee’s Proof-of-Performance test required by the FCC. Franchisee

shall provide theproofofperformancetestresults promptly to the City uponrequest.69
Inspection The Ctty shall have the right to mspect the cable system

during and after its construction to ensure compliance with the cable ordinance this Franchise Agreement

and apphcable law and may require Franchisee to perform addrtional tests basedon
the City’s mvesugation of cable system performance or on subscriber complamts. 6 10 Interconnectaon. 610
1 Franchisee shali m accordance wrth this subsectron mterconnect

the access channels

of the cable system with any other contiguous cable system uponthe directrve

ofthe City. Interconnection of channels may bedone by diract cable connechon mtcrowaue hnk satelhte or
otherappropnate methods. The Crty shall not direct interconnectton exceptunder circumstances where rtcan

19

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  27



be accomphshed without undue burden or excessive costs to the subscnbers. Franchisee shall not be

requirad to mterconnect with acable system unless the operator ofthat system iswillmg to do so and

pays for its own cost of constructmg and mamtammg the mterconnect up to the demarcahon pomt.
Franchisee shallcontmue the mterconnechons with systems servmg BoulderCounty as ofthe effective

date of this Franchise Agreement.

6.10.2Franchiseeshall onlybe required to mterconnect access channels withanother cableor

open video systemmtheCitym the event that theCrty determines nits sole discretion thatrtwould be

economically burdensometortssubscnbers to construct and mamtain return lmesdrectly fromthe

ongmahon pomtsofthe access channels versusmterconnectmg wrth Franchisae Inthe event Franchisee

receivesadirective from the City to mterconnect wthanothercable or open video system m

theCity Franchisee shall immediately mrtiate negotiations withtheother affected cable oropen video

system or systems and shall report tothe Crty the results ofsuch negotiahons nolater than sixty days

after such mrtiahon. The receivmg cable aropen video system shall be responsibie for Franclusee’s costs

mconstructmg and mamtammg the mterconnect.If the parties cannot reach agreement on the

terms of the mterconnect mcluding compensarion and timmg thedispute shall be submitted tothe

Crty for determmahon and resolution. Additionally Franchisee shall onlybe required to mterconnect with
areceivmg cable oropenvtdeo system if the receivmg cable or openvideo system isprovidmg similar

supportforaccessas requ red ofFranchisee pursuanttothisFranchise Agreement Thts obhgation shall

contmue unhl the Crty determines that itisno longer economically burdensame toits subscnbers for

other affected cable systemorsystems to construct and mamtam lmesdirectly from the ongmation hnk

oftheaccess channels 611 Free Cable

Servtce to Certatn Factlatees. Franchisee shallatnocost to the City cont nue to
provideone outlet of Basic Service and Expanded Basic Servicetoall Crty owned and occupied buildmgs and

pubhc hbraries where such service isprovided asof the effective date ofthis Franchise Agreement as

shownon Exhibrt AIn addition Franchisea shall provideatnocost to the Crty or other

entrty one oixtlet of Basic and Expanded Basic Servicetoownedor leased and occupied City buildings schools

and libranes not mcluded onExhibitA upon request if the drop hne from the feeder cable to

such buildmg does not exceed a standard drop orif the Crty or other entity agrees topay the mcremental

cost ofsuch drop hne m excess ofastandard drop For purposesof the previous sentence "school" means

all State-accredrted K-12 publtc andpnvate schoolsOutlets of Basic and Expanded Basic Service provided m

accordanca wrth this subsection maybeused to distnbute cable services throughout such buildmgs provided

such distribution canbe accomplished wrthout causing cable system disruphon and signal

leakage and general techmcal standards are mamtained. Such outlets may only be used

foilawful purposes. Except as shown onExhibrtAtlus obhgahon to provide free cable service shall not
extend topubhc areas ofCrty buildmgs where Franchisee would normally entermtoacommercial contract

toprovide such cable serviceeg golf courses airport restaurants and concoursesand recreahon center work-out

facilrties 20

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  28



6 12 Provasaon of Broad Categoraes of Servces. This paragraph shall be mterpreted
consistenY with the limitations set forth m 47 U.SC544b2B.ui addition to such other service

requirements as may be contamed in this agreement Franchisec agrees to provide at least twelve

locally-availableFMradio stations or if lower the number oflocally available FMradio stations from

which Franchisee can obtam retransmission consent atno cost the term costs refers toa payment

made to an FM stahon for the nght to carry the station’s signaland does not mclude copyright payments

thatmaybe required.The availabilrtyofFMradio service onthe cable system shall
be pubhcized and the channel lme-up ofsuch FM stations shall be included m all channel lineup publicahons.

613

Uses of System. Upon request Franchtsee shall advise the Crty ofall acttve uses ofthe system

for both entertainment and other purposes suchas data transmission local area networks and

voice transmission. Nothmgin this Section 6 shall be construed to convey any regulatory power

to the City. If Franchisee believes thatCity is exceeding its franchise autharity with such
arequest Franchisee may seekappropriate redress.7.Channels

and Facilities for PEG Use 71

PEG Use 711

Franchisee shall activate and make available public educational and governmental "PEG"

channels to each subscnber onthe subscriber network asspecified in this Section 7.

The channeis provided under this Sechon are subecttoFranchisee’s rightstousethe channels for the

provision of services when theyarenot bemg used for their mtended purposes 712

The management of the PEG channels isthe responsibilrty of theCity. The City may designate

an enhtyorentities to manage all or anypart of the PEG channels The entrtyor entihes so

designated are referredtoas a"designated access provider".TheCitymay designate designated access providers
itmay designate channels provided underthisFranchise Agreement for pubhq educational government

or combmed PEG use. Nothmg herem shall preventadesignated access provider from
allowmg PEG capacity designated forapanc ular PEGusetobeused for other PEG uses. 7

1.3 PEG

channels shallbe provided onthe basic service tier except as theCity and Franchisee may otherwise
agree orif there is no basic service tier as partof the service provided to any subscriber.

Ifchannel choices are selected bya menu PEG channels must be displayed equally as prominently

as commercial channel choices offered byFranchtsee Itisthe responsibility of the designated

access providers to provide thenecessary channei mformation to Franchisee or its designated

menu programmer ma timely manner If it is techmcally feasible at City’s cost Franchisee will

alsoallow PEG program information to be displayed onanymenu 21

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  29



hstings offered by Franchisee that include such detail of commercial channels provided that

Franchisee directly controls such menu hstmgs or can cause such hstmgs to be mcluded. In such

event rt wll be the responsibilrty of the designated access providers to provide the program

mformation to Franchisee or rts designated menu programmer m a hmely manner.

7 1 4 It is the responsibility of Franchisee to transmit PEG signals from points
designated by the City and to deliver them without alteration m content or material degradation in

quahty to each subscriber m a forrrt and manner so that the subscnber may receive the signals
wrthout addihonal eqmpment or cost beyond that required to receive the level of cable services to

which the subscriber has subscribed.

7 1.5Except as expressly permittedbyapphcable law Franchisee shall not exercise any

edrtorial control over the contentofcommunicationsonthe designated PEG channels except for such

commumcationsas Franchise may produce and cablecast onsuch channels.Subect to all

otherlmitations of this Franchise Agreement the PEG channels may be used for any

commumcation m any form the full signal provided must be carried

7 1.6PEG channels may not be used to cablecast anythmg prohibited by federal law.

PEG channels may not be used to cablecast commercialmatter. "Commercial matter"means time

sold or used to propose a commercial transaction or for the express purpose ofsellmga commercial

productorservice. Nothing m this Sechon preventsthe levy ofa fee to defray costs ofYhe

City oradesignated access entity associatad with the operation activatron or maintenanceofPEG

channels facilities and equipment By way of example and not hmitation the parties do not mtend

to limit sponsorship announcements comparableto those that might be carried onanon- commercial

broadcast stationorto prevent schools from chargmg course fees and then dehvermg the
course via the PEG channels orto sohcrt financial support for the provisionofPEG access by designated

access providers and for charitable educahonalor governmental purposes The City agrees
that rt will not use or authonze useof rts designated educational and governmental access channels

forany far-profit commercialpurposesbythe City or third parties Franchisee shall have the right

to audit the useof such facilities toensure compliance wrththis paragraph which shallbereasonably construed

m accordance wrth Franchisee’s practcesinotherDenver-area urisdichons UsebyCityenterprise
funds and agencesisnot "forprofiY’ or "commercial" solely because the enterprise oragency has

more revenues than expenses orbecause the achvrty inwhichrtisengaged isprovided ona
for-profit basis by private entitiesm other communities orthe City. Nothing prevents the Crty from authonzmg

charges to users or viewers to pay far such non-commercial services such as fees forinstructronal

programmmg or charges to recover thecost of special use equipment or as the Crty may

be required to charge under apphcable law717 Aceess Channels. 22

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  30



7 1 7.1Sub ect to the provisionsof Sections71.9.2 -7.19 9on and after the cffechve dateof

this Franchise Agreement Franchisee shall providefourdownstream6MHz PEGchannels one pubhc

access channel one educational access channel and two local government access channels. The
City may require Franchisee toactivateanaddrtional6MHz channel for PEGuseupto

atotal maximum of five channels under the procedures specified below.717

2 If a designated access provider beheves that additionalPEGchannels areneededthe

designated access provider may filea request with the Crty Manager The City Manager will determme
whether additional PEGchannels shouldbeactivated considermg among other factors the

ollowmg the communtty’s needs and mtereststheutilization of Yhe existrng channels the plans of

designated access providers for utihzingtheadditional channels themterestofthecommunrtymadditional

PEGuse of thecable system whether it isfeasiblefor designated access providers to achieve their

goals by clustermg PEG programmmg mto blocks oftime so that the channel space can be

compahbly shared between multiple designated access providers whether several des gnated access

providers shouldcombme therprogrammmg ontoasmgleaccess channel and the impactof
the activationof the additional channels on existmg programming 7.1.73 Should theCity

Managermhisor her sole discretion find that activation o addrtional channels is justified

thentheCityManager shall provide htsher decisionm writmg and Franchiseeshall activate the

channels wrthm mnety daysofreceiving the demsion. Fianchisee may appeal the decisionof

theCity Manager tothe City Council wrthin thiriy days ofthe dateofthe City Manager’s decision

and if it doessomaydelay activation of the channels The City Council after reviewmg the decision ofthe
City Manager and afterapublic hearing mayin its discrehon approve modifyorre ect the

decision ofthe City Managerm its solediscretion If theCity Council orders Franchisee to activate addittonal

channels the channels shall be activated withmsixty daysofthe date the Crty

Council makes its decision. The decision shall befinal and unappealable. 7 1.7.4 Franchisee and the City

agree

that itistheir mutual goal to effectively and efficiently use PEG channels. Franchisee shall be permrtted
touse underutrhzed hmeonPEGchannels as provided below. 7.17.5IfFranchisee believes

that any PEG channel

hasunderutilized timeit mayfilearequest with the CityManagerCouse that

tme In response to the request the City Manager will considera combinarion of factors includmg without hmitation the

commumty’s needs and mtereststheutilizahonoftheexistmg channeis the plansofthe

designated access provider forutilizmg the channels mcludmg whether the underutilized capacityis bemgused for

mtermittent programmmg that could otherwise notbeeastly provided on the same basis

ifthe channels are bemg underuhhzed the reasons for underutihzation whetherit is feasible for the

designated access providersto achievetheirgoals by clustering PEG programmmg mto blocks of

time so that the channel space canbecompahbly shared between multiple designated access providers whether

23

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  31



several designated access providers should combme therprogrammmg onto a smgle access channel
and whether Franchisee is in full comphance with rts PEG obligations.

7.17 6 The Crty Manager shall render a demsion regardmg the request for utihzation

withmsixty days of receivmgCherequest Should the Crty Manager ftndm his or her sole discrehon

that a PEG channel or aportion of a PEG channel may be used by Franchisee then Franchisee

may begin usmgsuch time ninety days after receiptof the decision. Franchisee’s requestshallnot
be unreasonably derued Anypermission granted pursuant to this subsection for useofa PEG channel

ora portion thereof shallbeconsidered temporary. 7.1.7.7At

suchttmeasadesignated access provider believes thatit wishesto utilize the PEG channel time

currently used by Franchisee pursuantto this subsectionadesignated access provider may request that
theCity Manager return such channel orportionofthe channel forPEG use In response to

the request the City Manager will consider a combmation of factors mcludmg wrthout hmitahon the commumty’s
needs and mterests the utihzatronof the existmg channels the plans of the designated

access provider for urihzmg the channels the impact of Franchisee use on PEG use of

the cable systern whether rt is feasible for the designated access providers toachieve their goals by

clustering PEG programmmg mto blocks of timesothat the channel space can be compattbly shared

between mulhple designated access providers and whether several designated access providers should combme

their programmmg ontoa smgle access channel7.1.78The City Manager shall

renderhisher decision regardmg the matter wrthm sixty daysofreceivmg the request. Should

the City Manager findmhisorher sole discrehon that the PEG channel or portion ofthe PEG

channel shouldbereturned for PEG use then Franchisee shall surrender the channel or portion ofthe

channel asdirected wrthin nmety days ofrecervmg the decision. The designated access provider’s request shall not

be unreasonably derued. 7.1.79The decisionof the Crty Manager shall

befinaland unappealable as toboth Franchisee and designated access providers. Franchisee maynot request a

returnofachannel orany portionofachannel withm twoyears of the
mrtial activationof the PEG channels required by Section 7Tha CityManager may deny Franchisee the right to
uhhze all oraportion ofaPEGchannel ar revoke onthirty days notice an authorization to utilize

all oraportion ofaPEG channelif Franchisee isnot m full comphance wrth its PEG obligations.

71.7.10 In addition to the maximum five channels required above

a ifFranchiseedoes not carry GSPAN as partof its commercial service and C-SPAN

isavailable for carriage Franchisee will provide an addrtional PEG channel for thecarriage of C-SPAN. If

techmcally feasible Franchisee will downlmk and mseri C-SPAN on the appropriate PEG channelb f

Franchisee doesnotcarry C-SPAN2 as partofits commercial service and C-SPAN2 is

available for carrtage Franch see will providean addthonal PEG channel far the carriage ofC-SPAN2 If

techmcally feasible Franchisee willdownhnk and msert C-SPAN2 onthe appropriate 24

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  32



PEG channel and c if Franchisee does not carry the Radio Readmg Service ofthe Rockies as part
of its commercial service and rt is available for carriage Franchisee will provide an FM band PEG

channel for carriage of the service. Any additional PEG channels provided under this

Section 7.17.10 aor b will be offered on the Basic or Expanded Basic Service tier. 7.1 7.11

Franchiseeand theCity will cooperate to heip promote theuse and viewership of the PEG

channels. Consistent with this cooperative approach except where requiredby federal law Franchisee
shall not change PEG channel locahons without advance notice tothe Ctty Franchisee will also

cooperate withother cable systems and open video systems in theCrtyto attempt to develop umform

channel locations forthe PEG channels If Franchisee detennmes that achangetoa PEG

channel assignment is necessary it shall provide the City withammmum of sixty daysnohceand use

its best efforts to provtde 120 days norice prior to the ttme that public educational and governmental access
channel designationsue changed Franchisee shall payall costs associated with replacmg

oradustmg equipment as necessaryforthe channel redesignahon In addrtion Franchisee shall
pay the reasonable cost of replacngmaterials and supplieschangmg signs and remarketmg the

channels uptoa maximum of fifty cents050 per subscnber per channel changed. Anysuch

amounts paid by Franchisee maybe addedatFranchisee’s discrehon and m accardancewrth the

apphcable FCC regulations tothe priceofcable services and collected from such subscnbers as "external

costs" assuch term isrequired by applicable law. Franchiseeat Franchisee’s expense shall place the

City’snohcesofthe channel change onits regular monthly billmgs upon the City’s request. 7.2Return

Lanes for PEG Use.7 2.1

Franchiseeshall mamtam the achvated upstream hnks

set forihm Exhibit B. Franchisee agrees thatit will provide and maintam activated capacity

toenable transmtssion of a second PEG channel from each of the PEG facilrties located

at1000 Canyon Blvd and 2590 Walnut 7.22The Crty orany designated access provider may

upgradethe connechons at its cost. TheCityshall provide Franchiseeof itsmtent to upgrade

rts connections m wnhng. Franchisee shall provide reasonable access to and space atrts factlities

toaccommodate thePEG return line upgrade. The City may use the PEGcapital funds

provided mthis Franchise Agreement far any such upgrade costs. Franchisee shall upgrade such requested connections
matmely manner72.3Ifthe headendismoved or replacedFranchisee shall

transfer thelmk s tothe new locahon mcludmg without hmrtahon movmg termmal equipment andsplicing fiber as

necessary 72.4The Crty may request that Franchisee construct new return

lmes

for PEGuse. Such return hnes shallbe constructedattheCity’scost however the City

may use the PEG caprtal25

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  33



fitnds provided m this Franchise Agreement for any such costs. Franchisee shall construct such

requested return lmes m a timely manner.

73 Support for PEG Access.

7 3 1 Franchisee shall contmue to collect and remrt the current 0.5050cents per month

per residential and commercial subscriber untrla new rate is made effectrve as set forth below.

Following City Council decision made by mohon Franchisee shall provide the Citywrth upto

0 75 75 cents per month per residenhal and commercial subscriber for PEG use capital facihties
and equipment support.Any change inthe amount ofthis support will become effective sixty

days after Franchisee receives written notice ofthe City’s Councildecision Additional mcreases may

berequired by ordinance mcludmgamandatory public hearmgno sooner than 42months after

tha effective dateofthis Franchise Agreement toan amount over075 75 cenis but mno

event will the amount exceedatotal of 100 one dollar per residential and commercial subscriber per

month and such amount must beapphcable toall franchised cable operatorsmthe City. Any

change m the amount of this support will become effective sixty days after Franchisee receives written

notice ofthe Crty Council’s decision.Nofeesshall be charged ongratis accounts. The City shall

be solely responsible for all liabihty to any third party arismg outof theCrty’s use ofPEGuse caprtal funds

that will be collected and paid to the City m accordance with this Sechon. Anypayment under this

Section shall be due ona quarterly basis payable concurrently wrth franchise fees forsuch

quarter 7.4 Mascellaneous PEG Requarements

7.41 Upon reasonable advance

noticebut no more oftenthanonce per calendar year Franchisee will provide the City

wrthaninsert space m subscribers’ cable bills topromote PEG programmmg. Franchisee shall providetheCrty

with the prmtmg specifications for the mserts. The Cityshall beresponsible far the

content and pnntmg costsof the msert and forthe costof shippmg the prmted mserts toPranchisee’s billing
agent. TheCrtyshall oniypaymcremental mailmg costs if the City’s msert resultsinan mcrease

to thestandard maihng costs normally mcurred by Franchisee msendmg its subscriber bilhng statements. In addrtion

Franchisee shall use reasonable effortstoaccommodate PEG promotional spots received from the City

ona reasonable basismFranchtsee’s cross-channel ad avails uptoamaximumof100

30-60spots per year. Any such ad availsprovided for PEGpromotional spots shall be atnocost tothe
City orits designated access providers. 742If Franchisee makes changes torts cablesystem

that necessitate modifications toPEGfacilities and equipment mcludmg without hmitahon the upstream paths

Franchisee shall provide any addihonal facihtiesorequipment necessarytoimplement suchmodifications

within thirty daysofthe date that the system changes aremade

so that PEG facilities and equipment may be used and operated as intended mcluding among other thmgs so

that lrve and taped commumcations can be produced and cablecast efficiently to subscnbers By way
ofexample and26

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  34



not limitation should Franchisee cease delivery of allsgnals in an analog format to subscribers it

will provide the facihties and equipment necessary so that PEG signals canbe delivered m a digrtal
format

7.4.3Anydownstream and upstream PEG Channels provided pursuant to this Section may

befurther subdivided compressedordecompressed atthesole discretion and sole expense of

adasignated access provider Asa condition of Franchisee’s allowmg suchusethe designated access provider

mustfullycooperate with Franchiseemordernot to cause any perceptible adverse effecton
the performance of Franchtsae’s cable system andshall take no action causmg Franchisee to beunable

tosatisfy the performance requirements spemfied by this Franchise Agreement. 7.4.4 Except as

otherw

seprovidedm this Franchise Agreementthe channels provided for PEGuse except as

expressly provided with respectto the I-netshalibeat Franchisee’s cost 7.5Costs Not Franchase Fees Theparties

agree

thatany cost toFranchisee associated wrth providmg anysupport for PEG use required under

this Franchtse Agreement mcludmg the provision of the I-Net and payments made ontside this

Franchise Agreement for PEGand I-Net support if any are nota franchise fee withm themeanmg

of 47 U.S.C. 542 and fall wrthm one or moreofthe exeeptions listedm47U S.C. 542g28.

Institutional Network 81 Instatutaonal Network Franchisee agrees thatit willconstructan

mstitutional network "I-neY’

in accardance wrth the Cable Act as requested by the City at

rts actualmcremental construction costs. Additionally the parties may reach an agreement as to Franchisee’s mamtenance of

theCity’s I-net. The parties agree that the City mayuse PEG caprtalfunds

provided pursuant toSection73.1topay Franchisee for I-net capital costs directly related toan I-net built

by Franchisee PEGcapital fundscollected and paidtothe Citypursuant to Section731 may beusedYo construct
Yha I-net only if Franchisee constructs the I-net. 9. Operation and Reporting Provisions 9.1 Open Books und Records. Without

hmiting its obhgations underSection 2 Franchisee agrees thatttwillcollect

and make available booksand

recordsor mspechon and copying by the City in accordance with the cable
ordmance as it existed asof the effective dateof this Franchise Agreement Pranchisee shall

be responsible for collectmg the mformation and producmg rt.z7

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  35



9.2Tame forProductton. Books and records shall beproduced to tha City at the Boulder Mumcipal

Buildmgor such other location as the parties may agree.If Franchisee objects to a request

for books and recordsit must nonetheless produce the books and records requested unless the

City agrees that they need not be producedara court ofcompetent urisdictionrules otherwise Notwithstandmg

any provisionofthe cable ordmanceif documents are too voluminous or for secunty

reasons cannot beproduced at the Boulder Mumcipal Buildmgor mutually agreeable location
withm the City then Franchisee may produce the material at another central location provided

italso agrees topay the addrt onalreasonable travelcosts incurredby the Crty to access the matenals.

The parties agree that any amounts paid are notafranchisefee wrthin the meanmgof47U.S

C542 and fall withm oneofthe excephons thereto 9.3Reports

Requared.Franchisee shallfile thereports that itis required to provide under the cable ordmance

as ofthe effective date of this Franchise Agreement. 94Records

Maantaaned. Franchisee shall mamtam the records required by the cable ordmance as of

the effective date of this Franchise Agreement Franchisee shall mamtain records. required bythe

cable ordmance required toprepareall reports required under thecable ordinance and sufficientto
demonstrate whether ornot Franchisee has complied wrth its obhgations under this Franchise Agreement or

applicable law. Records shallbe kept for at least three years. 9S Relateon to

Pravacy Raghts. Franchisee shall take all steps required if anyto ensure that itis

able to provide the City all mformation which mustbeprovided ormay be requested under this Franchise Agreement

mcludmg wrthouthmrtahon by providing appropnate subscnber pnvacynotices. Nothmgin

this Section 95shall be read torequire Franchisee to violate47U.S.C. 551. Franchisee shallberesponsible for

redactmg any data that federal law prevents rtfrom providing tothe City 10.Customer Service

Standards 10.1

Standards Franchisee shall meet

orexceed the customer service standards of the cable ordmance and applicable law. In

the eventofa conflict among standards the stncter standard shall apply.102 Ascertaanment ofProgrammang

and Customer

Sattsfactton Upon therequest ofthe Crtybut no more often than

every two years Franchisee shall at the sole expenseofFranchisee undertake a suroey ofcommunity views
ofcable operations mtheCity includmg wrthout limrtatton programming response to communrty needs sahsfaction

and dissahsfachon wrth cableservices offered by Franchisee and customer service

Franchisee shall consult and cooperate wrth theCrtymdevelopmg and implementmg an ascertamment methodology.

The final form and contentof the survey shall beas mutually agreed

upon by Franchisee and theCity Franchisee shall provide the results of suchsurvey to the

City withm two months after completmg the survey. Upon request 28

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  36



Franchisee shall also provide a copy of results from any other survey of subscribers m the Crty
conducted mdependently by Franchisee withm the previous year. Any survey results conducted

wthm the Crty which are mtended for external publication shall also be provtded to the City.
Nothmg herem shall be construed to hmrt the nght ofthe City to conduct its own surveys at its own

expense. Nothing m this Section shall be construed as requirmg the renegohation ofthis Franchise

Agreement. Any such survey conducted may include subscnbers from other commumties in

addition to the City provided that the City’sresults are displayed separately. 11.

Rate Regulation The

City may regulate Franchisee’s ratesand charges as provided by apphcable law. All rates that

are sub ect toregulation by theCity must be reasonable and except as applicable law provides otherwise

canonly be changed wrth thepnor approval ofthe City 12. Insurance

Surety Indemnification 12.1 Insurance

Reyuared.Franchisee agreesto mamtam adequate insurance throughout theentire length ofthe

franchise penodas requiredby the cable ordmance as ofthe effective date ofthis Franchise Agreement 12

2Indemnificat

on. 12 21

Franchisee shall at its sole cost and expense except for the City’s habihty as describedmSectton 6

3 mdemnify hold harmless and faithfully defend the City its officials boards commissions commissioners agents

and employees agamst any and all claims surts causes of action proceedmgs

and judgments for damages or equrtable relief arismg outof the construchon mamtenance or operahon

ofits cable system by Franchisee its employees affihatesoragents copyright mfrmgements or

afailureby Franchisee to secure consents from the owners authorized distributors or Franchisees

ofprograms tobedehveredby the cable system the conduct ofFranch see’s busmessm

theCrtyormany way ansmg out ofFranchisee’s en oyment or exerciseofthe franchisegranted hereunder regardless

of whether the actoromission complamed ofis authorized allowed or prohibrted by apphcable

lawor this Franchise Agreement except in cases where liability is.a solely caused

by thegross negligence ofthe person or persons covered by the mdemmty orbresults from programmmg

contributed or produced by the Cityand transmitted over the cable system. 122

2 Without limitmg the

faregomg Franchisee shall atiCs solecostand e3cpense fully mdemrufy defend and hold harmless

theCityand rtsofficers agents and employees from and agamst any andall claims suits

actions liabilrty and udgmenis for damages or otherwise subjecttoSechon638 ofthe Cable Act

47 U.S C. 558 ansing out of oralleged to anse out of the construction operahon mamtenance or repair of its

systembyFranchisee its employees affiliates 29

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  37



ar agents including wrthout hmrtation any claim agamst Franchisee far invasion of the right of

privacy defamation of any person firm or corporation or the violation or mfrmgement of any
copyright trade mark trade name service mark or patent or of any other nght ofany person firm
or carporahon. This mdemmty does notapply to mtervenhon by the Crty m regulatory proceedmgs
brought by Franchisee or to the programming camed on any channel set aside for public
educational or government use or channels leased pursuant to 47 U S C. 532 unless Franchisee

was m any respect engaged in determimng the editonal contentofthe program or adopts apohcy of

pre-screemngprogrammmgforthe purported purposeofbammgorregulatmg mdecentor obscene programmmg

andexcept for programmmg contributedar producedbyFranchisee 12.2

3The mdemnrty provision mcludesbutisnot hmrted tothe Crty’s reasonable attorneys’fees consented

to by Franchisee and payment for any labor and expenses of the crty attorncy’s office at
thegomg rate for legal services m Boulder County. Such consent shallnot beunreasonably wrthheld 123

No Lamct

ofLcabtlaty. The provisions ofthis Section12shall not beconstrued tolmit the liabihty ofFranchisee

for damages 13. Performance Guarantees and

Remedies 131Letterof

Credzt. 13 11In

sahsfaction of the security fund requirements of ihe cable ordinance Paragraph 11-6-13 a1

B.R.C. 1981asthesameexisted ontheeffective date of this Franchise Agreement Franchisee shall provide aletter ofcredit

m the amount of 100 000 prior to the effecYive date of YhisFranchise and shall mamtam

Yhat letter ofcredit throughout the franchise term The letter ofcredit shallbema

farm satisfactory tothe City Attorney mcludmg wrthout limitahon specification of venue m Boulder andwitha

financial mstitution satisfactory to theCity The City may requtre Franchisee to mcrease the amount of
the letterofcredrt once every three yearsto reflect mcreasesmtheUSCity Average of

theConsumer Price Index The letterof credit set forth mthe Greater Metro Telecommumcations Consortium franchise may be used

tosatisfythisreqwrementas long as the Consortium agrees toprocedures acceptable

to the Cityfordraws on such letter of credrt The Crty may draw upon the letterof

credrt for the reasons and after providmg the notice specified mthecable ordinanceasrtexisted as
ofthe effective daYeoftlus Franchise Agreement Franclusee’s recoursemthe event Franchisee believes any takingof

security funds is improper willbethrough legal action after the security hasbeen drawn upon
pursuant tothe provisions of Sechon 131313.1.2 Franchisee shall provide proof that the letter of

creditcomplieswrth this Franchtse Agreement and wrth all requirements of the cable ardmance 30

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  38



13 1.3Franchisee agrees thatit shall not attempt tbrough itigationorotherwiseto prevent

ormhibit the City from drawmg on the letter of credit Franchtsee shall have the right to appeal

to the Boulder CityCouncil for reimbursementmthe event that it believes that the letterofcredit

was drawn upon improperly. Franchisee shallalso have the right ofa de novo court appealif it

believes the letter of credit has not been properly drawn m accordance with this Franchise Agreement

Any funds that the City erroneouslyorwrongfully withdraws from the letter ofcredit shall

be returned toFranchisee with mterest from the date of withdrawalata rate equal to the prime rate

of mterest as quoted by the Bank of New York within thirty busmess days of a final determmation

thaYthe withdrawal wasm error orwrongful. 13

2 Materaal Term.The letter ofcreditisamaterial term ofthisFranchise Agreement. 133

Remedaes. Inadditton toany other remedies avatlableatlaw or equity theCity may apply

any one of the followmg remediesmthe event Franchisee violates this Franchise Agreementor
apphcable law.13

31 Revoke the franchise pursuantto the procedmes specified in Sechon 13.5. Providedthat

any amendments tothe cable ordinance or the quasi- udicial proceduresoftheCrty codified at
Chapter 1-3 B.R.C. 1981must providethesame level ofdue process as isprovided under the procedures provided for
under the cable ordmance and quasi udicial procedures asthe sameexisted on the effective

dateofthis Franchise Agreement 13.3.2 In addihon toor

msteadofany other remedy seek legal or equrtable relief from any court of competent urisdichon 13.33

Obtain liquidated damages asprovidedherem

13.4Laqu dated Damages Because Franchisee’s failureto

complywith provisionsofthis Franchise Agreementwill result inmuryto the City

andbecause iYwill be difficulttoesYimate the extent ofsuch mjury the City and Franchisee agree to

the following hquidated damages for the following violations which represent both parties’ best estimate of the

damagesto theCrty resulting from the specified mury.Tomamtain that esYimate the
parties agree that theliquidaCed damage amounts arem 2003 dollars asof the effective date
ofthis Franchise Agreement mflated by the US CityAverage of the ConsumerPrice Indexand shall be

mcreased each year by the fullamount of the increase mtheUS. City Average ofthe

Consumer Pnce Index once mflation from the effectrve date ofthisFranchise Agreement has exceeded twenty percent Thus

treatmg 2003as thebase year mdcxed as100 the hquidated damages shall bemcreased m

the first year when themdex reaches 120 and once avery year after that year aseach

annual increase becomes available. 134.1 For transfemng the franchise wrthout approval1000

day foreach violationforeach daythe violation contmues.31

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  39



13.4.2Forfailure to comply with requirements for pubhc educational and governmental use

of the System 250 day foreach violation foreach day the violahon continues 13.43

Forviolatron of customer service standards 150per violation except for violahons of apphcable

customer service standards for which Franchisee’s compliance isnotmeasured in terms of

rtsresponse tomdividual customers 250amonth forany penod dunng which it failstomeet

applicable performance standards 13.4.4 Forall other

materialviolationsof this Franchise Agreement forwhich actual damages maynotbe ascertainable 100

day for each violation for eachday the violation contmues 134.5 The City may impose

hquidated damagesas provided m this Section13.45Wrthm fifteen days of the dateofa

noticeofviolation issent toFranchisee Franchisee may requestmwritmg apubhc hearmgbefarethe City

Council pursuant to the procedures specified m the cable ordmance. The Crtymayimpose liquidated damages accrumg

from the date of noticeof the violation after the hearmg unlessit finds that

athere was no violation or bdamages should not be imposed. Any amendments to thequasi- udicial procedures

of the City codified at Chapter1-3B.R.C. 1981 must provide the same level ofdue
processasis provided under the procedures provided for under the quasi- udicial procedures as the same existed

on the effechve dateofthe Franchise Agreement. Nothmg herem prevents Franchisee from raismg adefense to

the mposrtiono liquidated damages from thedaYe of violation based upon laches

waiverstatuteof hmrtattons orany other similar defense. Franchisee mayappeal any imposihonof liquidated

damages toacourtofcompetent urisdiction 135ProceduresProrto Revokang theFranchase.

135.1

The City shall havethe rightto revoke the

franchise forthe reasons specified in the cable ordmance as of the effective date of this

Franchise Agreement and mSection 13 5 of this Franchise Agreement pursuant tothe revocation procedures

specified m the cable ordinance Provided thatany amendments to thecable ordinance must provide

the same levelof due process as is provided under the procedures provided for

under the cable ordmance as the sameexisted ontheeffective dateofthis Franchise Agreement. Pnor

to mrtiahnga revocation action theCity shall provide Franchisee with a detailed written noticeof

any franchise violation upon whichitproposes to take action and asixty dayperiod

within which Franchisee may a demonstrate that a violation does not existor cure analleged violation

orb if thenature of the violation prevents correctionof the violation withm sixty daystoininate a

reasonable planofactron to correct such violation mcludmg a pro ected date by which

itwill be completed and nohfy the Cityof such plan of action or c show that

the defect m performance should be excused. However in any case involving repeated violations thetme period

allowed for cure 32

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  40



may be reasonably reduced at the election ofthe City and revocation proceedings shall follow the

process set forth at Section 11-6-12dB.R.C.1981 asamended.13.5.2 If Franchisee fails

todisproveor correct the violation withm sixty daystothe City’s satisfaction orin the

case ofaviolation which cannot be corrected in sixty daysifFranchisee has failed to mitiate a reasonable

plan of correcrive acrion and to correct the violation withinatime satisfactory tothe City

then the Crty may declare Franch see in default which declaration mustbeinwriting In the

event that the City declares Franchisee m default the City shall have the right to exercise any
other rights and remedies afforded tothe City in laworequrty. 13 5.3 At any time after fifteen

clays ofsendmg the written declaration ofdefault to Franchisee the City may revoke the franchisF However

withm fifteen days of the date the declaration issent to Franchisee Franchisee may request

mwritmg apublic hearmg before the Ciry Council pursuant to the procedures specified in

the cable ordinance. If Franchisee requests the hearmg Franchise may not be revoked until
after the hearing is conducted. The Citymay revoke after hearing unless it finds that a
there was no default or bthe default has been fully cured or there isatimetable for cure

satisfactory to the Crty. Provided that any amendmentsto the cable ordinance or the quasi judicial procedures

of the City codified at Chapter1-3B.R.C. 1981 must provide the same level ofdue processasis

provided underthe procedures provided for under the cable ordinance and quasi judicial proceduresasthe same

existed on the effective date ofthis Franchise Agreement Franchisee shall have the right toappeal

the revocarion toa courtofcompetent jurisdiction 13 6 Revocation or Terminationof FY anchise In

addrtionto

all oCher rights of the Crtyunderthis Franchise Agreement the City shall have the right to

revoke the franchse For the reasons specified m the cable ordinance asofthe effective date

of this Franchise Agreement forafelony conviction for defrauding or attemptmg to defraud theCity or

subscribersif Franchisee abandons the cable system or for any 24 hour period willfully

refuses to provide service to the City or any substantial portion ofthe Cityinaccordance with

this Franchise Agreement andas otherwise provided herein. 137Remedies Cumulative. Allremedies under the

cable ordinance and

this Franchise Agreement are cumulative unless otherwise expressly stated. The exercise ofone

remedy shall not foreclose useof another nor shall the exercise ofa

remedy or the payment of hquidated damages or penalties relieve Franchisee of its obhgations to comply with

this Franchise Agreement Remedies may be used singly or in combmation in addition

the Citymay exercise any rights it hasat law or equrty at any time

Except that the City is not entitled to recover damages for the same in ury under two separate Sections where

doing so would resultmadouble recovery 33

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  41



13 8 Relatton to Insurance and Indemnity Requtrements. Recovery by the City of any

amounts under msurance the constructionperformance bond the letter of credit or otherwise

does not hmit Franchisee’sduty to mdemmfy the City m any way nor shall such recovery relieve Franchisee

ofits obhgations under this Franchise Agreement hmitthe amounts owed to the City or
in any respect prevent theCity from exercismg any other right or remedyit may have 14.

No Evasion Franchisee

shall not take any action toevade any provisionof this Franchise Agreementorthe

cable ordmance This provision shall be read to prohibit among other thmgs Franchisee requiring

any subscriber towaive any right mcludmg without limitation privacy rights as a condition

of obtaining service but this provision shall not be deemed to prohibit reasonable mandatory

arbitration clauses as a condition ofsubscription. 15.

Rights of Individnals Protected No

cable line wire amplifier converteror other piece of equipment ownedor controlled by

Franchisee shall be installed by Franchisee mside a dwelling or other occupied structure without

first securmg tha written permissionof the owner of the property involved except in those

cases where Franchisee ispermrtted byfederal or state law to mstall such facilities and equipment

mside the structure without permission.16.

Miscellaneous Provisions 16.1

CompkanceWith Laws. Franchisee and the City shall comply with all apphcable laws and
regulations as they become effective unless otherwise stated herem. 162

Govern ng Law.This Franchise Agreement shallbe governed inall respects by the laws of

the State of Colorado. 163

Force Ma eure. Franchiseeshall notbe deemed in default with provisions ofthis Franchise Agreement

where performance was rendered impossible bywaracts ofterrorism or riots civil

disturbances unforeseeable shortageofmaterials or qualified labor withholdmg of necessary permits

and authorizations strikes floods or other natural catastrophes beyond Franchisee’s control
andthe franchise shall not berevoked or Franchisee penalized for suchnon- compliance provided that

Franchisee takes immediate and diligent steps Co brmg rtself back into compliance and to

comply as soon as possible under the circumstances with this Franchise Agreement without unduly

endangering the health safety and mtegrity of Franchisee’s employees orpropertyor the
health safety and integrity of the public public rights of way public property or private property.

34

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  42



16 4 Notaces Unless otherwise expressly stated herein notices required under this

Franchise Agreement shall be faxed ar mailed first class postage prepaid to the addressees

below. Each party may change its designee by providmg written notice to the other party

16.41 Notices to Franchisee shallbe mailed toComcast

ofColorado IVLLC ATTN

Local Government Affairs8000

E. Ihff Ave. Denver

Colorado 80231 With

a copy to. Comcast

ofColorado IV LLC Attn.

Legal Department 1500
Market Street Philadelphia

PA 19102 16

4.2 Noticesto City shall be mailed to. City Manager

Post Office
Box 791 Boulder Colorado

80306 16.5 Calculation

ofTime. Unless otherwise indicated when the performance or doingof any act
duty matter or payment isrequired hereunder andaperiod of timeordurahon for the completion thereof is

prescribed and is fixed herein the time shall be computed so asto exclude the first and

mclude the last dayof the prescribed ar fixed period of duration time. 16.6 Timeof

EssenceMatntenance of Records of Essence. In determining whether Franchisee has substantially complied

with this Franchise Agreement the parhes agreethattmeisoftheessence to

this Franchise Agreement. The maintenanceofrecords and provision ofreparts maccordance with this
Franchise Agreement isalsoofthe essence to this Franchise Agreement 16 7Captions. The

captions and headings of this Franchise Agreement are for convemence and reference purposes

only and shall not affect m any way the meaning and mterpretation of any provisions

ofthis Franchise Agreement 16.8 Enttre Franchtse Agreement.

ThisFranchise Agreement represents the entire Franchise Agreement between the parties.

35

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  43



16 9 Counterparts. Thts Franchise Agreement may be executed in counterparts

16.10Effective Date. The effective dateof this Agreement shall be January1 2004. AGREED

TO THIS1 I DAY OF pp20.
City of Boulder

By2e6
’.

City

Manager ATTEST City Clerk on behalf

ofthe Director of Finance

and Record APPROVEDAS T-p

FORM

A __ A3T OF OL DO

IV LLC Mary Whrt Semor

VicePresident36

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  44



ACCEPTANCE

Comcast of Colorado IV LLC hereby accepts uncondrtionally and agrees to be bound by all the

terms and condrtions ofthis Franchise AQreement dated this ’day of -YNW r
20C as granted by the Boulder Crty

Council.

By STATE OFe
o

._ss. COUNTY
OFyThe foregomg mstrument wasack owledged befare meaNotary Pubhq this -l

dayofu e._20U byar

_-Tle .S’l’Witness my
hand

andofficial

sealn-’-" Notary

Pubhc
My commission expires l 3i200 sealudeutbbdbobbV

L"p’b’UUy fp-p-pyy-ry GLENN
E.WALKER

NOTARY PUBLIC STATE
OF COLORADO Y mm ss on

xpresan

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  45



EXHIBIT A

LIST OF LOCATIONS RECEIVING FREE CABLE SERVICE

Offices located at

Mumctpal Butldmg 1777 Broadway
Park Central Buldmg 1739 Broadway
New Brdam Buildmg 1101 Arapahoe
Ateium Buildmg 1300 Canyon
Mam Libraiy Baildmg 1000 Canyon Blvd

Boulder Mumcipal Courts 6th &
Canyon Public Woiks Admmishative Center 5050 East

Pearl Public Safety Buildmg 1805

33’ Spruce Pool andYouth Services Buildmg 2160
Spruce Parks&Recreation Admmishatrve Offices
3198 Bioadway Parks Mamtenance 5200

East PearlEast Boulder Commumty Centei

660 Sioux West Senior Center
909 Arapahoe Carnegie Brancl Library 1125

Pme Street Meadows Branch Library

4800Baselme ReynoldsBranch Lbrary 3595 Table

Mesa Drive Murucipal Channel8 1000

Canyon Blvd Dauy Center for theArts 2590

Walnut SCPue S ation #1 2441

13th StFire Statron #22225 Basel

neRdPue Stat on #3 1585

30th StFire SYation #4
4100 Dailey Fixe SCahon #5

436519thFre Stahon #6 5145

N63rd Fre Station #7

1380 SSth Noxth Soulder Recreation CenYer
3170 Bxoadway SouthBoulder Recreat on Centei

1360Gllespie

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  46



EXHIBIT B

RETURN LINES

1 1000 Canyon Blvd to Comcast Boulder headend 33rd &
Walnut technology fiber modulatoi provided andmamtamed by

Comcast use sole useisupstreamtransmiss onofPEG

signal 21777 Broadway to1000 Canyon

Blvd technology coaxmoddemod provided andmamtamed by

Comcast use ielayofprogrammngoiigmatmg mCtyCouncl

Chambeis 31805 33id toComcaet Bouldei headend 33rd
& Walnut technology coaxmodulator provdedand mamtamed

by Comcast use x5 year on test basis designed as back uptomam
PEG facility at1000 Canyon mevent of emergency that shuts down

mam studio42590 WalnuttoComcast Boulder headend

33rd &Walnut technology fiber modulator provided and

mamtamed by Comcast use upstream carnage

of PEG signal 5 CUstadiumtoComcasC Boulder
headend 33rd&Walnut technology coax modulator provided

and mamtamedby Comcast use upstream camage

of educational access programmmg 6 G500EArapahoe

to Comcast Boulder headendYechnology coax modulatox prov ded

and mamtamedby Comcast use upstreamcamageofschooldsu ctboard meetngs toComcast Bouldei

headend

formseitiononGovetnmantchannel

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3J     Page  47



Attachment B - Ordinance 7785 (Extension)

Agenda Item 3J     Page  48



Attachment B - Ordinance 7785 (Extension)

Agenda Item 3J     Page  49



Attachment B - Ordinance 7785 (Extension)

Agenda Item 3J     Page  50



Attachment B - Ordinance 7785 (Extension)

Agenda Item 3J     Page  51



I

2

)
4

5

6

7

I
9

l0

11

l:2'

t3

1.4

L5

l.6l

T7

l8

T9

20

21

22

23

2;4

25

,26

27.

28

ORDINA}JCE N.O. 7952

AN ORDINANCE AN4E}IDTNG THE CABLE TELEV]SION
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF
BOULDER A}ID COMCAST OF COLOT{AÐO TV, LLC. TO
EXTEND THE îEßt\4. OF THE FRANCHISE; .{l.ID SETTING
FORTFI REI-ATED DETAIL S"

The Cþ Cöuncil finds thati

A. On Eebruary 3,20Ð+,the Boulder:CityCornrcil ("City') adopted OdinanceNo',7324
a.pproving the, grãtftof a nonoxslusive ûirnshise to Corncast of CoJorado fV, LLC ("Comcast')
for its conçqruotion and operation of a cahle tele.vision system within thç Ctty (the *Franchl$e").

B, Comcast has p. rêserved its right of renewal b5 timely filing a request with the Cþ to

activate the formal prooess for renewing the F¡a¡ehisc pursuant to fhe provisions of the Cable

Comnrunications Polìcy Act of 1984 ("Cable Act'),

' e. The existing'Franchise .was scheduled to e:çire onDecember 31, 201 1.

D. On Mafçû 1, 201t, flrç City.adopæd OrdinanceNo. 778'S-¿uÍtodzing the-ei-ty'man4ggr
enter into .a,twô-year Franchise, extension agreeinent wiih :Csmca.st since ,executetl to make

the gxisting Fra¡rphise s'chpduled t9,e1pire on Deæmbei 3I,2- 013-.

D, Ctty stâff'ailtl Comcast¡eþresentativei have discussed tl¡e renewal of the F¡anchise.
Each.has qgreedthaf its interests will be ser.ved by eXlendingthe existìngF¡.aochí-se fcr one ,

additional.'year.

E, The City Gouncil, having been advised of{fre.benefits qf cxtendi¡gthe existing
Franohise, is agreeablc to extendingfteten¡ of'the F'ràirchise until Decembe¡ 3,1,20J4, mcl
trmending the Franchise Agrpement accordingþ.

NQl]Ii¡, UMNSPOT.¡, BE.IT ORDAJI.IED;BY THE CITY CO1NCIL OF TI{Ð CITY

, O¡ EOULNER. COLOFKADO :

,sectisn 1.. The:City Gouncil adopjs, 'pprovêsj andar¡ho¡izes ihe city manqgerto enter

,nro ,,r"ã*franchise exteusion, entitled i'second A¡nendmentls the Frâtrchise Agrêement

Betwêen the City of Bouldeq Coloradp and Comcast of Coloiado W, LI;C Dated.Janriary 1.,,

2:,00i4," attached as E úìbit A..and inoorpoiate.d by this reference, extending tho ter.gr of the

X:\CÀIC^\G?952 te Corucast l.'f,ancJrisc-7S).öoè

Attachment C - Ordinance 7952 (2nd Extension)

Agenda Item 3J     Page  52



i
2

Ð

4

5

6

7

8

9

l0

11

T2

13

14

T5

16

t7

18

l9

z0

21

23

24

25

Franchise unîil Decenib.er 37.2û14. The.city manager is a¡.¡tbo¡'ized to approve any minor

ohanges arì may be necessary prior to final execution by the parties.

Section 2.

force and effècL

Exoept as spioifically mo.difred herebJ, the Franchise shall remain in full

26

27

Secäon 3. Neither party waíve.s any rigbt which ít enjoys under law as a rçsult of

agreeing to this Fr¿nohise extensiorl, and C,omoast shall not be requìred to f?le riny additiorial

request oi doqument in order to preserve ìts right of renewal under Section'626 of the Cable Act.

Section 4. Tiùs o¡dina¡ce is necessary to,pËotect the public.health, safety, a¡d 'welfare of

the residents of the cþ'.and covers maftens of locaj cqnc6m.

' Sectíon 5. Tlie City Counef deeurs it:appropriate thatthis ordfuiancê b¡ pubiished hyfi.Ile

only and.o¡dêrs thalcopies qfftis ordihancehe made avaílablein tle.ofüce,ofdrecíty'clerk for

public ínspeøion -dnd aiquisition.
ì

INTRODUCED RE.AD O}I F.TRST REAÐINIC, IWN OBNEBEO 
"UBjI.TST{EÞ 

BY

T.tTLe ONLYthls 3rd d¿ryof Ðpcemb:e}2013'.

K:\CMCÀ10-79i2 re Conrc¡stft¿nshiss709.doc

Attachment C - Ordinance 7952 (2nd Extension)

Agenda Item 3J     Page  53



ORDEREDEEAD ON SEEOND 
..READ]I\IG, 

PASSÞD, ,¿D.ÛPTED,

PUBL'ISHBD BY TITLE OM;Y this l?ilr day of Decombeç .2013..

I

2

3

4

5

'6

1

I
.9

.10

.11

.12

13

L4

I5

l6

ï1

18

19
l

20

2t

22

23

24

z5

26

zl

28

Attachment C - Ordinance 7952 (2nd Extension)

Agenda Item 3J     Page  54



 

K:\CMCA\o- Comcast Franchise Extension-709.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

ORDINANCE NO. _____  
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CABLE TELEVISION 
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF 
BOULDER AND COMCAST OF COLORADO IV, LLC, TO 
EXTEND THE TERM OF THE FRANCHISE; AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 
 

 
The City Council finds that:   

A.  On February 3, 2004, the Boulder City Council (“City”) adopted Ordinance No. 7324 
approving the grant of a nonexclusive franchise to Comcast of Colorado IV, LLC (“Comcast”) 
for its construction and operation of a cable television system within the City (the “Franchise”).  
 

B.  Comcast has preserved its right of renewal by timely filing a request with the City to 
activate the formal process for renewing the Franchise pursuant to the provisions of the Cable 
Communications Policy Act of 1984 (“Cable Act”).  
 
 C.  The existing Franchise was scheduled to expire on December 31, 2011. 
 
 D. On March 1, 2011, the City adopted Ordinance No. 7785 authorizing the city manager 
to enter into a two-year Franchise extension agreement with Comcast, since executed, to make 
the existing Franchise scheduled to expire on December 31, 2013.  
 
 E. On Dec. 17, 2013, the City adopted Ordinance No. 7952, authorizing the city manager 
to enter into a one-year Franchise extension agreement with Comcast, since executed, to make 
the existing Franchise scheduled to expire on December 31, 2014.  
 
 F.  City staff and Comcast representatives have discussed the renewal of the Franchise.  
Each has agreed that its interests will be served by extending the existing Franchise for an 
additional one hundred twenty days, scheduled to expire on April 30, 2015.  
 
 G.  The City Council, having been advised of the benefits of extending the existing 
Franchise, is agreeable to extending the term of the Franchise through and until April 30, 2015, 
and amending the Franchise Agreement accordingly.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

Section 1.  The City Council adopts, approves, and authorizes the city manager to enter 

into the Comcast franchise extension, entitled “Third Amendment to the Franchise Agreement 

Between the City of Boulder, Colorado and Comcast of Colorado IV, LLC,” attached as Exhibit 

Attachment D - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3J     Page  55



 

K:\CMCA\o- Comcast Franchise Extension-709.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

A and incorporated by this reference, extending the term of the Franchise through and until April 

30, 2015.  The city manager is authorized to approve any minor changes as may be necessary 

prior to final execution by the parties. 

Section 2.  Except as specifically modified hereby, the Franchise shall remain in full 

force and effect. 

Section 3.  Neither party waives any right which it enjoys under law as a result of 

agreeing to this Franchise extension, and Comcast shall not be required to file any additional 

request or document in order to preserve its right of renewal under Section 626 of the Cable Act. 

Section 4.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

 Section 5.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

 INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of December 2014. 

 
      
       Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk  
 

 

 

 

Attachment D - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3J     Page  56



 

K:\CMCA\o- Comcast Franchise Extension-709.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this ______ day of December, 2014. 

 
      
       Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk  
 

Attachment D - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3J     Page  57



K:\CMCA\Third Amendment to Comcast Franchise Agreement-709.doc 

THIRD AMENDMENT TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 
Between 

 
City of Boulder, Colorado 

and 
Comcast of Colorado IV, LLC 

 
This Third Amendment is made as of the ____ day of December, 2014, by and between 

the City of Boulder, Colorado, a Colorado home rule city (“City”), and Comcast of Colorado IV, 
LLC (“Comcast” or “Franchisee”). 

 
A. The City and Comcast entered into Franchise Agreement for the operation of a 

cable system within the city of Boulder dated February 11, 2004 (“Franchise Agreement”). 
 
B. The Franchise Agreement was set to expire on December 31, 2011. 
 
C. Comcast provided the city with the option to delay the renewal and extend the 

term of the Franchise Agreement for two years. The City approved a two-year extension of the 
Franchise Agreement on June 13, 2011, by Ordinance 7785, for the period through and including 
December 31, 2013. 

D. The City again approved an extension of the Franchise Agreement on December 
17, 2013, by Ordinance 7952, for the period through and including December 31, 2014. 

E. The City and Comcast are currently negotiating a new franchise agreement, but 
do not expect to reach agreement before the current extension expires. 
 

F. By this Third Amendment, the parties agree to extend the term of the Franchise 
Agreement for the period through and including April 30, 2015. 
  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and obligations set forth below, 
the parties agree to extend the term of the Franchise Agreement as follows: 

1. The second sentence of Section 2, subsection 1, paragraph 1 of the Franchise 
Agreement is replaced by the following sentence, to read: 

2.1.1  This franchise grants the right, subject to conditions, to construct, 
operate and repair a cable system in, over, along and under City rights of way within the 
City of Boulder for the purpose of providing cable service, and for providing an 
institutional network and other facilities or services for PEG use of the cable system, 
commencing on the effective date of this Franchise Agreement, January 1, 2004, through 
and including April 30, 2015. 

 

Exhibit A to Ordinance 
Proposed Franchise Amendment

Agenda Item 3J     Page  58



K:\CMCA\Third Amendment to Comcast Franchise Agreement-709.doc 

2. Except as amended herein, the Franchise Agreement shall remain in full force and 
effect. 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands to this Second Amendment on 

the day and year above first written. 

COMCAST OF COLORADO IV, LLC 
 
 

By: _______________________________ 
      Title:  _____________________________  

  
 
 
STATE OF ______________  ) 

) ss. 
COUNTY OF ____________  ) 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me, a Notary Public, this _____ day 
of ______________________________, 2014, by __________________________. 
 

Witness my hand and official seal. 
My commission expires: _______________ 
 
(seal) 

____________________________________ 
Notary Public 

 
 
       
      CITY OF BOULDER 
 
      _______________________________________ 
      City Manager 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
City Clerk  
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
______________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 

Exhibit A to Ordinance 
Proposed Franchise Amendment

Agenda Item 3J     Page  59



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3J     Page  60



    

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 2, 2014 

 
AGENDA TITLE 
Consideration of the following items related to the annexation and initial zoning of the 
properties identified as 1950 Riverside Drive, 4415 Garnet Lane, 1085 Gapter Road, 2200 
Emerald Road and 2350 Norwood Avenue: 
 

1. A resolution finding the annexation petition for each property in compliance with state 
statutes and establishing January 20, 2015 as the date for a public hearing and 
 

2. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only, 
five ordinances annexing the properties with an initial zoning as follows: 

 
a. 1950 Riverside Dr.  

Proposed Zoning: Residential-Estate 
Applicant/Owner: Seana Grady 

b. 4415 Garnet Ln. and a portion of the Garnet Lane right-of-way 
Proposed Zoning:  Residential-Estate 
Applicant/Owner:  Frank Alexander 

c. 1085 Gapter Rd. 
Proposed Zoning:  Residential-Rural 2 
Applicant/Owner:  Silvano and Elvira Deluca 

d. 2200 Emerald Rd. 
Proposed Zoning:  Residential-Rural 1 
Applicant/Owner:  Stephen and Amy Carpenter 

e. 2350 Norwood Av. 
Proposed Zoning:  Residential-Estate 
Applicant/Owner: Norwood Garden, LLC 

   
 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Chris Meschuk, Flood Recovery Coordinator – Community Services 
Bev Johnson, Annexation Project Manager 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  1



    

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this item is for City Council to consider the first reading of five ordinances (Attachment A) 
relating to the annexation and intial zoning of the following five properties: 
 
Location: 1950 Riverside Av. (LUR2014-00059) 
Size of Tract: 48,282 sq. ft. (1.11 ac) 
Zoning: Boulder County Rural Residential and proposed city designation of Residential-Estate 

(RE) 
BVCP: Low Density Residential/Open Space - Other 
NBSP: Estate Residential 
 
Location: 4415 Garnet Ln. (LUR2014-00061) 
Size of Tract: 45,711 sq. ft. (1.05 ac) 
Zoning: Boulder County Rural Residential and proposed city designation of Residential-Estate 

(RE) 
BVCP: Low Density Residential/Open Space - Other 
NBSP: Estate Residential 
 
Location:   1085 Gapter Rd. (LUR2014-00064) 
Size of Tract: 53,403 sq. ft. (1.23 ac) 
Zoning: Boulder County Rural Residential and proposed city designation of Residential Rural 2 

(RR-2) 
BVCP: Very Low Density Residential/Open Space-Other  
 
Location: 2200 Emerald Rd. (LUR2014-00065) 
Size of Tract: 54,851 sq. ft. (1.26 ac) 
Zoning: Boulder County Rural Residential and proposed city designation of Residential Rural 1 

(RR-1) 
BVCP: Very Low Density Residential/Open Space-Other 
NBSP: Rural Residential 
 
Location: 2350 Norwood Av. (LUR2014-00066) 
Size of Tract: 65,507 sq. ft. (1.50 ac) 
Zoning: Boulder County Rural Residential and proposed city designation of Residential-Estate (RE) 
BVCP: Very Low Density Residential 
NBSP: Estate Residential 
 
Per the state’s annexation statutes,, City Council is asked to consider the attached annexation resolutions as 
provided in Attachment B.  The proposed annexation resolutions initiate the annexation proceedings, find 
substantial compliance of each annexation petition with Section 31-12-107(1), C.R.S. and  set a hearing date not 
less than 30 days or more than 60 days after the date of each resolution. The purpose of the subsequent hearing 
is to determine whether the proposed annexations comply with state law and other annexation requirements. 
 
Staff finds that the requested zoning for the subject properties is consistent with city policies and with the 
zoning of neighboring city lots surrounding the properties. 
 
The ordinances to annex the properties are provided for first reading in Attachment A. The petitions are in 
Attachment C. The annexation maps are in Attachment D and the conditions of annexation are set forth in the 
Annexation Agreements in Attachment E.   
 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  2



    

On November 6, 2014, Planning Board voted unanimously (6-0, J. Gerstle recused) to recommend approval of 
the proposed Annexation and Initial Zoning applications. The staff memorandum to Planning Board and the 
audio of the proceedings related to the Planning Board’s review are available on the city website at the 
following link:   
https://bouldercolorado.gov/boards-commissions/planning-board 
 

Figure 1:  General Location of Subject Properties (circled in green) 
 

 
 
The property owner at 2140 Tamarack Ave. withdrew the application for annexation on Nov. 25, 2014 and is no 
longer being considered.   
 
Key Issue Identification 
 
1. Annexation: Is the proposal consistent with Colorado State Statutes on Annexation, as well as city Boulder 

Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) policies and the North Boulder Subcommunity Plan (as applicable)?   
 
2. Initial Zoning: Is the proposed zoning, pursuant to land use code subsection 9-5-2(c)(1)(A), B.R.C. 1981, 

appropriate as the initial zoning of  the subject properties? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  3



    

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following motions: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  

1. Motion to approve the proposed resolutions finding the annexation petitions in 
compliance with state statutes and establishing January 20, 2015 as the date for a 
public hearing.	
 

2. Motion to introduce on first reading and order published by title only, five 
ordinances to annex:  
 
a. 1950 Riverside Av. with an initial zoning classification of Residential Estate,  
b. 4415 Garnet Ln. with an initial zoning classification of Residential Estate,  
c. 1085 Gapter Rd. with an initial zoning classification of Residential Rural 2,  
d. 2200 Emerald Rd. with an initial zoning classification of Residential Rural 1, 

and 
e. 2350 Norwood Av. with an initial zoning classification of Residential Estate.  
 

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 
 Economic:  It is in the interest of the city to annex properties in county enclaves and along the edge of the 

city to improve efficiency in city service provision.   
 Environmental:  There are environmental benefits of having properties connected to city water and sewer, 

specifically, the avoidance of the potential environmental and public health impacts of failed septic systems 
and contaminated wells.   

 Social:  The provision of safe and reliable public water and sewer is a benefit to every community member 
and the general public. 
 

OTHER IMPACTS 
 
 Fiscal: City services are existing and available to this site. City property taxes will be paid once the 

properties are annexed.  Landowners of four properties will finance payment of city utility connection fees 
through a 10-year payment plan offered by the city.   

 Staff time:  The annexation application has been processed through a special offer to landowners where the 
administrative fees were waived ($6,580 per property). General fund revenues have been allocated to 
provide the staff time to process the applications.   

 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
 
Annexations are subject to a city Planning Board recommendation prior to City Council action. The Planning 
Board hearing was held on Nov. 6, 2014.  Three members of the community spoke at the public hearing.  All 
speakers were residents of the Githens Acres neighborhood and expressed concerns regarding the city’s policy 
and practice of acquiring Silver Lake Ditch rights, and one speaker spoke regarding the history of the Garnet 
Lane street closure and the agreement to remain closed.   
 
Planning Board made the following motions: 
 
On a motion by J. Putnam, seconded by B. Bowen, the Planning Board voted 6-0 (J. Gerstle recused) to 
recommend that City Council approve the six proposed annexations subject to the annexation conditions in the 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  4



    

respective annexation agreements attached to the staff memorandum with initial zoning of RR-1, RR-2, or RE 
as specifically proposed for each property in the staff memo with the exception that the Planning Board takes no 
position regarding acquiring rights of first refusal for ditch rights and recommends that City Council 
specifically consider that issue. 
 
On a motion by B. Bowen, seconded by J. Putnam, the Planning Board voted 6-0 (J. Gerstle recused) to 
recommend that the city recognize the cultural, historical, natural and civic value of the ditch systems and 
advocate for their preservation.  
 
On a motion by L. May, seconded by L. Payton, the Planning Board voted 2-4 (L. May and L. Payton in 
support, J. Gerstle recused) to register concerns about how, through the annexation process, the city obtains 
first right of refusal to purchase ditch shares.  The motion failed.  The board members who voted against the 
motion expressed concern that the recommendation was outside their area of expertise and core competence, 
and that the issue is more within the purview of the Water Resources Advisory Board and City Council.     
 
Information regarding the Silver Lake Ditch and the city’s settlement agreement with the ditch company can be 
found at the end of the Analysis section.  
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
 
All notice requirements of section 9-4-3, “Public Notice Requirements,” B.R.C. 1981 have been met. 
Compliance with these requirements included public notice in the form of written notification mailed to all 
property owners within 600 feet of the subject property, and a sign posted on the property for at least 10 days 
prior to the public hearing as required. Feedback was received from six community members regarding 
acquisition of Silver Lake Ditch rights and annexation of Garnet Lane.  One applicant submitted comments.  All 
comments are included in Attachment G. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
After the September 2013 floods, several homeowners in Boulder County contacted city staff about the 
possibility of annexing to the city in order to connect to city water and wastewater services.  Many homeowners 
outside the city, especially in enclave areas, experienced damage to their wells or septic systems.  In response to 
these requests, staff put together a special annexation package and offered it to approximately 160 property 
owners in enclave areas and in the Old Tale Road and Cherryvale Road neighborhoods.   
 
Annexations are very staff resource intensive and, therefore, have a significant fee to recover the costs.  City 
staff, with the support of City Council offered to waive the annexation administration fee ($6,580 per 
household) to support flood recovery efforts and help people recover, with the understanding that these 
applications would be processed as a group annexation to streamline staff resources.  In addition to fee and 
excise tax waivers, the city offered to finance most of the costs related to water and wastewater utility 
connection.  Residents choosing to annex under this offer have three options:   
 

A) Connect to city utilities shortly upon annexation and pay the city back in full,  
B) Connect to city utilities shortly upon annexation and finance all or part of the connection costs 

through the city, or  
C) Annex now and defer connection and payment to some future time (redevelopment or sale of home 

or failure of onsite wastewater system).  (Note: No applicants are completely deferring connection) 
 
Approximately eight property owners showed interest in moving forward, some because of damage to their well 
and septic systems.  Two properties (2130 Tamarack Av. and 4270 19th St.) were annexed by emergency 
ordinance in August 2014 because of the condition of their well and septic systems.  One property owner (2140 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  5



    

Tamarack Av.) withdrew their petition on Nov. 25, 2014.  The remaining five properties are the subject of the 
current request for annexation. 
 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
1. Existing Conditions 
 

a. 1950 Riverside Av. and 4415 Garnet Ln. 
These two properties are located in North Boulder immediately adjacent to, but not within, the Githens 
Acres county enclave (see Figure 1).  Both properties are currently developed with a single family 
residence and have the potential to subdivide and add two additional units each.   

 
Figure 1:  1950 Riverside Av. and 4415 Garnet Ln. - Existing Conditions 

 
The proposed zoning for these properties is Residential-Estate (RE), which allows 2.9 units per acre, and 
is consistent with the BVCP land use designation of Low Density Residential (2-6 units per acre) on 
both properties (Figure 2). Both parcels have an Open Space – Other land use designation1  on a portion 
of the properties.  The Open Space-Other designation is intended to protect the natural qualities of the 
Wonderland Creek drainageway, however Wonderland Creek is not located on either property2 

 

                                                           
1 “Open Space–Other” land use designations were given to certain private properties, prior to 1981, that the city and county would 
like to preserve for open space purposes through various preservation methods including but not limited to intergovernmental 
agreements, dedications or acquisitions.  Open Space designations indicate that the long-term use of the land is planned to serve one or 
more open space functions.  In the case of the subject properties, the OS-O designation is intended to help preserve the natural 
qualities of the drainageway and to prevent further encroachment on the floodplain.   
 
2 This discrepancy is due to an error in the original digital mapping of the land use map. 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  6



    

 
Figure 2:  1950 Riverside Av. and 4415 Garnet Ln. - Land Use Designations 

 
Neither property is in the regulated floodplain. However, because a portion of 1950 Riverside Av. is 
within 60 ft. of the creek, an access and flood maintenance easement for Wonderland Creek is being 
dedicated.  A utility easement for the existing sewer line along the south side of both properties will also 
be dedicated.  
 
Garnet Lane is currently under Boulder County jurisdiction.  Boulder County staff has requested that the 
city annex the portion of the road that fronts 4415 Garnet Ln. and the property to the north since the road 
will service properties within the city. City staff is recommending annexation of this portion of the road.  
The portion of the road proposed for annexation includes an existing road barrier that was erected by the 
county over 20 years ago to prevent cut-through traffic in Githens Acres between 19th and 26th streets.  
The closure was erected in response to a neighborhood request to address traffic and safety concerns in 
their neighborhood.   

 
The concern that this road barrier may be removed once the road is in the city has been a primary 
concern of the Githens Acres neighborhood over the years and a factor in their past decision not to 
annex. The city has stated that while it will not guarantee permanent closure of this road as a condition 
of annexation (which the neighborhood has requested in the past), staff has no intention of removing the 
barrier in the near future.   

 
b. 1085 Gapter Rd.  

This property is located in the Gapter Road neighborhood (Figure 3). The proposed zoning of the site is 
Rural Residential, which is consistent with the BVCP land use designation of Very Low Density 
Residential.   
 

Githens Acres

4415 Garnet Ln.

1950 Riverside 

Riverside Av.

G
ar

ne
t L

n.

Topaz Av.

Emerald Av.

19
th

 S
t.

Low Density
Residential

Very Low Density
Residential

Open Space - Other

Agenda Item 3K     Page  7



    

 
Figure 3: 1085 Gapter Rd. 

 
South Boulder Creek runs through the property and the property is entirely within the conveyance and 
high hazard flood zones (Figure 4). The existing home on the property is within the high hazard flood 
zone and was severely damaged from the September 2013 floods.  Once in the city, the landowner will 
be prohibited from expanding, enlarging, or making substantial modifications to the home (Boulder 
Revised Code, Subsection 9-3-5d).  A flood maintenance easement of 60 ft. to either side of the 
centerline of the creek is being dedicated to the city. 

 

 
Figure 4:  1085 Gapter Rd. Flood Zones 

 
c. 2200 Emerald Rd. 

This property is located in the Githens Acres enclave and is surrounded on three sides by properties also 
under county jurisdiction.  The property is developed with a single family residence. The proposed 
zoning for this property is Residential-Rural 1 (RR-1), which is consistent with the BVCP land use 
designation of Very Low Density Residential. The parcel has an Open Space – Other land use 
designation running through it which, similar to the above properties, does not correspond with the 
location of Wonderland Creek to the south of the property (Figure 5).  A flood maintenance easement 
over the portion of the property within 60 ft. of the centerline of the creek is being dedicated.  The 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  8



    

property has no subdivision potential because of the size of the lot and the proposed zoning.  In addition, 
roughly ½ of the property is in the conveyance and high hazard flood zone (Figure 6).   
 

 
Figure 5:  2200 Emerald Rd. 

 

 
Figure 6:  2200 Emerald Rd. flood zones 

d. 2350 Norwood Av. 
This property is located in North Boulder across the street from Centennial Middle School.  A single 
family residence is located on the property.  The septic system on the property is currently inoperable; 
therefore, no one is living at the residence.  A 30 ft. wide right-of-way along the entire north side of the 
property is being dedicated. The right-of-way area is currently within the city limits (Figure 7). 
 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  9



    

 
Figure 7:  2350 Norwood Av. 

 
The Transportation Master Plan and North Boulder Subcommunity Plan shows a pedestrian connection 
through the property between Norwood Avenue and 23rd Street (see green dashed line in Figure 8).  The 
city is requesting a 16 foot wide easement along the western edge and a portion of the southern edge of 
the property for the purpose of a multi-use path connection between Norwood and 23rd St.  16 feet is the 
standard width for an easement in order to construct a 12’ wide multi-use path, with 2’ shoulders, 
as indicated in the city’s Design and Construction Standards.  The property owner has offered to 
dedicate in fee a 4 ft. wide right-of-way instead of a 16 ft. wide easement, however, that would not meet 
the city’s standards or provide adequate width for a multi-use path.  The annexation agreement states 
that property owner will be required to construct this path at the time of redevelopment.  For additional 
information see an attached letter from the applicant in Attachment H. 
 
 

 
Figure 8:  2350 Norwood Av. – Proposed Multi-use Path Connection 

 
2. Future Development Potential 

The following properties have future development potential under the respective proposed zoning and have 
agreed to provide community benefit in the form of two times the cash in-lieu contribution as set forth in the 

Area of right‐of‐way dedication

Agenda Item 3K     Page  10



    

city’s inclusionary zoning ordinance to the Housing Trust Fund for any additional units on the properties at 
the time of building permit, consistent with the City of Boulder Guidelines for Annexation Agreements 
which were endorsed by Planning Board and City Council in 2002 and which outline general guidelines for 
city staff, landowners, Planning Board and City Council in future individual annexation negotiations, 
addressing, in particular, community benefit requirements to be shown upon annexation. 

 
 1950 Riverside Av.  - 2 additional units 
 Size of Tract:  48,282 sq. ft. (1.11 ac) 

Proposed Zoning: Residential-Estate (RE) 
 
4415 Garnet Ln.  2 additional units 
Size of Tract:  45,711 sq. ft. (1.05 ac) 
Proposed Zoning: Residential-Estate (RE) 
 
2350 Norwood Av.  2 additional units 
Size of Tract:  53,200 sq. ft. (1.22 ac) 
Proposed Zoning: Residential-Estate (RE) 

 
3. Key Issues: 
 

a. Is the proposed annexation consistent with state statutes pertaining to the annexation of a 
property into the City of Boulder? 

 
Annexations must comply with the Municipal Annexation Act of 1965, section 31-12-101, et. seq., 
C.R.S.  Staff has reviewed the annexation petitions for compliance with section 31-12-104, section 31-
12-105, 31-12-106, and 31-12-107 C.R.S., as applicable, and finds the applications are each consistent 
with the statutory requirements.  
 
Four of the five properties are developed with a single residential dwelling unit and are part of Boulder 
County enclaves that have been entirely contained within the outer boundaries of the City of Boulder for 
at least three years.  The right-of- way to be annexed with 4415 Garnet Ln. is also part of a Boulder 
County enclave.  One property (1085 Gapter Rd.) is developed with a single family residential dwelling 
unit but is not an enclave.  The property meets the eligibility requirement of having at least 1/6 
contiguity with the city limits.  Four of the five properties are located in North Boulder.  The five 
properties indicated in Figure 9 have been enclaves since at least 2000.  All municipal territory 
surrounding the enclaves was annexed in compliance with section 30 of article II Colorado constitution.  
Therefore, these properties meet the statutory requirements and are eligible for annexation as enclaves. 

 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  11



    

 
Figure 9 

 
1085 Gapter Rd. (Figure 10) is not an enclave, but is also at least 1/6 contiguous with the city limits. 

 

 
Figure 10 

 
Consistent with state law, the landowners of more than 50 percent of the area to be annexed, excluding 
public streets, have petitioned to annex.  Each such petition was filed with the City Clerk.  There is a 
community interest in annexation of each property proposed for annexation and the City of Boulder.  
None of the properties proposed to be annexed are included in another annexation proceeding involving 
a municipality other than the City of Boulder.   
 
Water and sewer services are available to serve four of the five properties.  Sewer services are available 
to serve 2200 Emerald, but water is not available at this time for that property because of its location in 
the Githens Acres enclave where there are no water mains in the streets.   
 
Four of the subject properties are not in the municipal subdistrict of the Northern Colorado Water 
Conservancy District (NCWCD).  One property is neither in the subdistrict or the district.   Petitions for 
inclusion in the district and subdistrict have been filed with the NCWCD office. 
 
The subject properties would continue to be served by the Boulder Valley School District.  

1085 Gapter Rd. 

1950 Riverside Dr. 

4415 Garnet Ln. 

2200 Emerald Av. 

2350 Norwood Av.

Agenda Item 3K     Page  12



    

 
Finally, these annexations do not have the effect of extending the municipal boundary more than three 
miles in any direction from any point of the City of Boulder’s boundary in any one year. 

 
b. Is the proposed annexation consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan? 
 

Land Use Designation. The proposed zoning on all the properties is consistent with the BVCP land use 
designations (see page 2 for proposed zoning and current land use designations). 
 
BVCP Policies 
Annexation of land must be consistent with the following policies shown in bold italic, with consistency 
of the proposed annexation following: 

 
1.18 Growth Requirements. The overall effect of urban growth must add significant value to the 
community, improving quality of life. The city will require development and redevelopment as a 
whole to provide significant community benefits and to maintain or improve environmental 
quality as a precondition for further housing and community growth.  
 
The community, environmental, and public health quality will be enhanced with the annexation of 
these properties, with the requirement for use of city water and sewer services and to eliminate the 
potential for failing septic systems on residential properties.  In addition, the properties with further 
development potential will be providing community benefit in the form of two times the cash in-lieu 
contribution as set forth in the city’s inclusionary zoning ordinance to the Housing Trust Fund for 
any additional units on the properties at the time of building permit as well as the following: 
 
1. 1950 Riverside Av. – flood and utility easements 
2. 4415 Garnet Ln. – ditch and utility easements 
3. 2350 Norwood Av. – right-of-way dedication and multi-use path easement 

 
1.24 Annexation.  The applicable policies (a, b, c and e) in regard to annexation to be pursued by 
the city are: 

 
a) Annexation will be required before adequate facilities and services are furnished. 
 
Full city services will be available to the subject properties with annexation.  Water service will not 
be available to 2200 Emerald until water mains are constructed in the Githens Acres enclave. 
 
b) The city will actively pursue annexation of county enclaves, Area II properties along the 
western boundary, and other fully developed Area II properties. County enclave means an 
unincorporated area of land entirely contained within the outer boundary of the city. Terms of 
annexation will be based on the amount of development potential as described in (c), (d), and (e) 
of this policy. 
 
These properties are either part of an existing county enclave or in fully developed Area II 
neighborhoods, thus annexation of the properties would further this policy. 

 
c) Annexation of existing substantially developed areas will be offered in a manner and on terms 
and conditions that respect existing lifestyles and densities. The city will expect these areas to be 
brought to city standards only where necessary to protect the health and safety of the residents of 
the subject area or of the city. The city, in developing annexation plans of reasonable cost, may 
phase new facilities and services. The county, which now has jurisdiction over these areas, will be 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  13



    

a supportive partner with the city in annexation efforts to the extent the county supports the terms 
and conditions being proposed. 
 
The proposed zoning of all the properties will reflect the existing development pattern most 
appropriate for their respective neighborhoods. Upon annexation, Three of the five properties will 
connect to both city water and sewer as per city standards and discontinue use of well and septic 
systems on the properties. Two properties (1085 Gapter Rd. and 2200 Emerald Av.) will connect 
only to city sewer.  4415 Garnet Ln. is already on city sewer and will connect to city water.  Under 
the annexation agreement, all properties (except 2200 Emerald Av.) must connect to both water and 
sewer if the property is sold.   
 
 e) Annexation of substantially developed properties that allows for some additional residential 
units or commercial square footage will be required to demonstrate community benefit 
commensurate with their impacts. Further, annexations that resolve an issue of public health 
without creating additional development impacts should be encouraged. 
 
Three of the five properties are large enough to subdivide into at least two lots under the proposed 
zoning. The Planning Board and City Council approved the “Guidelines for Annexation 
Agreements” in June 2002 which outline the community benefit requirements for substantially 
developed residential properties.  Consistent with these policies, the annexation agreements for the 
subject properties will be required to pay two times the cash in-lieu contribution as set forth in the 
city’s inclusionary zoning ordinance to the Housing Trust Fund for any additional units on the 
properties at the time of building permit.  

 
4. Irrigation Ditch Considerations 

In general, applicants who choose to annex to the city are required to connect to city water service if 
available. Once an annexation is complete and a property owner subsequently applies for water service, 
code provisions3 describe the process for potential sale to the city of any water or irrigation ditch rights 
associated with the property.  In addition to the city code, such rights are also subject to separate agreements 
between the city and the ditch company if applicable (agreements take precedence over the code in the event 
of conflicts).   A 2009 agreement between the Silver Lake Ditch Company and the city (the “2009 
Settlement Agreement”) describes the specific process for potential sale of Silver Lake Ditch rights to the 
city during certain property transactions such as annexations.     
 
Three of the applicants for annexation described herein involve Silver Lake Ditch rights and one involves 
Farmers Ditch water rights.  The 2009 Settlement Agreement applies to the properties with Silver Lake 
Ditch Rights, and the code provisions apply for the Farmers Ditch rights as described above. 
 
At the Planning Board hearing on November 6, 2014, concerns were raised during the public comment 
period about the city’s policy of requiring a landowner to grant the option to purchase Silver Lake Ditch 
rights to the city at the time of the first Transfer of ownership as a condition of annexation.  Planning Board 
members discussed the concern and made a recommendation that City Council specifically consider that 
issue in its evaluation of the annexation agreements.  
 
To clarify the Silver Lake Ditch requirements relative to the discussion during the Planning Board meeting, 
the 2009 Settlement Agreement provides that all Silver Lake Ditch shareholders that voluntarily annex to 
the city are only required to grant an option to purchase ditch rights to the city at the time the property is 
transferred outside of specified family members.  The 2009 Settlement Agreement actually prohibits the city 
from requiring a landowner to sell or grant the city a first right of refusal of Silver Lake Ditch rights as a 

                                                           
3 Section 11-1-19, Boulder Revised Code, 1981, “Water and Ditch Rights” 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  14

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/9505/Page1.aspx
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter11-1.htm#section11_1_19


    

condition of annexation.  Whenever the city does exercise an option to purchase according to the terms of 
the agreement, the city agrees to lease water attributable to the Silver Lake Ditch shares back to the current 
owner for up to 20 years.  What this means for the three annexation applicants with Silver Lake Ditch rights 
is that if they sell their property outside of specified family members at some point in the future, they would 
be required to offer their ditch rights to the city for purchase and the new owners would have the option for 
a 20-year water lease under the agreement.  Otherwise, there is no change to the ownership of Silver Lake 
Ditch rights as a result of this annexation. 
 
As a further point of general clarification, the city code does not automatically require transfer of water or 
ditch rights as a condition of connecting to city water service.  An applicant for connection to city water 
service has the option of offering to sell the rights to the city or keeping the rights and signing a first right of 
refusal with the city.  If the ditch rights are retained by the property owner at the time of connection, the 
code specifies a reduction in the outdoor water budget of the related property. This requirement is intended 
to fairly allocate water supply to municipal customers, particularly during times of drought when outdoor 
watering restrictions have been employed by the city.  A similar reduction of water available for outdoor 
irrigation (attributable to the Silver Lake Ditch shares) is imposed on Silver Lake Ditch shareholders 
pursuant to the 2009 Settlement Agreement. 
 
The irrigation ditches that run through the city are historic features of the landscape and serve many 
important functions that align with Boulder’s community values.  The code provisions and the 2009 
Settlement Agreement are intended to preserve the continued operation of the ditches and reflect the city’s 
water supply needs during drought periods.    

 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

A. Proposed Ordinances  
B. Proposed Resolutions 
C. Applicants Annexation Petitions 
D. Annexation Maps 
E. Annexation Agreements 
F. Guidelines for Annexation Agreements 
G. Public Comment 
H. Letter from Marilyn Jorrie regarding 2350 Norwood Av. 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  15



 

K:\PLCU\Grady Annex Ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING TO THE CITY OF BOULDER 
APPROXIMATELY 0.97 ACRES OF LAND GENERALLY LOCATED 
AT 1950 RIVERSIDE AVENUE, WITH AN INITIAL ZONING 
CLASSIFICATION OF RESIDENTIAL – ESTATE (RE) AS 
DESCRIBED IN CHAPTER 9-5, "MODULAR ZONE SYSTEM," B.R.C. 
1981; AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP FORMING A 
PART OF SAID CHAPTER TO INCLUDE THE PROPERTY IN THE 
ABOVE-MENTIONED ZONING DISTRICT, AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO FINDS: 

A. Seana Grady is the owner of the parcel which is generally known as 1950 

Riverside Avenue and comprises the real property more particularly described in Exhibit 

A (the "Property").  

B. The owner of 100% of the area proposed for annexation, excluding streets 

and alleys, has petitioned for annexation of the Property with an initial zoning of 

Residential – Estate (RE); the Property is not embraced within any city, city and county, 

or incorporated town; and the Property abuts and is contiguous to the City of Boulder by 

at least one-sixth of its perimeter.  

C. A community of interest exists between the Property proposed for 

annexation and the City of Boulder, the Property is urban or will be urbanized in the near 

future, and the Property is integrated or capable of being integrated with the City of 

Boulder.  

D. The Property does not include any area included in another annexation 

proceeding involving a city other than the City of Boulder.  

E. This annexation will not result in the detachment of the area from one 

school district and the attachment of same to another school district.  

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  16



 

K:\PLCU\Grady Annex Ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

F. This annexation will not have the effect of extending the City of Boulder's 

boundaries any further than three miles from any point of the existing city boundaries.  

G. The Property does not include any area which is the same or substantially 

the same area in which an election for the annexation to the City of Boulder was held 

within twelve months preceding the filing of the above petition.  

H. The Planning Board duly proposed that the Property be annexed to the 

City of Boulder and that the zoning district map adopted by the City Council be amended 

to zone and include the Property in the Residential – Estate (RE) zoning district, as 

provided in Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981.  

I. A public hearing on the proposed annexation and initial zoning of the 

Property annexed and zoned hereby was duly held before the City Council on January 20, 

2015.  

J. The initial zoning designation of Residential – Estate (RE) for the 

Property is consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and bears a 

substantial relation to and will enhance the general welfare of the Property and of the 

residents of the City of Boulder. 

K. The City Council has jurisdiction and the legal authority to annex and 

zone the Property. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  The territory more particularly described in Exhibit A is hereby 

annexed to and included within the corporate boundaries of the City of Boulder. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  17



 

K:\PLCU\Grady Annex Ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 2.  Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981, and the zoning 

district map forming a part thereof, be, and the same hereby are, amended to include the 

Property within the Residential – Estate (RE) zoning district. 

Section 3.  The City Council adopts the recitals in this ordinance and incorporates 

them herein by this reference. 

Section 4.  The City Council approves any variations or modifications to the 

Boulder Revised Code or other City ordinances that are in the agreement associated with 

this annexation. 

Section 5.  The City Council authorizes the city manager to implement the terms 

of the agreements associated with this annexation. 

Section 6.  The annexation and zoning of the Property is necessary for the 

protection of the public health, safety, and welfare. 

Section 7.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published 

by title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the 

city clerk for public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of December, 2014. 

__________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  18



 

K:\PLCU\Grady Annex Ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

READ ON SECOND READING, ADOPTED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 20th day of January, 2015. 

______________________________ 
       Mayor       
Attest: 
 
_______________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  19



EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE (Page 1 of 2)

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  20



EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE (Page 2 of 2) 
                ANNEXATION MAP

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  21



 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  22



 

K:\plcu\alexander annex ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING TO THE CITY OF BOULDER 
APPROXIMATELY 1.45 ACRES OF LAND GENERALLY LOCATED 
AT 4415 GARNET LANE WHICH INCLUDES A PORTION OF 
GARNET LANE, WITH AN INITIAL ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF 
RESIDENTIAL – ESTATE (RE) AS DESCRIBED IN CHAPTER 9-5, 
"MODULAR ZONE SYSTEM," B.R.C. 1981; AMENDING THE 
ZONING DISTRICT MAP FORMING A PART OF SAID CHAPTER 
TO INCLUDE THE PROPERTY IN THE ABOVE-MENTIONED 
ZONING DISTRICT, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO FINDS: 

A. Frank Lyon Alexander is the owner of the parcel which is generally 

known as 4415 Garnet Lane. Boulder County is the owner of a portion of Garnet Lane 

right-of-way adjacent to and near the parcel generally known as 4415 Garnet Lane.  The 

property of 4415 Garnet Lane and a portion of Garnet Lane right-of-way are to be 

annexed herein and are more particularly described in Exhibit A (the "Property").  

B. The owner of 100% of the area proposed for annexation, excluding streets 

and alleys, has petitioned for annexation of the Property with an initial zoning 

classification of Residential – Estate (RE); the Property is not embraced within any city, 

city and county, or incorporated town; and the Property abuts and is contiguous to the 

City of Boulder by at least one-sixth of its perimeter.  

C. A community of interest exists between the Property proposed for 

annexation and the City of Boulder, the Property is urban or will be urbanized in the near 

future, and the Property is integrated with or capable of being integrated with the City of 

Boulder.  

D. The Property does not include any area included in another annexation 

proceeding involving a city other than the City of Boulder.  

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  23



 

K:\plcu\alexander annex ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

E. This annexation will not result in the detachment of the area from one 

school district and the attachment of same to another school district.  

F. This annexation will not have the effect of extending the City of Boulder's 

boundaries any further than three miles from any point of the existing city boundaries.  

G. The Property does not include any area which is the same or substantially 

the same area in which an election for the annexation to the City of Boulder was held 

within twelve months preceding the filing of the above petition.  

H. The Planning Board duly proposed that the Property be annexed to the 

City of Boulder and that the zoning district map adopted by the City Council be amended 

to zone and include the Property in the Residential – Estate (RE) zoning district, as 

provided in Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981.  

I. A public hearing on the proposed annexation and initial zoning of the 

Property annexed and zoned hereby was duly held before the City Council on January 20, 

2015.  

J. The initial zoning designation of Residential – Estate (RE) for the 

Property is consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and bears a 

substantial relation to and will enhance the general welfare of the Property and of the 

residents of the City of Boulder. 

K. The City Council has jurisdiction and the legal authority to annex and 

zone the Property. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  24



 

K:\plcu\alexander annex ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 1.  The territory more particularly described in Exhibit A is hereby 

annexed to and included within the corporate boundaries of the City of Boulder. 

Section 2.  Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981, and the zoning 

district map forming a part thereof, be, and the same hereby are, amended to include the 

Property within the Residential – Estate (RE) zoning district. 

Section 3.  The City Council adopts the recitals in this ordinance and incorporates 

them herein by this reference. 

Section 4.  The City Council approves any variations or modifications to the 

Boulder Revised Code or other City ordinances that are in the agreement associated with 

this annexation. 

Section 5.  The City Council authorizes the city manager to implement the terms 

of the agreements associated with this annexation. 

Section 6.  The annexation and zoning of the Property is necessary for the 

protection of the public health, safety, and welfare. 

Section 7.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published 

by title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the 

city clerk for public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of December, 2014. 

__________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  25



 

K:\plcu\alexander annex ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

READ ON SECOND READING, ADOPTED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 20th day of January, 2015. 

______________________________ 
       Mayor       
Attest: 
 
_______________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  26



EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE (Page 1 of 2)

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  27



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  28



EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE (Page 2 of 2) 
                 ANNEXATION MAP

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  29



 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  30



 

K:\PLCU\Deluca Annex Ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING TO THE CITY OF BOULDER 
APPROXIMATELY 1.16 ACRES OF LAND GENERALLY LOCATED 
AT 1085 GAPTER ROAD, WITH AN INITIAL ZONING 
CLASSIFICATION OF RESIDENTIAL – RURAL 2 (RR-2) AS 
DESCRIBED IN CHAPTER 9-5, "MODULAR ZONE SYSTEM," B.R.C. 
1981; AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP FORMING A 
PART OF SAID CHAPTER TO INCLUDE THE PROPERTY IN THE 
ABOVE-MENTIONED ZONING DISTRICT, AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO FINDS: 

A. Silvano De Luca and Elvira G. De Luca are the owners of the parcel 

which is generally known as 1085 Gapter Road and comprises the real property more 

particularly described as Lot 13, Gapter Subdivision, County of Boulder, State of 

Colorado (the "Property") and as shown on the attached Exhibit A.  

B. The owners of 100% of the area proposed for annexation, excluding 

streets and alleys, have petitioned for annexation of the Property with an initial zoning 

classification of Residential – Rural 2 (RR-2); the Property is not embraced within any 

city, city and county, or incorporated town; and the Property abuts and is contiguous to 

the City of Boulder by at least one-sixth of its perimeter.  

C. A community of interest exists between the Property proposed for 

annexation and the City of Boulder, the Property is urban or will be urbanized in the near 

future, and the Property is integrated or capable of being integrated with the City of 

Boulder.  

D. The Property does not include any area included in another annexation 

proceeding involving a city other than the City of Boulder.  

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  31



 

K:\PLCU\Deluca Annex Ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

E. This annexation will not result in the detachment of the area from one 

school district and the attachment of same to another school district.  

F. This annexation will not have the effect of extending the City of Boulder's 

boundaries any further than three miles from any point of the existing city boundaries.  

G. The Property does not include any area which is the same or substantially 

the same area in which an election for the annexation to the City of Boulder was held 

within twelve months preceding the filing of the above petition.  

H. The Planning Board duly proposed that the Property be annexed to the 

City of Boulder and that the zoning district map adopted by the City Council be amended 

to zone and include the Property in the Residential – Rural 2 (RR-2) zoning district, as 

provided in Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981.  

I. A public hearing on the proposed annexation and initial zoning of the 

Property annexed and zoned hereby was duly held before the City Council on January 20, 

2015.  

J. The initial zoning designation of Residential – Rural 2 (RR-2) for the 

Property is consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, and bears a 

substantial relation to and will enhance the general welfare of the Property and of the 

residents of the City of Boulder. 

K. The City Council has jurisdiction and the legal authority to annex and 

zone the Property. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  32



 

K:\PLCU\Deluca Annex Ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 1.  The territory more particularly described as Lot 13, Gapter 

Subdivision, County of Boulder, State of Colorado is hereby annexed to and included 

within the corporate boundaries of the City of Boulder. 

Section 2.  Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981, and the zoning 

district map forming a part thereof, be, and the same hereby are, amended to include the 

Property within the Residential – Rural 2 (RR-2) zoning district. 

Section 3.  The City Council adopts the recitals in this ordinance and incorporates 

them herein by this reference. 

Section 4.  The City Council approves any variations or modifications to the 

Boulder Revised Code or other City ordinances that are in the agreement associated with 

this annexation. 

Section 5.  The City Council authorizes the city manager to implement the terms 

of the agreements associated with this annexation. 

Section 6.  The annexation and zoning of the Property is necessary for the 

protection of the public health, safety, and welfare. 

Section 7.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published 

by title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the 

city clerk for public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of December, 2014. 

__________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
________________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  33



 

K:\PLCU\Deluca Annex Ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

READ ON SECOND READING, ADOPTED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 20th day of January, 2015. 

______________________________ 
       Mayor       
Attest: 
 
_______________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  34



EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE (Page 1 of 1) 
                  ANNEXATION MAP

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  35



 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  36



 

K:\plcu\carpenter annex ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING TO THE CITY OF BOULDER 
APPROXIMATELY 1.26 ACRES OF LAND GENERALLY LOCATED 
AT 2200 EMERALD ROAD, WITH AN INITIAL ZONING 
CLASSIFICATION OF RESIDENTIAL – RURAL 1 (RR-1) AS 
DESCRIBED IN CHAPTER 9-5, "MODULAR ZONE SYSTEM," B.R.C. 
1981; AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP FORMING A 
PART OF SAID CHAPTER TO INCLUDE THE PROPERTY IN THE 
ABOVE-MENTIONED ZONING DISTRICT, AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO FINDS: 

A. Amy J. Carpenter and Stephen R. Carpenter are the owners of the parcel 

which is generally known as 2200 Emerald Road and comprises the real property more 

particularly described as Lot 3, Block 6, Githens Acres, County of Boulder, State of 

Colorado (the "Property") and as shown on the attached Exhibit A.  

B. The owners of 100% of the area proposed for annexation, excluding 

streets and alleys, have petitioned for annexation of the Property with an initial zoning 

classification of Residential – Rural 1 (RR-1); the Property is not embraced within any 

city, city and county, or incorporated town; and the Property abuts and is contiguous to 

the City of Boulder by at least one-sixth of its perimeter.  

C. A community of interest exists between the Property proposed for 

annexation and the City of Boulder, the Property is urban or will be urbanized in the near 

future, and the Property is integrated or capable of being integrated with the City of 

Boulder.  

D. The Property does not include any area included in another annexation 

proceeding involving a city other than the City of Boulder.  

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  37



 

K:\plcu\carpenter annex ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

E. This annexation will not result in the detachment of the area from one 

school district and the attachment of same to another school district.  

F. This annexation will not have the effect of extending the City of Boulder's 

boundaries any further than three miles from any point of the existing city boundaries.  

G. The Property does not include any area which is the same or substantially 

the same area in which an election for the annexation to the City of Boulder was held 

within twelve months preceding the filing of the above petition.  

H. The Planning Board duly proposed that the Property be annexed to the 

City of Boulder and that the zoning district map adopted by the City Council be amended 

to zone and include the Property in the Residential – Rural 1 (RR-1) zoning district, as 

provided in Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981.  

I. A public hearing on the proposed annexation and initial zoning of the 

Property annexed and zoned hereby was duly held before the City Council on January 20, 

2015.  

J. The initial zoning designation of Residential – Rural 1 (RR-1) for the 

Property is consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, and bears a 

substantial relation to and will enhance the general welfare of the Property and of the 

residents of the City of Boulder. 

K. The City Council has jurisdiction and the legal authority to annex and 

zone the Property. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  38



 

K:\plcu\carpenter annex ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 1.  The territory more particularly described as Lot 3, Block 6, Githens 

Acres, County of Boulder, State of Colorado is hereby annexed to and included within 

the corporate boundaries of the City of Boulder. 

Section 2.  Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981, and the zoning 

district map forming a part thereof, be, and the same hereby are, amended to include the 

Property within the Residential – Rural 1 (RR-1) zoning district. 

Section 3.  The City Council adopts the recitals in this ordinance and incorporates 

them herein by this reference. 

Section 4.  The City Council approves any variations or modifications to the 

Boulder Revised Code or other City ordinances that are in the agreement associated with 

this annexation. 

Section 5.  The City Council authorizes the city manager to implement the terms 

of the agreements associated with this annexation. 

Section 6.  The annexation and zoning of the Property is necessary for the 

protection of the public health, safety, and welfare. 

Section 7.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published 

by title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the 

city clerk for public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of December, 2014. 

__________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
________________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  39



 

K:\plcu\carpenter annex ordinance-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

READ ON SECOND READING, ADOPTED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 20th day of January, 2015. 

 

______________________________ 
       Mayor 
        
Attest: 
 
_______________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  40



EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE (Page 1 of 1) 
                   ANNEXATION MAP

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  41



 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  42



 

K:\PLCU\Jorrie Annex Ord-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING TO THE CITY OF BOULDER 
APPROXIMATELY 1.22 ACRES OF LAND GENERALLY LOCATED 
AT 2350 NORWOOD AVENUE, WITH AN INITIAL ZONING 
CLASSIFICATION OF RESIDENTIAL – ESTATE (RE) AS 
DESCRIBED IN CHAPTER 9-5, "MODULAR ZONE SYSTEM," B.R.C. 
1981; AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP FORMING A 
PART OF SAID CHAPTER TO INCLUDE THE PROPERTY IN THE 
ABOVE-MENTIONED ZONING DISTRICT, AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO FINDS: 

A. Norwood Garden LLC, a Colorado limited liability company, is the owner 

of the parcel which is generally known as 2350 Norwood Avenue and comprises the real 

property more particularly described in Exhibit A (the "Property").  

B. The owner of 100% of the area proposed for annexation, excluding streets 

and alleys, has petitioned for annexation of the Property with an initial zoning 

classification of Residential – Estate (RE); the Property is not embraced within any city, 

city and county, or incorporated town; and the Property abuts and is contiguous to the 

City of Boulder by at least one-sixth of its perimeter.  

C. A community of interest exists between the Property proposed for 

annexation and the City of Boulder, the Property is urban or will be urbanized in the near 

future, and the Property is integrated or capable of being integrated with the City of 

Boulder.  

D. The Property does not include any area included in another annexation 

proceeding involving a city other than the City of Boulder.  

E. This annexation will not result in the detachment of the area from one 

school district and the attachment of same to another school district.  

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  43



 

K:\PLCU\Jorrie Annex Ord-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

F. This annexation will not have the effect of extending the City of Boulder's 

boundaries any further than three miles from any point of the existing city boundaries.  

G. The Property does not include any area which is the same or substantially 

the same area in which an election for the annexation to the City of Boulder was held 

within twelve months preceding the filing of the above petition.  

H. The Planning Board duly proposed that the Property be annexed to the 

City of Boulder and that the zoning district map adopted by the City Council be amended 

to zone and include the Property in the Residential – Estate (RE) zoning district, as 

provided in Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981.  

I. A public hearing on the proposed annexation and initial zoning of the 

Property annexed and zoned hereby was duly held before the City Council on January 20, 

2015.  

J. The initial zoning designation of Residential – Estate (RE) for the 

Property is consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, and bears a 

substantial relation to and will enhance the general welfare of the Property and of the 

residents of the City of Boulder. 

K. The City Council has jurisdiction and the legal authority to annex and 

zone the Property. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  The territory more particularly described in Exhibit A is hereby 

annexed to and included within the corporate boundaries of the City of Boulder. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  44



 

K:\PLCU\Jorrie Annex Ord-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 2.  Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981, and the zoning 

district map forming a part thereof, be, and the same hereby are, amended to include the 

Property within the Residential – Estate (RE) zoning district. 

Section 3.  The City Council adopts the recitals in this ordinance and incorporates 

them herein by this reference. 

Section 4.  The City Council approves any variations or modifications to the 

Boulder Revised Code or other City ordinances that are in the agreement associated with 

this annexation. 

Section 5.  The City Council authorizes the city manager to implement the terms 

of the agreements associated with this annexation. 

Section 6.  The annexation and zoning of the Property is necessary for the 

protection of the public health, safety, and welfare. 

Section 7.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published 

by title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the 

city clerk for public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of December, 2014. 

__________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  45



 

K:\PLCU\Jorrie Annex Ord-2163.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

READ ON SECOND READING, ADOPTED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 20th day of January, 2015. 

______________________________ 
       Mayor  
Attest: 
 
_______________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  46



EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE (Page 1 of 2)

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  47



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  48



EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE (Page 2 of 2)

               ANNEXATION MAP

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances

Agenda Item 3K     Page  49



 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  50



RESOLUTION NO. 1149 

A RESOLUTION TO DETERMINE THAT THE PETITION TO ANNEX 
APPROXIMATELY 0.97 ACRES OF LAND GENERALLY LOCATED AT 1950 
RIVERSIDE AVENUE IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 31-12-107(1), 
C.R.S. AND TO SET A HEARING TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH 
OTHER STATUTORY ANNEXATION REQUIREMENTS. 

A. The City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, hereby finds that the Petition to 
Annex the property more particularly described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by reference, is in compliance with Section 31-12-107(1), C.R.S., as amended; 

B. The City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, finds that the following 
requirements have been met: 

i. Landowners of more than fifty percent of the area, excluding public streets and
alleys, meeting the requirements of Sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., as
amended, have petitioned the City of Boulder for annexation of such territory;

ii. The Petition has been filed with the City Clerk;

iii. The Petition alleges it is desirable and necessary that such area be annexed to the City 
of Boulder;

iv. The Petition alleges that the requirements of Sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105,
C.R.S., as amended, exist or have been met;

v. The Petition contains a request that the City of Boulder approve the annexation of the 
area proposed to be annexed;

vi. The Petition alleges that signers of the Petition comprise more than fifty percent of
the landowners in the area and own more than fifty percent of the area proposed to be
annexed exclusive of streets and alleys;

vii. The Petition contains signatures of such landowners;

viii. The Petition contains the mailing address of each signer;

ix. The Petition contains the legal description of the land owned by each signer;

x. The Petition contains the date of signing of each signature; and

xi. The Petition contains the affidavit of each circulator of such Petition, that each
signature therein is the signature of the person whose name it purports to be.

Attachment B - Proposed Resolutions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  51



C. Four copies of an annexation map accompanied the Petition and contained the 
following information: 
 

i. A written legal description of the boundaries of the area proposed to be annexed; 
 
ii. A map showing the boundary of the area proposed to be annexed; 
 
iii. Within the annexation boundary map, a showing of the location of each ownership 

tract in unplatted land and, if part or all of the area is platted, the boundaries and the 
plat numbers of plots or of lots and blocks; and 

  
iv. A drawing of the contiguous boundary of the City of Boulder next to the boundary of 

the area proposed to be annexed and the contiguous boundary of any other 
municipality abutting the area proposed to be annexed. 

 
D. All signatures on the Petition have been dated no more than one hundred eighty days 

prior to the date of filing the Petition with the City Clerk; 
 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 
COLORADO, THAT: 
 

A hearing will be held to determine whether the requirements delineated in Sections 
31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., as amended, have been met and whether an election is required 
under Section 31-12-107(2), C.R.S. The hearing will be held at 6 p.m. on January 20, 2015, at 1777 
Broadway, Boulder, Colorado. 
 

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED, AND ADOPTED this 2nd day of December, 2014. 
 
 
                                              _____________________________ 

Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

 

Attachment B - Proposed Resolutions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  52



EXHIBIT A TO RESOLUTION (Page 1 of 1)

Attachment B - Proposed Resolutions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  53



RESOLUTION NO. 1150 

A RESOLUTION TO DETERMINE THAT THE PETITION TO ANNEX 
APPROXIMATELY 1.45 ACRES OF LAND GENERALLY LOCATED AT  
4415 GARNET LANE IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 31-12-107(1), 
C.R.S. AND TO SET A HEARING TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH 
OTHER STATUTORY ANNEXATION REQUIREMENTS. 

A. The City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, hereby finds that the Petition to 
Annex the property more particularly described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by reference, is in compliance with Section 31-12-107(1), C.R.S., as amended; 

B. The City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, finds that the following 
requirements have been met: 

i. Landowners of more than fifty percent of the area, excluding public streets and
alleys, meeting the requirements of Sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., as
amended, have petitioned the City of Boulder for annexation of such territory;

ii. The Petition has been filed with the City Clerk;

iii. The Petition alleges it is desirable and necessary that such area be annexed to the City 
of Boulder;

iv. The Petition alleges that the requirements of Sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105,
C.R.S., as amended, exist or have been met;

v. The Petition contains a request that the City of Boulder approve the annexation of the 
area proposed to be annexed;

vi. The Petition alleges that signers of the Petition comprise more than fifty percent of
the landowners in the area and own more than fifty percent of the area proposed to be
annexed exclusive of streets and alleys;

vii. The Petition contains signatures of such landowners;

viii. The Petition contains the mailing address of each signer;

ix. The Petition contains the legal description of the land owned by each signer;

x. The Petition contains the date of signing of each signature; and

xi. The Petition contains the affidavit of each circulator of such Petition, that each
signature therein is the signature of the person whose name it purports to be.

Attachment B - Proposed Resolutions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  54



C. Four copies of an annexation map accompanied the Petition and contained the 
following information: 
 

i. A written legal description of the boundaries of the area proposed to be annexed; 
 
ii. A map showing the boundary of the area proposed to be annexed; 
 
iii. Within the annexation boundary map, a showing of the location of each ownership 

tract in unplatted land and, if part or all of the area is platted, the boundaries and the 
plat numbers of plots or of lots and blocks; and 

  
iv. A drawing of the contiguous boundary of the City of Boulder next to the boundary of 

the area proposed to be annexed and the contiguous boundary of any other 
municipality abutting the area proposed to be annexed. 

 
D. All signatures on the Petition have been dated no more than one hundred eighty days 

prior to the date of filing the Petition with the City Clerk; 
 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 
COLORADO, THAT: 
 

A hearing will be held to determine whether the requirements delineated in Sections 
31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., as amended, have been met and whether an election is required 
under Section 31-12-107(2), C.R.S. The hearing will be held at 6 p.m. on January 20, 2015, at 1777 
Broadway, Boulder, Colorado. 
 

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED, AND ADOPTED this 2nd day of December, 2014. 
 
 
                                              _____________________________ 

Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

 

Attachment B - Proposed Resolutions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  55



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  56



EXHIBIT A TO RESOLUTION (Page 1 of 1)

Attachment B - Proposed Resolutions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  57



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  58



RESOLUTION NO. 1151 

A RESOLUTION TO DETERMINE THAT THE PETITION TO ANNEX 
APPROXIMATELY 1.16 ACRES OF LAND GENERALLY LOCATED AT  
1085 GAPTER ROAD IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 31-12-107(1), 
C.R.S. AND TO SET A HEARING TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH 
OTHER STATUTORY ANNEXATION REQUIREMENTS. 

A. The City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, hereby finds that the Petition to 
Annex the property more particularly described as Lot 13, Gapter Subdivision, County of Boulder, 
State of Colorado, is in compliance with Section 31-12-107(1), C.R.S., as amended; 

B. The City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, finds that the following 
requirements have been met: 

i. Landowners of more than fifty percent of the area, excluding public streets and
alleys, meeting the requirements of Sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., as
amended, have petitioned the City of Boulder for annexation of such territory;

ii. The Petition has been filed with the City Clerk;

iii. The Petition alleges it is desirable and necessary that such area be annexed to the City 
of Boulder;

iv. The Petition alleges that the requirements of Sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105,
C.R.S., as amended, exist or have been met;

v. The Petition contains a request that the City of Boulder approve the annexation of the 
area proposed to be annexed;

vi. The Petition alleges that signers of the Petition comprise more than fifty percent of
the landowners in the area and own more than fifty percent of the area proposed to be
annexed exclusive of streets and alleys;

vii. The Petition contains signatures of such landowners;

viii. The Petition contains the mailing address of each signer;

ix. The Petition contains the legal description of the land owned by each signer;

x. The Petition contains the date of signing of each signature; and

xi. The Petition contains the affidavit of each circulator of such Petition, that each
signature therein is the signature of the person whose name it purports to be.

Attachment B - Proposed Resolutions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  59



C. Four copies of an annexation map accompanied the Petition and contained the 
following information: 
 

i. A written legal description of the boundaries of the area proposed to be annexed; 
 
ii. A map showing the boundary of the area proposed to be annexed; 
 
iii. Within the annexation boundary map, a showing of the location of each ownership 

tract in unplatted land and, if part or all of the area is platted, the boundaries and the 
plat numbers of plots or of lots and blocks; and 

  
iv. A drawing of the contiguous boundary of the City of Boulder next to the boundary of 

the area proposed to be annexed and the contiguous boundary of any other 
municipality abutting the area proposed to be annexed. 

 
D. All signatures on the Petition have been dated no more than one hundred eighty days 

prior to the date of filing the Petition with the City Clerk; 
 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 
COLORADO, THAT: 
 

A hearing will be held to determine whether the requirements delineated in Sections 
31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., as amended, have been met and whether an election is required 
under Section 31-12-107(2), C.R.S. The hearing will be held at 6 p.m. on January 20, 2015, at 1777 
Broadway, Boulder, Colorado. 
 

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED, AND ADOPTED this 2nd day of December, 2014. 
 
 
                                              _____________________________ 

Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

 

Attachment B - Proposed Resolutions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  60



RESOLUTION NO. 1152 

A RESOLUTION TO DETERMINE THAT THE PETITION TO ANNEX 
APPROXIMATELY 1.26 ACRES OF LAND GENERALLY LOCATED AT 2200 
EMERALD ROAD IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 31-12-107(1), C.R.S. 
AND TO SET A HEARING TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH OTHER 
STATUTORY ANNEXATION REQUIREMENTS. 

A. The City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, hereby finds that the Petition to 
Annex the property more particularly described as Lot 3, Block 6, Githens Acres, County of Boulder, 
State of Colorado, is in compliance with Section 31-12-107(1), C.R.S., as amended; 

B. The City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, finds that the following 
requirements have been met: 

i. Landowners of more than fifty percent of the area, excluding public streets and
alleys, meeting the requirements of Sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., as
amended, have petitioned the City of Boulder for annexation of such territory;

ii. The Petition has been filed with the City Clerk;

iii. The Petition alleges it is desirable and necessary that such area be annexed to the City 
of Boulder;

iv. The Petition alleges that the requirements of Sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105,
C.R.S., as amended, exist or have been met;

v. The Petition contains a request that the City of Boulder approve the annexation of the 
area proposed to be annexed;

vi. The Petition alleges that signers of the Petition comprise more than fifty percent of
the landowners in the area and own more than fifty percent of the area proposed to be
annexed exclusive of streets and alleys;

vii. The Petition contains signatures of such landowners;

viii. The Petition contains the mailing address of each signer;

ix. The Petition contains the legal description of the land owned by each signer;

x. The Petition contains the date of signing of each signature; and

xi. The Petition contains the affidavit of each circulator of such Petition, that each
signature therein is the signature of the person whose name it purports to be.

Attachment B - Proposed Resolutions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  61



C. Four copies of an annexation map accompanied the Petition and contained the 
following information: 
 

i. A written legal description of the boundaries of the area proposed to be annexed; 
 
ii. A map showing the boundary of the area proposed to be annexed; 
 
iii. Within the annexation boundary map, a showing of the location of each ownership 

tract in unplatted land and, if part or all of the area is platted, the boundaries and the 
plat numbers of plots or of lots and blocks; and 

  
iv. A drawing of the contiguous boundary of the City of Boulder next to the boundary of 

the area proposed to be annexed and the contiguous boundary of any other 
municipality abutting the area proposed to be annexed. 

 
D. All signatures on the Petition have been dated no more than one hundred eighty days 

prior to the date of filing the Petition with the City Clerk; 
 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 
COLORADO, THAT: 
 

A hearing will be held to determine whether the requirements delineated in Sections 
31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., as amended, have been met and whether an election is required 
under Section 31-12-107(2), C.R.S. The hearing will be held at 6 p.m. on January 20, 2015, at 1777 
Broadway, Boulder, Colorado. 
 

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED, AND ADOPTED this 2nd day of December, 2014. 
 
 
                                              _____________________________ 

Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

 

Attachment B - Proposed Resolutions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  62



RESOLUTION NO. 1153 

A RESOLUTION TO DETERMINE THAT THE PETITION TO ANNEX 
APPROXIMATELY 1.22 ACRES OF LAND GENERALLY LOCATED AT  
2350 NORWOOD AVENUE IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 31-12-107(1), 
C.R.S. AND TO SET A HEARING TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH 
OTHER STATUTORY ANNEXATION REQUIREMENTS. 

A. The City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, hereby finds that the Petition to 
Annex the property more particularly described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by reference, is in compliance with Section 31-12-107(1), C.R.S., as amended; 

B. The City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, finds that the following 
requirements have been met: 

i. Landowners of more than fifty percent of the area, excluding public streets and alleys,
meeting the requirements of Sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., as amended,
have petitioned the City of Boulder for annexation of such territory;

ii. The Petition has been filed with the City Clerk;

iii. The Petition alleges it is desirable and necessary that such area be annexed to the City
of Boulder;

iv. The Petition alleges that the requirements of Sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105,
C.R.S., as amended, exist or have been met;

v. The Petition contains a request that the City of Boulder approve the annexation of the
area proposed to be annexed;

vi. The Petition alleges that signers of the Petition comprise more than fifty percent of the
landowners in the area and own more than fifty percent of the area proposed to be
annexed exclusive of streets and alleys;

vii. The Petition contains signatures of such landowners;

viii. The Petition contains the mailing address of each signer;

ix. The Petition contains the legal description of the land owned by each signer;

x. The Petition contains the date of signing of each signature; and

xi. The Petition contains the affidavit of each circulator of such Petition, that each
signature therein is the signature of the person whose name it purports to be.

Attachment B - Proposed Resolutions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  63



C. Four copies of an annexation map accompanied the Petition and contained the 
following information: 
 

i. A written legal description of the boundaries of the area proposed to be annexed; 
 
ii. A map showing the boundary of the area proposed to be annexed; 
 
iii. Within the annexation boundary map, a showing of the location of each ownership 

tract in unplatted land and, if part or all of the area is platted, the boundaries and the 
plat numbers of plots or of lots and blocks; and 

  
iv. A drawing of the contiguous boundary of the City of Boulder next to the boundary of 

the area proposed to be annexed and the contiguous boundary of any other 
municipality abutting the area proposed to be annexed. 

 
D. All signatures on the Petition have been dated no more than one hundred eighty days 

prior to the date of filing the Petition with the City Clerk; 
 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 
COLORADO, THAT: 
 

A hearing will be held to determine whether the requirements delineated in Sections 
31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., as amended, have been met and whether an election is required 
under Section 31-12-107(2), C.R.S. The hearing will be held at 6 p.m. on January 20, 2015, at 1777 
Broadway, Boulder, Colorado. 
 

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED, AND ADOPTED this 2nd day of December, 2014. 
 
 
              

Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment B - Proposed Resolutions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  64



EXHIBIT A TO RESOLUTION (Page 1 of 1)

Attachment B - Proposed Resolutions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  65



'fJiþ-'iTi:-r¡i*
?olh JuL 22 p¡{ l:ôßoNÐ{A-ri?T' I#H]13}

An nexation lnformation

Location of property tobeannexed: l'1 SO Er v.e/tsd< fr1^L
LegalDescription: lþrJ9(
Size of propetty: I O La/- Requested Zoning: 6 R

lmpact Report

lf the area proposed for annexation is more than ten acres in size, an annexation impact report as required by
state law (31-12-105.5, C.R.S.) must be submitted to the Planning Department prior to the first reading of the
ordínance annexing the subject property by City Council. The Board of County Commissioners may waive this
requirement. lf so, a letter from the Board must be submitted to the Planning Department.

Districts

Please chegk4hose districts in which the property proposed for annexation is included:

"/ 
Boulder Valley S chool District Left Hand Water District

St. Vrain School District .Other (list)

Boulder Rural fire District

Cherryvale Fire District

Property Ownerc

List below all owners or lienholders of the property proposed for annexation (please print):

1.

2.

3.

4.

('tÔ ,

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  66



Signature of petitioners requesting
annexation of property to the city of
Boulder, Colorado

Date of
signature
of each
petitioner

ANNEXATION PETITION

Mailing address of
each petitioner

Description of property included within the area proposed for
annexation owned by each person signing this petition. (Attach
separate sheet, if necessary).

lgsle TZ¡*wtst& L lþ't€-*- | Be>¿de'"tc-o-

ê -tl-tLl fu u td,.g/r , Co Soj-t-1 ofi ot/v_ aK

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  67



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  68



CIRCULATOR'S AFFIDAVIT

STATE OF COLORADO

COUNTY OF BOULDER

being first duly sworn, upon and says that she/he was the circulator
of the above and foregoing petition and that the signatures on said petition are the
signatures of the persons whose names they purport to be.

)

) ss.

)

+4
Circulator

Subscribed and sworn to before me this-llk day of l, ^n , A.D. 20 tq

-

Witness my hand and official seal. My commission 
"*pir."," 

(t\ Llt' 26[K .

CIRCULATOR'S AFFIDAVIT

)

) ss.

)

being first duly sworn, upon oath deposes and says that she/he was the circulator
of the above and foregoing petition and that the signatures on said petition are the
signatures of the persons whose names they purport to be.

Circulator

Subscribed and sworn to before me this day of

\Mtness my hand and official seal. My commission expires:

STATE OF COLORADO

COUNTY OF BOULDER

NICHOTAS JAMES CLINE

NOTARY PUBLIC

STATE OF COLORADO

NoTARY lD 20144008538

MY COMI\/IISSION EXPIRES FEBRUARY 31 2018

Notary Public

A.D.20

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  69



d'Í,r*iii',':iþft
201\ JUL ZZ pH 2t 96

ANNEXATION PETITION
Submit with your aPplicatlon.

Annexation lnformation

Locatkm of proper! to be
8ê3o f

Legral Desøiption:

Size of propry, ! ' 01 l¿Pel - Requested zoning: F 6

lmpact Report

lf lhe area proposed for annexation is more lhan len acre as required by

itat" larn þt-iZ-tos.s, c.R.S.) must be submitted to the reading of the

ord¡n"n""ännexing né tr¡¡""í p.æt v by Crty Council' may waive this

requirement. lf so,ä letter from the Board must be submitted to the Planning Departmenl

Districts

please cfudf tnose districts in which the property proposed for annexation is included:

,/
V Aoulder Valley School District Left Hand Water D¡strict

SL Vrain Scfìool District Other (list)

. BoulderRuralfire.District

Cherrryale Fire District

Property Orvhers

List belo^, all ownerc or lienholders of the property propose¿ for annexation (please print):

1. f-' Noe ) it .l 'a
5^4,

4.

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  70



ANNE)(ATION PETITION

Maillng address of
each petitioner !_e¡griOlion of property inctuded wtthin the area proposed forannexation ow.ng-d by each porson stgning irr¡siemlon- tettå.r.,separate sheet, if necessary). - '

Date of
signature
of each
petitloner

0¿ .20. þt,/ íþr,Jen co faTa7
l{tf Gt$/¡'er Uhre

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  71



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  72



Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  73



CIT Y OFCITYCLER e r
cf NTR AL -Æ

Annexation lnformation

?0lrr JUL 22 pH Z, 0E

ANNEXATION PETITION
Submit with Your aPPllcatlon.

toSS 4*çre3 (¿ò - tsoutAÉiR- Qo3o3

LegølDesuiPtioñr :

lmpact Report

s in slze, an annexalkrn impact report as required-by

Planning Department prior to the lirst reading of the

rne goãrd oi County tbmmissior¡ers may waive this

ed to the Planning DeParlment'

Distrlc'ts

Please check tÌ¡ose distficts in whicfr the Property proposed for annexation is included:

V 
^IderValleYSchool 

Dislric't Left Hand Water District

Locat¡on ol proærty to be annexedl

Size of property:, Requested Zonlng"-

St. Vraln School D¡strict 0her (list)

Boulder RuralfireÞisffia

Chenyvale Fire District

Property otrhers

List below all owners or lienh ders of the property propoíeO for annexation þlease print):

i.sl@
ELvlÊA
Ct\-A\ G ßâNlr\

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  74



Signature of petit¡oners requesting
annexatlon of property to the city of
Boulder, Colaredc'a

ANNEXATION PETITION

Malllng eddress of
each petitloner

Description of propgrty lncluded wlthln the araa proposed lor
annexation ollwt9_d by each person slgnlng thls petition. (Aftach
separate sheet, if necessary).

Date of
signature
of each
petitioner

Í, j.tY loSS
ßou.ù64, G 8o1.f
loB s ÇA?rsR PÀ
ßotJcòCA, Co &1.Ol-"^1,3't

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  75



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  76



GI RCU I.ATOR'S AF FIDAVIT

STATE OF COLORADO )
) ss.

couNTY OF BOULDER )

oelng nlsr ouly swom, upon oath cleposes and says that she/he was the circulator
of the above and foregoing petition the sþnatures on said petition are the
signatures of the persions purport to be.

Notrary Public

CIRCULATOR'S AFFIDAVIT

STATE OF COLORADO ).
) ss.

couNTY OF BOULDER )

ãlr.r\rn f)s_Luccr

Witness my hand and official seal. My commissíon expires:
cì -u.o LötG

ANDREAJ GUENTHER
NOTARYPUBTIC

STATE OF COLORADO
NOTARY lD 20124060448

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES 9120t2016

¡9ilg first duly swom, upon oath deposes and says that she/he was the circulator
of the above and foregoing petition and that the sþnatures on said petiüon are the
signatures of the persons whose names ey purport to be;

Oc,

Subscribed and sworn to before me this

Witness my hand and officialseal. My commission

ay

Circulator

q ZÕ ZÕIG

Notary Public

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  77



%iii"-.^Ties'1b¡*ø

ANNEXA'.N pE**oN î01\ JUL 22 pH 2: 0g
SubmÌt wittt Your aPPlication.

Annexation lnformation

Locatisn of property to be annexed ZzÞo Éin¡t-r¡:À\ RÀ , tsoo!:les co

LesarDescrir6o,,.(-.zt 3,gtos-ts 6' €i&e\9 N9 å 
-

Size of property,- \ ' Zl A--=s: Requesled Zoning:

lrnpact RePort

s in size, an annexation impact report as required.by

Planning Department prior to the fìrst read¡ng ot me

The BoãrJ oi County òommissioners may waive this

ilted to the Planning DePartmenl-

Districts

please cheek those districts in which the propely pr exation is included:

X Boulder Vatley School Dislrict and Water Dísirict

Sl. Vrain Schaol District

tsoulder Rural fire.Disldet

Olher (list)

Cherqrv'ale Fire District

Properly Ourners

List belo'I,y allowners or lienholders of the property proposed {or annexation {pìease printi:

, S+e$¡e¡. *À Èvrl Çtsç¡r\er -

4.

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  78



Signatur ners requestíngannexati erty to the city of
Boulder,

Date of
signature
of each
petilioner

ANNEXAT¡ON PËT]TION

Mailing address of
each petitioner

Oescription of propsrty included within the area proposed for
snnexation ow.n99 by each person signinE thís petition. lnitactrseparate sheet, if necessary).

çÈF^t A.s<1

lç5o P,'p\*r A"{
6-1o't1 Cq> 8Ð9Ð\ 1Æ)3, Bt+ L

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  79



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  80



CIRGULATOR'S AFFIÐAVIT

STATE OF COLORADO

COUNTY OF BOULFER

)
) ss.
)

Cu.
being first duly swolrt, upon oath deposes and says that shelhe was the circulatcr
of the above and foregoing peiition and that the signatures cn said petition are ft¡e
signatures of the persons whose nâmes they purport to be.

Circulato¡

STATE EF COLCIRADO

COUNTY OF BOULDER

subseribed and sworn to before me this Aü_o^y or Jr-rne- , A.D. zol_t_-.____-

witness my hand and offìciat seal. My commíssion exrir"s: lt /Í / zolT 
=

EDYA. URKEN
IIOTARY PUBLE

rÌq'fl.Tã93,!?FâT,¡lY Corilsstorrt P(nnes itrur¿orz

. (a rD€n-te n
being first fluly swÐm, oath deposes and says that slre/he was the circulatcr
of the above and foregoing petition and that the signatures on said petition are the
signatures of the persons whose narne$ they purpori to be.

subscribed and sworn to before me trris-ftQåt c ay or JWfie- , Â"D. eo14_-
Witness my hand and officialseal. My commission expires:

rY co¡t sgloil EXPIRES 1tm'mt?-

Notary Public

201

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  81



Annexation lnformation

Location of ProPerU to be

ANNEXATION PETITION
Submit with Your aPPllcation.

f, z¿s 4__ 2 )'¡ 2t./-'¿9 ,/

Legal DesøiPtion:

size or p-p.r1, 1 ' 2-5- fL? ' a"q

lmpact RePorl

s in size, an annexation impact report as required by

Þtanning Oepartment prior to the first reading of the

The Board óiõountv öommissioners íìay waive this

itted to the Planning DePartment'

Dlstricts

please check those districts in which the property proposed for annexation is included:

-Left 

Hand Water District

) gn"r (list)7 ,/,) /Y7¿,-z/t^'- ) ("n,/t

for annexation (Please Print):

,Boulder ValleY School District

St. Vrain School DisÍict

=\ roulderRuralfire'D¡strict

Cherr)¡vale Fire District

List below all owners or lienholders of the

L,
't ..

2..

3.

4.

Property Ourners

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  82



Ptease Note:

lIo p"F*- shall petition to the city of Boulder for annexation of any rear property untíl he has llrsl read andthereañer fotlows these instructionsin the execution d tË;ithñ p"tiibn,

1' Every peæon signing the within annexalion petition must personally insert the information required on thesþnature page(s) attacfied to the petition.

2' The person or persons who circulate the within petition must witness the signatures of every personsþning this petltion and so certiff by executirp me ãm¿á"n att".rreo on thã l"siËãã" ãtthis petition.

3' The following definitions of terms shall be applicable throughout this petition and every subsequent stepof the annexation proceeding commenced púrsuant to tlisþtilion:

a' ndivided ínterest in a given parcel of land. lf the
r is the owner in fee of an individual interest in the
ividual interest in the mineral estate. ln the case of

petition for annexation, and the sign
however, that said signing landowner
year or üaxes, and provide
an indiv
da¡æ art 

"iqoi':,B,To"n?'':"#iï låtåîä'.o"?'r",f#"îl[i[i3
the City

A purchaser of real property shall be deemed a lando¡¡ner for the purpose of an annexationpetition if:

(1) The said purchaser is purchasing the land pursuant lo a written contracl duly recorded,
and

(2) The said purchaser has paid the taxes thereon for the next preceding laxyeaL

A corporalion, non-prof¡t, owning land shall be deemed a landowner, and the same persons
authorized to convey land for tñe corporation shatL siln the wiÛrin pótition ãn behalf of suchcorporation.

b' Ngnresíde¡t Landownerl means 
3ny pepo.n owning property in the area proposed to be annexed,who is not a qualified elecfor as h.e-rein below defiñJ, åno wno i" 

"i 
re"-státñieæn ltE) years ofage as attested to by a swom affidavit.

c' ldentical ownershio: means a situation where each owner has exacüy the same degree ofínterest in a separate parcel of two or mor I parcels of land.d. ary of the
ned to in
of a plat
reservoir,

of Boulder and the tenitory to be annexed.

This petition musl be filed with the city crerk of the city of Bourder.
4.

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  83



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  84



Signature of petitioners requesting
annexation of propely to the clty of
Boulder. Colorado

Date of
signature
of each
petitioner

ANNEXATION PETITION

Malling address of
each petitioner

Description of property included within the area proposed for
annexation owned by each person slgnlng this jetition. (Attach
separate sheet, if necessary).

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  85



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  86



o That at least four copþs of an annexation map setting forth with reasonable certainty a written
legal description of the boundaries of the area poposed to be annexed, a delineation of the outer
boundarþs of the above described tenitory, and the location of each ovnership, tract and/or the
boundaries and the plat numbers of plats and lots and blocks, the portion of the bo.¡ndary
contþuous with the exisling dty limiüs of lhe cþ of BouHer, and the dimensions of said
contiguous boundary, all upon a material and of a size suitable for recording or filing with the Gity
Glerk of the city of Boulder, and the dimensions of said contiguous boundary, all upon a material
and of a size suitable for recording or filing with the Cþ Clerk of the city of Boulder, accompeny,
have been attached hereto and hereby constitute a part of this petition.

That the above described tenitory is not presently a part of any incorporated city, city and county,
or town.

That the above area described will (not) result in the detachment of area from any school district
and the attachmenl of the same to another school district (and the resolution of school board of
the district to whlch the alea will be attached approving this annexation request).

10.

11.

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  87



GIRGUTATOR'S AFFIDAVIT

STATE OF COLORADO

COUNTY OF BOULDER

>n.€,,.
being first duly , upon oath deposes and says that she/he was the circulator
of the above and foregoing petition and that the signatures on said petition are the
signatures of the persons

Circulator

)
) ss.

)

Subscribed and swom to before me this_lZ+q d ay ot [v*t¿-. , A.D. ZOL{_
witness my hand and official seal. My commissio n expires: I l I g I 'za n

MY CoMrtsgtoN EXP|RES 11tOE'2017

STATE OF COLORADO

COUNTY OF BOULDER

being first duly swom, upon oath deposes and says that she/he was the circulator
of the above and foregoing petition and that the signatures on said pe¡tion are the
signatures of the persons whose names they purport to be.

Circulator

Subscribed

Witness my

and sworn to before me this day of

hand and offìcial seal. My commission expires:

A.D.20

Notary Public

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  88



2

SIGN POSTING REQUIREMENTS
APPLICANT'S ACKNOWLEDGMENT FORM

Required for Certain Land Use Review, Administrative Review, and Technical Document Review þplications

I am responsible for ensuring that the sign(s) is posted on the property described above in such a way that meets the
requiremenls of Section 94-3(c), B.R.C. 1981 (listed above), including visibility of the sign(s) and time and duration of the
sign(s) posting, and including reposting any signs that are removed, damaged, or olherwise'displaced from the site. As
necessary, I shall obtain a replacement sign(s) from the city for reposting.

I undersland that certrain future changes to my applicatíon, including but not limited to, changes to the project description
or adding a review type, may require that I post a new sign(s). The city will notiff me if such a reposting iè required and
provide me with a necessary replacement sign(s).

I understand that failing to provide the public notice by sign posting required by the city's land use regulation may result
i¡ a delay in the city's is.sgl¡sg decísion or a legal challenge of any issued decision.

PERSON

Please keep a copy of this slgned form for your reference. lf you have any questions about the sign posting reguirements or lo
oblaín a replacement sign, please câll 303441-lBB0.

3.

4.

¿,

C]TY CODE REQU]REMENT FOR SIGN POSNNG OF LAND USE REVIEW APPLICATIONS -
Excerpt of Section g-f.3(c), B.R.G. l98l : PuHic Notice of Application: The dty manager wil provide the blowing pubtic
r¡oti:e of a development rwiew application;

(1) Pofing: After receiving such applirution is filed to be posted wilh a
notice índir}atng lhat a development review ùpt interested persons may
obtain more detailed inbrmation from the pla

F) n" nolice shall be place on ureatherproof slgnE that have been provided by the Cily and placed on the property that is
lhe subJecl of lhe application.

(B) All such notice shall be posæd no later than len da¡æ afler the date the application is filed to ensure that notice is posted
early in lhe development review process.

(C) The signs shall be placed along each abutting street, perpendícular to the direc{ion of lravel, in a manner that makes
them clearly visible to neighboring residenls and passers-by. At least one sign shall be posted on each street frontage.

(D) The signs shall remain in place during the period lea-,ng up to a decision by the approving authority, but not less lhan
ten days.

(E) On or before the date lhat lhe approving authority is scheduled to mal¡e a decision on the application the city manager
will require the applicant to certify in writing that required notice was posted according to the requiiements of this säaion. 

-

Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions

Agenda Item 3K     Page  89



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  90



Attachment D - Annexation Maps

Agenda Item 3K     Page  91



Attachment D - Annexation Maps

Agenda Item 3K     Page  92



Attachment D - Annexation Maps

Agenda Item 3K     Page  93



Attachment D - Annexation Maps

Agenda Item 3K     Page  94



EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE (Page 2 of 2) 
               ANNEXATION MAP

Attachment D - Annexation Maps

Agenda Item 3K     Page  95



 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  96



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  97



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  98



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  99



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  100



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  101



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  102



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  103



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  104



EXHIBIT A TO AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 1)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  105



 
 
 

EXHIBIT B TO AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 5) 

1 
 

For Administrative Purposes Only 
Property Address: 1950 Riverside 
Grantor: Seana Grady 
Grantee: City of Boulder, Colorado  
Case#:  LUR2014-00059 

 
GRANT OF FLOOD CONTROL EASEMENT 

 
SEANA GRADY (“Grantor”), whose address is 1950 Riverside, Boulder Colorado 

80304, for $1.00 and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged, does hereby grant, bargain, sell and convey to the CITY OF BOULDER, a 
Colorado home rule city (the “City”), whose address is 1777 Broadway, Boulder, Colorado 
80302,  a flood control easement for the purpose of drainage conveyance and control of flood 
waters and installation and maintenance of improvements necessary to ensure conveyance as 
determined by the Grantee, together with all rights and privileges as are necessary or incidental 
to the reasonable and proper use of such easement in and to, over, under and across the following 
real property, situated in Boulder County, Colorado, to-wit: 
 
     See Exhibit A attached 
   

Grantor, for her and for her heirs, successors, agents, lessees, and assigns, does hereby 
covenant and agree that no permanent structure or improvement shall be placed on said easement 
by her or her heirs, successors or assigns, and that said use of such easement shall not otherwise 
be obstructed or interfered with.   
 
 Grantor warrants her ability to grant and convey this easement. 
 

The terms of this easement shall run with the land and shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the Grantor, her heirs, agents, lessees and assigns, and all other successors to her in 
interest and shall continue as a servitude running in perpetuity with the property described above. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has caused this instrument to be duly executed as of 
this       day of                                         , 2014. 
 
GRANTOR:     
 
 
By:______________________________ 
 Seana Grady 
 
 

[NOTARY BLOCK FOLLOWS] 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  106



 
 
 

EXHIBIT B TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 5) 

2 
 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 
    )ss. 
COUNTY OF BOULDER ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this       day of                           , 
2014, by Seana Grady. 
 
 Witness my hand and official seal. 
 My commission expires: _________________ 
 
        ____________________________  
         Notary Public 
 
 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  107



 
 
 

EXHIBIT B TO AGREEMENT (Page 3 of 5) 

3 
 

LENDER’S CONSENT AND SUBORDINATION 
 
The undersigned, a beneficiary under a certain deed of trust encumbering the property, hereby 
expressly consents to and joins in the execution and recording of this grant of easement and 
makes the deed of trust subordinate hereto.  The undersigned represents that he or she has full 
power and authority to execute this Lender’s Consent and Subordination on behalf of the below-
stated lender. 
 
US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
 
By:___________________________________ 
Printed Name:__________________________ 
Title:_________________________________ 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

State of ________________ ) 
    ) ss. 
County of ______________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of ________________, 
2014, by ____________________________ as ______________________________ of US 
Bank National Association. 
 
Witness my Hand and Seal. 
My Commission Expires:___________  
 
[Seal]       ______________________ 
              Notary Public 
 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  108



 
 
 

EXHIBIT B TO AGREEMENT (Page 4 of 5) 

4 
 

LENDER’S CONSENT AND SUBORDINATION 
 
The undersigned, a beneficiary under a certain deed of trust encumbering the property, hereby 
expressly consents to and joins in the execution and recording of this grant of easement and 
makes the deed of trust subordinate hereto.  The undersigned represents that he or she has full 
power and authority to execute this Lender’s Consent and Subordination on behalf of the below-
stated lender. 
 
KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
 
By:___________________________________ 
Printed Name:__________________________ 
Title:_________________________________ 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

State of ________________ ) 
    ) ss. 
County of ______________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of ________________, 
2014, by ____________________________ as ______________________________ of 
Keybank National Association. 
 
Witness my Hand and Seal. 
My Commission Expires:___________  
 
[Seal]       ______________________ 
              Notary Public 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  109



 
 
 

EXHIBIT B TO AGREEMENT (Page 5 of 5) 

5 
 

 
LENDER’S CONSENT AND SUBORDINATION 
 
The undersigned, a beneficiary under a certain deed of trust encumbering the property, hereby 
expressly consents to and joins in the execution and recording of this grant of easement and 
makes the deed of trust subordinate hereto.  The undersigned represents that he or she has full 
power and authority to execute this Lender’s Consent and Subordination on behalf of the below-
stated lender. 
 
U.S. SMALL BUSINESS ASSOCIATION 
 
By:___________________________________ 
Printed Name:__________________________ 
Title:_________________________________ 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

State of ________________ ) 
    ) ss. 
County of ______________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of ________________, 
2014, by ____________________________ as ______________________________ of U. S. 
Small Business Administration. 
 
Witness my Hand and Seal. 
My Commission Expires:___________  
 
[Seal]       ______________________ 
              Notary Public 
 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  110



EXHIBIT A TO FLOOD CONTROL EASEMENT (Page 1 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  111



EXHIBIT A TO FLOOD CONTROL EASEMENT (Page 2 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  112



 
 

EXHIBIT C TO AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 5) 

1 
 

For Administrative Purposes Only 
Property Address: 1950 Riverside 
Grantor: Seana Grady 
Grantee: City of Boulder, Colorado  
Case#:  LUR2014-00059 

 
GRANT OF UTILITY EASEMENT 

 
SEANA GRADY (“Grantor”), whose address is 1950 Riverside, Boulder Colorado 

80304, for $1.00 and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged, does hereby grant, bargain, sell and convey to the CITY OF BOULDER, a 
Colorado home rule city (the “City”), whose address is 1777 Broadway, Boulder, Colorado 
80302,  an easement for the installation, construction, repair, maintenance and reconstruction of 
utilities and appurtenances thereto, together with all rights and privileges as are necessary or 
incidental to the reasonable and proper use of such easement in and to, over, under and across the 
following real property, situated in Boulder County, Colorado, to-wit: 
 
     See Exhibit A attached 
   

Grantor, for her and for her heirs, successors, agents, lessees, and assigns, does hereby 
covenant and agree that no permanent structure or improvement shall be placed on said easement 
by her or her heirs, successors or assigns, and that said use of such easement shall not otherwise 
be obstructed or interfered with.   
 
 Grantor warrants her ability to grant and convey this easement. 
 

The terms of this easement shall run with the land and shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the Grantor, her heirs, agents, lessees and assigns, and all other successors to her in 
interest and shall continue as a servitude running in perpetuity with the property described above. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has caused this instrument to be duly executed as of 
this       day of                                         , 2014. 
 
GRANTOR:     
 
 
By:______________________________ 
 Seana Grady 
 
 

[NOTARY BLOCK FOLLOWS] 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  113



 
 

EXHIBIT C TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 5) 

2 
 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 
    )ss. 
COUNTY OF BOULDER ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this       day of                           , 
2014, by Seana Grady. 
 
 Witness my hand and official seal. 
 My commission expires: _________________ 
 
        ____________________________  
         Notary Public 
 
 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  114



 
 

EXHIBIT C TO AGREEMENT (Page 3 of 5) 

3 
 

LENDER’S CONSENT AND SUBORDINATION 
 
The undersigned, a beneficiary under a certain deed of trust encumbering the property, hereby 
expressly consents to and joins in the execution and recording of this grant of easement and 
makes the deed of trust subordinate hereto.  The undersigned represents that he or she has full 
power and authority to execute this Lender’s Consent and Subordination on behalf of the below-
stated lender. 
 
US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
 
By:___________________________________ 
Printed Name:__________________________ 
Title:_________________________________ 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

State of ________________ ) 
    ) ss. 
County of ______________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of ________________, 
2014, by ____________________________ as ______________________________ of US 
Bank National Association. 
 
Witness my Hand and Seal. 
My Commission Expires:___________  
 
[Seal]       ______________________ 
              Notary Public 
 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  115



 
 

EXHIBIT C TO AGREEMENT (Page 4 of 5) 

4 
 

LENDER’S CONSENT AND SUBORDINATION 
 
The undersigned, a beneficiary under a certain deed of trust encumbering the property, hereby 
expressly consents to and joins in the execution and recording of this grant of easement and 
makes the deed of trust subordinate hereto.  The undersigned represents that he or she has full 
power and authority to execute this Lender’s Consent and Subordination on behalf of the below-
stated lender. 
 
KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
 
By:___________________________________ 
Printed Name:__________________________ 
Title:_________________________________ 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

State of ________________ ) 
    ) ss. 
County of ______________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of ________________, 
2014, by ____________________________ as ______________________________ of 
Keybank National Association. 
 
Witness my Hand and Seal. 
My Commission Expires:___________  
 
[Seal]       ______________________ 
              Notary Public 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  116



 
 

EXHIBIT C TO AGREEMENT (Page 5 of 5) 

5 
 

 
LENDER’S CONSENT AND SUBORDINATION 
 
The undersigned, a beneficiary under a certain deed of trust encumbering the property, hereby 
expressly consents to and joins in the execution and recording of this grant of easement and 
makes the deed of trust subordinate hereto.  The undersigned represents that he or she has full 
power and authority to execute this Lender’s Consent and Subordination on behalf of the below-
stated lender. 
 
U.S. SMALL BUSINESS ASSOCIATION 
 
By:___________________________________ 
Printed Name:__________________________ 
Title:_________________________________ 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

State of ________________ ) 
    ) ss. 
County of ______________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of ________________, 
2014, by ____________________________ as ______________________________ of U. S. 
Small Business Administration. 
 
Witness my Hand and Seal. 
My Commission Expires:___________  
 
[Seal]       ______________________ 
              Notary Public 
 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  117



EXHIBIT A TO UTILITY EASEMENT (Page 1 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  118



EXHIBIT A TO UTILITY EASEMENT (Page 2 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  119



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  120



 
 
 

EXHIBIT D TO AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 5) 

1 
 

For Administrative Purposes Only 
Property Address: 1950 Riverside 
Grantor: Seana Grady 
Grantee: City of Boulder, Colorado  
Case#:  LUR2014-00059 

 
GRANT OF DITCH EASEMENT 

 
SEANA GRADY (“Grantor”), whose address is 1950 Riverside, Boulder Colorado 

80304, for $1.00 and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged, does hereby grant, bargain, sell and convey to the CITY OF BOULDER, a 
Colorado home rule city (the “City”), whose address is 1777 Broadway, Boulder, Colorado 
80302,  an easement for the installation, construction, repair, maintenance and reconstruction of 
an irrigation ditch (or lateral) and appurtenances thereto, together with all rights and privileges as 
are necessary or incidental to the reasonable and proper use of such easement in and to, over, 
under and across the following real property, situated in Boulder County, Colorado, to-wit: 
 
     See Exhibit A attached 
   

Grantor, for her and for her heirs, successors, agents, lessees, and assigns, does hereby 
covenant and agree that no permanent structure or improvement shall be placed on said easement 
by her or her heirs, successors or assigns, and that said use of such easement shall not otherwise 
be obstructed or interfered with.   
 
 Grantor warrants her ability to grant and convey this easement. 
 

The terms of this easement shall run with the land and shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the Grantor, her heirs, agents, lessees and assigns, and all other successors to her in 
interest and shall continue as a servitude running in perpetuity with the property described above. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has caused this instrument to be duly executed as of 
this       day of                                         , 2014. 
 
GRANTOR:     
 
 
By:______________________________ 
 Seana Grady 
 
 

[NOTARY BLOCK FOLLOWS] 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  121



 
 
 

EXHIBIT D TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 5) 

2 
 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 
    )ss. 
COUNTY OF BOULDER ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this       day of                           , 
2014, by Seana Grady. 
 
 Witness my hand and official seal. 
 My commission expires: _________________ 
 
        ____________________________  
         Notary Public 
 
 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  122



 
 
 

EXHIBIT D TO AGREEMENT (Page 3 of 5) 

3 
 

LENDER’S CONSENT AND SUBORDINATION 
 
The undersigned, a beneficiary under a certain deed of trust encumbering the property, hereby 
expressly consents to and joins in the execution and recording of this grant of easement and 
makes the deed of trust subordinate hereto.  The undersigned represents that he or she has full 
power and authority to execute this Lender’s Consent and Subordination on behalf of the below-
stated lender. 
 
US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
 
By:___________________________________ 
Printed Name:__________________________ 
Title:_________________________________ 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

State of ________________ ) 
    ) ss. 
County of ______________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of ________________, 
2014, by ____________________________ as ______________________________ of US 
Bank National Association. 
 
Witness my Hand and Seal. 
My Commission Expires:___________  
 
[Seal]       ______________________ 
              Notary Public 
 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  123



 
 
 

EXHIBIT D TO AGREEMENT (Page 4 of 5) 

4 
 

LENDER’S CONSENT AND SUBORDINATION 
 
The undersigned, a beneficiary under a certain deed of trust encumbering the property, hereby 
expressly consents to and joins in the execution and recording of this grant of easement and 
makes the deed of trust subordinate hereto.  The undersigned represents that he or she has full 
power and authority to execute this Lender’s Consent and Subordination on behalf of the below-
stated lender. 
 
KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
 
By:___________________________________ 
Printed Name:__________________________ 
Title:_________________________________ 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

State of ________________ ) 
    ) ss. 
County of ______________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of ________________, 
2014, by ____________________________ as ______________________________ of 
Keybank National Association. 
 
Witness my Hand and Seal. 
My Commission Expires:___________  
 
[Seal]       ______________________ 
              Notary Public 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  124



 
 
 

EXHIBIT D TO AGREEMENT (Page 5 of 5) 

5 
 

 
LENDER’S CONSENT AND SUBORDINATION 
 
The undersigned, a beneficiary under a certain deed of trust encumbering the property, hereby 
expressly consents to and joins in the execution and recording of this grant of easement and 
makes the deed of trust subordinate hereto.  The undersigned represents that he or she has full 
power and authority to execute this Lender’s Consent and Subordination on behalf of the below-
stated lender. 
 
U.S. SMALL BUSINESS ASSOCIATION 
 
By:___________________________________ 
Printed Name:__________________________ 
Title:_________________________________ 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

State of ________________ ) 
    ) ss. 
County of ______________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of ________________, 
2014, by ____________________________ as ______________________________ of U. S. 
Small Business Administration. 
 
Witness my Hand and Seal. 
My Commission Expires:___________  
 
[Seal]       ______________________ 
              Notary Public 
 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  125



EXHIBIT A TO DITCH EASEMENT (Page 1 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  126



EXHIBIT A TO DITCH EASEMENT (Page 2 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  127



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  128



CITY OF BOULDER
Planning and Development Services

1739 Broadway, Third Floor  •  P.O. Box 791, Boulder, CO  80306-0791
phone  303-441-1880  •  fax  303-441-4241  •  web  boulderplandevelop.net

 Fees for PMT2014-04653
Responsible Person:  SEANA  GRADY

Address:  1950 RIVERSIDE AV

Please note: This information may not be representative of all fees due.  Additional fees may apply.

Amount
Paid

Amount Due
 History Fee Description

Amount
Assessed

Receipt NumberDate
Paid

Date
Assessed

  RES 2014 Sewer PIF [ISS] $4,473.00 10/9/2014 $4,473.00

  RES 2014 Storm PIF [ISS] $12,073.66 10/9/2014 $12,073.66

  WW Tap Fee (Materials) $47.04 10/9/2014 $47.04

  Wastewater Inspection Fee $169.00 10/9/2014 $169.00

  Wastewater Permit Fee $127.00 10/9/2014 $127.00

  Wastewater Tap Fee (L/E) $79.96 10/9/2014 $79.96

Total Fees Assessed: $16,969.66 Total Fees Paid: $0.00 Total Fees Remaining Due:  $16,969.66 

Page 1 of 2 Printed on 11/17/2014

                                         EXHIBIT E TO AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 1)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  129



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  130



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  131



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  132



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  133



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  134



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  135



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  136



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  137



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

EXHIBIT A TO AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 1)

Agenda Item 3K     Page  138



 
EXHIBIT B TO AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 2) 

 

OPTION TO PURCHASE 
SLD&RC SHARE ASSOCIATED WITH  

VOLUNTARILY ANNEXED SLD IRRIGATED PROPERTY  
PARCEL NO. 96, 4415 GARNET LANE 

 
 Frank Lyon Alexander, as Property Owner of Silver Lake Ditch (“SLD”) Irrigated 
Property Parcel No. 96, 4415 Garnet Lane, legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto and 
incorporated by reference herein, does provide this Option to Purchase to the City of Boulder, 
Colorado, a home rule city of the State of Colorado (“City”), in accordance with the terms of 
Section II, Voluntary Annexation, of the Settlement Agreement of  December 1, 2009 between 
the City and The Silver Lake Ditch & Reservoir Company (“SLD&RC”), recorded at  Reception 
No. 03046201 in Boulder County, Colorado (“Settlement Agreement”), this _____ day of  
  , 2014,  as follows: 
 
1. The City shall have the Option to Purchase 1 SLD&RC Share associated with SLD 

Irrigated Property Parcel No. 96, along with the rights, and only the rights, represented 
by such SLD&RC Share to receive a certain amount of water from the Reserved 
Storage Rights. 

 
2. The City shall have the right to exercise this Option to Purchase within 60 calendar 

days immediately after receiving a Transfer Notice from SLD&RC of a Non-Nuclear 
Transfer (“Initial Option Exercise Period”) or confirmation of a Non-Nuclear Transfer 
through means other than receipt of a Transfer Notice from SLD&RC (“Alternative 
Initial Option Exercise Period”), as the case may be, in accordance with the terms of 
the Settlement Agreement. 

 
3. If the City determines not to exercise the Option to Purchase during the Initial Option 

Exercise Period or Alternative Initial Option Exercise Period, as the case may be, the 
City may subsequently exercise this Option to Purchase within 60 days immediately 
following each annual anniversary of receipt by the City of the Transfer Notice from 
SLD&RC or of the City’s receipt of confirmation of a Non-Nuclear Transfer of SLD 
Irrigated Property through means other than a Transfer Notice from SLD&RC. 

 
4. This Option to Purchase shall be recorded with the Boulder County Clerk and 

Recorder. 
 
5. If the City does exercise this Option to Purchase, the then current owner(s) of the SLD 

Irrigated Property may lease water to the extent such lease is authorized in paragraph 
6.B.viii of the Settlement Agreement. 

 
The Parcel is currently known as 4415 Garnet Lane.  This Option to Purchase shall run 

with the land associated with SLD Irrigated Property Parcel No. 96 regardless of any change of 
address of all or part of the Parcel.  All capitalized terms herein shall be defined as provided in 
the Settlement Agreement. 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  139



 
EXHIBIT B TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 2) 

 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Property Owner has caused this instrument to be duly 
executed as of this _____day of ________________, 2014. 

 
 

PROPERTY OWNER 
 
 
By:_________________________________ 

Frank Lyon Alexander 
 
 
STATE OF COLORADO ) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF BOULDER ) 
 
 The above and foregoing instrument was subscribed and sworn to before me this _____ 
day of    , 2014, by Frank Lyon Alexander. 
 
 Witness my hand and official seal. 
 
 My commission expires: 
 
      ________________________________________ 
      Notary Public 
 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  140



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

EXHIBIT A TO OPTION TO PURCHASE (Page 1 of 1)

Agenda Item 3K     Page  141



 
 

EXHIBIT C TO AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 3) 

1 
 

For Administrative Purposes Only 
Property Address: 4415 Garnet Lane 
Grantor: Frank Lyon Alexander 
Grantee: City of Boulder, Colorado  
Case#:  LUR2014-00061 

 
GRANT OF UTILITY EASEMENT 

 
FRANK LYON ALEXANDER (“Grantor”), whose address is 4415 Garnet Lane, 

Boulder Colorado 80304, for $1.00 and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of 
which is hereby acknowledged, does hereby grant, bargain, sell and convey to the CITY OF 
BOULDER, a Colorado home rule city (the “City”), whose address is 1777 Broadway, Boulder, 
Colorado 80302,  an easement for the installation, construction, repair, maintenance and 
reconstruction of utilities and appurtenances thereto, together with all rights and privileges as are 
necessary or incidental to the reasonable and proper use of such easement in and to, over, under 
and across the following real property, situated in Boulder County, Colorado, to-wit: 
 
     See Exhibit A attached 
   

Grantor, for him and for his heirs, successors, agents, lessees, and assigns, does hereby 
covenant and agree that no permanent structure or improvement shall be placed on said easement 
by him or his heirs, successors or assigns, and that said use of such easement shall not otherwise 
be obstructed or interfered with.   
 
 Grantor warrants his ability to grant and convey this easement. 
 

The terms of this easement shall run with the land and shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the Grantor, his heirs, agents, lessees and assigns, and all other successors to him 
in interest and shall continue as a servitude running in perpetuity with the property described 
above. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has caused this instrument to be duly executed as of 
this       day of                                        , 2014. 
 
GRANTOR:     
 
 
By:______________________________ 
 Frank Lyon Alexander 
 
 

[NOTARY BLOCK FOLLOWS] 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  142



 
 

EXHIBIT C TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 3) 

2 
 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 
    )ss. 
COUNTY OF BOULDER ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this       day of ________           , 
2014, by Frank Lyon Alexander. 
 
 Witness my hand and official seal. 
 My commission expires: _________________ 
 
        ____________________________  
         Notary Public 
 
 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  143



 
 

EXHIBIT C TO AGREEMENT (Page 3 of 3) 

3 
 

LENDER’S CONSENT AND SUBORDINATION 
 
The undersigned, a beneficiary under a certain deed of trust encumbering the property, hereby 
expressly consents to and joins in the execution and recording of this grant of easement and 
makes the deed of trust subordinate hereto.  The undersigned represents that he or she has full 
power and authority to execute this Lender’s Consent and Subordination on behalf of the below-
stated lender. 
 
ROUNDPOINT MORTGAGE COMPANY 
 
By:___________________________________ 
Printed Name:__________________________ 
Title:_________________________________ 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

State of ________________ ) 
    ) ss. 
County of ______________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of ________________, 
20___, by ____________________________ as ______________________________ of 
Roundpoint Mortgage Company. 
 
Witness my Hand and Seal. 
My Commission Expires:___________  
 
[Seal]       ______________________ 
              Notary Public 
 
 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  144



EXHIBIT A TO UTILITY EASEMENT (Page 1 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  145



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  146



EXHIBIT A TO UTILITY EASEMENT (Page 2 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  147



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  148



 
 

EXHIBIT D TO AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 3) 
 

1 
 

For Administrative Purposes Only 
Property Address: 4415 Garnet Lane 
Grantor: Frank Lyon Alexander 
Grantee: City of Boulder, Colorado  
Case#:  LUR2014-00061 

 
GRANT OF DITCH EASEMENT 

 
FRANK LYON ALEXANDER (“Grantor”), whose address is 4415 Garnet Lane, 

Boulder, Colorado 80304, for $1.00 and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of 
which is hereby acknowledged, does hereby grant, bargain, sell and convey to the CITY OF 
BOULDER, a Colorado home rule city (the “City”), whose address is 1777 Broadway, Boulder, 
Colorado 80302, an easement for the installation, construction, repair, maintenance and 
reconstruction of an irrigation ditch (or lateral) and appurtenances thereto, together with all rights 
and privileges as are necessary or incidental to the reasonable and proper use of such easement in 
and to, over, under and across the following real property, situated in Boulder County, Colorado, 
to-wit: 
 
     See Exhibit A attached 
   

Grantor, for him and for his heirs, successors, agents, lessees, and assigns, does hereby 
covenant and agree that no permanent structure or improvement shall be placed on said easement 
by him or his heirs, successors or assigns, and that said use of such easement shall not otherwise 
be obstructed or interfered with.   
 
 Grantor warrants his ability to grant and convey this easement. 
 

The terms of this easement shall run with the land and shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the Grantor, his heirs, agents, lessees and assigns, and all other successors to him 
in interest and shall continue as a servitude running in perpetuity with the property described 
above. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has caused this instrument to be duly executed as of 
this       day of              ___________  , 2014. 
 
GRANTOR:     
 
 
By:______________________________ 
 Frank Lyon Alexander 
 
 

[NOTARY BLOCK FOLLOWS] 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  149



 
 

EXHIBIT D TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 3) 
 

2 
 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 
    )ss. 
COUNTY OF BOULDER ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this       day of                          , 
2014, by Frank Lyon Alexander. 
 
 Witness my hand and official seal. 
 My commission expires: _________________ 
 
        ____________________________  
         Notary Public 
 
 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  150



 
 

EXHIBIT D TO AGREEMENT (Page 3 of 3) 
 

3 
 

LENDER’S CONSENT AND SUBORDINATION 
 
The undersigned, a beneficiary under a certain deed of trust encumbering the property, hereby 
expressly consents to and joins in the execution and recording of this grant of easement and 
makes the deed of trust subordinate hereto.  The undersigned represents that he or she has full 
power and authority to execute this Lender’s Consent and Subordination on behalf of the below-
stated lender. 
 
ROUNDPOINT MORTGAGE COMPANY 
 
By:___________________________________ 
Printed Name:__________________________ 
Title:_________________________________ 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

State of ________________ ) 
    ) ss. 
County of ______________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of ________________, 
20___, by ____________________________ as ______________________________ of 
Roundpoint Mortgage Company. 
 
Witness my Hand and Seal. 
My Commission Expires:___________  
 
[Seal]       ______________________ 
              Notary Public 
 
 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  151



EXHIBIT A TO DITCH EASEMENT (Page 1 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  152



EXHIBIT A TO DITCH EASEMENT (Page 2 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  153



                                 EXHIBIT E TO AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  154



                                 EXHIBIT E TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  155



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  156



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  157



 

Page 2 
 

“Redevelopment” shall be defined as the subdivision of a property to create a new lot, 
issuance of a building permit for a new or replacement dwelling unit, issuance of a 
building permit for additional square footage to the existing structure, or an increase in 
number of the  plumbing fixtures. 

 
2. Requirements Prior to First Reading of the Annexation Ordinance.  Prior to the scheduling 

of first reading of the annexation ordinance, the Applicants shall do the following: 
 

A. Annexation Agreement.  The Applicants will sign this Agreement.  
 

B. Title Work.  The Applicants will provide the City with title work current to within 
30 days of signing this Agreement.  
 

C. Written Descriptions.  The Applicants shall provide a written description of any 
nonconforming uses and/or nonstandard buildings existing on each Property, if 
any. 
 

D. Easement Dedications.  The Applicants shall dedicate to the City, at no cost, a 
flood control easement from 60 feet on either side of the centerline of South 
Boulder Creek as shown on Exhibit A (the “Flood Control Easement Area”). The 
easement shall be in a form acceptable to the city manager.  The easement will 
exclude any principal building containing a dwelling unit on the lot within the 
flood control easement area that is existing at the time of annexation. 
 

E. Northern Colorado Water Conservancy District (“NCWCD”).  The Applicants 
will file an application for inclusion of the Property in the Northern Colorado 
Water Conservancy District and the Boulder Municipal Subdistrict. 
 

3. Connection Requirements. Prior to connection to the City’s sanitary sewer main, the 
Applicants shall: 
 
A. Submit an application to connect to the City’s sanitary sewer main that meets the 

requirements of Chapter 11-2, B.R.C. 1981. 

B. Pay all applicable fees and charges associated with a service line connection to 
the sanitary sewer main, including wastewater plant investment fees, stormwater 
and flood management plant investment fees, right-of way, and wastewater permit 
fees, installation fees, and tap fees.  

C. Construct the individual service lines that will connect the Applicants’ existing 
residence to the City’s wastewater main. 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  158



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  159



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  160



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  161



 

Page 6 
 

collect its costs in the manner herein provided.  The Applicants agree to waive any rights 
they may have under Section 31-20-105, C.R.S., based on the City’s lack of an enabling 
ordinance authorizing collection of this specific debt or acknowledge that the adoption of 
the annexation ordinance is such enabling ordinance. 

 
17. Failure to Annex.  This Agreement and any document executed pursuant hereto shall be 

null and void and of no consequence in the event that the Property is not annexed into the 
City. 

 
18. Future Interests.  This Agreement and the covenants set forth herein shall run with the 

land and be binding upon the Applicants, the Applicants’ heirs, successors, and assigns 
and all persons who may hereafter acquire an interest in the Property, or any part thereof.  
If it shall be determined that this Agreement contains an interest in land, that interest shall 
vest, if at all, within the lives of the undersigned plus 20 years and 364 days. 

 
19. Right to Withdraw.  The Applicants retain the right to withdraw from this Agreement up 

until the time that final legislative action has been taken on the ordinance that will cause the 
Property to be annexed into the City.  The final legislative action will be the vote of the City 
Council after the final reading of the annexation ordinance.  The Applicants’ right to 
withdraw shall terminate upon the City Council’s final legislative action approving the 
annexation.  In the event that the Applicants withdraw from this Agreement in the manner 
described above, this Agreement shall be null and void and shall have no effect regarding 
such Applicants.  The City agrees, within 30 days of a request by the Applicants after a 
withdrawal, to return all previously submitted stormwater/flood management PIF, NCWCD 
fees and application, and easement and/or rights of way dedication documents which the 
Applicants submitted pursuant to this Agreement to the City. 

 
20. Flood Control Easement Conditions.   

 
 A. The City will allow existing accessory structures identified on Exhibit B to 

remain within the Flood Control Easement Area until removed, destroyed, demolished, or 
relocated. 

 B. The City can require removal of pre-existing accessory buildings if such buildings 
are required to implement a specific flood mitigation project. 

 C. The Applicants shall neither construct any new buildings nor rebuild or 
reconstruct any pre-existing accessory buildings within the Flood Control Easement 
Area. 
 

21. Property Impacted by Floodplain.  The Property is impacted by the 100-year floodplain, 
500-year floodplain, conveyance zone, and high hazard zone of South Boulder Creek.  
Any development on the Property must comply with Sections 9-3-2 through 9-3-8 of the 
Boulder Revised Code. 
 

22. Water Main Connection.  The Applicants shall connect to the City’s water main at a time 
no later than the time the Applicants’ Property is sold. Whether at time of sale or at an 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  162



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  163



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  164



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  165



 
 
 

1 
 

For Administrative Purposes Only 
Property Address: 1085 Gapter Road 
Grantors: Silvano De Luca and  
   Elvira G. De Luca 
Grantee: City of Boulder, Colorado  
Case#:  LUR2014-00064 

 
GRANT OF FLOOD CONTROL EASEMENT 

 
SILVANO DE LUCA AND ELVIRA G. DE LUCA (“Grantors”), whose address is 1085 

Gapter Road, Boulder, Colorado 80304, for $1.00 and other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, do hereby grant, bargain, sell and convey to the CITY 
OF BOULDER, a Colorado home rule city (the “City”), whose address is 1777 Broadway, 
Boulder, Colorado 80302,  a flood control easement for the purpose of drainage conveyance and 
control of flood waters and installation and maintenance of improvements necessary to ensure 
conveyance as determined by the Grantee, together with all rights and privileges as are necessary 
or incidental to the reasonable and proper use of such easement in and to, over, under and across 
the following real property, situated in Boulder County, Colorado, to-wit: 
 
     See Exhibit A attached 
   

Grantors, for them and for their heirs, successors, agents, lessees, and assigns, do hereby 
covenant and agree that no permanent structure or improvement shall be placed on said easement 
by them or their heirs, successors or assigns, and that said use of such easement shall not 
otherwise be obstructed or interfered with.   
 
 Grantors warrant their ability to grant and convey this easement. 
 

The terms of this easement shall run with the land and shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the Grantors, their heirs, agents, lessees and assigns, and all other successors to 
them in interest and shall continue as a servitude running in perpetuity with the property 
described above. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has caused this instrument to be duly executed as of 
this       day of              ___________  , 2014. 
 
GRANTOR:     
 
 
 
By:______________________________ 
 Silvano De Luca  
 
 

[NOTARY BLOCK FOLLOWS] 

EXHIBIT A TO AGREEMENT (Page  1 of 5)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  166



 
 
 

2 
 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 
    )ss. 
COUNTY OF BOULDER ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this       day of                          , 
2014, by Silvano De Luca. 
 
 Witness my hand and official seal. 
 My commission expires: _________________ 
 
        ____________________________  
         Notary Public 
 
 
 
GRANTOR:     
 
 
 
By:______________________________ 
 Elvira G. De Luca 
 
 
STATE OF COLORADO ) 
    )ss. 
COUNTY OF BOULDER ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this       day of                          , 
2014, by Elvira G. De Luca. 
 
 Witness my hand and official seal. 
 My commission expires: _________________ 
 
        ____________________________  
         Notary Public 
 

EXHIBIT A TO AGREEMENT (Page  2 of 5)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  167



 
 
 

3 
 

LENDER’S CONSENT AND SUBORDINATION 
 
The undersigned, a beneficiary under a certain deed of trust encumbering the property, hereby 
expressly consents to and joins in the execution and recording of this grant of easement and 
makes the deed of trust subordinate hereto.  The undersigned represents that he or she has full 
power and authority to execute this Lender’s Consent and Subordination on behalf of the below-
stated lender. 
 
U.S. SMALL BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION 
 
By:___________________________________ 
Printed Name:__________________________ 
Title:_________________________________ 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

State of ________________ ) 
    ) ss. 
County of ______________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of ________________, 
20___, by ____________________________ as ______________________________ of U.S. 
Small Business Administration. 
 
Witness my Hand and Seal. 
My Commission Expires:___________  
 
[Seal]       ______________________ 
              Notary Public 
 
 

EXHIBIT A TO AGREEMENT (Page  3 of 5)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  168



LENDER’S CONSENT AND SUBORDINATION 
 
The undersigned, a beneficiary under a certain deed of trust encumbering the property, hereby 
expressly consents to and joins in the execution and recording of this grant of easement and 
makes the deed of trust subordinate hereto.  The undersigned represents that he or she has full 
power and authority to execute this Lender’s Consent and Subordination on behalf of the below-
stated lender. 
 
CHASE BANK    
 
By:___________________________________ 
Printed Name:__________________________ 
Title:_________________________________ 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

State of ________________ ) 
    ) ss. 
County of ______________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of ________________, 
20___, by ____________________________ as ______________________________ of Chase 
Bank. 
 
Witness my Hand and Seal. 
My Commission Expires:___________  
 
[Seal]       ______________________ 
              Notary Public 
 

EXHIBIT A TO AGREEMENT (Page  4 of 5)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  169



LENDER’S CONSENT AND SUBORDINATION 
 
The undersigned, a beneficiary under a certain deed of trust encumbering the property, hereby 
expressly consents to and joins in the execution and recording of this grant of easement and 
makes the deed of trust subordinate hereto.  The undersigned represents that he or she has full 
power and authority to execute this Lender’s Consent and Subordination on behalf of the below-
stated lender. 
 
FIRSTBANK OF LONGMONT 
 
By:___________________________________ 
Printed Name:__________________________ 
Title:_________________________________ 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

State of ________________ ) 
    ) ss. 
County of ______________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of ________________, 
20___, by ____________________________ as ______________________________ of 
Firstbank of Longmont. 
 
Witness my Hand and Seal. 
My Commission Expires:___________  
 
[Seal]       ______________________ 
              Notary Public 
 

EXHIBIT A TO AGREEMENT (Page  5 of 5)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  170



EXHIBIT A TO FLOOD CONTROL EASEMENT (Page 1 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  171



EXHIBIT A TO FLOOD CONTROL EASEMENT (Page 2 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  172



 

  
 

 
EXHIBIT B TO AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 2) 

 
 

• One barn 
• One storage shed/chicken coop 

  

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  173



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  174



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Box above approximates the property 
boundaries of 1085 Gapter Road

EXHIBIT B TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 2)

Agenda Item 3K     Page  175



                                EXHIBIT C TO AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 2)
Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  176



                                EXHIBIT C TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 2)
Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  177



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  178



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  179



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  180



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  181



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  182



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  183



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  184



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  185



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  186



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  187



 
 

EXHIBIT A TO AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 2) 

 

OPTION TO PURCHASE 
SLD&RC SHARE ASSOCIATED WITH  

VOLUNTARILY ANNEXED SLD IRRIGATED PROPERTY  
PARCEL NO. 133, 2200 EMERALD ROAD 

 
 Amy J. Carpenter and Stephen R. Carpenter, as Property Owners of Silver Lake 
Ditch (“SLD”) Irrigated Property Parcel No. 133, 2200 Emerald Road, legally described as 
Lot 3, Block 6, Githens Acres, County of Boulder,  State of Colorado, do provide this Option to 
Purchase to the City of Boulder, Colorado, a home rule city of the State of Colorado (“City”), in 
accordance with the terms of Section II, Voluntary Annexation, of the Settlement Agreement of  
December 1, 2009 between the City and The Silver Lake Ditch & Reservoir Company 
(“SLD&RC”), recorded at  Reception No. 03046201 in Boulder County, Colorado (“Settlement 
Agreement”), this _____ day of    , 2014,  as follows: 
 
1. The City shall have the Option to Purchase 1 SLD&RC Share associated with SLD 

Irrigated Property Parcel No. 133, along with the rights, and only the rights, 
represented by such SLD&RC Share to receive a certain amount of water from the 
Reserved Storage Rights. 

 
2. The City shall have the right to exercise this Option to Purchase within 60 calendar 

days immediately after receiving a Transfer Notice from SLD&RC of a Non-Nuclear 
Transfer (“Initial Option Exercise Period”) or confirmation of a Non-Nuclear Transfer 
through means other than receipt of a Transfer Notice from SLD&RC (“Alternative 
Initial Option Exercise Period”), as the case may be, in accordance with the terms of 
the Settlement Agreement. 

 
3. If the City determines not to exercise the Option to Purchase during the Initial Option 

Exercise Period or Alternative Initial Option Exercise Period, as the case may be, the 
City may subsequently exercise this Option to Purchase within 60 days immediately 
following each annual anniversary of receipt by the City of the Transfer Notice from 
SLD&RC or of the City’s receipt of confirmation of a Non-Nuclear Transfer of SLD 
Irrigated Property through means other than a Transfer Notice from SLD&RC. 

 
4. This Option to Purchase shall be recorded with the Boulder County Clerk and 

Recorder. 
 
5. If the City does exercise this Option to Purchase, the then current owner(s) of the SLD 

Irrigated Property may lease water to the extent such lease is authorized in paragraph 
6.B.viii of the Settlement Agreement. 

 
The Parcel is currently known as 2200 Emerald.  This Option to Purchase shall run with 

the land associated with SLD Irrigated Property Parcel No. 133 regardless of any change of 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  188



 
 

EXHIBIT A TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 2) 

 

address of all or part of the Parcel.  All capitalized terms herein shall be defined as provided in 
the Settlement Agreement. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Property Owner has caused this instrument to be duly 
executed as of this _____ day of ________________, 2014. 

 
 

PROPERTY OWNER 
 

 
By:_________________________________ 

Amy J. Carpenter 
 
STATE OF COLORADO ) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF BOULDER ) 
 
 The above and foregoing instrument was subscribed and sworn to before me this _____ 
day of     , 2014, by Amy J. Carpenter. 
 
 Witness my hand and official seal. 
 My commission expires: 
 
      ________________________________________ 
      Notary Public 
 
PROPERTY OWNER 
 
By:_________________________________ 

Stephen R. Carpenter 
 
STATE OF COLORADO ) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF BOULDER ) 
 
 The above and foregoing instrument was subscribed and sworn to before me this _____ 
day of     , 2014, by Stephen R. Carpenter. 
 
 Witness my hand and official seal. 
 My commission expires: 
      ________________________________________ 
      Notary Public 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  189



 
 

EXHIBIT B TO AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 2) 
 

1 
 

For Administrative Purposes Only 
Property Address: 2200 Emerald Road 
Grantors: Amy J. Carpenter and Stephen R. 
Carpenter 
Grantee: City of Boulder, Colorado  
Case#:  LUR2014-00065 

 
GRANT OF FLOOD CONTROL EASEMENT 

 
AMY J. CARPENTER and STEPHEN R. CARPENTER (“Grantors”), whose address is 

2200 Emerald Road, Boulder Colorado 80304, for $1.00 and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, do hereby grant, bargain, sell and 
convey to the CITY OF BOULDER, a Colorado home rule city (the “City”), whose address is 
1777 Broadway, Boulder, Colorado 80302,  a flood control easement for the purpose of drainage 
conveyance and control of flood waters and installation and maintenance of improvements 
necessary to ensure conveyance as determined by the Grantee, together with all rights and 
privileges as are necessary or incidental to the reasonable and proper use of such easement in and 
to, over, under and across the following real property, situated in Boulder County, Colorado, to-
wit: 
 
     See Exhibit A attached 
   

Grantors, for them and for their heirs, successors, agents, lessees, and assigns, do hereby 
covenant and agree that no permanent structure or improvement shall be placed on said easement 
by them or their heirs, successors or assigns, and that said use of such easement shall not 
otherwise be obstructed or interfered with.   
 
 Grantors warrant their ability to grant and convey this easement. 
 

The terms of this easement shall run with the land and shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the Grantors, their heirs, agents, lessees and assigns, and all other successors to 
them in interest and shall continue as a servitude running in perpetuity with the property 
described above. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has caused this instrument to be duly executed as of 
this       day of                                               , 2014. 
 
GRANTOR:     
 
 
By:______________________________ 
 Amy J. Carpenter 
 

[NOTARY BLOCK FOLLOWS] 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  190



 
 

EXHIBIT B TO AGREEMENT (Page 2 of 2) 
 

2 
 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 
    )ss. 
COUNTY OF BOULDER ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this       day of _______           , 
2014, by Amy J. Carpenter. 
 
 Witness my hand and official seal. 
 My commission expires: _________________ 
 
        ____________________________  
         Notary Public 
 
GRANTOR:     
 
 
By:______________________________ 
 Stephen R. Carpenter 
 
 
STATE OF COLORADO ) 
    )ss. 
COUNTY OF BOULDER ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this       day of _______           , 
2014, by Stephen R. Carpenter. 
 
 Witness my hand and official seal. 
 My commission expires: _________________ 
 
        ____________________________  
         Notary Public 
 
 

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  191



EXHIBIT A TO FLOOD CONTROL EASEMENT (Page 1 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  192



EXHIBIT A TO FLOOD CONTROL EASEMENT (Page 2 of 2)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  193



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  194



                         EXHIBIT C TO AGREEMENT (Page 1 of 1)

Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  195



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  196



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  197



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  198



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  199



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  200



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  201



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  202



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  203



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  204



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  205



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  206



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  207



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  208



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  209



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  210



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  211



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  212



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  213



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  214



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  215



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3K     Page  216



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  217



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  218



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  219



Attachment E - Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  220



City of Boulder 
Guidelines for Annexation Agreements 

-Individual Annexations of Mostly Developed Residential Properties  
in Area II- 

 
June 25, 2002 

 
I. Background: 
 

The purpose of these guidelines is to provide general direction for negotiating annexation 
agreements with individual landowners of mostly developed residential properties in 
Area II. They are intended to clarify city expectations in individual annexations. These 
guidelines have been endorsed by Planning Board and City Council and are a reference 
for city staff, landowners, Planning Board and City Council in future individual 
annexation negotiations.  

 
The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan provides a framework for annexation and urban 
service provision. 
With the 2001 update to the BVCP, Annexation Policy 1.25 was amended to provide 
more clarity about annexations. The amendments to the policy included the following: 
 

 Direction for the city to actively pursue annexation of county enclaves, Area II 
properties along the western boundary, and other mostly developed Area II 
properties; 

 Direction to the county to attach great weight to the city’s input on development 
in enclaves and developed Area II lands and to place emphasis on conforming to 
the city’s standards in these areas; and 

 A policy that developed parcels proposed for annexation that are seeking no 
greater density or building size should not be required to provide the same level of 
community benefit as vacant parcels until more development of the parcel is 
applied for.  

 
In order to reduce the negative impacts of new development in the Boulder Valley, the 
BVCP states that the city shall annex Area II land with significant development or 
redevelopment potential only on a very limited basis.  Such annexations will be supported 
only if the annexation provides a special opportunity to the city or community benefit. 
These guidelines apply primarily to mostly developed residential properties in Area II.  In 
most of these cases, the city would not request a community benefit with the annexation.  
However, a few of the properties that are currently developed in the county may have 
further development potential once annexed into the city.  These guidelines further refine 
the BVCP Policy 1.25 by specifically outlining which properties will be asked to provide 
community benefit upon annexation and what form of community benefit may be 
requested by the city. 

 

Attachment F - Guidelines for Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  221



II. General Principles of Individual Annexations of Mostly Developed Residential 
Properties: 
A. In terms of the city’s interests, the benefits of annexing mostly developed 

residential properties in Area II outweigh the costs. 
B. The city has a strong desire to annex many of the residential properties in Area II 

because of the potential environmental and health issues associated with well and 
septic systems.  

C. The basic fees associated with annexation (plant investment and impact fees) 
should not be reduced for individual property owners seeking annexation 
(although financing and payback may be negotiated).  

D. The city has a legal obligation under state law to annex enclaves at the request of 
the property owner without terms and conditions beyond those required through 
existing ordinances. 

E. The city may apply additional terms and conditions to enclaves only through 
negotiation with the property owner. (Use caution when applying community 
benefit). 

 
III. Principles of Applying City Community Benefit Policy: 
  

A. Community benefit should only be applied to properties with additional 
development potential. 

B. For the purposes of these guidelines, additional development potential includes 
the ability to subdivide the property and/or build at least one additional unit on the 
property. Additional development potential does not include the ability to add on 
to an existing house or to replace an old house with a new one (scrape-offs). 

C. Although emphasis is placed on affordable housing, community benefit is not 
restricted to housing. An affordable housing benefit should be balanced with other 
benefits such as land or property dedications (landmarking, flood and open space 
easements) or other restrictions that help meet BVCP goals. 

D. The city should strive for consistency in applying the affordable housing 
requirement to properties with additional development potential.  In areas where 
new affordable units are appropriate (Crestview East), restrictions should be 
placed on the affordability of the new units.  In areas where new affordable units 
are not appropriate or feasible, (Gould Subdivision, 55th St. enclaves), the 
applicant should be requested to pay two times the cash contribution in-lieu of 
providing on-site affordable housing. 

 
IV. Framework for Basic Annexation Conditions for All Properties: 
 

A. Inclusion in the Boulder Municipal Subdistrict and the Northern Colorado Water 
Conservancy District. 

B. Assessment for waterline and sanitary sewer along street frontage (either existing 
or to be constructed). 

C. Development Excise Tax (DET). 
D. Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment fees. 
E. Water and Wastewater Utility Plant Investment Fee. 

Attachment F - Guidelines for Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  222



F. Dedication to the city of right-of-way for streets, alleys, water mains, and/or fire 
hydrants. 

G. Agreement to participate in their pro rata share of any future right-of-way 
improvements (paving, roadbase, curb, gutter, landscaping, sidewalks, bicycle and 
pedestrian path connections). 

H. Properties with Silver Lake Ditch rights:  The city would ask the property owner 
to sell all interests in the ditch company to the city. 

I. Properties with other ditch rights:  The city would ask for the first Right of 
Refusal for any ditch rights associated with the property. 

 
V. Application of Community Benefit  
 

A. Guidelines for properties within the flood conveyance zone or with an open 
space or natural ecosystem land use designations. 

 
1. The city would request dedication of an open space conservation easement 

for any portion of the site with a BVCP Open Space or Natural Ecosystem 
land use designation. 

2. The city would request dedication to the city of a stormwater and 
floodplain easement for any portion of the site located within the flood 
conveyance zone.   

 
B. Guidelines for properties with additional development potential. 

 
The guidelines below are based on the definition of development potential as the 
potential for a property to be subdivided or for additional units to be built on the 
property.  Although the terms of the community benefit requirement may be 
negotiated on a case-by-case basis, the following are the general guidelines for 
requesting community benefit: 
1. A community benefit requirement in the form of two times the cash in-lieu 

contribution as set forth in the city’s inclusionary zoning ordinance to the 
Housing Trust Fund would be negotiated with property owners in ER and 
RR zones.  

2. For properties in LR and MR zones, a condition would be negotiated that a 
certain percentage of any new dwelling units be made permanently 
affordable to various income groups (see specific guidelines for each 
property group below). 

3. For enclaves, the affordable housing request should be consistent with 
similar annexations in the area (see specific guidelines for each property 
group below). 

4. For edge properties, the cash-in-lieu requested would be two times that 
required under the inclusionary zoning ordinance. 

   

Attachment F - Guidelines for Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  223



C. Guidelines for specific property areas. 
 

1. Enclave – Crestview East 
 
a. All properties: 

 Request that the applicant demonstrate compliance with the 
North Boulder Subcommunity Plan Design Guidelines upon 
redevelopment or other applicable developed zoning district 
standards. 

 
b. Properties along Fourmile Canyon Creek: 

 Attempt to secure through negotiation, dedication of 
conservation, trail, and floodplain and drainage utility 
easements to the city to meet the objectives of the Greenways 
Master Plan and the Stormwater and Flood Management 
Utility. 

 
c. Properties with subdivision potential – split MR/LR zoning: 

 50% of any newly constructed units should be permanently 
affordable to low and middle income households. 

 
d. Properties with subdivision potential – split LR/ER zones: 

 25% of any newly constructed units should be permanently 
affordable to middle income households; and 

 Market rate units permitted on site should pay twice the 
applicable cash-in-lieu amount required by inclusionary zoning 
provisions. 

 
e. Properties with subdivision potential – ER zones: 

 Payment of two times the cash contribution in-lieu of providing 
on-site affordable housing set forth in the city’s inclusionary 
zoning ordinance for each new dwelling unit (prior to building 
permit). 

 
2. Enclave – Githens Acres and other miscellaneous North Boulder 

enclave properties. 
 

a. All properties: 
 Request that the applicant demonstrates compliance with the 

North Boulder Subcommunity Plan Design Guidelines upon 
redevelopment or other applicable developed zoning district 
standards. 

 
b. Properties along Fourmile Canyon Creek: 

 Attempt to secure through negotiation, dedication of 
conservation, trail, and floodplain and drainage utility 

Attachment F - Guidelines for Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  224



easements to the city to meet the objectives of the Greenways 
Master Plan. 

 
3. Enclave – Pennsylvania Ave. 

 
a. Three properties along the Wellman Canal (5255, 5303, and 5101): 

 Attempt to secure through negotiation, dedication of a trail 
easement to the city to meet the objectives of the city’s 
Transportation Master Plan. 

 
  b. For all properties: 

 Request payment for share of sidewalk improvements along 
Pennsylvania Ave.  

 
4. Enclave – 55th St. 

 
a. Property with an MR land use designation (1415 55th St.): 

If zoned LR-D, 
 Payment of two times the cash contribution in-lieu of providing 

on-site affordable housing set forth in the city’s inclusionary 
zoning ordinance for each new dwelling unit. (at the time of 
building permit) or; 

 Any newly constructed units must be permanently affordable to 
middle income households. 

 
If zoned MR-D, 
 50% of any newly constructed units must be permanently 

affordable to low and middle income households. 
 

b. Properties with an LR land use designation and further 
development potential (994, 836, 830 55th St. and 5495 Baseline 
Rd.): 
 Payment of two times the cash contribution in-lieu of providing 

on-site affordable housing set forth in the city’s inclusionary 
zoning ordinance for each new dwelling unit (at the time of 
building permit). 

 
5. Gould Subdivision 

 
a. Three properties with additional development potential (2840 Jay 

Rd., 2818 Jay Rd., 4040 28th St.): 
 Payment of two times the cash contribution in-lieu of providing 

on-site affordable housing set forth in the city’s inclusionary 
zoning ordinance for each new dwelling unit. 
 

 

Attachment F - Guidelines for Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  225



6. Western Edge 
 

a. Two properties with a VLR land use designation and development 
potential (0 Linden Dr., and 3650 4th St.): 
 Payment of two times the cash contribution in-lieu of providing 

on-site affordable housing set forth in the city’s inclusionary 
zoning ordinance for each new dwelling unit. (at the time of 
subdivision). 

 
b. Properties at 3365 4th St., 3047 3rd St., 2975 3rd St., and 2835 3rd 

St.: 
 An open space conservation easement, for the portion of the 

property that is west of the ABlue Line,” should be dedicated 
to the city. 

 
7. Old Tale Rd./Cherryvale Rd. 

 
a. Properties along South Boulder Creek: 

 Attempt to secure through negotiation, dedication of 
conservation, trail, and floodplain and drainage utility 
easements to the city to meet the objectives of the Greenways 
Master Plan and the Stormwater and Flood Management 
Utility. 

 
 

Attachment F - Guidelines for Annexation Agreements

Agenda Item 3K     Page  226



Attachment G - Public Comment

Agenda Item 3K     Page  227



Attachment G - Public Comment

Agenda Item 3K     Page  228



Attachment G - Public Comment

Agenda Item 3K     Page  229



Attachment G - Public Comment

Agenda Item 3K     Page  230



Attachment G - Public Comment

Agenda Item 3K     Page  231



Attachment G - Public Comment

Agenda Item 3K     Page  232



Attachment G - Public Comment

Agenda Item 3K     Page  233



Attachment G - Public Comment

Agenda Item 3K     Page  234



Attachment G - Public Comment

Agenda Item 3K     Page  235



Attachment H - Letter from Marilyn Jorrie regarding 2350 Norwood Ave.

Agenda Item 3K     Page  236



Attachment H - Letter from Marilyn Jorrie regarding 2350 Norwood Ave.

Agenda Item 3K     Page  237



Attachment H - Letter from Marilyn Jorrie regarding 2350 Norwood Ave.

Agenda Item 3K     Page  238



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: Dec. 2, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:  Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt  
Ordinance No. 8010 to rezone the property located at 5400 Spine Road, from Industrial – 
General to Business Community-2, consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 
Plan land use designation of Community Business. 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The proposed ordinance rezones the property located at 5400 Spine Road from IG 
(Industrial General) to BC-2 (Business Community-2). The rezoning is necessary to bring 
the property into conformance with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) land 
use designation of Community Business and implements the Gunbarrel Community 
Center Plan (GCCP), adopted by Planning Board and City Council in 2004. 
 
The GCCP is a land use and transportation plan for the entire Gunbarrel commercial area. 
The plan provides direction for reviewing future public improvements and private sector 
development proposals in the area and provides redevelopment direction for individual 
landowners. The intent of the GCCP is to provide a rich and thriving mix of uses by 
expanding the amount of retail and office use in the Gunbarrel area, adding new residents 
in close proximity to the retail core, creating more usable public spaces, and improving 
access to and from the plan area.  
 
On Oct. 21, 2014, City Council approved first reading of Ordinance 8010 by consent.  There 
were two questions: one with regard to the layout of the building on the site and the second with 
regard to by-right development under the proposed zoning.  These issues are addressed under 

Agenda Item 5A     Page  1



“Background.”  On Aug. 28, 2014 the Planning Board unanimously recommended that City 
Council approve the ordinance.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to: 
Approve Ordinance No. 8010 rezoning the property located at 5400 Spine Road from 
Industrial – General to Business Community-2, consistent with the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan land use designation of Community Business. 

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
  

 Economic - Implementation of the GCCP is expected to revitalize the existing 
industrial site to establish a more vibrant and viable community business site. The 
subject site is a vacant office warehouse building. Under the current IG zoning 
designation, most retail and restaurant uses are not permitted on this site. The 
proposed rezoning would allow for sales tax producing uses on the site. 
 

 Environmental – Consistent with the GCCP, the rezoning will permit retail and 
restaurant uses that can serve the emerging residential uses located in walkable 
distance to the site.  In addition, the applicant intends to adaptively reuse the 
existing building which allows use of the embodied energy of an existing building. 
 

 Social – The rezoning will help to realize the goals of the GCCP that include 
creating a commercial center for Gunbarrel, “with a unique identity that is the 
heart of social and cultural activity in the subcommunity.” 

 
OTHER IMPACTS  
 

 Fiscal: City services are existing and available to this site. 
 Staff time: The applicant has submitted the required rezoning application fee to 

cover staff review time of this application for a rezoning.  
 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
 
At a Planning Board public hearing on Aug. 28, 2014, a motion was made by C. Gray 
and seconded by J. Putnam to recommend approval of Rezoning case no. LUR2017-
00051 incorporating the staff memorandum and the review criteria checklist as findings 
of fact, the vote was 7-0. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page  2



PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
 
All notice requirements of section 9-4-3, “Public Notice Requirements,” B.R.C. 1981 have 
been met.  Public notice of this proposed vacation was sent to property owners within  
600 feet of the project on February 21, 2014.  Staff received no comments from the public. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The 0.99 acre site is located at the northeast corner of Spine and Lookout roads and is 
occupied by an existing, approximately 14,000 square foot building constructed in 1982 
that has housed a variety of industrial/office uses over the past 30 years. The building is 
currently vacant.  There is also an existing parking lot with 39 spaces and a loading dock 
on the north side of the building.      
 
The site is located within an area subject to the Gunbarrel Community Center Plan 
(GCCP) and is designated by the plan as “Community Business.”  After a two year public 
process the plan was adopted by City Council in 2004.  Subsequently, a change was 
approved to the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) land use designation on the 
property from Performance Industrial to Community Business in accordance with the 
Gunbarrel Community Center Plan.  Refer to Figures 1 and 2 that illustrate the GCCP and 
the BVCP plan, respectively, for the site and surrounding area, 
 
The GCCP was adopted as a future land use and transportation plan for the entire 
Gunbarrel commercial area. The plan provides direction for reviewing future public 
improvements and private sector development proposals in the area and provides 
redevelopment direction for individual landowners.  
 
The applicant is proposing to change the current zoning from Industrial General (IG) to 
Business – Community 2 (BC-2) to be consistent with the BVCP and GCCP land use 
designations of Community Business to allow for a more diverse mix of uses including 
specialty retail, restaurant, service and other uses as envisioned in the GCCP.  Under 
Industrial – General (IG) zoning, restaurants are not permitted by-right uses. 
 
By-Right Development per Existing and Proposed Zoning.  Under both the existing 
IG zoning and the proposed BC-2 zoning, the size of the site and the building would not 
meet the threshold for Site Review.  Because the applicant is not proposing modifications 
to the standards of the Land Use Code, the site and building improvements would also 
not require an application for Site Review.  However, there are certain uses within the 
BC-2 zoning district that may require Use Review prior to building permit.  
 
At the Oct. 21, 2014 City Council hearing on the first reading of the ordinance to rezone 
the property, a question was raised about what type of development could be built there 
by-right.  The applicant is proposing a by-right development under the BC-2 zoning, and 
Table 1 in Attachment B is a summary of the by-right development standards for the 
zoning district.   

Agenda Item 5A     Page  3



Additionally, at the City Council Agenda Meeting on Nov. 24, 2014, a question was 
raised regarding whether there would be support for a new building on the site (as 
opposed to adaptively reusing the existing structure as is currently proposed). As noted 
above, under both the existing IG zoning and the proposed BC-2 zoning, the size of the 
site and the building would not meet the minimum threshold for Site Review and 
therefore, any new structure would have to be compliant with the by-right standards for 
development established by the underlying zone district. Staff is supportive of the 
adaptive reuse of the existing structure as well as the construction of a new by-right 
building.   

Figure 2: Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Land Use

5400 Spine Road 

Figure 1:  Gunbarrel Community Center Planning Area (GCCP) 

5400 Spine Road 

Agenda Item 5A     Page  4



Preliminary Plans.  The applicant requested the rezoning to allow for by-right retail and 
restaurant uses, refer to Attachment C, Applicant’s Written Statement.  Upon rezoning 
the applicant intends to adaptively reuse and reduce the size of the existing building and 
reduce a portion of the existing parking lot. The applicant intends to apply for a by-right 
building permit as the proposal does not necessitate a request for modifications to the 
development standards and the size of the site and building do not meet the threshold for 
Site Review.   
 
At the Oct. 21, 2014 City Council hearing on the first reading of the ordinance to rezone 
the property, a council member asked why the proposed by-right project appeared to be 
surrounded by parking.   As shown in Figures 3a and 3b, a comparison of the existing site 
and the preliminary by-right plans for the property, the applicant is proposing to remove 
existing parking located on the northwest corner of the site nearest the prominent 
intersection of Spine and Lookout roads.  In place of six existing parking spaces, the 
applicant is proposing an outdoor patio space that would be used by the tenants of the 
building, particularly for a coffee shop or restaurant tenant.   
 
The preliminary sketch plan also illustrates the exact number of required parking spaces 
by-right, which is 33 spaces (1 space per 300 square feet = 10,080/300 = 33.6, round 
down per land use code = 33 spaces).  Because the applicant is proposing to reduce the 
size of the building by approximately 4,000 square feet, the number of required parking 
spaces is reduced by a proportional amount on the site. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 3a and 3b:  Existing Site (left) and Preliminary Site Layout (right) 

Agenda Item 5A     Page  5



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
As can be seen in figures 4a and 4b, the comparisons of the existing and proposed building, 
the existing building is a concrete warehouse and the applicant intends to remove a portion of 
the existing building on the north and create new window and door openings on the existing 
building along with building façade improvements.   
 

Figure 4b:  Existing Building views (above) and Preliminary Design of Reuse of Building 

Figure 4a:  Existing Building (above) and Preliminary Design of Reuse of Building (below) 

Agenda Item 5A     Page  6



The criteria for rezoning is limited to very specific terms that a request for rezoning either 
meets or doesn’t meet the rezoning criteria, as described under the Analysis section 
below, and any changes to a by-right development are not a part of the consideration for a 
rezoning.  
  
 
ANALYSIS: 
Rezoning criteria of Land Use Code section 9-2-18(e), B.R.C. 1981 requires consistency 
with one of six criteria as follows:  

(e) Criteria: The city's zoning is the result of a detailed and comprehensive appraisal 
of the city's present and future land use allocation needs. In order to establish and 
maintain sound, stable, and desirable development within the city, rezoning of land is 
to be discouraged and allowed only under the limited circumstances herein 
described. Therefore, the city council shall grant a rezoning application only if the 
proposed rezoning is consistent with the policies and goals of the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan, and, for an application not incidental to a general revision of 
the zoning map, meets one of the following criteria: 

(1) The applicant demonstrates by clear and convincing evidence that the 
proposed rezoning is necessary to come into compliance with the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan map; 

(2) The existing zoning of the land was the result of a clerical error; 

(3) The existing zoning of the land was based on a mistake of fact; 

(4) The existing zoning of the land failed to take into account the constraints on 
development created by the natural characteristics of the land, including, but not 
limited to, steep slopes, floodplain, unstable soils, and inadequate drainage; 

(5) The land or its surrounding environs has changed or is changing to such a 
degree that it is in the public interest to encourage a redevelopment of the area or 
to recognize the changed character of the area; or 

(6) The proposed rezoning is necessary in order to provide land for a community 
need that was not anticipated at the time of adoption of the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan. 

The applicant’s request is based on criterion (e)(1):  
 

 “The applicant demonstrates by clear and convincing evidence that the proposed 
rezoning is necessary to come into compliance with the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan map.” 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page  7



A rezoning to Business Community-2 is necessary to bring the property into conformance 
with the BVCP and GCCP land use designations of Community Business.  On page 67 of 
the BVCP it states: 
 

“Community Business is defined as the focal point for commercial activity serving 
a subcommunity. These areas are designated to serve the daily convenience 
shopping and service needs of the local population, and are generally less than 
150,000 to 200,000 square feet in area. Offices within the Community Business 
areas should be offices designated specifically for residents of the subcommunity. 
Where feasible, multiple uses will be encouraged within these centers.  Example 
uses: restaurants, personal services, large or small retail, banks, hotels, motels, 
medical or dental offices, recreational facilities, schools, day care, art studios, and 
professional offices.”  
 

The proposed BC-2 zoning district on the property will permit commercial and retail uses 
in accordance with the Gunbarrel Community Center Plan (GCCP).   Therefore, staff 
recommends approval of the proposed rezoning application. 

 
Approved By: 
 
 
 
______________________________                                                        
Jane S. Brautigam 
City Manager   
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
A: Ordinance No. 8010 
B: Summary of By-Right Standards of BC-2 
C: Applicant’s Written Statement 

Agenda Item 5A     Page  8



 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 8010 
 

AN ORDINANCE REZONING A 43,071 SQUARE 
FOOT LOT GENERALLY KNOWN AS 5400 SPINE 
ROAD FROM THE INDUSTRIAL-GENERAL (IG) TO 
THE BUSINESS-COMMUNITY 2 ZONING DISTRICT 
AS DESCRIBED IN CHAPTER 9-5, “MODULAR ZONE 
SYSTEM,” B.R.C., 1981, AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO FINDS: 

 A. A public hearing before the Planning Board of the City of Boulder was 

duly held on August 28, 2014 in consideration of rezoning a 43,071 square foot lot 

generally known as 5400 Spine Road and more particularly described on Exhibit A 

attached to this ordinance (the “Property”) from the Industrial - General (IG) to the 

Business-Community 2 (BC-2) zoning district. 

 B. The Planning Board found that the rezoning of the Property from the 

Industrial - General (IG) to the Business-Community 2 (BC-2) zoning district is 

consistent with the policies and goals of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and that 

clear and convincing evidence demonstrates that rezoning is necessary to bring the 

Property into conformance with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan land use map 

designation of Community Business, and meets the criteria for rezoning as provided in 

Chapter 9-2, “Review Processes,” B.R.C. 1981. 

 C. The Planning Board duly recommended that City Council amend the 

zoning district map to include the Property in the Business-Community 2 (BC-2) zoning 

district as provided in Chapter 9-5, “Modular Zone System,” B.R.C. 1981. 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8010

Agenda Item 5A     Page  9



 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 Section 1. Chapter 9-5, “Modular Zone System,” B.R.C. 1981, and the zoning 

district map forming a part thereof are amended to include the Property within the 

Business-Community 2 (BC-2) zoning district. 

 Section 2. The City Council finds that the rezoning of the Property from the 

Industrial - General (IG) to the Business-Community 2 (BC-2) zoning district is 

consistent with the policies and goals of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and that 

clear and convincing evidence demonstrates that rezoning is necessary to bring the 

Property into compliance with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan land use map 

designation of Community Business, and meets the criteria for rezoning as provided in 

Chapter 9-2, “Review Processes,” B.R.C. 1981.  The City Council adopts the recitals as a 

part of this ordinance.  

 Section 3. The City Council has jurisdiction and legal authority to rezone the 

Property.  

 Section 4.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 

welfare of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern.  The rezoning of 

the Property bears a substantial relation to, and will enhance the general welfare of, the 

Property and of the residents of the City of Boulder. 

 Section 5. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published 

by title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the 

city clerk for public inspection and acquisition. 

 
  

 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8010

Agenda Item 5A     Page  10



 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this_____ day of ___________________, 2014. 

 

    
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

 READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this _____ day of ___________________, 2014. 

 
     
    
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8010

Agenda Item 5A     Page  11



 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 
Lot 4, The Greens Industrial Park, 
County of Boulder,  
State of Colorado. 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8010

Agenda Item 5A     Page  12



 
 BC-2 Zoning District Intent (per Land Use Code section 9-5-2(c), B.R.C. 1981): 

“Business areas containing retail centers serving a number of neighborhoods, where 
retail-type stores predominate.” 

 
 
 Uses Allowed By-Right (per Land Use Code section 9-6-1, B.R.C. 1981): 

Note: the following are the uses permitted by-right in the BC-2 zoning district; not all 
of these by-right uses could be constructed on the subject site at 5400 Spine Road, 
due to parking requirements with each associated use.  

 
Residential: 

o Detached and Attached Dwelling Units;  
o Duplexes;  
o Townhomes;  
o Efficiency Living Units if < 20% of total units;  
o Congregate Care Facilities;  
o Dormitories;  
o Boarding Houses 

 
Dining and Entertainment, and Lodging uses: 

o Arts and Craft Studios 
o Restaurants, brewpubs and taverns no larger than 1,500 square feet in floor 

area, which may have meal service on a an outside patio not more than ½ the 
floor area and which close no later than 11 p.m. 

o Restaurants, brewpubs and taverns that are over 1,500 square feet in floor 
area or which close after 11p.m. 

o Hostels 
o Motels/Hotels 

 
Public and Institutional Uses 

o Daycare center with ≤ 50 children 
o Daycare center with ≥ 50 children 
o Essential municipal and public utility services 
o Governmental facilities 
o Nonprofit membership clubs 
o Private elementary, junior and senior high schools 
o Public elementary, junior and senior high schools 
o Private colleges and universities 
o Religious assemblies 
o Adult education facilities 
o Vocational and trade schools 

 

Attachment B - Summary of By-Right Standards of BC-2

Agenda Item 5A     Page  13



Office, Medical and Financial Uses: 
o Data processing facilities 
o Financial institutions 
o Medical or dental clinics and laboratories 
o Offices: administrative, professional, technical 

 
Parks and Recreation: 

o Indoor recreational or athletic facilities 
o Parks and recreation uses 

 
Commercial, Retail and Industrial Uses: 

o Animal hospital or veterinary clinic 
o Broadcasting and recording facilities 
o Business support services <10,000 square feet 
o Person service uses 
o Convenience Retail 
o Retail sales 
o Computer design and development facilities 
o Telecommunications use 

 
 Form and Bulk Standards for Principal Buildings  

(per Land Use Code section 9-7-1, B.R.C. 1981): 
o Front:  20 feet 
o Side Yard setbacks Adjacent to a Street: 15 feet 
o Rear Yard: 20 feet 
o Height: 35 feet 
o Stories: 3  

 
 Intensity Standards  (per Land Use Code section 9-8-1, B.R.C. 1981): 

o Minimum Lot Area per Dwelling Unit:  1,600 square feet 
o Number of Dwelling Units Per Acre:  27.2 du’s 
o Minimum Open Space Per Dwelling Unit: 600 square feet 
o Minimum Open Space on Lots (nonresidential uses) at 35 feet: 10 percent 
o Maximum Floor Area Ratio: 0 

 
 
 

 
 

Attachment B - Summary of By-Right Standards of BC-2

Agenda Item 5A     Page  14



Attachment C - Applicant's Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page  15



Attachment C - Applicant's Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page  16



Attachment C - Applicant's Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page  17



 

Attachment C - Applicant's Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page  18



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 2, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE 

       Consideration of the following items related to Open Space Property:
1.  Consideration of a motion to approve the disposal of 11 noncontiguous, paved 
     parcels of Open Space land to the City of Boulder Transportation Department 
     for the purpose of permitting the use of electric bicycles as a means of alternate 
     transportation. This is a disposal of Open Space land pursuant to Section 177 of 
     the Boulder City Charter. 

 2.  Discussion of the process for identifying Open Space uses and disposal of Open 
     Space lands. 
  
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Michael D. Patton, Director, Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Thomas A. Carr, City Attorney 
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this agenda item is to consider approval of a disposal of Open Space 
associated with the permanent adoption of an ordinance permitting electric bicycles on a 
variety of multi-use paths in the community.  Associated with this item is a discussion 
item related to the process associated with the use and disposal of Open Space properties 
for future consideration.  
 
On Nov. 11, 2013, the City Council authorized a pilot electric bicycle (E-bikes) program 
for use on most non-Open Space paved paths throughout the city.  In support of the E-
bike pilot program, the Open Space Board of Trustees (OSBT) and staff discussed the 
prospect for disposing of a number of paved paths on Open Space lands according to 
Section 177 of the City Charter for use in the pilot program.  
 
An issue that came up during that process is the lack of clarity in city Charter Section 
177.  The Charter lacks specificity with respect to how to address transfers of land from 
Open Space.  OSBT and the Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) Department have 

Agenda Item 5B     Page  1



always assumed that such transfers would be treated as disposals.  The City Attorney’s 
Office, however, has noted that the language is not clear; pointing out that the Charter 
language might be interpreted to apply only to conveyances of land to third parties.  The 
action before the council is a transfer of management responsibility to another depart-
ment.  Staff is recommending that the transfer of use and management responsibility be 
treated in a manner similar to a disposal of Open Space. 

 
The prospect for disposing of or transferring Open Space land for the pilot program was 
considered by City Council at its November 2013 meeting but without a decision on the 
applicability of Section 177. The pilot program proceeded without use of Open Space 
land.  
 
Following a year of evaluation, the pilot program has been determined a success. During 
its Nov. 18, 2014 meeting, City Council unanimously approved removing the pilot 
designation and authorized the use of E-bikes on certain Public Works Department’s 
multi-use paths. 
 
The eleven parcels proposed for disposal are all directly a part of either Greenways multi- 
use paths or designated bike ways. OSMP staff believes that there are mutual advantages 
to the disposal of the parcels identified in Attachment A. The Public Works Department 
will be able to expand the E-bike program, improve connectivity and support the use of 
E-bikes as an alternative means of transportation.   For OSMP, disposal of those portions 
of properties that have trails which serve transportation purposes will support an 
important shared community value - alternate transportation - and relieve the department 
of the responsibility for management of these parcels. Advantages to the OSMP 
Department support a proposed disposal at no cost to Public Works.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to approve the disposal of 11 noncontiguous, paved parcels of Open Space land to 
the City of Boulder Department of Public Works Department for the purpose of 
permitting the use of electric bicycles as a means of alternate transportation. This is a 
disposal of Open Space land pursuant to Section 177 of the Boulder City Charter. 

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Environmental:  OSMP is a significant community-supported program that is 
recognized worldwide as a leader in preservation of Open Space lands 
contributing to the environmental sustainability goal of the City Council. The 
disposal of these noncontiguous, paved parcels has no environmental value and 
would have no impact on the environmental value, overall, of the OSMP system. 
This disposal will also create opportunities for the use of E-bikes, which are a 
transportation option that has the potential to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page  2



• Economic: OSMP contributes to the economic vitality goal of the city as it 
provides the context for the diverse and vibrant economic system that sustains 
services for residents.  The land system and the quality of life it represents attract 
visitors and help businesses to recruit and retain quality employees.  The disposal 
of these parcels would relieve OSMP of any management responsibilities.  

• Social: Because the Open Space land system is equally accessible to all members 
of the community, it helps support council’s community sustainability goal 
because all residents “who live in Boulder can feel a part of and thrive in” this 
aspect of their community. The addition of these parcels to the City of Boulder 
transportation system would increase the potential for use of E-bikes as an 
alternative mode of transportation. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS  

• Fiscal – This transfer will have a modest economic benefit to the OSMP   
Department in that Open Space staff will no longer be required to manage these 
parcels. 

• Staff time – Sufficient funding for staff time is available to process this disposal. 
 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
At its Oct. 23, 2014 meeting, the OSBT approved, unanimously, to send the following 
statement to City Council: the Board maintains that conveying or otherwise transferring 
management responsibilities for any parcel of Open Space land including those 
containing paved, multi-use paths to any other department of the city constitutes a 
disposal of Open Space Land, which is subject to all applicable City Charter provisions 
including without limitations Section 177.  
 
The Board also recommended that the City Council approve the disposal of the 11 
identified parcels.  The vote was split three to two in favor of the disposal.  The 
dissenting Board members voiced concerns about disposing so many parcels at the same 
time and the fact that some of the parcels were not particularly small.   
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
This item was heard as part of the Oct. 23, 2014 OSBT public meeting advertised in the 
Daily Camera on Oct. 19, 2014.  A Notice of Disposal of Open Space Lands was 
published in the Daily Camera on Oct. 12 and 13, 2014 pursuant to Section 177 of the 
City Charter.  Public comment at the meeting was in support of the disposal with some 
remarks stressing the need to follow the provisions of Section 177 of the Charter by 
treating this as a disposal of OSMP land rather than a transfer.  Anything else was viewed 
as setting a dangerous precedent. 
 
ANALYSIS 

A. Open Space Disposal 
 

Staff and OSBT discussed the prospect for disposal of the parcels identified in 
Attachment A, according to Section 177 of the city Charter, last year when the E-bike 
program was first under discussion.  The language of Charter Section 177 might be 

Agenda Item 5B     Page  3



interpreted to apply only to conveyances of land to third parties. The change of use and 
transfer of management responsibilities to another department would not be a disposal 
under the Charter in this interpretation.  During the Nov. 11, 2013 City Council meeting, 
this opinion was discussed but the applicability of Section 177 was not finalized.  Council 
authorized the E-bike pilot program but excluded the use of any Open Space land. The 
transfer of management authority of Open Space land authorized by the proposed 
resolution is not clearly defined in any provision of the Charter.  The OSBT treated it as a 
“disposal” under Charter Section 177 and recommended it as such.   Staff also 
recommends that council approve the proposed disposition.   
 
After a year of experience, the pilot program has been determined a success and on Nov. 
18, 2014 City Council considered and authorized the use of E-bikes on certain 
Transportation and Greenways multi-use paths.   
 
No formal council action has been taken to address the disposal of Open Space land as 
defined by the City Charter to another city department.  Staff is in support of disposing of 
the Open Space parcels as described in Attachment A according to Section 177 of the 
City Charter to enhance the E-bike program. Because there is at least ambiguity under the 
Charter about whether Section 177 applies to transfers between departments, staff and the 
OSBT recommend treating this transfer as a disposal.  This will insulate the city from any 
claim that the disposal procedures had not been followed to effectuate the change.   
 
All of the small parcels identified in Attachment A are paved segments and for the most 
part connected to other existing portions of paved transportation corridors. Emblematic of 
these parcels is the 1,700-foot long section of paved sidewalk in front of the NIST 
building along Broadway between Dartmouth Avenue and Lawrence Road. This 
sidewalk serves as a means of connecting the Table Mesa shopping area and portions of 
south Boulder with neighborhoods to the north and along Broadway. This and the other 
parcels proposed for disposal have limited environmental value. Paved paths are 
inconsistent with virtually all other features of OSMP properties and are not typically 
included in environmental or visitor use planning. 
 
A question was raised at the Council Agenda Committee meeting about the Bobolink 
Trail.  The Bobolink Trail is not recommended for disposal.  Part of the Bobolink Trail, 
although paved and used frequently by bicyclists, is part of a significant riparian 
ecosystem along South Boulder Creek.  It differs significantly from the remaining 11 
parcels and staff believes should remain as part of the Open Space system. 
 
The development of alternative modes of transportation is an important and shared 
community value. The potential for increased use of nonpolluting modes of transportation 
could reduce carbon impacts on critical OSMP lands and habitats. The disposal of these 
parcels will provide better contiguity and a wider range of opportunity for the use of E-
bikes as a viable alternative mode of transportation. 
 
Disposal to the Public Works Department (Transportation Division) would be for no cost. 
Staff believes there is a value to OSMP in the development of nonpolluting alternative 

Agenda Item 5B     Page  4



modes of transportation and that OSMP will be relieved of any management 
responsibilities for these widely dispersed, short segments of paved path. 
 
Staff recommends council, using the disposal procedures as recommended by the OSBT, 
to transfer the 11 small parcels of land at issue to the Transportation Division, Public 
Works Department. 
 

B. Discussion of the process for identifying Open Space uses and disposal of Open 
Space lands 
 

Staff believes that the process could be improved by adopting an ordinance to provide 
more specificity.  The Open Space Department has disposed of Open Space land to a 
variety of recipients using the "disposal of Open Space” land provisions in the Charter 
since 1986.  While disposals of Open Space are relatively rare, there have been occasions 
during the past 28 years when Open Space lands were conveyed through the disposal 
process to third parties such as Boulder County for transportation and parks and open 
space uses, Xcel Energy and the Colorado Department of Transportation.  Many of these 
disposals were for easements rather than outright sales.  The only instance of disposal of 
Open Space property to another city department occurred in 2004 when about two acres 
of the Hart-Jones Open Space property were conveyed to the Public Works Department 
for the expansion of the city’s Water Treatment Plant at 63rd Street and the Diagonal 
through the disposal process outlined in the Charter – approval of the disposal by the 
OSBT and Council.   

 
When the City Attorney’s Office staff analyzed the issues associated with the transfer of 
the management responsibility of some multi-use paths from the OSMP Department to 
the Public Works Department, two issues emerged that would benefit from some 
additional clarity from the council:   

 
1. Use of Property Managed as Open Space.  OSBT decided, before the original 

pilot program began, that riding electric bicycles is not an Open Space use under 
the Charter.  It is not clear that, in the absence of a Charter provision or delegation 
from the council, OSBT has the authority to make such a decision.   

 
2. Disposal Process.  The disposal process in the Charter is not clearly applicable to 

a transfer of management authority from one city department to another, because 
such a transfer is not a “conveyance,” which is the word used in the Charter for 
the disposal requirement. This presents a quandary because the charter clearly 
contemplates limitations on both use of Open Space and disposal. It would neither 
be appropriate to transfer Open Space land to another department for a non-Open 
Space use nor to allow another department to dispose of such land without going 
through the Charter-required disposal process.   It would be best if there was clear 
policy direction from council addressing these issues.   

 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page  5



Accordingly, staff recommends that council consider developing an ordinance that sets 
forth clear processes for:   
1. deciding appropriate uses of Open Space land; and  
2. transferring management authority of Open Space land from one department to 
another.   

 
While there is no controversy surrounding the present transfer, it highlights the need for 
additional clarity around these issues.   

 
Background 
Staff recommends that council consider the disposition of property related to the use of 
electric bicycles on a variety of city multi-use paths.  Some multi-use paths have been 
constructed over property that has been purchased, or otherwise maintained, with funds 
from the Open Space sales taxes that have been collected over the years. 
 
OSBT has passed a motion expressing its opinion that a disposition is necessary to 
transfer management to another department.  While this is a fair interpretation of the 
intent of the Charter, it does not conform neatly to the actual language of the Charter.   
 

1. Use of Open Space Land 
This issue arises because the Charter restricts the use of Open Space land to Open Space 
uses.  Section 176, provides the following restrictions and standards related to the 
acquisition, maintenance, preservation, retention, and use:  

 
Open space land shall be acquired, maintained, preserved, retained, and 
used only for the following purposes: 
 
(a) Preservation or restoration of natural areas characterized by or 
including terrain, geologic formations, flora, or fauna that are unusual, 
spectacular, historically important, scientifically valuable, or unique, or 
that represent outstanding or rare examples of native species; 
 
(b) Preservation of water resources in their natural or traditional state, 
scenic areas or vistas, wildlife habitats, or fragile ecosystems; 
 
(c) Preservation of land for passive recreational use, such as hiking, 
photography or nature studies, and, if specifically designated, bicycling, 
horseback riding, or fishing; 
 
(d) Preservation of agricultural uses and land suitable for agricultural 
production; 
 
(e) Utilization of land for shaping the development of the city, limiting 
urban sprawl, and disciplining growth; 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page  6



(f) Utilization of non-urban land for spatial definition of urban areas; 
 
(g) Utilization of land to prevent encroachment on floodplains; and 
 
(h) Preservation of land for its aesthetic or passive recreational value and 
its contribution to the quality of life of the community. 
 
Open space land may not be improved after acquisition unless such 
improvements are necessary to protect or maintain the land or to provide 
for passive recreational, open agricultural, or wildlife habitat use of the 
land. 
 

One of the conclusions that OSBT reached with respect to the E-bike ordinance is that an 
E-bike is not a “passive recreational use, such as . . . bicycling . . .”  The Charter does not 
set forth who decides what is Open Space land or who decides what is an appropriate 
Open Space use.  Neither the Charter nor the Code delegates that authority to OSBT.  In 
the absence of an express provision, Charter Section 2(h) provides that all non-delegated 
functions reside with the council.   

 
Boards and commissions only have that authority which is specifically delegated by 
charter or ordinance.  For example, as part of the OSMP merger process, the council 
added the following to the Boulder Revised Code: “The board . . . [s]hall make 
recommendations to the city council concerning any land that is to be placed under the 
direction, supervision, or control of the department . . .” Section 2-3-9(b)(3), B.R.C. 
1981.  This code change is an example of the council further refining and defining the 
role and responsibilities of the OSBT.  If council would like to delegate this function, it 
would be easy to draft an ordinance giving responsibility to OSBT to either make such 
interpretations or make a recommendation to council on such interpretations. 

 
OSBT decided that riding electric bikes was not an appropriate Open Space use.  OSBT 
then decided that a disposal would be necessary for the use to be allowed.   OSBT’s 
authority to decide what constitutes an Open Space use is not a power that has been 
expressly delegated by either the Charter or council.   OSBT has assumed that role, as a 
matter of practice.  This is an area where ultimate authority to decide what constitutes an 
Open Space use is the responsibility of council.  If council is satisfied with this division 
of authority, to avoid future confusion on the matter, it should consider making a specific 
delegation of this authority to OSBT.  Council also could consider whether to retain for 
itself some authority to review these decisions.   
 

2. Management of Open Space Land 
Another issue that is addressed in the Charter is the management of Open Space land.  
Charter Section 171 provides that it is the responsibility of the Open Space Department to 
“acquire, supervise, administer, preserve, and maintain all open space land . . . .”  The 
department handles the day-to-day responsibilities.  The department also serves OSBT by 
providing recommendations to it on the matters required by the Charter.   
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page  7



In turn, the Charter provides that OSBT is required to “make recommendations to the 
council . . . concerning use policies on, planned uses of, and restrictions on uses of, open 
space land.”  Charter Section 175(c).  In the case of the E-bikes ordinance, the issue 
could be resolved simply by a recommendation to council that E-bikes, in the locations 
proposed, are equivalent to “bicycles” in the permitted passive recreational uses 
anticipated in the Charter, and that council permit their use on the Open Space properties 
as proposed in the E-bike ordinance. That conclusion is consistent with the decision to 
allow E-bikes on bike paths generally. Council then would not need to address the issue 
of disposal.     
 

3. Disposal of Open Space 
The way that staff and OSBT have chosen to deal with the E-bikes ordinance is to use the 
disposal procedures for Open Space in the City Charter.   Charter Section 177, which 
addresses disposals, provides as follows: 
 

No open space land owned by the city may be sold, leased, traded, or 
otherwise conveyed, nor may any exclusive license or permit on such open 
space land be given, until approval of such disposal by the city council. 
Such approval may be given only after approval of such disposal by the 
affirmative vote of at least three members of the open space board of 
trustees after a public hearing held with notice published at least ten days 
in advance in a newspaper of general circulation in the city, giving the 
location of the land in question and the intended disposal thereof. No open 
space land owned by the city shall be disposed of until sixty days 
following the date of city council approval of such disposal. If, within 
such sixty-day period, a petition meeting the requirements of Section 45 
above and signed by registered electors of the city to the number of at least 
five percent of the registered electors of the city as of the day the petition 
is filed with the city clerk, requesting that such disposal be submitted to a 
vote of the electors, such disposal shall not become effective until the 
steps indicated in Sections 46 and 47 above have been followed. 
 
This section shall not apply to agricultural leases for crop or grazing 
purposes for a term of five years or less. 
 
This section is to be construed liberally in favor of providing opportunities 
for the citizens of the city to refer measures proposing the disposal of any 
open space land. 
 

Under this provision, a disposal occurs when Open Space land is “sold, leased, traded or 
otherwise conveyed.”  These terms all seem to refer to transfer of an interest in real 
property and would not appear to contemplate transfer of management authority from one 
city department to another.  Land management issues, under Charter Section 175(c), 
require a recommendation of OSBT prior to final action by the council, manager, or 
department, but do not give OSBT the same veto power as it has over disposals.    
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page  8



4. The Open Space Property Conundrum 
There is a restriction on the use of land issue that is not addressed well in the City 
Charter.  On the one hand, the management shift anticipated by the E-bikes ordinance is 
not a “conveyance,” as it does not meet the plain meaning definition of the term.  On the 
other hand, the city has restrictions on the use of Open Space land that would not ever be 
permitted without some process to remove the Open Space use restrictions. The Charter 
clearly anticipates that it can be transferred to a private use, but does not address transfer 
for another city purpose. In part, Open Space land is defined as any interest in real 
property: 
 

• purchased or leased with dedicated Open Space revenues, 
• dedicated to the city for Open Space purposes, and  
• placed under the direction, supervision, or control of the Open Space 

department,  
 

The definition goes on to state that it is Open Space land unless disposed of as expressly 
provided in Charter Section 177.  The catch 22 in this analysis is that it appears that Open 
Space land cannot, even if transferred to another department, be used for a non-Open 
Space purpose, unless there is a disposal.   A disposal requires a conveyance, which 
implies a transfer to a third-party.   It can, however, be “disposed” to a third party for any 
use whatsoever.  Use of the disposal process for a transfer solves this problem, but 
extends the process into an area where it does not fit neatly under the Charter. 
 
It is not unusual to find gaps in the Charter.  As an organic document it is not intended to 
anticipate every possible circumstance.  The council regularly adopts ordinances to create 
processes to implement the intent of the Charter.  This would appear to be an area where 
such clarification might be helpful.   
 

5. Conclusion and Recommendation 
Going forward, council should consider whether it would like to continue the current 
practice of having OSBT interpret uses of Open Spaces and then requiring the completion 
of a disposal process.  Another approach would be to have OSBT make such 
recommendations to the council.  Regardless of which approach the council prefers, it 
would be helpful to those charged with administering program to document the result in 
the Boulder Revised Code.   

 
Finally, the council should consider whether it would be appropriate to draft an ordinance 
establishing some process for deciding what constitutes an Open Space use and who 
decides when a disposition is necessary.  It would be helpful to delineate OSBT’s role, 
while either establishing the council’s authority to make the final decision or expressly 
delegating that responsibility to the OSBT. 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

A. Paved Paths on OSMP Land (map) 

Agenda Item 5B     Page  9



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5B     Page  10



!i

!i

!i

!i

!i

!i

!i

!i

!i!i

!i

!i

!i

!i

!i

KOA

Pond

Pit D

Hayden

Lake

Viele

Lake

Wonderland

Lake

# 9
0.14 Miles

# 9
0.33 Miles

# 4
0.16 Miles

# 9
1.10 Miles

# 7
0.03 Miles

# 5
0.22 Miles

# 8
0.39 Miles

# 2
0.93 Miles

Settler’s
Park
Trailhead

Centennial
Trailhead

Cottonwood
Trailhead

Four Mile
Creek
Trailhead

Wonderland
Lake
Trailhead

Bobolink
Trailhead

Cherryvale
Trailhead

Chautauqua

Trailhead

Enchanted
Mesa
Trailhead

Gregory
Canyon
Trailhead

NCAR
Trailhead

South Boulder
Creek West
Trailhead

Panorama
Point
Trailhead

Crown Rock
Trailhead

Halfway
House

Trailhead

Lee Hill Dr.

D
ia

gonal
- S

outh
H
w

y.

Colorado Ave.

63rdSt.

F

lagsta
ff

Rd.

Pearl St.

Iris Ave.

5
5
th

S
t.

Jay Rd.

South Boulder Rd.

Greenbriar

Blvd.

Baseline

Diagonal -

West Hwy.

28th St. Ext.

20thSt.

Linden

Dr.

11
th

 S
t.

1
7
th

S
t.

1
5
th

 S
t.

Sprucest.

9
th

S
t.

2
8
th

 S
t.

University Ave.

Table Mesa Dr.

1
9
th

 S
t.

Valmont Rd.

Balsam Ave.

Pearl
Pkwy.

MoorheadAve.

Denver-Boulder Turnpike

F
o

ls
o
m

s
t.

Broadway

3
0
th

S
t.

Mapleton Ave

Jay Road

Edgewood

Dr.

Yarmouth Ave.

Pine St.

Lehigh St.

Linden Ave.

Walnutst.

Pearl St.

Arapahoe Ave.

Violet Ave.

6
1
s

t S
t.

N
.
F

o
o

th
ills

H
w

y.

Independence Rd.

Sunshine
Canyon Dr.

2
7t

h
W

a
y

P

ea
rl

S
t.

Baseline

F
o
o
th

ills P
kw

y.

D
ia

g
on

al
-

W
e
st

H
w

y.

5
7
th

 S
t.

Valmont Rd.

Boulder
Canyon Dr

4
7

th

S
t.

Canyon Blvd.

Jay Rd.

S
H
93

- S

F
o
othills

H
w

y.

Arapahoe Rd.

Andrus

Rd.

51
s

t
S

t.

Dia
gonal

-

North
H
w
y.

MarshallDr.

Valmont Dr.

F
la

g
s
ta

ff
R

d.

6
3

rd
S

t.

Cherry
vale Rd.

Marshal l

Dr.

# 1
0.18 Miles

# 10
0.34 Miles

# 6
0.14 Miles

# 11
0.33 Miles

# 3
0.57 Miles

User: philc2  Date: 11/19/2014  Document Path: E:\MapFiles\Trails\Paved_Trails\PavedPathsOnOSMPland_PublicNotice_WCOBBikeSimplified.mxd

Paved Paths On OSMP Land

!i OSMP Trailhead with Designated Parking

Paths Proposed For Disposal (4.86 Miles)

Existing Bike System

Multi Use Path

Designated Bike Route 

On Street Bike Lane/Single Bike Lane

Other Trails

OSMP Managed Trail

All Other Trails

OSMP Fee Property

OSMP Easement Property µ 0 0.5 10.25
Mile Agenda Item 5B     Page  11

fenic1
Rectangle

fenic1
Typewritten Text
Attachment A-Disposal



  
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  December 2, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: 
Request for Council Direction Regarding EcoPasses 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Thomas A. Carr, City Attorney 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director, Public Works 
Tracey Winfree, Director, Public Works, Transportation Division 
Carl Castillo, Policy Advisor 
Chris Hagelin, Senior Transportation Planner 
Ted Lopez, Payroll Supervisor 
  
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
  

 Economic – Transit ridership tends to promote economic activity.  Single occupancy 
vehicle drivers generally drive from home to a parking lot.  Transit riders usually walk 
some distance to cover the last mile between a transit stop and their destination.  This 
provides the opportunity for economic activity not available to drivers. 

 Environmental – Single occupancy vehicles are one of the primary causes of greenhouse 
gases.  Transit users have significantly lower carbon impact per trip than drivers.  The 
availability of a transit pass encourages employees to choose transit over driving. 

 Social – Single occupancy vehicles impose a significant societal cost in the need for road 
maintenance, parking and road capacity. Transit ridership provides savings in all of these 
areas. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS  

 Fiscal – Covering the tax liability for 2014 will have a budgetary impact of over 
$300,000    

Agenda Item 6A     Page  1



 Staff time – Work required to address the tax liability is not in the 2014 work plan.  The 
city will make the adjustments with existing staff. 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

The city purchases and distributes Regional Transportation District EcoPasses to all city 
employees.  The city pays on the average $104 per year for each pass.1  Last year, the city 
purchased 1,325 EcoPasses.  The Internal Revenue Service has rules regarding the tax treatment 
of transit passes.  Transit passes are a taxable benefit.  Each year the IRS adopts an exclusion 
amount to limit the taxable value of the transit pass.  Only the value above the exclusion amount 
is taxable.   The following table shows the monthly exclusion amounts for the last two years: 

 
Year Exclusion Amount 
2013 $245 
2014 $130 

 
 The value of the pass is the fair market value of the benefit.  That is, the amount the 
employee would have to pay to get an equivalent benefit.  Staff has no definitive basis to 
establish the fair market value of an EcoPass.  RTD has established a group purchase pricing 
matrix for its EcoPass product.   Similar pricing structures are available for other EcoPass 
corporate participants, but are limited to those corporate participants and are not available to the 
general public.  If a non-EcoPass participant were to purchase an RTD pass with a similar level 
of service, that RTD regional pass costs $1,936.00 per year ($161.33 per month) without any 
other discounts.   
 

Although both the City and RTD believe that the appropriate fair market value for tax 
purposes should be established by the similar group-discounted EcoPass products rather the 
public’s regional pass, the possibility exists that the IRS may determine the fair market value to 
be the public price of the EcoPass rather than the EcoPass group pricing rate.  In that event, city 
employees may have a taxable benefit of $31.33 per month, which is the fair market value of 
$161.33 less the 2014 IRS transit exclusion amount of $130.   We believe this reading to be the 
worst-case scenario, but without confirmation from the IRS the possibility exists.   
  
 In September, city staff requested a private letter ruling from the IRS to determine the fair 
market value of the pass.  The worst case scenario is that the EcoPass is considered to be the 
equivalent of a monthly regional pass, which costs $1,936 if purchased at one time for the entire 
year, which equates to $161 per month. This would create an employee tax liability of $31 per 
month.  ($161 minus the $130 exclusion amount) 
 
 When the city entered into the 2014 EcoPass contract with RTD, no one anticipated that 
the EcoPass would be considered a taxable benefit.  In fact, until recently, the RTD website 
advertised EcoPasses as tax exempt.   
                                                           
1 The contract provides two different prices for the passes.  Zone A passes are $54 per year and zone B passes are 
$135 per year.  The total price represents 511 zone A employees and 814 zone B employees.  The zones are based 
on the employee’s work location. 

Agenda Item 6A     Page  2



 
 There are three reasons for staff to bring this agenda item forward.  First, staff seeks to 
inform council that, if necessary, the city will be paying the tax liability for all city employees 
incurred due to the 2014 EcoPass.  Second, staff seeks council direction about whether to enter 
into a 2015 EcoPass contract with RTD.  Finally, staff seeks to inform council of the steps taken 
to attempt to avoid tax liability for EcoPasses.   
 
 This matter is coming forward at this time because of some approaching deadlines.  To 
cover employee tax liability, any payment must be made during the 2014 tax year.  This means 
that it must be included in the last 2014 paycheck.  To have that payroll ready in time, the 
process must begin no later than December 7, 2014.  In addition, the city must decide whether to 
enter into the 2015 EcoPass agreement by the end of 2014.   
 
BACKGROUND 
 
 In early 2014, upon learning that the city’s recreation passes were considered a taxable 
benefit, the Mayor asked whether EcoPasses also were taxable.  City staff researched the issue 
and discovered that the IRS had lowered the transit pass exemption amount.   
 
 This issue arises because of the nature of the EcoPass.  RTD requires that an entity 
purchasing an EcoPass must do so for all employees.  There is a realization that usage of the 
EcoPass will vary widely depending on the individual employee’s transit needs.  Some 
employees commute daily by bus and others use the pass only a few times each year.  As a 
policy matter, however, it is clear that an employee who has a pass is more likely to use transit 
than an employee who does not have a pass.  RTD’s pricing structure presumably recognizes that 
the services delivered are far less than those provided to a regional pass holder.  It is difficult to 
imagine that anyone would pay nearly $2000 for twelve monthly regional passes and only ride 
the bus a few times in the year.  Accordingly, the price that the city pays for EcoPasses is only 
5% of the price of the annual regional pass.  This leads to the incongruous fact that the tax on the 
benefit would be more than the price that the city paid. 
 
 To avoid tax liability to employees related to the EcoPass, the city would not only pay the 
amount of the tax, but also the amount of the tax on the tax payment itself.  For example, if the 
tax is $10 and the employee is in the 20% tax bracket, there would be $2 of tax incurred if the 
city paid the employee $10 to cover the tax liability.  The city would pay $12 to cover the $10, 
plus the additional $2.  Of course, the additional payment would also need to be covered.  
Because money only exists in whole numbers, the payment can be set at a number where the 
additional tax liability becomes only a fraction and is eliminated by permissible rounding.  This 
process is called “grossing up.”   Of course, this example is simplified and does not take into 
account additional liability for such things as Medicare taxes.  To eliminate any additional 
employee tax liability of $31 per month the cost to the city would be over $300,000.  Unless 
council objects, if the issue is not resolved in one of the ways discussed below, staff will include 
these payments in the employees’ last paycheck for 2014. 
 
 It also is time for the city manager to enter into a 2015 contract with RTD.  Staff has 
identified three options, which are as follows: 

Agenda Item 6A     Page  3



 
 1)  eliminate the EcoPass Program; 
 2)  continue the EcoPass Program but require employees to pay any tax liability; or 
 3)  continue the EcoPass Program and have the city pay any employee tax liability. 
 
The EcoPass program is an important part of the city’s efforts to reduce travel by single 
occupancy vehicles and the attendant greenhouse gases.  Elimination of the employee EcoPass 
program would likely result in a significant decrease in transit ridership by employees.   
Continuing the EcoPass program, but requiring employees to pay any tax liability would most 
likely have a similar outcome.  For most employees, the tax liability would far exceed any fare 
avoided.   An employee is only liable for tax on a benefit that he or she actually receives.  Thus, 
although the city would still be required to purchase a pass for each employee, an employee 
could refuse to accept the pass.  If the city does not offer to pay any tax liability, then it is fair to 
expect that any employee who does not commute by bus on a regular basis would refuse the 
EcoPass.  This would undermine the very reason for having the program.  Staff therefore 
recommends that the city manager enter into a 2015 EcoPass contract and agree to cover any 
employee tax liability.   
 
 The challenge presented by this recommendation is that there is no way of knowing what 
the tax liability would be, because the IRS has not yet set the exclusion amount for 2015.  This 
will present budgeting challenges for 2015 and beyond. 
 
Potential to Avoid Tax Liability 
 

Staff retained an outside tax accountant to provide advice on the issue.  The accountant 
contacted the IRS regional director to inquire about a possible IRS valuation more in line with 
the actual EcoPass value.  The regional director could not provide such an informal 
interpretation.  The only alternative was to seek a private letter ruling from the IRS.  
Accordingly, the city filed a request for a formal letter ruling on September 9, 2014.  The city 
paid a $19,000 user fee for the request.  The city asked for a response before December 2, 2014.  
The city has not yet received a response. 
 
 City staff also has contacted the city’s federal lobbyists.  For most of 2014, there have 
been bills active in Congress that would retroactively increase the transit pass exemption.  
Currently, there is an omnibus tax exemption extender bill, which includes a wide range of tax 
exemptions that expired at the end of 2013 or are set to expire by the end of this year.  Although 
generally such bills pass, considering the current political climate it is impossible to predict 
whether this bill will pass.  Congress is scheduled to reconvene on December 1 and adjourn on 
December 11.  The plan is for Congress to consider the bill during this period. There is a 
bipartisan coalition in Congress supporting the bill.  The President, however, on November 24, 
2014, threatened to veto the bill.   
 
 Finally, staff has contacted RTD to attempt to obtain a more realistic value for the 
EcoPass.  RTD staff have been very helpful.  They are willing to assist us to find a mechanism to 
address these issues.  It is not clear, however, what effect, if any; this will have on the taxability 
of the passes.   

Agenda Item 6A     Page  4



 
 It is still possible that one of these paths will eliminate the employee tax liability.  
Unfortunately, time is running out.  Staff is committed to waiting until the last possible minute 
before committing to the tax payment, because, if something happens to eliminate the tax 
liability, it is unlikely that the city will be able to recover this money.    

  

Agenda Item 6A     Page  5



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6A     Page  6



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  DECEMBER 2, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to amend the Council Rules of Procedure 
to add a new Section XVII Executive Sessions.   
 
 
 
PRESENTERS 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
At the November 4, 2014 election, the voters amended the Boulder Home Rule Charter to permit 
executive sessions for the limited purpose of “obtaining and discussing legal advice, including 
negotiation strategy, with respect to Boulder's electric utility.”  Staff recommends that council 
consider amending council’s procedural rules for the purpose of conducting executive sessions.     
A proposed amendment is set forth in Attachment A.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion:   
 
Motion to approve amendments to Council Rules of Procedure, as set forth in 
Attachment A. 

 
BACKGROUND  
Since the adoption of the Boulder Home Rule Charter, all meetings of the city council have been 
held in public.  The Colorado Open Meetings Act allows for some meetings to be held in 
executive session.  The city has never taken advantage of this provision.  The recently enacted 
amendment to Charter § 9 allows for executive session under very limited circumstances.  The 
Charter now provides as follows: 

Agenda Item 7A     Page  1



All meetings of the council or committees thereof shall be public. However, the 
council may meet in executive session exclusively for the purpose of obtaining 
and discussing legal advice, including negotiation strategy, with respect to 
Boulder's electric utility. 
All executive sessions shall be conducted according to state law. The following 
additional special procedural rules shall apply to every executive session: 
(a)  No final action may be taken in an executive session. 
(b)  An executive session shall be initiated only by a 2/3 vote of those council 
members present at a council meeting. 
(c)  All executive sessions shall be recorded in their entirety. 
(d)  Any recording of an executive session shall be released to the public only 
upon a unanimous vote of the city council or as otherwise provided by state law. 
(e)  Any executive session shall be part of a public meeting with the public being 
excluded only from that portion of the meeting strictly necessary for the purpose 
of obtaining and discussing legal advice, including negotiation strategy. 
(f)  Each council member shall have an affirmative duty to prevent any discussion 
of any subject other than those strictly necessary for the purpose of obtaining and 
discussing legal advice, including negotiation strategy. If during any executive 
session, any two council members express the opinion that the subject being 
discussed is not strictly necessary for the purpose of obtaining and discussing 
legal advice, including negotiation strategy, the discussion shall cease 
immediately. At such time, council shall either end the executive session or return 
to a discussion necessary for the purpose of obtaining and discussing legal advice, 
including negotiation strategy. 
(g)  This provision is adopted because of the unique and complex circumstances 
related to the potential creation of a municipal electrical utility. The adoption of 
this provision is not intended to establish a precedent for executive sessions for 
any other purpose. 
The authority to hold executive sessions shall expire on December 31, 2017.   

 
Accordingly, staff recommends that council amend the Council Rules of Procedure to establish 
practices for implementing the amended section 9.  The proposed amended rule is Attachment A.   
 

The rules track closely with the requirements of the Charter.  There are a few additions 
that are worth noting.    

 
Rule B provides that only the city manager and the city attorney are authorized to record 

an executive session.  This precludes other staff or council members from making independent 
recordings.   

 
Rule D limits who can attend an executive session. 
 

Agenda Item 7A     Page  2



Rule E requires that all persons must attend in person.  No one may participate in an 
executive session remotely. 

 
Rule J provides that only the city manager, the city attorney, their designees or city 

council members may access executive session recordings without a court order. 
 
Rule K provides that the recording must be maintained until the conclusion of any 

litigation.  If there is no pending litigation, the recording must be maintained for 90 days.  The 
city council must be informed before any recording of an executive session is destroyed. 
 
ATTACHMENT 
 
Attachment A – Proposed Amendments adding Section XVII to the Council Rules of Procedure 
 

Agenda Item 7A     Page  3



 1 

Attachment A 
 
XVII. Procedure for Executive Sessions  
 
A.   At a regular or special public meeting, prior to holding an executive session, the council 
may by 2/3 vote of  the members present elect to go into executive session to obtain and discuss 
legal advice, including negotiation strategy, with respect to Boulder’s electric utility.  The 
motion may be for the executive session to be held immediately after the vote or at a specific 
time and place in the future.    
 
B.   Any executive session shall be recorded in its entirety.  The recording for the executive 
session shall be separate from the recording of the meeting during which the executive session is 
being held. The City Manager or the City Attorney are the only persons authorized to make any 
audio or visual recording of an executive session. 

 
C.   The council shall take no final action during any executive session. 

 
D.   Only council members, attorneys and city staff or consultants necessary to provide 
information to council relating to legal advice, including negotiation strategy, with respect to 
Boulder’s electric utility, shall attend an executive session.   
 
E. All persons must attend any executive session in person.  No one may participate 
remotely by conference call or other means. 
 
F.   During any executive session, the discussion shall be limited to obtaining and discussing 
legal advice, including negotiation strategy, with respect to Boulder’s electric utility. 
 
G.   Any discussion during an executive session shall end immediately if any two council 
members express the opinion that the subject being discussed does not involve legal advice, 
including negotiation strategy, with respect to Boulder’s electric utility.   
 
H.   The discussion shall not resume until all council members agree on the scope of the 
discussion. 

 
I.   Each council member has the affirmative duty to prevent any discussion during any 
executive session about any matter not necessary for the purpose of obtaining and discussion 
legal advice, including negotiation strategy, with respect to Boulder’s electric utility, and to 
avoid and prevent any discussion of matters discussed during an executive session outside of an 
executive session. 

 
J.   Any recording of an executive session shall be maintained in a secure place within the 
city and may not be accessed by anyone, other than the City Manager or City Attorney, their 
authorized delegate or a Member of the City Council, except upon order of a court of competent 
jurisdiction.  
 

Attachment A - Proposed Amendment Adding Section XVII

Agenda Item 7A     Page  4



 2 

K.  Any recording of an executive session shall be maintained for 90 days, unless litigation 
relating to matters discussed is initiated or pending during that time in which case the recording 
shall be maintained until the conclusion of the litigation.  The City Council shall be informed 
before any recording of an executive session is destroyed. 
 
L.   Council may, by unanimous vote, release all or part of a recording of an executive 
session.   
 
M. The minutes of the regular or special meeting during which an executive session is held 
shall include the motion and vote for the executive session and the start and stop time of the 
executive session. 

 
N. The city council intends that section 9 of the charter be interpreted and construed to be 
more restrictive than the provisions of the state Open Meetings Law, C.R.S. 24-6-401, et seq.     

 
O. By adopting these procedures, the city does not waive the attorney-client privilege for 
any of the legal advice provided to the council.  In the event the electronic recording is released 
by unanimous vote of the council or by court order, nothing related to the legal advice provided 
during the executive session may be used in any other proceeding. 
 
P. No portion of the electronic recording of an executive session of a local public body shall 
be open for public inspection or subject to discovery in any administrative or judicial proceeding, 
except upon the unanimous consent of the council, or as provided in C.R.S. 24-72-
204(2)(d.5)(II)(C).   

 
 

Attachment A - Proposed Amendment Adding Section XVII

Agenda Item 7A     Page  5



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 7A     Page  6

















Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council
Briefing - with other related 

efforts, workplan

SS - objectives, recommended 

early action items
Briefing

Direction on policy 

options

Adopt strategy and 

action plan

Staff Activities

Housing choice analysis; needs 

assessment; best practices; 

trends data; workplan

Opportunity site inventory; 

potential tools with "bang for 

buck" analysis

Develop policy options and 

recommendations; 

stakeholder engagement

Council
IP - update and preliminary 

policy choices
Briefing - options and feedback Update and direction

Staff Activities Public meeting with options
Preferred options and refined 

action plan
Action plan

Council
Briefing - issues, scope, and 

feedback

SS - preferred scenarios, draft 

plan, and action plan

Plan "Lite" - council 

action

Next Corridor - 30th 

St or Colorado

Staff Activities
Joint East Arapahoe workshop 

to "test" planning workshop

East Arapahoe scope of work, 

public workshop, scenario 

modeling, character definition

Scenario refinement ad 

recommendations

Develop East Arapahoe 

action plan

Council Briefing - scope agenda SS - scoping session SS Direction or IP Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities Agenda setting workshop 4/28
Hire Asst. City Manager, begin 

strategy development
Scope strategy components Scoping Resilience work

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis 

and development

Council SS - scoping session SS Direction or IP Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities
Scoping analysis and 

partner outreach
Issues identification

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis 

and development

Annexation Strategy - 

Direction (options and 

feedback)

Usable open space - Code 

Change 

Economic Sustainability 

Strategy implementation - 

Code Change 

Density/ROW Dedication 

Calculations - Code Change

Parking generation and 

reduction - Code Change

County Assessor valuations for 

landscape and lighting 

upgrades - Code Change

Renewable energy sources - 

Code Change

Annexation Strategy - analyze 

costs and options

Planning Board for above code 

changes

Planning Board for above 

code changes

Planning Board for above code 

changes

2014 2015

North Boulder

East Arapahoe/Sustainable 

Streets and Centers

Boulder Valley Comprehensive 

Plan

Other

Council

Staff Activities

H
O

U
SI

N
G

/L
A

N
D

 U
SE

/P
LA

N
N

IN
G

Resilience

Comprehensive Housing 

Strategy



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council IP (includes scope for AMPs) SS (includes AMPS)
Acceptance - establish work 

program and coordination

Continue 

implementing pilots

Coordination with 

BVCP

Coordination with 

BVCP

Coordination with 

BVCP

Coordination with 

BVCP

Staff Activities
Scenario and sensitivity 

analysis
Joint board workshop, TAB

Develop final update for 

board recommendation and 

council acceptance

Implement and 

coordination with 

BVCP and Resilience

Council
Feasibility Study - joint release 

with County
Rolls into TMP update

Staff Activities

Council Briefing Briefing Briefing Briefing Briefing

Staff Activities

Council Council agenda SS IP IP IP IP

Staff Activities

Council Scope

SS - Guiding principles, work 

program and process (includes 

TMP update)

Round 1 Code Changes - Auto 

and parking planning, zoning 

regs, EV charging stations

Update - Work plan 

and policy issues

Long Term Round 2 - 

Parking code 

changes and other 

policy issues

Council endorsement 

of ongoing work plan

Finalize work program
Short term parking code 

regulation changes

Long term parking code 

changes

Long term parking 

code changes

Additional 

workplan items and 

public process tbd

Finalize document

TDM tool kit development for 

TMP integration

Long term parking code 

regulation changes
Additional workplan items tbd

Additional workplan 

items and public 

process tbd
Short term parking code 

ordinance changes

Public outreach and joint board 

meeting

Research/best practices Additional workplan items tbd

Develop communications 

strategy

Council Direction SS SS - finalize ballot? Ballot?

Staff

Cap. Bond 1 Implement. Staff Construction 85% complete 100% Complete

Flood Recovery Staff
Repairs and FEMA 

Reimbursement
FHWA/FEMA work FHWA/FEMA work

Building Better 

Boulder

Building Better 

Boulder

Boulder Junction Phase 1 

Implementation
Staff South side of Pearl opens

Ongoing 

redevelopment 

coordination

Goose Creek Bridge 

opens

Depot Square 

opens

Boulder Junction Phase 2 - City 

owned site
Staff Coordination Coordination Coordination

Yards mobilized to move for 

Pollard option
Staff Grading, prairie dogs, moving Final prep Yards moves continue

Safe Routes to School Staff
Public process to prioritize 

projects
Application

Implement Transpo.Tax Staff Expand maintenance, hire

Comp. Financial 

Strategy/Capital Bond

A
D

D
'L

 H
O

U
S/

P
LA

N
/T

R
A

N
SP

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

2014 2015

Transportation Master Plan

Access Management and 

Parking Strategies

Community EcoPass

Staff Activities

Regional Transportation

Electric Vehicle Parking 

Ordinance/Energy Services



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Shelter/ Funding: Update on  

position and relationship 

with Boulder Shelter; Shelter 

funding and issues update 

and other funders.

SS - Human Services Strategy 

Update and Homeless Action 

Plan (including funding 

priorities and partnerships )

IP - Homelessness Issues

SS - Human Services 

Strategy Update and 

Homeless Action 

Plan (including 

funding and service 

priorities )

Regional Planning 

update/services and housing

2014 Point in Time Report

SS - Services and Regional 

coordination update

IP - Services and 

Regional coordination 

update

IP - Services and 

Regional 

coordination 

SS - Services and 

Regional coordination 

update

SS - Services and 

Regional 

coordination update

IP - Services and 

Regional 

coordination Facilitate monthly Boulder 

Homeless Planning Group re: 

Service Coordination

HS Strategy Update and 

Homeless Action Plan Update

HS Strategy Update and 

Homeless Action Plan - 

research and analysis, key 
Convene regional meeting 

with Denver/Boulder/MDHI

County Ten Year Plan meeting 

with focus on meeting housing 

goals for homelessness

County Ten Year Plan meeting 

with focus on meeting housing 

goals for homelessness
GOCO grant application GOCO grant acceptance

SS - Special Events with 

Street Closures and 

Block Party Permitting

Review current PR permits and 

developm pilot program

Conduct pilot neighborhood 

event (link with Hill and GOCO 

school yard grant)

Conduct pilot neighborhood 

event

Review neighborhood 

park planning and 

event pilot success and 

plan schedule for 2015

Finalize 

njeighborhood 

event schedule for 

2015

Conduct neighborhood 

events

Conduct 

neighborhood 

events

Review pilot 

program and 

propose permit 

changes required to 

make 

improvements
Link with park planning 

outreach

Summer recreation programs - 

arts, music, health, wellness

Continue summer art series 

and volunteer events

GOCO school yard grant Submit GOCO grant
GOCO grant award - start civic 

area community park 

planning design and outreachReview and analysis of existing 

special event permitting
Develop recommendations

Council Items
SS - Library & Arts, including 

Community Cultural Plan

Adoption of 

Community Cultural 

Plan

Staff Activities Work with new director

Arts

LI
V
A
B
IL
IT
Y

Homelessness/Human Services

Council Items

Staff Activities

Council Items

Neighborhood/Park Events and 

Other Events

Staff Activities

2014 2015



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council Items SS 
SS  (includes Social Issues 

Strategy information)

Staff Activities

IP - 14th St Public/Private 

Partnership

Update - 14th St Public/Private 

Partnership

Update - 14th St 

Public/Private Partnership

Bears/Trash 

SS - Hill Reinvestment Strategy 
Update - Hill Reinvestment 

Strategy

14th St - Hill Alt. Mode survey

 14th St - Finalize analysis and 

develop recommendation to 

proceed with the Global 

Agreement
14th St - Finalize LOI

14th St - Financial Analysis

14th St - Additional access 

analysis
14th St - Board outreach

Pilot Parklet Competition Parklet Implementation

Outreach to CU and 

stakeholders for support of 

Reinvestment Strategy

Fox Theatre mural by CU 

students

start pilot RSD program (to 

run through 2016)

Recommendation for staffing 

Strategy implementation and 

prelim. analysis of future org 

structure options

Hire a fixed term Hill 

Coordinator

Council Items
SS - Park Program 

and Improvements

Civic Activity Team established Coordinate music in park series

Review summer series 

success and revise for 

2015

Prepare first phase 

of park 

improvements for 

2015

Conduct adult fitness 

and health classes

Conduct visitor 

event at civic area 

around art 

installations

Hire Civic Area staff for P&R

Add seasonal park staff for 

outdoor education and 

orientation

Expand Ready to Work 

crew

Revise summer 

programs and plan 

for 2015

Install temporary adult 

fitness playground

Coordinate 

horticulture gardens 

with Farmers' 

Market event

Prepare GOCO grant for nature 

play and park planning

Conduct volunteer event 

around upgrades to Peace 

Garden and edible plant exhibit

Complete park 

planning outreach

Conduct art 

competition for 

summer installation

Install south side 

nature play area

Work with Park Foundation to 

develop plan for art and 

entertainment

Coodinate with CU for 

partnership with GUB and Civic 

Area park plan

Develop 1% for Arts 

demonstration project 

in partnership with 

foundations and non-

profits

Expand seasonal 

staffing and 

horticulture/edible 

garden displays

Council Items

Staff Activities

Staff Activities

LI
V
A
B
IL
IT
Y

2014 2015

Code Enforcement

University Hill

Civic Area



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council Items
IP - update on 

implementation
SS - catalyst projects

Staff Activities

Council Items IP Acceptance

Staff Activities

Council Items

CU/BVSD partnerhip for 

neighborhood garden
Form cross-dept team 

Develop work plan to 

achieve council vision

Burk Park/Horizon School 

playground

Housing links with YSI programs 

and local gardening pilot

Design guidelines for edible 

landscape in local parks

Council Items IP SS - options and feedback
Acceptance and 

action plan

Implementation - 

commercial focus

Staff Activities

Stakeholder input on options 

and rulemaking on curbside 

compost

Public feedback on 

strategies

Draft plan and 

action plan for 

public review

Implementation - 

program 

enhancements and 

ordinance 

development

SS - workplan

SS - energy services

Staff Activities
Xcel/city task force; refine 

recommendations

Council Items

Briefing - framework, 

preliminary goals/targets, 

strategy development

SS - goals/targets, feedback 

on strategy scenarios, draft 

document

Approval

Staff Activities Working groups meet
Scenario development; GHG 

inventory complete

Strategy formulation; city 

organization initiative 

launched

Launch action plan

Council Items SS

Staff Activities

Update - energy 

services

Update - energy 

services

Update - energy 

services

Update - energy 

services

Valmont Butte

C
LI

M
A

TE
 A

N
D

 E
N

ER
G

Y

Municipalization

Climate Commitment

Council Items

Zero Waste Master Plan

Briefing - energy services
Briefing - energy 

services

2014 2015
LO

C
A

L 
FO

O
D

Civic Area

Ag Plan

Other or not categorized
Staff Activities



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council Items

Address disposition process 

and use of Realization 

Point for pro bike race

Staff Activities

Council Items

Staff Activities In process

Council Items

Staff Activities

City/County review of 

contractor proposals for 

potential mountain bike 

connection

Routes - weather dependent

Council Items

Staff Activities

City/County requirement 

complete and await railroad to 

replace bridge

Council Items

Staff Activities status update

Council Items

Staff Activities additional signage

O
P

EN
 S

P
A

C
E

2014 2015

Charter Issues

Highway 93 Underpass

Eldo to Walker Ranch

IBM Connector

Trailhead as part of 

transportation system

Other or not categorized



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

IP

Develop preliminary 

management plan
Implement pilot plan Monitoring

Evaluate long term 

forest management 

plan and EAB strategy

Management plan 

and response
Response EAB EAB

Civic Use Pad Council SS - Public/private partnership
Approval of MOU with St. Julien 

Partners

Update on negotiations with 

St. Julien Partners

Human Services Strategy Council SS SS Public hearing

IGA with CDOT/County for US 

36 bikeway maintenance

Pilot dog waste composting 

project - Valmont and OSMP 

possible site

Transportation code changes 

for AMPS

Smoking ban - public 

hearing

IGA for bikeway maintenance/ 

US 36 enhancements

CEAP call up for Baseline 

Underpass east of Broadway

Comprehensive Annual 

Finanical Report 

Old Pearl Street ROW vacation
DRCOG TIP Priorities for city 

applications

Appointment of independent 

auditor

Transportation code changes - 

bike parking, TDM, etc.

Mobile food vehicles - 

ordinance change to expand 

podding in downtown

Update on investment 

policies - action

NPP - zone expansions and 

removal

Modification of construction 

use tax filing - IP then action

Pearl Street Mall regulations - 

code changes

Emerald Ash Borer (EAB) Council

Council

O
TH

ER
2014 2015

Various



                                                             COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

Matthew Appelbaum  Mayor 
George Karakehian  Mayor Pro Tem 

Macon Cowles  Council Member 
Suzanne Jones  Council Member 

Lisa Morzel  Council Member 
Tim Plass  Council Member 

Andrew Shoemaker  Council Member 
Sam Weaver  Council Member 
Mary Young  Council Member 

                                                               
 
                                                             COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 
 

Thomas A. Carr  City Attorney 
Jane S. Brautigam  City Manager 

Linda P. Cooke  Municipal Judge 
                                                                
 
                                                              KEY STAFF 
 

Mary Ann Weideman 
Bob Eichem 

 Assistant City Manager 
Chief Financial Officer 

Alisa D. Lewis  City Clerk 
Patrick von Keyserling  Communications Director 

David Driskell  Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability and 
Acting Director of Housing 

Molly Winter  Downtown, University Hill Management & Parking Services 
Director 

Heather Bailey  Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development Executive Director 
Michael Calderazzo  Acting Fire Chief 

Joyce Lira  Human Resources Director 
Karen Rahn  Human Services Director 

Don Ingle  Information Technology Director 
Eileen Gomez  Labor Relations Director 
David Farnan  Library and Arts Director 

James Cho  Acting Municipal Court Administrator 
Michael Patton  Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 

Jeff Dillon  Acting Parks and Recreation Director 
Greg Testa  Police Chief 

Maureen Rait  Executive Director of Public Works 
Cheryl Pattelli  Director of Fiscal Services 
Tracy Winfree  Transportation Director 

Jeff Arthur  Utilities Director 
 



1/30/13     Approved   01-22-2013 

2014 City Council Committee Assignments 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Beyond the Fences Coalition Morzel, Plass (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Boulder County Consortium of Cities Morzel, Young 
Colorado Municipal League (CML) – Policy Committee Jones, Appelbaum (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Jones, Plass 
Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners) Shoemaker 
Metro Mayors Caucus Appelbaum 
National League of Cities (NLC) Appelbaum, Cowles 
Resource Conservation Advisory Board Morzel (at large seat), Plass 
Rocky Flats Stewardship Morzel, Plass (1st alternate), Castillo (2nd alternate) 
University of Colorado (CU) / City Oversight Cowles, Shoemaker, Weaver 
US36 Mayors and Commission Coalition Appelbaum 
US36 Commuting Solutions Karakehian, Morzel (alternate) 
Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Karakehian 

 
LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) Young 
Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Plass, Cowles (alternate) 
Dairy Center for the Arts Jones 
Downtown Business Improvement District Board Shoemaker, Weaver, Young 
 
INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES 
Audit Committee Cowles, Morzel, Shoemaker 
Boards and Commissions Committee Plass, Shoemaker 
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA)  
Mayoral Appointment 

Karakehian 

Charter Committee Karakehian, Morzel, Weaver 
Civic Use Pad/ 9th and Canyon Karakehian, Morzel, Young 
Council Retreat Committee Jones, Morzel 
Evaluation Committee Morzel, Plass 
Legislative Committee Jones, Karakehian, Weaver 
School Issues Committee Morzel, Plass, Shoemaker 
 
SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
Jalapa, Nicaragua Jones 
Kisumu, Kenya Morzel 
Llasa, Tibet Shoemaker 
Dushanbe, Tajikistan Weaver 
Yamagata, Japan Plass 
Mante, Mexico Young 
Yateras, Cuba Karakehian 
Sister City Sub-Committee Morzel, Cowles, Karakehian 
 



 
                   

 
 
TO:  Members of Council 
FROM: Mary Moline, City Clerk’s Office 
DATE: December 2, 2014 
SUBJECT: Information Packet 
 
1. CALL UPS 

None 
 

2. INFORMATION ITEMS 
A.  Update on the Voice and Sight Tag Program 
 

3. BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
A. Human Relations Commission – November 17, 2014 

 B. Open Space Board of Trustees – November 12, 2014 
 C. Water Resources Advisory Board – September 15, 2014 
 D. Water Resources Advisory Board – October 20, 2014 

   
4. DECLARATIONS 

A. American Indian Heritage Month – November 2014 
B. Boulder Companies to Watch Month – November 1-30, 2014 
C. First United Methodist Church Day – November 23, 2014 

  
 





 
 

 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Mike Patton, Director of Open Space and Mountain Parks 
 Steve Armstead, Environmental Planner 
  
Date:  December 2, 2014 
 
Subject: Information Item: Update on the Voice and Sight Tag Program  
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
On May 6, 2014, City Council unanimously approved a series of changes to the Voice and Sight 
Tag Program (Tag Program) to become effective in 2015.  Since then, staffs from the Open 
Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP), Finance, Parks and Recreation and Information Technology 
(IT) departments have been taking the actions necessary to implement these changes.  The 
significant tasks undertaken to date include: 

• Notifying community members that the program will be changing on Jan. 1, 2015, 
• Presenting the Voice and Sight Education Class, 
• Promoting the availability of the class, 
• Developing the software application and online user interface for program registration, 
• Completing baseline compliance monitoring data collection, 
• Updating regulatory and informational signs, and 
• Integrating the Voice and Sight and the dog license programs.   

 
A timeline for implementation milestones is available in Attachment A and a summary of 
progress on the program changes is available in Attachment B.  More detailed information on the 
progress of the Voice and Sight Education Class and the registration process for 2015 Voice and 
Sight Tags is provided in this memo.   
   
PROGRAM STATUS 
Voice and Sight Education Class 
One of the council-adopted changes in the Tag Program is that all dog guardians participating in 
the program are now required to attend a Voice and Sight Education Class before they can 
register in the program.  On June 2, staff began offering educational classes to provide an 
advance opportunity for guardians to complete this requirement before the program changes go 

Information Item 
Voice and Sight Tag Program Update

2A     Page 1



into effect Jan. 1, 2015.  A schedule of classes was created to accommodate nearly 20,000 
individuals which was the estimated number of potential participants.  Therefore, since the 
classes began in June, there have been, on average 10 classes presented every week. Two classes 
are typically scheduled on days of the week with the greatest demand for class space. Through 
the summer and early fall, the average class size was 12 participants. In the last month, class 
sizes have increased to average 26 participants.  The table below lists the total number of classes, 
seats, attendees through Nov. 23 and the percent of time elapsed until the end of the year.  
 
 Table 1:  Voice and Sight Education Class Capacity and Attendance 

 
 

SEATS  OFFERED ATTENDEES TIME ELAPSED 

Number of  
Classes 

Number of  
Seats 

 Number of 
Attendees   

Percent of Time 
Elapsed Until the 
End of the Year  

June 2 – Nov. 23 258 14,130 3,591 81% 
Percent of Estimated 
Participants  71% 18%  

 
Staff will continue to offer an enhanced number of classes through the remainder of 2014 and 
into the first quarter of 2015.  This is in anticipation of high class demand as guardians seek to 
become compliant with the new requirements.  There will also be a continued effort to notify 
guardians about upcoming opportunities to attend a class.  A summary list of outreach and 
notification efforts is provided in Attachment C.   
 
After the first quarter of 2015, staff will assess class attendance and demand and determine an 
appropriate frequency and number of classes to offer on an ongoing basis. Staff anticipates that 
the ongoing rate of classes could be at least one class per week.  
 
The Tag Program and Dog License Registration Process 
Registration for the new “blue” 2015 Voice and Sight Tags will begin on Dec. 1, 2014.  There 
are both online and in-person options to register for the program. In person registration is 
available at the Tax and License Division Information Desk at the Municipal Building and at 
OSMP’s administrative offices.  Online registration is available at www.voiceandsight.org.   
 
The previous program registration software was replaced with a newly developed application to 
accommodate revised program requirements.  Staffs from the OSMP, IT and Finance 
departments collaborated on the development of the software so that the program registration 
could confirm that applicants completed the education class and included verification of City of 
Boulder dog licenses (Boulder residents), or rabies vaccination (for others).  Additionally, the 
registration process requires information about dogs participating in the program and accounts 
for the revised fee structure based on where people reside.  
 
Coinciding with changes to the Tag Program registration process, the Finance Department 
contracted with a dog licensing service to provide online and mail-in processing of city dog 
licenses. This new service will be available for residents to purchase 2015 dog licenses and is 
integrated with the Tag Program application process, automatically verifying dog license 
requirements for Boulder residents.   

Information Item 
Voice and Sight Tag Program Update

2A     Page 2

http://www.voiceandsight.org/


 
Staff notified guardians who have previously participated in the Tag Program and individuals 
who have completed the class that the registration for 2015 Voice and Sight Tags has begun.  
Additionally, staff will continue to publicize that guardians should attend the class if they have 
not already done so, update their dog’s rabies vaccination if necessary, and encourage Boulder 
residents to promptly acquire 2015 dog licenses. By taking that action, Boulder residents will   
fulfill the program’s new requirements and be allowed to register for 2015 Voice and Sight Tags.   
 
NEXT STEPS 
Staff will continue to offer classes on a weekly basis through the remainder of 2014 and into the 
first quarter of 2015.  On Jan.1, 2015, OSMP Rangers will begin contacting visitors with 
off-leash dogs not displaying the new Voice and Sight Tags. Visitors will be advised of the new 
requirements, provided information if they are unaware of the program and advised that until 
they obtain the tag they must leash their dogs.  Visitors who have been previously advised of the 
regulation, or demonstrate a clear knowledge of the expectation and have chosen not to obtain 
the tag may receive a citation.  After at least three weeks of visitor contacts focused on building 
awareness of the program change, there will be a greater expectation that guardians will have had 
sufficient opportunity to learn about the program change. Failure to display the new Voice and 
Sight Tag on unleashed dogs could result in a citation. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
A.  Tag Program Implementation Timeline 
B.   Implementation Status of Voice and Sight Tag Program Changes 
C.   Voice and Sight Tag Program Outreach and Notification Efforts 

     

Information Item 
Voice and Sight Tag Program Update

2A     Page 3





ATTACHMENT A– V&S 

 
 

                                                 
Tag Program Implementation Timeline 

 
 
 

 May - June July  - Aug. Sep.- Nov. Dec. Jan. – Feb. 
2015 

MAJOR 
MILESTONES 

Education Classes  
Start: JUNE 2   Registration and Tags 

 Available:  DEC. 1 
Program Changes 
Effective: JAN. 1 

 

OSBT UPDATES  Education Class   Monitoring   Program Readiness   Registration   Early Implementation 

EDUCATION CLASS Education Classes and Promoting Availability of the Class 

SOFTWARE Registration Software Development & Testing Final Testing Operational & Track Functionality 

MONITORING Field Work Data Analysis  Preliminary Reporting 

SIGNS Program Changing in 2015 Signs New Regulation Signs 

TAG AND LICENSE 
INTEGRATION Transition Administration of Tag Servicing to Finance Department Finance Services Tags  

 

Information Item 
Voice and Sight Tag Program Update

2A     Page 4





ATTACHMENT B– V&S 

 
 

                                                                                                                                                                          
Implementation Status of Voice and Sight Tag Program Changes 

 

# Voice and Sight Tag Program Changes Implementation Status 

1 Implement the following education and outreach strategies: Implement the following education and outreach strategies: 

a) Increase outreach and education about training opportunities • Included in Voice and Sight Education Class 
• Information sheet made available at education class and 

online 
b) Support stakeholder efforts • Provided information to Friends Interested in Dogs and 

Open Space (FIDOS) to post on its Website and through 
social media 

c) Create refresher videos on requirements, etiquette or issues 
that will be phased in based on time and cost 

• Created a video about the Voice and Sight Class with 
interviews of two attendees 

d) Use traditional and social media to provide instructive 
educational information to participants 

• Future work item 

e) Provide educational walks for dogs and dog guardians on a 
trial basis 

• Two educational hikes for guardians and dogs offered in 
October, 2014 

f) Improve clarity and information on signs • Assessed and revised Tag Program regulation signs 
• Posted large attention-getting signs at select trailheads 

announcing program changes 
g) Distribute palm cards explaining the Tag Program • Distributed palm cards and flyers with information about 

the Tag Program and upcoming changes 
• Distributed flyers and a revised the program brochure 

h) Increase outreach and education to visitors without dogs 
about voice and sight control and what to expect 

• Web information in development 

i) Consider under specific conditions and on well-suited OSMP 
properties, opportunities for special voice and sight control 
training events 

• Future work item 

j) Encourage dog guardians to become volunteer Trail Guides 
and provide additional training for outreach with a dog 

• Provided recruitment information to FIDOS to include in its 
newsletter and Website 

Information Item 
Voice and Sight Tag Program Update

2A     Page 5



ATTACHMENT B– V&S 

 
 

# Voice and Sight Tag Program Changes Implementation Status 

• Included announcement in an email to current Tag Program 
participants 

k) Participate in more dog-related outreach events; consider 
organizing another “Tag Wag” type event 

 

• Hosted two “dog photo contests” to promote dog excrement 
composting trial and the importance of picking up after your 
pet and the Tag Program changes  

• Participating in the Dog Days event at Scott Carpenter Pool 
• Participated in the Humane Society of Boulder Valley’s 

Doggie Dash event 
• Organized a “Howl-O-Ween” event for dogs and guardians  

l) Promote information on dog-prohibited trails and add this 
information on the OSMP Website 

• Web page created that lists and provides information on 
dog-free opportunities:  
https://bouldercolorado.gov/osmp/dog-free-trails   

m) Train all staff on the new regulations for informal educational 
opportunities 

• Included the Voice and Sight Education Class as part of an 
all-staff meeting 

• Had staff answer questions with prizes for correct answers 
about the changes to the program 

n) Increase focus on major trailheads • OSMP outreach staff has set up information tables at 
popular trailheads 

o) Provide more focused ranger patrol • Focused ranger patrol to coincide with new requirements 
going into effect in 2015 

p) Consider more strategic placement of signs and waste cans 
 

• Staff considering opportunities and making changes when 
improvements identified 

2 Require proof of current rabies vaccination for all dogs to be 
registered in the program.  City of Boulder residents are required 
to provide a valid city of Boulder dog license as proof of current 
rabies vaccination. 
 
Require that all dogs on OSMP lands display a valid rabies 
vaccination tag. 
 

Revision to the program registration software will include a 
process to verify that City of Boulder residents have a Boulder 
dog license.  Guardians residing outside the City of Boulder 
will need to upload a copy of a valid rabies certificate before a 
dog can receive a Voice and Sight Tag.   

Information Item 
Voice and Sight Tag Program Update

2A     Page 6

https://bouldercolorado.gov/osmp/dog-free-trails


ATTACHMENT B– V&S 

 
 

# Voice and Sight Tag Program Changes Implementation Status 

3 The program registration and annual renewal fees will include a 
graduated fee structure for residents of the City of Boulder, 
residents of Boulder County outside the City of Boulder, and 
non-Boulder County residents.  
 
Program registration fees: 
• City of Boulder Residents ($13), 
• Boulder County residents outside the City of Boulder ($33), 
• Non-Boulder County residents ($75), and 
• The registration fee includes one guardian and one dog; the 

fee for each additional guardian in a household is ($5) and 
the fee for each additional dog in a household is ($10). 

 
Annual household renewal fee: 
• City of Boulder Residents ($5), 
• Boulder County residents outside the City of Boulder ($20), 

and 
• Non-Boulder County residents ($30). 

 
The additional guardian and dog registration fees will be waived 
for City of Boulder households who meet income criteria 
consistent with the City of Boulder Food Tax Rebate Program or 
the Parks and Recreation Reduced Rate Program.   

A City Manager’s Rule has been processed authorizing the new 
fees for the Tag Program.   

4 Require all program participants attend an information session.  
Program participants must attend a session before they can 
register in the program.  The information session will include as 
part of the content a revised and updated voice and sight video.  
Program participants must complete an online refresher 
education course at least every five years. The refresher will 
include an on-line test to establish that participants understand 
the Voice and Sight Tag Program requirements. 

The revised program registration process will include a process 
to verify that any guardian registering in the Tag Program has 
first completed the Voice and Sight Education Class.  The 
application will also include a process that confirms the 
completion of an online refresher every five years.   

Information Item 
Voice and Sight Tag Program Update

2A     Page 7



ATTACHMENT B– V&S 

 
 

# Voice and Sight Tag Program Changes Implementation Status 

5 Increase fines for Voice and Sight Evidence Tag Required 
(B.R.C. 6-13-2) and  Dog at Large violations (B.R.C. 6-1-16) to 
$100 (maximum), $200 (maximum), and $300 (minimum) for 
first, second and third or more convictions respectively. Provide 
mechanism for dismissal of tickets for lawful participants who 
inadvertently failed to display tag. 
 
Recommend to the municipal court that the bond amount for 
dog-related City Manager’s Rule violations (B.R.C. 8-3-3) be 
increased to $100. 

City Council adopted an ordinance on May 6, 2014 that 
amends the Boulder Revised Code to include the increased 
fines.   

6 Encourage courts to order such additions to fines for violations of 
the following ordinances: 

• Voice and Sight Evidence Tag Required (B.R.C. 6-13-
2),  

• Dog at Large violations (B.R.C. 6-1-16),  
• Aggressive Animal Prohibited (B.R.C. 6-1-20) and 
• Failure to Protect Wildlife (or livestock) (B.R.C. 8-3-5). 

 
The court may impose conditions that include without limitation 
attendance at classes related to the voice and sight control 
regulations of the city, evaluation or training of the dog to ensure 
that it is capable of complying with voice and sight control 
requirements, or the temporary suspension or permanent 
revocation of voice and sight control privileges. 

City Council adopted an ordinance on May 6, 2014 that 
amends the Boulder Revised Code to include penalties in 
addition to fines. 

 

Information Item 
Voice and Sight Tag Program Update

2A     Page 8



ATTACHMENT C– V&S 

 
 

                                                                                                               
Voice and Sight Tag Program Outreach and Notification Efforts 

 
There has been a concerted effort by city staff to notify dog guardians about the Tag Program 
changes and to call attention to the new class requirement and the availability of the class.  Staff 
has completed the following: 
• Six emails to program participants; these emails have been opened 45,680 times, an average 

of 7,613 people have opened each email, with an open rate of 43 percent, 
• Website information www.voiceandsight.org and links on city dog-related Web pages,  
• A video of class participants talking about what they learned from the class, 
• Three media releases, 
• Three Daily Camera news stories, 
• Three ads in the paper and online with the Daily Camera, 
• Inside Boulder News reports, 
• Social media posts,  
• Noticed in four OSMP Newsletters, 
• Information at the OSMP booth at the Boulder Farmer’s Market, 
• Information signs posted at trailheads and access points frequented by dog guardians, 
• Visitor outreach at trailheads with staff handing out information palm cards, 
• Information at the Ranger Cottage at Chautauqua, 
• Three interviews on the KDVR Fox 31, 
• Interview on KGNU Morning Magazine, 
• Online article in RE/MAX of Boulder’s “The Boulder Source,” 
• Ad in the Fall Parks and Recreation Guide, 
• Colorado Daily Article in Student Welcome Back section, 
• FIDOS provided information on its Website and in three newsletters,   
• Dog photography contest events Aug. 9  and  Sept. 10, 
• Staffed booth at Humane Society of Boulder Valley Doggie Dash event Sept. 6, 
• Posters set up at Boulder recreation centers, 
• Handed out information at Humane Society of Boulder Valley pancake breakfast event, 
• Booth and banner at Dog Days at Scott Carpenter Pool, 
• Large signs stationed and rotated between trailheads,  
• Outreach and offered two classes for University of Colorado students, 
• Boulder utility bill insert for December, and 
• Distributed 4000 program brochures. 
 
Staff has distributed flyers and posted flyers on community information boards throughout the 
city.  Locations where the flyer has been distributed include the city’s recreation centers, 
veterinarian offices, pet stores and dog-related businesses, the Boulder Valley Humane Society, 
The Longmont Humane Society, and locations where the city posts community information.  
Signs have also been posted at Parks and Recreation trailheads where the Tag Program applies 
and the city’s dog parks.   
 

Information Item 
Voice and Sight Tag Program Update

2A     Page 9

http://www.voiceandsight.org/




City of Boulder 
BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING SUMMARY FORM 

 
NAME OF BOARD/COMMISSION: Human Relations Commission 
DATE OF MEETING:  Nov. 17, 2014 
NAME/TELEPHONE OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY: Robin Pennington 303-441-

1912 
NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT: 
Commissioners –  Amy Zuckerman, Shirly White, Emilia Pollauf, Nikhil Mankekar, José Beteta  
Staff – Carmen Atilano, Robin Pennington, Karen Rahn 
Commissioners absent -  None        
WHAT TYPE OF MEETING (CIRCLE ONE)     [REGULAR]     [SPECIAL]     [QUASI-

JUDICIAL] 
AGENDA ITEM 1 - CALL TO ORDER – The Nov. 17, 2014 HRC meeting was called to order at 

6 p.m. by A. Zuckerman.   
AGENDA ITEM 2 – AGENDA ADJUSTMENTS – Move Postoley’s 2014 CEF report and 2015 
CEF proposal to first under Action and Discussion/Informational Items, add Veterans Helping 
Veterans 2014 CIF report review under Action Items, postpone BarrioE’ 2014 CoIH and CEF 
reports and 2015 CEF proposal to December, add Event Reports and Follow-up Tasks to 
Discussion/Informational Items.  
AGENDA ITEM 3 – APPROVAL OF MINUTES – E. Pollauf moved to accept the Sept. 15, 
2014 minutes.  N. Mankekar seconded.  Motion carries 5-0.  E. Pollauf moved to accept the Oct. 
20, 2014 minutes. S. White seconded. Motion carries 5-0. 
AGENDA ITEM 4 – COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION (non-agenda action items) – None. 

AGENDA ITEM 5 – ACTION ITEMS 
A. 2014 Celebration of Immigrant Heritage Reports 

1. Boulder Latino History Project – Linda Arroyo-Holmstrom reported on the reception 
and presentation of project exhibits held Oct. 9, 2014 at the Museum of Boulder. N. 
Mankekar moved to approve. J. Beteta seconded. Motion carries 5-0. 

2. Boulder Latino Family Project – Phil Hernandez gave a report on the portable banner 
exhibit that was displayed during the week of Oct. 5 to Oct. 11 in front of the Boulder 
County Court House and at the Museum of Boulder. J. Beteta moved to approve. S. 
White seconded. Motion carries 5-0. 

3. Motus Theater – Kirsten Wilson reported on the Oct. 11, 2014 performance of “Do You 
Know Who I am?” at the Boulder Public Library. E. Pollauf moved to approve. N. 
Mankekar seconded. Motion carries 5-0. 

B. 2014 Community Event Reports 
1. Boulder Jewish Festival – Cheryl Fellows reported on the 20th Anniversary Boulder 

Jewish Festival held on June 8, 2014. S. White moved to approve. E. Pollauf seconded. 
Motion carries 5-0. 

2. Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art – Randee Toler gave a report on the Access 
Tours and Workshops conducted between Jan. 1 and Nov. 17, 2014 at BMoCA. N. 
Mankekar moved to approve. J. Beteta seconded. Motion carries 5-0. 

3. Out Boulder – Samantha Feld reported on the events during the week preceding and the 
day of Pridefest, held on Sept. 14, 2014. J. Beteta moved to approve. E. Pollauf 
seconded. Motion carries 5-0. 

4. Postoley – Tom Masterson gave a report on the 2014 Folk Dancing on the Plaza events 
held during the summer of 2014. S. White moved to approve. E. Pollauf seconded. 

Boards and Commissions 
HRC

3A     Page 1



Motion carries 5-0. 
C. Community Impact Fund - Veterans Helping Veterans Now – The commissioners reviewed 

the budget statement for the 2014 CIF grant which was reported on at the October meeting. J. 
Beteta moved to approve. E. Pollauf seconded. Motion carries 5-0.  

AGENDA ITEM 6 – DISCUSSION/INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
A. 2015 Community Event Applications 

1. Motus Theater – Kirsten Wilson and Kate Kelsch gave an overview of the 2015 
proposal for “One Action.”  

2. Boulder Jewish Festival – Cheryl Fellows presented the proposal for the 2015 Boulder 
Jewish Festival. 

3. Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art – Randee Toler presented the 2015 BMoCA 
Día del Niño proposal. 

4. Out Boulder – Samantha Feld reviewed the proposal for Pridefest 2015. 
5. Postoley – Tom Masterson presented the proposal for the 2015 Folk Dancing on the 

Plaza.  
6. Bridge House (Homeless Person’s Memorial, Kids Give Back Thanksgiving Dinner) 

– Shane Wyenn presented the two Bridge House proposals for 2015. 
B. Living Wage Issue – C. Atilano reviewed the logistics for the Living Wage public hearings to 

occur on Dec. 4 and Dec. 7, 2014. 
C. Housing and Social Security Number – This item was tabled to December. 
D. Questions from City Council – C. Atilano reviewed the process and timeline for answering the 

Questions from City Council.  
E. HRC 2015 Work Plan – C. Atilano requested that commissioners review the 2014 Work Plan 

and provide input for the 2015 Work Plan at the December meeting.  
F. Event Reports – E. Pollauf attended the Oct. 21, 2014 Veterans Awareness Series event. N. 

Mankekar attended the CU Summit on Diversity and Inclusivity on Nov. 12, 2014.  
G. Follow Up Tasks – File the September and October minutes, reschedule the BarrioE’ CoIH and 

CEF reports and CEF proposal to December, request clarification on the 2015 CEF proposal 
budget from Out Boulder, request that a written report from Bridge House for the Kids Give 
Back Thanksgiving Dinner event be received prior to the December meeting, draft a memo to 
City Council on Living Wage.  

AGENDA ITEM 7 – IMMEDIATE ACTION ITEMS – None.  

AGENDA ITEM 8 – Adjournment – S. White moved to adjourn the Nov. 17, 2014 meeting. E. 
Pollauf seconded the motion. Motion carries 5-0.   The meeting was adjourned at 9:20 p.m. 
TIME AND LOCATION OF ANY FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL 
HEARINGS: Special hearings on Living Wage will be held on Dec. 4, 2014 at 5:30 p.m. at the 
West Senior Center, 909 Arapahoe and on Dec. 7, 2014 at 2:30 p.m. at the Sacred Heart of Jesus 
Church, 2312 14th St. The next regular meeting of the HRC will be Dec. 15, 2014 at 6 p.m. at 1777 
West Conference Room, Municipal Building, 1777 Broadway St. 

Boards and Commissions 
HRC

3A     Page 2



    
 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
Boards and Commissions Minutes 

 
NAME OF COMMISSION:  Open Space Board of Trustees 

DATE OF MEETING: November 12, 2014 

NAME/EXTENSION OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY:   Leah Case x3440 

NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT:   
 
MEMBERS:  Tom Isaacson, Shelley Dunbar, Frances Hartogh, Molly Davis, Kevin Bracy Knight 
 
STAFF:  Mike Patton, Jim Reeder, Mark Gershman, Linda Vandervort, Lauren Kolb, Heather Swanson, 
Will Keeley, Steve Armstead, Don D’Amico, Alyssa Frideres, Leah Case, Phil Yates 
  
TYPE OF MEETING:    REGULAR        CONTINUATION          SPECIAL 

SUMMATION:  
 
AGENDA ITEM 1- Approval of the Minutes 
Shelley Dunbar moved to approve the minutes from Oct. 23, 2014 as amended. Tom Isaacson seconded. 
This motion passed unanimously.  
 
AGENDA ITEM 2- Public Participation 
Randy Winter, Boulder, expressed his concern for self closing gates on OSMP. These are dangerous for 
equestrians. He suggested some other options to benefit equestrians in addition to other user groups.  
 
Suzanne Webel, Longmont, spoke to the Board about the group, Boulder Area Trails Coalition (BATCO). 
She showed the Board a copy of their updated trails map that includes areas from the West TSA.  
 
AGENDA ITEM 3- Director’s Updates 
Research Program  
Will Keeley, Wildlife Ecologist, gave a presentation on various Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) 
research projects.  
 
Voice and Sight Tag Program  
Steve Armstead, Environmental Planner, gave an update on the Voice and Sight Tag Program. 
 
Council retreat questions for Boards and Commissions 
Mike Patton, Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) Director, reminded the Board they will need to come 
up with questions to send to council for their retreat. The Board will be ready to discuss this at their next 
meeting in December.  

 

Boards and Commissions 
OSBT

3B     Page 1



 
Prairie Dog Relocation 
Heather Swanson, Wildlife Ecologist, gave an update to the Board on several areas OSMP is relocating 
prairie dog colonies.  
 
AGENDA ITEM 4- Matters from the Board 
The Board asked for an update on the survey staff is doing in Sunshine Canyon. Tom noted that the opening 
of Royal Arch Trail was the last trail OSMP had closed due to the flood.   
 
AGENDA ITEM 5 – Consideration of a motion to approve a conservation easement amendment on the 
property owned by the Graham Casden 2009 Trust at 5097 Flagstaff Rd.* 
Linda Vandervort, Conservation Easement Specialist, gave a presentation to the Board explaining a potential 
amendment to a Conservation Easement (CE). OSMP staff supports this amendment because it improves the 
original CE and is a benefit to the OSMP program.   
 
This item spurred one motion: 
Shelley Dunbar moved the Open Space Board of Trustees approve the conservation easement amendment on 
the property owned by the Graham Casden 2009 Trust at 5097 Flagstaff Rd., as written in Attachment F, and 
waive the amendment fee. Tom Isaacson seconded. This motion passed unanimously. 
 
AGENDA ITEM 7 – Consideration of a motion to approve a conservation easement amendment on the 
property owned by Epaka Holdings, LLC at 8104 N. 63rd St.* 
Linda Vandervort, Conservation Easement Specialist, gave a presentation to the Board explaining a potential 
CE amendment. OSMP staff supports this amendment because it improves the original CE and is a benefit to 
the OSMP program.  In particular, it supports local organic food production and preserves agricultural 
operations in Boulder County as well as further restricts development on the property.  
 
This item spurred one motion: 
Kevin Bracy Knight moved the Open Space Board of Trustees approve a conservation easement amendment as 
shown in attachment F on the property owned by Epaka Holdings, LLC at 8104 N. 63rd St. and waive the 
amendment fee. Shelley Dunbar seconded. This motion passed unanimously.   
 
AGENDA ITEM 8 – Consideration of a motion pertaining to development of a trail on the Joder Open 
Space and Mountain Parks property.* 
Mike Patton, Open Space and Mountain Parks Director, gave a presentation to the Board on the Joder 
property.  
 
This item spurred one motion: 
Shelley Dunbar moved the Open Space Board of Trustees recommends that visitor access to Joder property 
should be considered prior to the North TSA process and ask that staff return to this Board with some options 
for that access that would utilize existing trail networks and roads as much as possible. Kevin Bracy Knight 
seconded. This motion passed three to two; Frances Hartogh and Molly Davis dissented.  
 
ADJOURNMENT: The meeting adjourned at 10:12 p.m. 
 
ATTACH BRIEF DETAILS OF ANY PUBLIC COMMENTS:   
Many members from the public spoke in regard to the Joder Property. All were in favor of opening this 
property to the public and all user groups. Some felt it would be important to open this immediately to 
provide the needed trail connection, but others said they would support waiting until the North TSA. This 
would allow staff to evaluate the surrounding habitat as well as additional parking where users would not 
have to cross the highway.  
 

Boards and Commissions 
OSBT

3B     Page 2



TIME AND LOCATION OF ANY FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL HEARINGS:   
The next OSBT meeting will be Dec. 10, 2014. 

 

Boards and Commissions 
OSBT

3B     Page 3





Boards and Commissions 
WRAB

3C     Page 1



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB

3C     Page 2



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB

3C     Page 3



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB

3C     Page 4



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB

3C     Page 5





Boards and Commissions 
WRAB

3D     Page 1



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB

3D     Page 2



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB

3D     Page 3



Boards and Commissions 
WRAB

3D     Page 4



 
 
 
 

AMERICAN INDIANS COMMITTEE NATIONAL SOCIETY 
DAUGHTERS of the AMERICAN REVOLUTION 

 
AMERICAN INDIAN HERITAGE MONTH 

November 2014 
 

WHEREAS, the history and culture of our great nation have been significantly 
influenced by American Indians and indigenous peoples; and 

 
WHEREAS, the contributions of American Indians have enhanced the 

freedom, prosperity and greatness of America today; and 
 
WHEREAS, the customs and traditions are respected and celebrated as part of 

a rich legacy throughout the United States; and 
 
WHEREAS, Native American Awareness Week began in 1976 and 

recognition was expanded by Congress and approved by President 
George Bush in August 1990, designating the month of November as 
National American Heritage History Month; and 

 
WHEREAS, in honor of American Indian Heritage Month, community 

celebrations, as well as numerous cultural and artistic, educational and 
historical activities have been planned. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT DECLARED by the City Council of the City 

of Boulder that November is 
 

National American Indian Heritage Month 
 
and urge all our citizens to observe this month with appropriate programs, 

ceremonies and activities. 
 
 
 
_________________________________________  
Matthew Appelbaum, Mayor 
 





 
 
 

Boulder Colorado Companies to Watch Month 
November 1-30, 2014 

 
WHEREAS, the Governor of Colorado initiated an annual Colorado 
Companies to Watch award program in 2009 to recognize second-stage 
companies with high potential for future growth; and 
 
WHEREAS, from hundreds of nominations, only 50 companies from 
throughout the state are selected for the award each year and six of the 
Colorado Companies to Watch award winners in 2013 and six of the 
winners in 2014 are from Boulder, and 
 
WHEREAS, these twelve Boulder companies: Connect First, Doc 
Popcorn, eGauge Systems, Gravity Renewables, Green Garage, Isonas, 
JustRight Surgical, Minute Key, Populus, Quick Left, Stratom and 
TeamSnap represent a broad range of industries; and 
 
WHEREAS, these twelve Boulder companies support the local and state 
economy by providing more than 250 jobs in the community; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Boulder economy benefits from the expenditures that 
these companies make in the local community and the wages they pay; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the city of Boulder benefits from the innovation and 
entrepreneurial spirit of these companies and their involvement in the 
community, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT DECLARED by the City Council of the 
City of Boulder, Colorado, that November 1-30, 2014 is 
 

Boulder Colorado Companies to Watch Month 
 

 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Matthew Appelbaum, Mayor 

 





 
 
 

First United Methodist Church Day 
November 23, 2014 

 
WHEREAS, early in 1859, the twenty-three-year-old Rev. Jacob Adriance 
was sent by the Methodist Bishop of Nebraska to minister to the gold camps of 
north central Colorado; and 
 
WHEREAS, by the end of that year, Rev. Adriance had founded four 
Methodist congregations in the area, in Central City, Golden, Auraria (now 
Denver), and Boulder, all of which have served their communities 
continuously since that time; and 
 
WHEREAS, on August 12, 1859, Rev. Adriance preached to a small gathering 
of people in a private home in the city of Boulder, thought to be the first formal 
religious service in the new community; and 
 
WHEREAS, the First Methodist Episcopal Church of Boulder, the oldest 
congregation in the city, was formally founded on November 27, 1859; and 
 
WHEREAS, this Methodist Church has stood on its site at 14th and Spruce 
Streets since 1872; and 
 
WHEREAS, First United Methodist Church has actively been involved in 
spiritual, musical, and social justice concerns of the community for 155 years; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, 2014 marks the 155th Anniversary of the founding of these four 
continuously operating churches in their respective communities, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City 
of Boulder, do hereby declare November 23, 2014 as 
 

First United Methodist Church Day 
 
in the City of Boulder, and urge all members of the community to join in 
recognizing this day with appropriate ceremonies and activities. 
 
 
____________________________ 
Matthew Appelbaum, Mayor 
 
 


	00_Agenda
	1C_2014 election certification
	Executive Summary and Staff Recommendation

	3A_AMPS Study Session Summary
	Staff Recommendation and AMPS SS Summary
	Prking Revenue & Expnses and Downtown Garage Utilization information
	Downtown Garage Counts

	3B_US 36 IGAs
	Staff Recomendation and Impacts
	Background
	Analysis
	Next Steps
	Attachment A - IGA for  US 36 Bikeway in Boulder 
	Attachment B - IGA for Maintenance of Bikeway - Hwy 36 from Table Mesa to Davidson Mesa 
	Attachment C - IGA for maintnenace of Davidson Mesa Scenic Overlook 
	Attachment D - US 36 Managed Lane Project Fact Sheet

	3C_BLA Rules
	Staff Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback, Background and Analysis
	Attachment A - Proposed Resolution 
	Attachment B - BLA retreat summary and minutes
	Attachment C - Details of Proposed Amendments
	Attachment D - Proposed Rule Amendments

	3D_Code of Conduct - 3rd Rdg
	Staff Recommendation and Impacts
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance
	Attachment B - 2nd Rdg  Memo from 11/18/14
	Attachment C - Potential Amendment to Section 2-7-14

	3E-2nd Rdg Supplemental Appropriations
	Staff Recommendation and Impacts
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Ordinence No. 8014

	3F_CAGID Supplemental Appropriation 2nd Rdg
	Staff Recommendation and Impacts
	Attachment A - Resolution No. 270
	Attachment B - Definitions and Request Narrative
	Attachment C - 2014 Fund Activity Summary

	3G_1st Rdg Valuation Land Use Code Change
	Staff Recommendation, Impacts and Feedback
	Background and Analysis
	Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8018
	Attachment C - Tax Assessment Figures 

	3H_1st Rdg Correction to 2130 Tamarack Annexation
	Background and Analysis
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance
	Attachment B - Flood Easement


	3I_1st Rdg MJ Conversion extension
	Background and Analysis
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance No. 8020

	3J_1st Rdg Comcast Extension
	Impacts and Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement
	Attachment B - Ordinance No. 7785 (extension)
	Attachment C - Ordinance No. 7952 (2nd extension)
	Attachment D - Proposed Ordinance

	3K_1st Rdg Flood Related Annexations
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback and Background 
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinances
	Attachment B - Proposed Resolutions
	Attachment C - Applicants Annexation Petitions
	Attachment D - Annexation Maps
	Attachment E - Annexation Agreements
	Attachment F - Guidelines for Annexation Agreements
	Attachment G - Public Comment
	Attachment H - Letter from M. Jorrie

	5A_2nd Rdg Rezoning 5400 Spine Rd
	Staff Recommendation, Impacts and Feedback
	Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8010
	Attachment B - Summary of By-Right Standards BC-2 
	Attachment C - Applicant's Written Statement

	5B_OSMP Disposal and Discussion
	Staff Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback and Analysis
	Background
	Attachment A - Disposal Map

	6A_EcoPass Direection
	Executive Summary
	Background

	7A_Executive Sessions Procedure
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation and Background 
	Attachment A - Proposed Executive Session Procedure

	Reference Materials
	1. Council Working Agreements
	2. 2014-2015 Work Plan
	Council and Key Staff
	2015 Council Committee Assignments

	20141202_Information Packet 
	00 Cover Sheet
	2A  Update on the Voice and Sight Tag Program
	Voice and Sight IP for Dec 2 final
	Attachments Dec 2 CC IP HEADERS ADJUSTED

	3A  HRC 11.17.14
	3B  OSBT 11.12.14
	3C  WRAB 9.15.14
	3D  WRAB 10.20.14
	4A  Declaration American Indian Heritage Month
	4B  Declaration  Boulder Companies to Watch Month
	4C  Declaration First United Methodist Church Day
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page




